
School District of Manawa
BOARD OF EDUCATION REGULARMEETING
Manawa School District Office - Board Room
800 Beech Street, Manawa WI
(920)596-2525

The Board of Education will livestream the public meeting at the following LINK

Tuesday, December 19, 2023
6:00 P.M.

Board of Education MISSION Statement: We Will Represent Our Community While Advocating
For Our Stakeholders By Developing Strong Policy And Providing Direction For Our Future.

❖ CALL TO ORDER
➢ This is a meeting of the Board of Education in public for the purpose of conducting the School

District's business and is not to be considered a public hearing. There will be a time for public
comment during the meeting as indicated in the agenda. (B.O.E. Policy 0166)

❖ PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE

❖ ROLL CALL - Verification of Quorum
➢ B.O.E. Members Present:

❖ COMPLIANCEWITH OPEN MEETING LAW NOTIFICATION [§19.84(2) Wis. Stats.]
➢ Verify Publication of Meeting

❖ ADMINISTRATIVE TEAM REPORT
1. Good News Report

a. Informational Presentation
2. Follow-up regarding Middle School Athletics (AG2431A).

❖ COMMITTEE REPORTS
3. Curriculum Committee (Riske) - See Curriculum Committee Meeting Minutes from

2023-12-06
4. Finance Committee (Jepson) - See Finance Committee Meeting Minutes from

2023-12-13
5. Policy and Human Resources (Reierson) - See Policy and Human Resources Committee

Meeting Minutes from 2023-12-06
6. Buildings and Grounds (Griffin) - See Buildings and Grounds Committee Meeting

Minutes from 2023-12-13

❖ PUBLIC COMMENTS

http://meet.google.com/tkp-xebt-yfx


(Register to Speak Prior to Start of Meeting / Guidelines Listed Below Agenda)

❖ CONSENT AGENDA
➢ Regarding the consent agenda, the Board has been provided background information on each

item or has discussed at previous meetings. All of these agenda items will be acted on with one
vote without discussion. If a board member would like to discuss any item in greater detail, it
will be pulled from the consent agenda and will be discussed and voted on separately.

The Board will consider approval of:
7. Recommendation for Approval of Donations:

a. Mrs. Michelle Kaczorowski (Thrivent Grant) - $250 worth of treats, napkins, soda,
supplies for the Secondary December 20th potluck to celebrate staff.

b. Tracy and Richard Ogle - $150.00 towards the National Honor Society to assist with
the Adopt a Family/Day of Service initiative.

c. Clothing Drive - the following participants donated:
i. PTO - coats, boots, hats, and gloves
ii. Treehouse foods - 13 new coats, 15 new pairs of gloves, and 18 new hats

d. Manawa Lions Club - $270.00 towards the Urgent Needs Fund.
e. Manawa Athletic Booster Club:

i. 4 Basketball Storage Cars ($270.22 each)
ii. 2 New Daktronics Scoreboards for MS/HS gym, if school pays for

installation ($15,500.00)
iii. 2 Handheld Ball Pumps ($15.00 each)
iv. 2 Electric Ball Pumps ($175.00 each)
v. 1 Year subscription to RackCoach for students in personal fitness classes

and Lifting Program. ($900.00)
vi. Freezer at MES for injuries ($199.40)

f. Tractor Supply of New London through the National Honor Society Day of Service
initiative

i. $175 worth of coats, hats, and gloves.
g. Holmland Farms (Dick Piechowski & Alan Cordes) - Wreath material (value of

$250)
8. Recommendation for Approval Minutes of Regular and Special Board Meetings

a. 2023-12-06
9. Recommendation for Approval of Revenue/Expenditures & Receipts - November

a. Cash Receipts Report
b. Invoice Report Report
c. Rev / Exp Financial Report

10. Recommendation for Approval of Personnel related items:
a. Details provided within Personnel Chart

* Any person with a qualifying disability under the Americans with Disabilities Act that requires the meeting or
material to be in accessible format, please contact the District Administrator to request reasonable accommodation.
The meeting room is wheelchair accessible. This meeting is a meeting of the Board of Education in public for the
purpose of conducting the School District's business and is not to be considered a public hearing. There may be a
time for public comment during the meeting as indicated in the agenda.

**Upon request to the District Administrator, submitted twenty-four (24) hours in advance, the District shall make
reasonable accommodations including the provision of informational material in an alternative format for a disabled
person to be able to attend this meeting.



ITEMS REQUESTED TO BE CONSIDERED AS AN INDIVIDUAL RESOLUTION(S):

❖ BOARD COMMENTS

❖ B.O.E. BUSINESS (Unfinished & New Items)

11. Policy Adoption - 2nd Reading and discussion of NEOLA Policy Revisions
a. PO 0164 Meetings - ADOPTION
b. PO 0164.1 Regular Meetings - RESCIND
c. PO 0164.2 Special Meetings - RESCIND
d. PO 0165.1 Notice of Meetings - RESCIND
e. PO 0165.2 Change of Regular Meetings - RESCIND
f. PO 8913 Section 504/ADA Prohibition Against Disability Discrimination in

Employment - ADOPTION
g. PO 1623/3623/4623 Section 504/ADA Prohibition Against Disability Discrimination

in Employment - RESCIND
h. PO 3120.07 Employment of Casual Resource Personnel - RESCIND
i. PO 8700 Nursing Mothers - ADOPTION
j. PO 3430.05/ 4430.05 Nursing Mothers - RESCIND
k. PO 2451 Program or Curriculum Modifications - REVISION
l. PO 5250 Program or Curriculum Modifications - RESCIND
m. PO 5505 Academic Honesty - ADOPTION
n. PO 7540.08 Artificial Intelligence (AI) - ADOPTION
o. PO 5350 Suidice Prevention, Intervention, and Postvention - REVISION

12. Notice of 1st Reading and discussion of NEOLA Policy Revisions
a. PO 0113 Boundaries - REVISION
b. PO 0142.1 Electoral Process - REVISION
c. PO 0143.1 Public Expression of Board Members - REVISION
d. PO 0144.3 Conflict of Interest - REVISION
e. PO 1260 Incapacity of the District Administrator - REVISION
f. PO 2340 District Sponsored Trips - REVISION
g. PO 2521 Selection of Instructional Materials and Equipment - REVISION
h. PO 3121 Criminal History Record Check and Employee Self-Reporting

Requirements - REVISION
i. PO 3139 Staff Discipline - REVISION
j. PO 3430.01 Family & Medical Leave of Absence (“FMLA”) - REVISION
k. PO 5113 Open Enrollment Program (Inter-District) - REVISION
l. PO 5200 Attendance - REVISION
m. PO 5215 Missing and Absent Children - ADOPTION
n. PO 5517 Student Anti-Harassment - REVISION
o. PO 5530 Student Use or Possession of Intoxicants, Drugs, or Paraphernalia -

REVISION

* Any person with a qualifying disability under the Americans with Disabilities Act that requires the meeting or
material to be in accessible format, please contact the District Administrator to request reasonable accommodation.
The meeting room is wheelchair accessible. This meeting is a meeting of the Board of Education in public for the
purpose of conducting the School District's business and is not to be considered a public hearing. There may be a
time for public comment during the meeting as indicated in the agenda.

**Upon request to the District Administrator, submitted twenty-four (24) hours in advance, the District shall make
reasonable accommodations including the provision of informational material in an alternative format for a disabled
person to be able to attend this meeting.



p. PO 6151 Returned / Outstanding-Stale Checks - REVISION
q. PO 6236 Community Services Fund (Fund 80) - ADOPTION
r. PO 6610 Non District-Supported Student Activity Accounts - REPLACEMENT
s. PO 7250.01 Memorials for Staff and Students - ADOPTION
t. PO7440.01 Video Surveillance and Electronic Monitoring - REVISION
u. PO 7440.02 Smart Monitoring Equipment - ADOPTION
v. PO 8121 Personal Background Check - Contracted Services - ADOPTION
w. PO 8146 Notification of Education Options - REVISION
x. PO 8310 Public Records - REVISION
y. PO8407 School Resource Officer Program - RESCIND
z. PO 8420 School Safety - REVISION
aa. PO 8500 Food Services - REVISION
bb. PO 8531 Free and Reduced-Price Meals - REVISION
cc. PO 9210 Parent Organizations - RESCIND
dd. PO 9211 District Support Organizations - REVISION

13. Discussion - Provide Free Lunch for Daily Short-Term Substitute Teachers
a. Informational Memo for Review and Approval

14. Course Addition, Deletion and Revision
a. Recommendation Memo - Computer Science Courses

15. Course Guide
a. Recommendation Memo
b. Course Guide Document for Review

16. Annual School Safety Report (PO8420)
a. Informational Memo for Review and Approval
b. School Safety Plan for Review and Approval
c. Wisconsin School District Safety Drill LOG(s)
d. Written evaluation of most recent school safety/violence drill for Review and

Approval

17. Discussion on WASB Convention Resolutions
a. Document with current draft of resolutions

18. SDM Literacy Report
a. Informational Memo for Review and Approval
b. Copy of 22-23 School Year Literacy Report

❖ CLOSED SESSION

* Any person with a qualifying disability under the Americans with Disabilities Act that requires the meeting or
material to be in accessible format, please contact the District Administrator to request reasonable accommodation.
The meeting room is wheelchair accessible. This meeting is a meeting of the Board of Education in public for the
purpose of conducting the School District's business and is not to be considered a public hearing. There may be a
time for public comment during the meeting as indicated in the agenda.

**Upon request to the District Administrator, submitted twenty-four (24) hours in advance, the District shall make
reasonable accommodations including the provision of informational material in an alternative format for a disabled
person to be able to attend this meeting.



➢ The Board of Education Shall Move into Closed Session Pursuant to the
Provisions of 19.85(1)(c)(f), Wis. Statute, Considering employment, promotion,
compensation or performance evaluation data of any public employee over which
the governmental body has jurisdiction or exercises responsibility. Considering
financial, medical, social or personal histories or disciplinary data of specific
persons.

■ SDM Personnel Matter
■ SDM Administrative Contract Renewal Discussion
■ SDM District Administrator Evaluation Procedure

❖ ADJOURN

UPCOMINGMEETING(S):
● Regular Board of Education Meetings take place the 4th Monday every month.
● Building & Grounds Committee Meetings take place the 2nd Wednesday every month.
● Finance Committee Meetings take place the 2nd Wednesday every month.
● Curriculum Committee Meetings take place the 1st Wednesday every month.
● Policy & Human Resource Committee Meetings take place the 1st Wednesday every

month.

* Any person with a qualifying disability under the Americans with Disabilities Act that requires the meeting or
material to be in accessible format, please contact the District Administrator to request reasonable accommodation.
The meeting room is wheelchair accessible. This meeting is a meeting of the Board of Education in public for the
purpose of conducting the School District's business and is not to be considered a public hearing. There may be a
time for public comment during the meeting as indicated in the agenda.

**Upon request to the District Administrator, submitted twenty-four (24) hours in advance, the District shall make
reasonable accommodations including the provision of informational material in an alternative format for a disabled
person to be able to attend this meeting.



0167.3 - PUBLIC COMMENT AT BOARD MEETINGS

The Board recognizes the value of public comment on educational issues and the importance of allowing
members of the public to express themselves on District matters.

Agenda Item

Any person or group who would like to have an item put on the agenda shall submit their request to the
District Administrator no later than ten (10) days prior to the meeting and include:

A. name and address of the participant;
B. group affiliation, if and when appropriate;
C. topic to be addressed.

Such requests shall be subject to the recommendation of the District Administrator and the approval of the
Board President.

Public Comment Section of the Meeting

To permit fair and orderly public expression, the Board may provide a period for public comment at any
regular or special meeting of the Board and publish rules to govern such comment in Board meetings.

The presiding officer of each Board meeting at which public comment is permitted shall administer the rules
of the Board for its conduct.

The presiding officer shall be guided by the following rules:

A. Public comment shall be permitted as indicated on the order of business, at the discretion of the
presiding officer, and for individuals who live or work within the District and parents/guardians of
students enrolled in the District.

B. Attendees must register their intention to participate in the public portion of the meeting upon their
arrival at the meeting.

C. Participants must be recognized by the presiding officer and will be requested to preface their
comments by an announcement of their name; address; and group affiliation, if and when
appropriate.

D. Each statement made by a participant shall be limited to three (3) minutes duration.
E. No participant may speak more than once on the same topic unless all others who wish to speak on

that topic have been heard.
F. Participants shall direct all comments to the Board and not to staff or other participants.
G. Participants shall address only topics within the legitimate jurisdiction of the Board.
H. All statements shall be directed to the presiding officer; no person may address or question Board

members individually.
I. The presiding officer may:

1. interrupt, warn, or terminate a participant's statement when the statement is too lengthy,
personally directed, abusive, obscene, or irrelevant;

2. request any individual to leave the meeting when that person does not observe reasonable
decorum;

3. request the assistance of law enforcement officers in the removal of a disorderly person
when that person's conduct interferes with the orderly progress of the meeting;

4. call for a recess or an adjournment to another time when the lack of public decorum so
interferes with the orderly conduct of the meeting as to warrant such action.

* Any person with a qualifying disability under the Americans with Disabilities Act that requires the meeting or
material to be in accessible format, please contact the District Administrator to request reasonable accommodation.
The meeting room is wheelchair accessible. This meeting is a meeting of the Board of Education in public for the
purpose of conducting the School District's business and is not to be considered a public hearing. There may be a
time for public comment during the meeting as indicated in the agenda.

**Upon request to the District Administrator, submitted twenty-four (24) hours in advance, the District shall make
reasonable accommodations including the provision of informational material in an alternative format for a disabled
person to be able to attend this meeting.



5. waive these rules with the approval of the Board when necessary for the protection of
privacy or the administration of the Board's business.

J. The portion of the meeting during which the comment of the public is invited shall be limited to
fifteen (15) minutes unless extended by a vote of the Board.

K. Recording, filming, or photographing the Board’s open meetings is permitted. Recording, filming, or
photographing the Board’s closed session is only permitted pursuant to Bylaw 0167.2 – Closed
Session. The person operating the equipment should contact the District Administrator prior to the
Board meeting to review possible placement of the equipment, and must agree to abide by the
following conditions:

1. No obstructions are created between the Board and the audience.
2. No interviews are conducted in the meeting room while the Board is in session.
3. No commentary, adjustment of equipment, or positioning of operators is made that would

distract either the Board or members of the audience or otherwise disrupt the meeting
while the Board is in session.

© Neola 2020

* Any person with a qualifying disability under the Americans with Disabilities Act that requires the meeting or
material to be in accessible format, please contact the District Administrator to request reasonable accommodation.
The meeting room is wheelchair accessible. This meeting is a meeting of the Board of Education in public for the
purpose of conducting the School District's business and is not to be considered a public hearing. There may be a
time for public comment during the meeting as indicated in the agenda.

**Upon request to the District Administrator, submitted twenty-four (24) hours in advance, the District shall make
reasonable accommodations including the provision of informational material in an alternative format for a disabled
person to be able to attend this meeting.



11/30/23, 10:47 AM BoardDocs® PL

https://go.boarddocs.com/wi/sdman/Board.nsf/Private?open&login# 1/2

Book Policy Manual

Section Vol. 32, No. 2, July 2023

Title Revised Policy - Vol. 32, No. 2, July 2023 - INCAPACITY OF THE DISTRICT
ADMINISTRATOR

Code po1260

Status Proposed to Policy & Human Resources Committee

Adopted October 1, 2015

Last Revised November 16, 2020

Last Reviewed December 6, 2023

Revised Policy - Vol. 32, No. 2
 
1260 - INCAPACITY OF THE DISTRICT ADMINISTRATOR
 
It is the duty of the Board of Education to appoint an interim District Administrator by a majority vote of the Board upon a
determination that the District Administrator is incapacitated in such a manner that s/he isthe District Administrator
is unable to perform the duties of his/herthe office. Until such appointment, the Board President shall have the authority to
take or delegate necessary administrative actions on behalf of the District.
 
The Board shall fix the compensation of the interim District Administrator who shall serve, pending further determination
of the District Administrator's ability to perform assigned duties and functions, or until the District Administrator's
employment ends and a new District Administrator assumes office. S/HeThe interim District Administrator shall perform all
of the duties and functions of the District Administrator, and may be removed at any time using the procedures set forth in
Policy 3140 - Non-Renewal, Resignation, and Termination.
 
The Board will exercise its authority under law to determine the incapacity of the District Administrator and to place the
District Administrator him/her on leave for a physical or mental condition that affects the District Administrator's ability to
perform assigned duties in conformance with the law. The Board may require that the District Administrator submit to an
appropriate examination by a healthcare provider of the District Administrator's choice, a healthcare provider designated
and compensated by the District, or both.
 
The District Administrator will be required to execute a release that complies with the requirements of the Health
Insurance Portability and Accountability Act (HIPAA) in order to allow the report of the medical examination to be released
to the Board and to allow the Board to speak to the health care provider who conducted the medical examination if
clarification is needed. Refusal to submit to an appropriate examination or to execute the HIPAA release will be grounds for
disciplinary action, up to and including termination.
 
If the Board determines that the District Administrator is unable to perform the duties of his/herthe office, s/hethe District
Administrator may:
 

A. ( X ) at his/herthe District Administrator's request, be placed on sick leave, with pay, not to exceed the amount of
his/her accumulated, but unused, sick leave and any advancement of such sick leave which may be authorized by
Board policy;
 

B. ( X ) at the request of the Board be placed on sick leave with such pay to which s/hethe District Administrator may
be entitled or which may be authorized by Board policy;
 

C. ( X ) at theirthe District Administrator's request, be placed on a leave without pay.
 
As required by Federal law and regulation and Board Policy 143122.02 - Nondiscrimination Based on Genetic Information
of the Employee, the Board shall direct the provider designated by the Board to conduct the examination not to collect
genetic information or provide any genetic information, including the individual’s family medical history, in the report of the
medical examination.



11/30/23, 10:47 AM BoardDocs® PL

https://go.boarddocs.com/wi/sdman/Board.nsf/Private?open&login# 2/2

 
Pursuant to State law and in accordance with the Americans with Disabilities Act, as amended (ADA) and the Genetic
Information Nondiscrimination Act (GINA), the results of any such examination shall be treated as a confidential medical
record and will be exempt from release, except as provided by law. If the District inadvertently receives genetic
information about an individual who is required to submit to an appropriate examination from the medical provider it shall
be treated as a confidential medical record as required by the ADA.
 
If, as a result of his/her such examination, the District Administrator is found to be unable to perform assigned duties, the
District Administrator may be placed on a leave of absence until such time as the District Administrator is able to return to
the performance of the position or other action is taken.
 
The Board may designate any period of leave under this policy as qualifying leave under State and/or Federal FMLA leave
entitlement consistent with Policy 163430.01 as provided by law.
 
The foregoing leave shall not extend beyond the contract of the District Administrator.
 
The District Administrator shall, upon request to the President of the Board, be returned to active duty status, unless the
Board denies the request within ten (10) days of receipt of the request. The Board may require the District Administrator
to establish to its satisfaction that s/hethe District Administrator is capable of resuming such duties on a full-time basis.
 
The Board may demand that the District Administrator return to active service , and upon medical documentation that the
District Administrator is able to resume his/herthe position's duties.
 
© Neola 20202023

Last Modified by Ryan Peterson on November 30, 2023



School District of Manawa
Curriculum COMMITTEEMEETING

Manawa School District Office - Board Room
800 Beech Street, Manawa WI

(920)596-2525

Wednesday, December 6, 2023
4:30 P.M.

Board of Education Committee Members:
Riske (C), Fietzer, and Hansen

❖ CALL TO ORDER
Meeting called to order at 4:30pm

❖ PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE

❖ ROLL CALL - Verification of Quorum
➢ B.O.E. Members Present: Stephanie Riske, Shannon Hansen, Craig Fietzer (4:34)

❖ COMPLIANCEWITH OPEN MEETING LAW NOTIFICATION [§19.84(2) Wis. Stats.]
Verified by Mr.Peterson

❖ AGENDA
1. Memo - Course Additions, Deletions, and Revisions

a. Consider Endorsement of Addition of two courses of study
i. Microsoft 365
ii. Cybersecurity

Motion by Fietzer Second by Hansen Motion passed
Discussion about Microsoft 365 being the choice of most workplaces and colleges. It will be
beneficial for students to have this class as a choice. MJ was going to find out the cost.

2. 24-25 LWHS Course Guide
a. Consider the Endorsement of Course Guide

Discussion about the course guide with changes was presented. We can email MJ with any
questions we have before the board meeting. We will be looking to approve the guide in the
December full board meeting.

3. Discussion regarding Wellness Committee
Will bring to next month.

* Any person with a qualifying disability under the Americans with Disabilities Act that requires the meeting or
material to be in accessible format, please contact the District Administrator to request reasonable accommodation.
The meeting room is wheelchair accessible. This meeting is a meeting of the Board of Education in public for the
purpose of conducting the School District's business and is not to be considered a public hearing. There may be a
time for public comment during the meeting as indicated in the agenda.

**Upon request to the District Administrator, submitted twenty-four (24) hours in advance, the District shall make
reasonable accommodations including the provision of informational material in an alternative format for a disabled
person to be able to attend this meeting.



❖ FUTURE MEETING AGENDA ITEMS
➢ Discussion regarding Wellness Committee

❖ ADJOURN
Motion to adjourn by Fietzer Seconded by Hansen
Motion Passed @ 5:31



School District of Manawa
Finance COMMITTEEMEETING

Manawa School District Office - Board Room
800 Beech Street, Manawa WI

(920)596-2525

Wednesday, December 13, 2023

❖ CALL TO ORDER at 6:55 p.m.

❖ ROLL CALL - Verification of Quorum
➢ B.O.E. Members Present: Jepson (C), Fietzer, and Reierson

❖ COMPLIANCEWITH OPEN MEETING LAW NOTIFICATION [§19.84(2) Wis. Stats.]

❖ AGENDA
1. Review of current Financial Report(s)

a. Cash Receipts Report - There were no cash receipts for the month of November. Ryan
Peterson and team are addressing procedural issues to improve timing of deposits, etc.

b. Invoice Report
c. Revenues/Expenditures Summary Report - Food Service is expected to operate

financially as a separate business and at least break even. We will watch the financials in
the next few months to address any concerns ASAP.

2. Transportation Cost Analysis (per AG8670) - This report is now listed on our calendar to be
presented to the committee each August.
a. Informational Memo - Total paid to Kobussen in ‘22-’23 fiscal year was approx $560K.

A new transportation contract is currently being negotiated.
b. Invoice Reports - Per Jepson, the committee does not require individual invoice copies

for future transportation cost analyses.
3. S.T.E.P. Volunteer Program

a. Overview/Procedure Document
b. Summary Data for S.T.E.P. 22/23 year (December 1 - November 30)

❖ FUTURE MEETING AGENDA ITEMS
January Finance Committee meeting scheduled for Monday, 1-15-23 at 4:30 p.m.

❖ ADJOURNED at 8:03 p.m.

* Any person with a qualifying disability under the Americans with Disabilities Act that requires the meeting or
material to be in accessible format, please contact the District Administrator to request reasonable accommodation.
The meeting room is wheelchair accessible. This meeting is a meeting of the Board of Education in public for the
purpose of conducting the School District's business and is not to be considered a public hearing. There may be a
time for public comment during the meeting as indicated in the agenda.

**Upon request to the District Administrator, submitted twenty-four (24) hours in advance, the District shall make
reasonable accommodations including the provision of informational material in an alternative format for a disabled
person to be able to attend this meeting.



Policy and HR Committee Meeting Minutes
Wednesday, December 6, 2023

Board of Education Committee Members:
Reierson (C), Hansen, & Jepson

❖ CALL TO ORDER - 6:00 pm

❖ ROLL CALL - Verification of Quorum
➢ B.O.E. Members Present: Reierson, Hansen, Jepson
➢ Also in attendance - Mr. Peterson, Fietzer, Riske

❖ COMPLIANCEWITH OPEN MEETING LAW NOTIFICATION [§19.84(2) Wis. Stats.] -
Verified by Mr. Peterson.
Quick discussion to include Board members on the notification list as was discussed at the June
workshop meeting.

❖ AGENDA
1. Free Lunch for Substitute Teachers Discussion (BOE request)

Motion to endorse free lunch for Substitute Teachers.
Motion by: Jepson, Hansen
Motion carried.

2. Updated Policies for Review:
Motion to endorse the Revisions and Rescindings noted in items A through DD and as
revised during discussion.
Motion by: Hansen, Jepson
Motion carried.

a. PO 0113 Boundaries REVISION
Language should read “Village of Ogdensburg” not township

b. PO 0142.1 Electoral Process REVISION
This policy has been updated to clarify the requirements for a qualified elector to file a Declaration of
Candidacy as well as the requirements for incumbents seeking re-election. The legal citations have also been
updated. Recommended for consistency with statutes.

c. PO 0143.1 Public Expression of Board Members REVISION
This policy has been updated to include instances when Board members make statements to individuals or
members of the community that may cause issues for the Board and/or District if not made clear that those
statements do not reflect the views of the Board or their colleagues on the Board. Recommended

d. PO 0144.3 Conflict of Interest REVISION
Language has been added to this policy clarifying that Board members may not be a paid employee of the
District. Also added is the statutory language that provides an opportunity for Board members to serve as
unpaid volunteers. The appropriate legal reference has also been added. Recommended for
comprehensiveness and clarity.

e. PO 1260 Incapacity of the District Administrator REVISION



Language has been added to this policy to provide temporary authority for the Board President prior to the
appointment of an Interim District Administrator when the current District Administrator is incapacitated.
Recommended for coverage of the contingency.

f. PO 2340 District Sponsored Trips REVISION
The policy is revised to remove reference to non-district sponsored trips from language regarding the trip
approval process. The policy language retains reference to the expectations concerning student solicitation
for such trips as part of the policy, but moves it to the stand alone section. This provides a clearer process
and delineation of different types of student trip opportunities that may arise in the school context.
Recommended

g. PO 2521 Selection of Instructional Materials and Equipment REVISION
This policy is revised to include a definition of "instruction materials" and "instructional equipment" to
distinguish between the official curriculum materials provided to the students in alignment with the board
approved curriculum, as opposed to teacher created lesson plans, assessment tools, worksheets, etc. that are
not considered selected through the process described in the policy. Recommended

h. PO 3121 Criminal History Record Check and Employee Self-Reporting Requirements
REVISION
The self-reporting requirement language in these policies have been revised for greater clarity.
Recommended

i. PO 3139 Staff Discipline REVISION
This policy is revised to include resignation as being covered in either Policy 3140 or Policy 4140. Language
has been added with regard to investigations involving potential criminal conduct and issuance of a
"Garrity" warning in appropriate circumstances.

j. PO 3430.01 Family & Medical Leave of Absence (“FMLA”) REVISION
This policy is revised to remove a potentially confusing reference to the status of full-time staff eligibility for
FMLA based on the 1,250 work hours requirement for federal eligibility (this does not affect Wisconsin
FMLA, which only requires that an employee be compensated for 1,000 hours in the previous year to be
eligible for protected leave). While generally speaking a full time instructional staff member will be employed
for more than 1,250 hours in the preceding year and does not track actual hours worked as an exempt
employee, the law does not require that such employees be automatically considered eligible. There may be
circumstances where an individual employee, perhaps due to leave taken in the preceding year, does not meet
the requirement even though they may be full-time by contract. Adoption of this revision is strongly
recommended.

k. PO 5113 Open Enrollment Program (Inter-District) REVISION
The policy is revised to include additional definitions that are cross-referenced in Policy 5200 - Attendance.
Additional language is included that specifies the authority to terminate open enrollment based on habitual
truancy and reference to the procedural requirements found in regulations, Wis. Admin PI 36. Further, the
provisions for termination in the case of open enrollment into a nonresident school district virtual charter
school program as established by the Department of Public Instruction Guidance document, Bulletin 19-05
have been added. These revisions are strongly recommended to comply with procedural requirements.

l. PO 5200 Attendance REVISION
Revisions to the policy are made to clarify the types of student absences that require written approval, versus
those that may be excused by phone call as is customary practice in many Districts. The policy clarifies that
any absence for physical or mental condition (i.e. staying home sick) may be excused by a phone call. In
circumstances that justify it, such as prolonged absences, the attendance officer may require a healthcare
provider's written statement, which excuses the student for a maximum of 30 days. Separately, a parent may,
by written notice, excuse a student for any reason for a pre-planned absence. The pre-planned absences for
any reason (not limited to physical or mental condition) must be in writing and may not exceed 10 school
days. Wis. Stat. 118.15(3)(c).

m. PO 5215 Missing and Absent Children NEW
This policy is revised to clarify that consistent with state and federal programs providing for safety and
assistance in the case of missing or absent children, the school will provide a safe and secure location for a



child, even if not a student, during the school day until authorities can be contacted and take responsibility
for the child. Current policy suggests access at any time to school buildings, even if not presently open.

n. PO 5517 Student Anti-Harassment REVISION
The policy is revised to better define the reference to the Garrity warning.

o. PO 5530 Student Use or Possession of Intoxicants, Drugs, or Paraphernalia REVISION
The policy is updated to reflect the ever-changing and expanding scope of drugs and drug derivatives,
particularly marijuana, CBD, and hemp, all of which are being continuously experimented with to create new
and often unregulated compounds that have psychoactive effects. Schools are able to prohibit these
substances, and this language is intended to provide an expansive definition to cover current versions and not
yet known future versions.

p. PO 6151 Returned / Outstanding-Stale Checks REVISION
This policy is updated to include a procedure for handling payments made by check by the district that
remain uncashed after a period of time determined by policy. The applicable time period may be dictated by
the banking institution if the institution's checks state a period of validity, or by policy if no validity period is
established by the institution. The Department of Revenue handles unclaimed property, including payments
made by public entities that remain unclaimed. The process specifics may change over time, so that the
recommended policy language is to consult the Wisconsin Department of Revenue's current guidance.

q. PO 6236 Community Services Fund (Fund 80) NEW
This new policy is offered to cover the requirements under which the Board may opt to utilize its authority to
levy taxes for community programs through Fund 80.

r. PO 6610 Non District-Supported Student Activity Accounts REPLACEMENT
This policy revision is provided as a replacement to account for significant revisions on the recommendation
of school district auditors in response to GASB 84 as it relates to accounts that are under the control of, but
not audited nor managed by the District to support specific student activities. These activities are funded by
students, parents, or other organizations and are approved as appropriate student activities, but do not
receive direct district financial support. Replacement is recommended.

s. PO 7250.01 Memorials for Staff and Students NEW
This policy is offered as a new policy to assist Districts with requests for commemoration following the death
of a student or staff member.

t. PO7440.01 Video Surveillance and Electronic Monitoring REVISION
This policy is revised to provide clarification on the notification concerning monitoring collected by video
and, if applicable, audio collection technology. The policy revisions also refer to the school safety plan's
determination of proper location of such equipment, which may need to remain confidential. Finally,
reference is included in the policy to electronic monitoring on school buses, including specific regulatory
authority for audio monitoring in that context. A drafting note has been incorporated as well to draw
attention to a lack of clarity in the law relative to sufficient notice as consent in the context of audio
monitoring. Adoption of these revisions is recommended.

u. PO 7440.02 Smart Monitoring Equipment NEW
This is a new policy to address emerging use of smart monitoring technology used to monitor for such things
as vape smoke, and the like. Recommended but not required.

v. PO 8121 Personal Background Check - Contracted Services NEW
This policy is provided to assist districts in navigating the difficult task of protecting the security of school
facilities and the safety of students with an ever-increasing reliance on contract workers in construction work
being done at school sites, or other services being performed by individuals that may have access to students.

w. PO 8146 Notification of Education Options REVISION
This policy is revised to reflect the authority to satisfy the Class 1 notice requirement by publishing the notice
on the District's website.



x. PO 8310 Public Records REVISION
The Wisconsin Records Retention Schedule for School Districts (WRRSSD) was replaced by the Public Records
Board (PRB) in March 2023. School Districts that wish to retain public records for less than the 7 years prescribed
by Wis. Stat. 19.21(6) may now adopt one (1) or more general records schedules. The new schedule applicable to
school districts no longer contains all public records a school district might maintain. Instead, it only includes those
records that are unique to school districts. If school districts adopt that schedule only, they will need to retain all
public records not listed in the schedule for 7 years. If school districts adopt other schedules, they may avoid the
7-year retention period for any public records listed in those adopted schedules. DPI and PRB have identified 10
additional general records schedules that may relate to the other public records retained by school districts. As
such, school districts can elect to adopt up to 11 general records schedules. To do so, they will need to complete the
Notification of Adoption form for each schedule they wish to adopt, send the form to the Wisconsin Historical
Society (WHS), and get formal authorization to use the schedule(s) from the PRB and WHS. Because of the
complexities that would be involved in using 11 different retention schedules, a school district may find it more
beneficial to determine whether they maintain any records that are not included in the GRS that they would like to
be able to destroy prior to the 7-year statutory period. If the district has such a record(s), the school district could
then consult the DPI’s informational "Crosswalk" to determine what schedule addresses that particular record(s)
and adopt that particular schedule, or adopt a portion of that schedule as appropriate. The "Crosswalk" can be
found on the following DPI webpage: https://dpi.wi.gov/libraries/records. Even if a district adopts schedules
created by the PRB, the law still requires that the district obtain the PRB and Historical Society's approval of the
schedule(s) adopted. Lastly, it is important to note that the schedules define a minimum period of retention. Some
records will be maintained for a longer period. Also, in some cases the minimum retention period permitted will not
be the best operational decision. For example, the school specific schedule provides for a retention period of one
year from the event in the case of student disciplinary records. Typically, districts maintain student cumulative
records throughout the period of the student's attendance in the district, which will in many cases continue beyond
one year from the date of any given disciplinary record. That is permissible despite a shorter retention period in the
schedule. Note as well that state law requires that student disciplinary records be destroyed within one year from
the date the student ceases to be enrolled in the district. This requirement is added to the policy language as well.

y. PO8407 School Resource Officer Program RESCIND
Irrelevant, we currently have no program

z. PO 8420 School Safety REVISION
The policy is revised to reflect the provision of training consistent with the school safety plan. In addition, the
records retention requirement contained within Wis. Stat. 118.07(2)(a) is included and cross references Policy
8310 - Public Records in an effort to avoid conflict with retention requirements in light of changes to the
records retention schedules produced by the Public Records Board. Finally, the citation to Wis. Stat.
121.02(1)(i) is removed as that refers to toxic substances and lead, which is not covered by this policy.

aa. PO 8500 Food Services REVISION
This policy has been revised to update the verbiage of the USDA required nondiscrimination language and to
remove reference to redundant nondiscrimination language included elsewhere in the policy. Likewise, the
policy is revised to incorporate dietary modification options that are not pursuant to a medical request that
complies with the federal regulations for such medically-based modifications, but are still based on either
noncompliant medical documentation or purely individual preferences at the Board's discretion. These
options incorporate guidance provided by the Department of Public Instruction. Further, this policy language
is revised in response to DPI auditor determinations about policy requirements regarding permissible delinquent
school lunch balances. The revisions included generally remove the authority of the District Administrator and
place in the authority of the Board the determination of a set level of permissible delinquent school lunch account
balance, as opposed to allowing a determination be made by the administration based on the program, experience,
etc. The current policy language does not lend itself to individualized determinations of permissible account
balances, such that concerns of discriminatory practices are not realistic; however, the auditor’s determination does
not change the establishment of negative account balance rules, it merely shifts responsibility for setting the value
from the administration to the Board. Likewise, it is legal to set different permissible levels of negative account
balances based on grade level (accounting for the different levels of individual responsibility between a 1st grade
student and a high school student). The current policy language again provides for establishing a different level of
permitted delinquency by grade level – not individually, so that discrimination is not a realistic concern. The
revisions are provided in response to current auditor expectations but still allow for differentiation by grade level
(not by individual, and therefore not reasonably subject to discriminatory practice).

bb. PO 8531 Free and Reduced-Price Meals REVISION
This policy is revised to update the language to assure it matches the USDA's required nondiscrimination
language. Adoption of this revision is required to maintain USDA-approved policy language.



cc. PO 9210 Parent Organizations RESCIND
The policy is removed as the content is already sufficiently covered in Policy 9211.

dd. PO 9211 District Support Organizations REVISION
The policy is revised to add an option to include a requirement that any organization described in this policy
requires advance permission to use any of the district's identifying logos, name, and, if applicable, slogans or
taglines used by the district or one of the schools in the district.

3. PO8431 Preparedness for Toxic Hazards Not discussed during the 12/6/23 meeting.
a. Confirm Toxic Hazard Preparedness (THP) Officer.
b. Confirm Chemical Hygiene (CHO) Officer.
c. Confirm there is a Chemical Hygiene Plan and when last reviewed.

❖ FUTURE MEETING AGENDA ITEMS
➢ PO8431 Preparedness for Toxic Hazards

■ Confirm Toxic Hazard Preparedness (THP) Officer.
■ Confirm Chemical Hygiene (CHO) Officer.
■ Confirm there is a Chemical Hygiene Plan and when last reviewed.

➢ NEOLA AG reviews not yet covered.

❖ ADJOURN
Motion to adjourn: Hansen, Jepson
Motion carried at 10:08 pm



School District of Manawa
Building & Grounds COMMITTEEMEETING

Manawa School District Office - Board Room
800 Beech Street, Manawa WI

(920)596-2525

Wednesday, December 13, 2023
5:15 P.M.

Board of Education Committee Members:
Griffin (C), Jepson, & Riske

❖ CALL TO ORDER
Called to order at 5:15

❖ PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE

❖ ROLL CALL - Verification of Quorum
➢ B.O.E. Members Present: Griffin, Jepson, Riske

❖ COMPLIANCEWITH OPEN MEETING LAW NOTIFICATION [§19.84(2) Wis. Stats.]
Verified by Mr.Peterson

❖ AGENDA

1. Building & Grounds Maintenance Updates
a. Kitchen Hood / Exhaust Roof Leak Update

This is not a hood issue. It seems to be a roof issue and will be watched.
b. Fire Safety Inspection Updates (3 total documents)

i. MES Fire Inspection Report
ii. MMS/LWHS Fire Inspection Report
iii. MMS/LWHS Systems Inspection Report

Informational -Will be coming back to inspect PEA’s Lab
c. MS/HS Gym Hoop Repairs/Inspection (4 total documents)

i. Informational Memo
ii. Invoice for Hoop Winch/Cable Repairs
iii. Inspection Summary
iv. Inspection Results
v. Inspection Repairs Proposal

Safety straps will be purchased for under $10,000 for safety concerns.
The remaining items will be moved to the capital improvements list.

2. Scoreboard Project - MS/HS Gym

* Any person with a qualifying disability under the Americans with Disabilities Act that requires the meeting or
material to be in accessible format, please contact the District Administrator to request reasonable accommodation.
The meeting room is wheelchair accessible. This meeting is a meeting of the Board of Education in public for the
purpose of conducting the School District's business and is not to be considered a public hearing. There may be a
time for public comment during the meeting as indicated in the agenda.

**Upon request to the District Administrator, submitted twenty-four (24) hours in advance, the District shall make
reasonable accommodations including the provision of informational material in an alternative format for a disabled
person to be able to attend this meeting.



School District of Manawa
Building & Grounds COMMITTEEMEETING

Manawa School District Office - Board Room
800 Beech Street, Manawa WI

(920)596-2525
a. Informational Memo and Installation Proposal

- regarding the Donation of 2 scoreboard by the Manawa Athletic Booster Club
i. Memo Scoreboard Replacement
ii. Quote for Installation of new scoreboards

A very BIG thank you to the Manawa Athletic Booster Club for the
generous donation. Waiting till Tuesday’s board meeting to approve the
donation to schedule the installation.

3. Storage Shed Discussion
a. Memo for Review

Motion By Riske to get RFP’s based on the attached memo from Lance
Second by Griffin Motion Carries
Conversation about the size needed was discussed at length and Lance consulted
with multiple people to get the right fit for our district. He agreed that this was
what was needed for the equipment we store.

4. Building Usage Plan Discussion
a. Building Usage Form for Reference

Informational-Form was updated and the admin team will continue to build form.
Wanted direction on charging groups to use facilities.

5. Capital Improvements List - Updates / Discussion
a. Review of multiple quotes linked in the Document

Discussion on multiple line items. Will continue to keep working through it
The spreadsheet has up-to-date information and attached links for review in the
drive for BOE members to review.

6. Bus Contract Negotiations Update, if available
Talking with multiple bus companies on getting RFPs. Will have 3 possible
coming.

❖ FUTURE MEETING AGENDA ITEMS
➢ Schedule January Meeting Date

Next meeting date will be January 24th, 2024 @ 5:15

❖ ADJOURN
Meeting adjourned @ 6:48
Motioned by Riske
Seconded by Jepson
Motion Carries

* Any person with a qualifying disability under the Americans with Disabilities Act that requires the meeting or
material to be in accessible format, please contact the District Administrator to request reasonable accommodation.
The meeting room is wheelchair accessible. This meeting is a meeting of the Board of Education in public for the
purpose of conducting the School District's business and is not to be considered a public hearing. There may be a
time for public comment during the meeting as indicated in the agenda.

**Upon request to the District Administrator, submitted twenty-four (24) hours in advance, the District shall make
reasonable accommodations including the provision of informational material in an alternative format for a disabled
person to be able to attend this meeting.



School District of Manawa
Building & Grounds COMMITTEEMEETING

Manawa School District Office - Board Room
800 Beech Street, Manawa WI

(920)596-2525

* Any person with a qualifying disability under the Americans with Disabilities Act that requires the meeting or
material to be in accessible format, please contact the District Administrator to request reasonable accommodation.
The meeting room is wheelchair accessible. This meeting is a meeting of the Board of Education in public for the
purpose of conducting the School District's business and is not to be considered a public hearing. There may be a
time for public comment during the meeting as indicated in the agenda.

**Upon request to the District Administrator, submitted twenty-four (24) hours in advance, the District shall make
reasonable accommodations including the provision of informational material in an alternative format for a disabled
person to be able to attend this meeting.



Special Board of Education Meeting Minutes
Wednesday, December 6, 2023

5:30 P.M.

❖ CALL TO ORDER - 5:31 pm
➢ This is a meeting of the Board of Education in public for the purpose of conducting the School

District's business and is not to be considered a public hearing. There will be a time for public
comment during the meeting as indicated in the agenda. (B.O.E. Policy 0166)

❖ ROLL CALL - Verification of Quorum
➢ B.O.E. Members Present: Reierson, Griffin, Fietzer, Jepson, Hansen, Riske

❖ COMPLIANCEWITH OPEN MEETING LAW NOTIFICATION [§19.84(2) Wis. Stats.]
➢ Verify Publication of Meeting - Verified by Mr. Peterson

❖ Public Comments - none

❖ B.O.E. BUSINESS (New Items)
1. Interviews of candidates for the Board of Education vacancy Zone 3-Town of

Union/Town of Helvetia.
Mr. Scott Emmert is the sole candidate. No formal interview questions asked.

2. Appointment to fill the Board of Education vacancy Zone 3-Town of Union/Town of
Helvetia.
Motion to appoint Mr. Scott Emmert for the BOE vacancy Zone 3-Town of Union/Town
of Helvetia from December 2023 until April 2024.
Motion by: Griffin, Riske
Motion Carried.
Oath of Office was performed and notarized by Mrs. TaraLa Jackson.

Mr. Emmert is appointed to participate on the Curriculum Committee starting at the
January committee meeting.

❖ ADJOURN
Motion to adjourn by: Fietzer, Jepson
Motion carried at 5:48 pm.



3frdtl02.p 38-4 SCHOOL DISTRICT OF MANAWA 12/01/23 Page:1

05.23.10.00.00 Cash Receipts  (Dates: 11/01/2023 - 11/30/2023)  2:21 PM

Name Reference Trans Date Description Post Date Amount

                                                                                                                          

Totals for              0.00

  

Total for Cash Receipts              0.00



3frdtl02.p 38-4 SCHOOL DISTRICT OF MANAWA 12/01/23 Page:2

05.23.10.00.00 Cash Receipts  (Dates: 11/01/2023 - 11/30/2023)  2:21 PM

 F U N D  S U M M A R Y

  

FUND      DESCRIPTION                        BALANCE SHEET           REVENUE           EXPENSE             TOTAL

*** Fund Summary Totals ***              0.00              0.00              0.00              0.00

************************ End of report ************************



3frdtl01.p 89-4 SCHOOL DISTRICT OF MANAWA 12/01/23 Page:1

05.23.10.00.00 Monthly BOE Checklist (Dates: 11/01/23 - 11/30/23)  2:17 PM

CHECK BATCH CHECK INVOICE ACCOUNT PO

   NUMBER VENDOR               NUMBER DATE       DESCRIPTION                    DESCRIPTION              NUMBER            AMOUNT

    85120 WAEA - WI ART EDUCAT JPAP11 11/02/2023 REGISTRATION TO VISUAL ATS GENERAL FUND/DUES &          0            150.00

CLASSIC COMPETITION 2023 - FEES  MEMBRSHIP/FT

NANCY ZABLER FEES/CO-CURRICULAR

ACTIVITIES

Totals for 85120            150.00

    85123 CESA 6-CONFERENCE RE JPAP11 11/02/2023 NEW FRONTLINE PLATFORM GENERAL          0            250.00

MANAGER 3-DAY SERIES FUND/TRANSFER TO

CESA/OTHER

IMPROVEMENTS OF

INSTR

Totals for 85123            250.00

    85128 SCHOOL DISTRICT OF M JPAP11 11/02/2023 MOVE FUNDS THAT SHOULD HAVE GENERAL          0            120.00

BEEN DEPOSITED INTO FUND 21 FUND/GIFTS/DISTRICT

WIDE

Totals for 85128            120.00

    85129 YOUTH ALTERNATIVE RE JPAP11 11/02/2023 2023-24 MBRSHIP - MARY ECK GENERAL FUND/DUES &          0            125.00

FEES  MEMBRSHIP/FT

FEES/OTHER SPECIAL

NEEDS

Totals for 85129            125.00

    85132 CASH JPAP11 11/07/2023 LWHS & MMS PETTY CASH GENERAL          0            391.80

FUND/CENTRAL SUPPLY

ROOM/UNDIFFERENTIATE

D CURRICULUM

Totals for 85132            391.80

    85133 CLINTONVILLE PUBLIC JPAP11 11/07/2023 VARSITY GIRLS BASKETBALL GENERAL FUND/DUES &          0            150.00

SCRIMMAGE ON 11/11/23 FEES  MEMBRSHIP/FT

FEES/GIRLS

BASKETBALL

Totals for 85133            150.00

    85134 MENOMINEE INDIAN HIG JPAP11 11/07/2023 VARSITY CROSS COUNTRY MEET ON GENERAL FUND/DUES &          0            100.00

9/19/23 FEES  MEMBRSHIP/FT

FEES/CROSS COUNTRY

Totals for 85134            100.00

    85135 ROSHOLT HIGH SCHOOL JPAP11 11/07/2023 VARSITY CROSS COUNTRY GENERAL FUND/DUES &          0            125.00

INVITATIONAL ON 9/28/23 FEES  MEMBRSHIP/FT

FEES/CROSS COUNTRY

Totals for 85135            125.00

    85136 SCHOOL DISTRICT OF N JPAP11 11/07/2023 VARSITY & MS CROSS COUNTRY ON GENERAL FUND/DUES &          0            100.00

9/16/23 FEES  MEMBRSHIP/FT

FEES/CROSS COUNTRY

Totals for 85136            100.00

    85137 SHAWANO COMMUNITY HI JPAP11 11/07/2023 VARSITY CROSS COUNTRY GENERAL FUND/DUES &          0            100.00

INVITATIONAL ON 9/9/23 FEES  MEMBRSHIP/FT

FEES/CROSS COUNTRY

Totals for 85137            100.00

    85138 WEYAUWEGA-FREMONT SC JPAP11 11/07/2023 VARSITY CROSS COUNTRY GENERAL FUND/DUES &          0            125.00

INVITATIONAL ON 10/5/23 FEES  MEMBRSHIP/FT

FEES/CROSS COUNTRY

Totals for 85138            125.00

    85154 CHIPPEWA VALLEY SPOR JPAP11 11/10/2023 Volleyball Spacer and Sleeves GENERAL 4002400058            320.00

for Standard Inserts FUND/NON-CAPITAL

EQUIPMENT/VOLLEYBALL

Totals for 85154            320.00

    85155 E O JOHNSON CO., INC JPAP11 11/10/2023 MONTHLY COPIER INVOICE GENERAL 8002400016          4,734.01

FUND/PRINTING AND



3frdtl01.p 89-4 SCHOOL DISTRICT OF MANAWA 12/01/23 Page:2

05.23.10.00.00 Monthly BOE Checklist (Dates: 11/01/23 - 11/30/23)  2:17 PM

CHECK BATCH CHECK INVOICE ACCOUNT PO

   NUMBER VENDOR               NUMBER DATE       DESCRIPTION                    DESCRIPTION              NUMBER            AMOUNT

BINDING/CENTRAL

SERVICES

Totals for 85155          4,734.01

    85156 JOSTENS INC. JPAP11 11/10/2023 WRIGHT - JOSTENS HS YEARBOOK GENERAL 4002400069          2,432.00

Deposit/Down Payment FUND/GENERAL

SUPPLIES/YEARBOOK

FEE

Totals for 85156          2,432.00

    85158 NASSCO INC JPAP11 11/10/2023 CUSTODIAL SUPPLIES GENERAL 1012400063            181.89

FUND/GENERAL

SUPPLIES/OPERATION

Totals for 85158            181.89

    85159 PERSELLS, JAMES JPAP11 11/10/2023 HOCO DANCE CHAPERONE GENERAL          0             25.00

FUND/PERSONAL

SERVICES/CO-CURRICUL

AR ACTIVITIES

Totals for 85159             25.00

    85160 SCHOOL DISTRICT OF M JPAP11 11/10/2023 FUND 21 DEPOSITS EFT TO FUND GENERAL          0             80.00

10 FUND/STUDENT

FEES/DISTRICT WIDE

Totals for 85160             80.00

    85161 SOLIANT JPAP11 11/10/2023 SPEECH SERVICES - VIRTUAL SPECIAL EDUCATION 8002400035          1,105.00

FUND/PERSONAL

SERVICES/SPEECH/LANG

UAGE

Totals for 85161          1,105.00

    85162 TEACHER SYNERGY, LLC JPAP11 11/10/2023 7195708 - (Educator Guide) A SPECIAL EDUCATION  272400060             34.99

Little SPOT of Life Skills & FUND/TECH/SOFTWARE

Actions SERVIC/MULTI-CATEGOR

ICAL

Totals for 85162             34.99

    85163 UNIFIRST CORPORATION JPAP11 11/10/2023 MATS & MOPS DELIVERED GENERAL 1012400045             54.90

GENERALLY EVERY OTHER MONDAY FUND/CLEANING

SERVICES/OPERATION

    85163 UNIFIRST CORPORATION JPAP11 11/10/2023 MATS & MOPS DELIVERED GENERAL 4002400052             44.14

GENERALLY EVERY OTHER MONDAY FUND/CLEANING

SERVICES/OPERATION

    85163 UNIFIRST CORPORATION JPAP11 11/10/2023 MATS & MOPS DELIVERED GENERAL 4002400052             33.29

GENERALLY EVERY OTHER MONDAY FUND/CLEANING

SERVICES/OPERATION

Totals for 85163            132.33

    85164 VILLAGE OF OGDENSBUR JPAP11 11/10/2023 OVERPAYMENT OF TAXES GENERAL FUND/STATE          0             98.80

REV THRU LOCAL

GOVERNMEN/DISTRICT

WIDE

Totals for 85164             98.80

    85167 WISCONSIN SCTF P9 11/15/2023 Payroll accrual GENERAL          0            524.75

FUND/GARNISHMENT

DEDUCTION

Totals for 85167            524.75

    85168 ALLIANT ENERGY JPAP11 11/17/2023 GAS AND ELECTRIC FOR PAES LAB SPECIAL EDUCATION  272400032             43.35

FUND/GAS FOR

HEAT/BUILDINGS

    85168 ALLIANT ENERGY JPAP11 11/17/2023 GAS AND ELECTRIC FOR PAES LAB SPECIAL EDUCATION  272400032             42.81

FUND/ELECTRICITY

OTHER THAN



3frdtl01.p 89-4 SCHOOL DISTRICT OF MANAWA 12/01/23 Page:3

05.23.10.00.00 Monthly BOE Checklist (Dates: 11/01/23 - 11/30/23)  2:17 PM

CHECK BATCH CHECK INVOICE ACCOUNT PO

   NUMBER VENDOR               NUMBER DATE       DESCRIPTION                    DESCRIPTION              NUMBER            AMOUNT

HEAT/BUILDINGS

    85168 ALLIANT ENERGY JPAP11 11/17/2023 LWHS/MMS ELECTRIC BILLS GENERAL 4002400024              9.84

FUND/ELECTRICITY

OTHER THAN

HEAT/OPERATION

    85168 ALLIANT ENERGY JPAP11 11/17/2023 LWHS/MMS ELECTRIC BILLS GENERAL 4002400024              7.43

FUND/ELECTRICITY

OTHER THAN

HEAT/OPERATION

    85168 ALLIANT ENERGY JPAP11 11/17/2023 LWHS/MMS ELECTRIC BILLS GENERAL 4002400024              9.84

FUND/ELECTRICITY

OTHER THAN

HEAT/OPERATION

    85168 ALLIANT ENERGY JPAP11 11/17/2023 LWHS/MMS ELECTRIC BILLS GENERAL 4002400024              7.43

FUND/ELECTRICITY

OTHER THAN

HEAT/OPERATION

    85168 ALLIANT ENERGY JPAP11 11/17/2023 LWHS/MMS GAS BILLS GENERAL FUND/GAS 4002400025            648.95

FOR HEAT/OPERATION

    85168 ALLIANT ENERGY JPAP11 11/17/2023 LWHS/MMS GAS BILLS GENERAL FUND/GAS 4002400025            489.56

FOR HEAT/OPERATION

    85168 ALLIANT ENERGY JPAP11 11/17/2023 MES ELECTRIC BILLS GENERAL 1012400032          5,339.96

FUND/ELECTRICITY

OTHER THAN

HEAT/OPERATION

    85168 ALLIANT ENERGY JPAP11 11/17/2023 MES GAS BILLS GENERAL FUND/GAS 1012400032          1,036.13

FOR HEAT/OPERATION

    85168 ALLIANT ENERGY JPAP11 11/17/2023 LWHS/MMS ELECTRIC BILLS GENERAL 4002400024          5,271.04

FUND/ELECTRICITY

OTHER THAN

HEAT/OPERATION

    85168 ALLIANT ENERGY JPAP11 11/17/2023 LWHS/MMS ELECTRIC BILLS GENERAL 4002400024          3,976.40

FUND/ELECTRICITY

OTHER THAN

HEAT/OPERATION

Totals for 85168         16,882.74

    85169 AMAZON CAPITAL SERVI JPAP11 11/17/2023 CORDES - Starry Sky Light GENERAL 4002400079             39.98

Filter FUND/GENERAL

SUPPLIES/AGRICULTURE

    85169 AMAZON CAPITAL SERVI JPAP11 11/17/2023 ZABLER - Supplies to make GENERAL 4002400072            167.45

Keychains and earring to sell FUND/GENERAL

at the Musical SUPPLIES/ART

    85169 AMAZON CAPITAL SERVI JPAP11 11/17/2023 chromebooks, portable speaker GENERAL 8002400033          1,547.93

system Bluetooth connector FUND/TECHNOLOGY

RELATED

HARDWARE/ADMINISTRAT

IVE TECHNOLOGY SERV

    85169 AMAZON CAPITAL SERVI JPAP11 11/17/2023 CENTRAL SUPPLY ITEMS GENERAL 1012400068            375.76

FUND/CENTRAL SUPPLY

ROOM/UNDIFFERENTIATE

D CURRICULUM

    85169 AMAZON CAPITAL SERVI JPAP11 11/17/2023 KOEHLER - Tech Ed Supplies GENERAL 4002400080            447.92

FUND/GENERAL

SUPPLIES/TECHNOLOGY

EDUCATION

Totals for 85169          2,579.04



3frdtl01.p 89-4 SCHOOL DISTRICT OF MANAWA 12/01/23 Page:4

05.23.10.00.00 Monthly BOE Checklist (Dates: 11/01/23 - 11/30/23)  2:17 PM

CHECK BATCH CHECK INVOICE ACCOUNT PO

   NUMBER VENDOR               NUMBER DATE       DESCRIPTION                    DESCRIPTION              NUMBER            AMOUNT

    85170 BATTERIES PLUS JPAP11 11/17/2023 FLO 4FTLES RECYCLE SR/LMP - GENERAL          0             33.06

(115 QUANTITY) FUND/GENERAL

SUPPLIES/OPERATION

    85170 BATTERIES PLUS JPAP11 11/17/2023 FLO 4FTLES RECYCLE SR/LMP - GENERAL          0             24.94

(115 QUANTITY) FUND/GENERAL

SUPPLIES/OPERATION

Totals for 85170             58.00

    85171 CENTURY LINK JPAP11 11/17/2023 LONG DISTANCE SERVICE - GENERAL 8002400018             48.87

MONTHLY FUND/TELEPHONE AND

TELEGRAPH/CENTRAL

SERVICES

Totals for 85171             48.87

    85172 CESA 6-CONFERENCE RE JPAP11 11/17/2023 PHYSICAL THERAPY SPECIAL EDUCATION          0          1,003.20

FUND/TRANSFER TO

CESA/PHYSICAL

THERAPY

    85172 CESA 6-CONFERENCE RE JPAP11 11/17/2023 PHYSICAL THERAPY SPECIAL EDUCATION          0            668.80

FUND/TRANSFER TO

CESA/PHYSICAL

THERAPY

Totals for 85172          1,672.00

    85173 C.E.S.A. #8 JPAP11 11/17/2023 2nd QTR ERVING BILLING GENERAL          0          2,562.50

FUND/TRANSFER TO

CESA/Gen

Tuition-Non-Open

Enrollmen

Totals for 85173          2,562.50

    85174 CHIPPEWA VALLEY SPOR JPAP11 11/17/2023 Basketball Nets GENERAL 4002400055             72.00

FUND/GENERAL

SUPPLIES/GIRLS

BASKETBALL

    85174 CHIPPEWA VALLEY SPOR JPAP11 11/17/2023 Basketball Nets GENERAL 4002400055             72.00

FUND/GENERAL

SUPPLIES/BOYS

BASKETBALL

Totals for 85174            144.00

    85175 DELTA DENTAL-VISION JPAP11 11/17/2023 COBRA VISION GENERAL FUND/SELF          0              4.78

FUND-EMPLOYER SHARE

PREMI

    85175 DELTA DENTAL-VISION JPAP11 11/17/2023 DECEMBER VISION INS GENERAL FUND/SELF          0            550.04

FUND-EMPLOYER SHARE

PREMI

Totals for 85175            554.82

    85176 MANAWA QUALITY FOODS JPAP11 11/17/2023 MES SPEC ED FOOD SPECIAL EDUCATION  272400064             30.45

FUND/FOOD/MULTI-CATE

GORICAL

    85176 MANAWA QUALITY FOODS JPAP11 11/17/2023 MES SPEC ED FOOD SPECIAL EDUCATION  272400062             10.78

FUND/FOOD/MULTI-CATE

GORICAL

Totals for 85176             41.23

    85178 SCHOOL DISTRICT OF A JPAP11 11/17/2023 VARSITY WRESTLING GENERAL FUND/DUES &          0            225.00

INVITATIONAL ON 12/2/23 FEES  MEMBRSHIP/FT

FEES/BOYS WRESTLING

Totals for 85178            225.00

    85179 SCHOOL DISTRICT OF I JPAP11 11/17/2023 NOVEMBER 23 ADAPTIVE SWIMMING SPECIAL EDUCATION          0             48.00

- ( NOV. 2, 7, 9 & 16) FUND/CONTRACTED



3frdtl01.p 89-4 SCHOOL DISTRICT OF MANAWA 12/01/23 Page:5

05.23.10.00.00 Monthly BOE Checklist (Dates: 11/01/23 - 11/30/23)  2:17 PM

CHECK BATCH CHECK INVOICE ACCOUNT PO

   NUMBER VENDOR               NUMBER DATE       DESCRIPTION                    DESCRIPTION              NUMBER            AMOUNT

PUPIL

TRANSPORTATIO/SPECIA

L EDUCATION HDCP

Totals for 85179             48.00

    85181 VOYAGER SOPRIS LEARN JPAP11 11/17/2023 KINDERGARTEN TUTOR HANDBOOK GENERAL 1012400067             34.00

FUND/TEXTBOOKS &

WORKBOOKS/ENGLISH

LANGUAGE

Totals for 85181             34.00

    85183 AMPLIFY TECHNOLOGIES JPAP11 11/21/2023 HS GYM AUDIO - HALF DOWN TO GENERAL          0          5,260.75

BEGIN WORK FUND/TECHNOLOGY

RELATED

HARDWARE/NONINSTR

EQIP REPAI

    85183 AMPLIFY TECHNOLOGIES JPAP11 11/21/2023 HS GYM AUDIO - HALF DOWN TO GENERAL          0          5,260.75

BEGIN WORK FUND/TECHNOLOGY

SOFTWARE/NONINSTR

EQIP REPAI

Totals for 85183         10,521.50

    85184 DIVERSIFIED BENEFIT JPAP11 11/21/2023 ADMIN FEES GENERAL          0            235.02

FUND/DISTRICT FEES

/ BANKING

FEE/FISCAL

Totals for 85184            235.02

    85185 EDPUZZLE JPAP11 11/21/2023 EdPuzzle - SCHOOOL WIDE GENERAL 8002400034          2,180.00

ACCESS FUND/TECH/SOFTWARE

SERVIC/ADMINISTRATIV

E TECHNOLOGY SERV

Totals for 85185          2,180.00

    85186 E O JOHNSON COMPANY JPAP11 11/21/2023 CONTAINER GENERAL          0             60.27

FUND/GENERAL

SUPPLIES/TECHNOLOGY

EDUCATION

    85186 E O JOHNSON COMPANY JPAP11 11/21/2023 CONTAINER GENERAL          0             79.90

FUND/GENERAL

SUPPLIES/TECHNOLOGY

EDUCATION

    85186 E O JOHNSON COMPANY JPAP11 11/21/2023 CONTAINER GENERAL          0             60.27

FUND/GENERAL

SUPPLIES/TECHNOLOGY

EDUCATION

    85186 E O JOHNSON COMPANY JPAP11 11/21/2023 CONTAINER GENERAL          0             79.90

FUND/GENERAL

SUPPLIES/TECHNOLOGY

EDUCATION

Totals for 85186            280.34

    85187 GREEN BOYZ INC JPAP11 11/21/2023 MOWING & WEED CONTROL - GENERAL          0          3,530.00

OCTOBER 2023 FUND/CLEANING

SERVICES/OPERATION

Totals for 85187          3,530.00

    85189 KOBUSSEN BUSES LTD jpap11 11/21/2023 OCTOBER  23 BUS CHARGES GENERAL          0         52,152.47

FUND/CONTRACTED

PUPIL

TRANSPORTATIO/CONTRA

CTED FLEET

    85189 KOBUSSEN BUSES LTD jpap11 11/21/2023 OCTOBER  23 BUS CHARGES GENERAL          0          2,438.09



3frdtl01.p 89-4 SCHOOL DISTRICT OF MANAWA 12/01/23 Page:6

05.23.10.00.00 Monthly BOE Checklist (Dates: 11/01/23 - 11/30/23)  2:17 PM

CHECK BATCH CHECK INVOICE ACCOUNT PO

   NUMBER VENDOR               NUMBER DATE       DESCRIPTION                    DESCRIPTION              NUMBER            AMOUNT

FUND/CONTRACTED

PUPIL

TRANSPORTATIO/CO-CUR

RICULAR TRANS

    85189 KOBUSSEN BUSES LTD jpap11 11/21/2023 OCTOBER  23 BUS CHARGES GENERAL          0            324.13

FUND/CONTRACTED

PUPIL

TRANSPORTATIO/FIELD

TRIPS

    85189 KOBUSSEN BUSES LTD jpap11 11/21/2023 OCTOBER  23 BUS CHARGES GENERAL          0            752.68

FUND/CONTRACTED

PUPIL

TRANSPORTATIO/FIELD

TRIPS

    85189 KOBUSSEN BUSES LTD jpap11 11/21/2023 OCTOBER  23 BUS CHARGES SPECIAL EDUCATION          0          6,928.35

FUND/CONTRACTED

PUPIL

TRANSPORTATIO/SPECIA

L EDUCATION HDCP

    85189 KOBUSSEN BUSES LTD jpap11 11/21/2023 OCTOBER  23 BUS CHARGES COMMUNITY SERVICE          0            766.94

FUND/TRAVEL-CONTRACT

ED SERVICE/OTHER

COMMUNITY SERVICES

Totals for 85189         63,362.66

    85191 NEOLA, INC. JPAP11 11/21/2023 UPDATE SERVICE:  VOLUME 33: GENERAL          0          1,375.00

NUMBER 1 FUND/TECH/SOFTWARE

SERVIC/BOARD

MEMBERS

Totals for 85191          1,375.00

    85192 SOLIANT JPAP11 11/21/2023 SPEECH SERVICES - VIRTUAL SPECIAL EDUCATION 8002400035          1,253.75

FUND/PERSONAL

SERVICES/SPEECH/LANG

UAGE

Totals for 85192          1,253.75

    85193 UNIFIRST CORPORATION JPAP11 11/21/2023 MATS & MOPS DELIVERED GENERAL 4002400052             44.14

GENERALLY EVERY OTHER MONDAY FUND/CLEANING

SERVICES/OPERATION

    85193 UNIFIRST CORPORATION JPAP11 11/21/2023 MATS & MOPS DELIVERED GENERAL 4002400052             33.29

GENERALLY EVERY OTHER MONDAY FUND/CLEANING

SERVICES/OPERATION

    85193 UNIFIRST CORPORATION JPAP11 11/21/2023 MATS & MOPS DELIVERED GENERAL 1012400045             54.90

GENERALLY EVERY OTHER MONDAY FUND/CLEANING

SERVICES/OPERATION

Totals for 85193            132.33

    85194 WCA GROUP HEALTH TRU JPAP11 11/21/2023 DECEMBER 2023 HEALTH INS GENERAL FUND/HEALTH          0         95,932.40

PREMIUMS INSURANCE

Totals for 85194         95,932.40

    85195 WILD, TIMOTHY JPAP11 11/29/2023 VARSITY GIRLS BASKETBALL GENERAL          0             90.00

OFFICIAL ON 11/21/23 VS FUND/PERSONAL

PACELLI SERVICES/GIRLS

BASKETBALL

Totals for 85195             90.00

    85196 WISCONSIN SCTF P9 11/30/2023 Payroll accrual GENERAL          0            524.75

FUND/GARNISHMENT

DEDUCTION

Totals for 85196            524.75



3frdtl01.p 89-4 SCHOOL DISTRICT OF MANAWA 12/01/23 Page:7

05.23.10.00.00 Monthly BOE Checklist (Dates: 11/01/23 - 11/30/23)  2:17 PM

CHECK BATCH CHECK INVOICE ACCOUNT PO

   NUMBER VENDOR               NUMBER DATE       DESCRIPTION                    DESCRIPTION              NUMBER            AMOUNT

202300098 WISCONSIN RETIREMENT OCT WR 11/21/2023 Payroll accrual - OCTOBER WRS GENERAL FUND/WI          0          9,086.43

RETIREMENT FUND

202300098 WISCONSIN RETIREMENT OCT WR 11/21/2023 Payroll accrual - OCTOBER WRS SPECIAL EDUCATION          0          1,737.78

FUND/WI RETIREMENT

FUND

202300098 WISCONSIN RETIREMENT OCT WR 11/21/2023 Payroll accrual - OCTOBER WRS FOOD SERVICE          0            399.08

FUND/WI RETIREMENT

FUND

202300098 WISCONSIN RETIREMENT OCT WR 11/21/2023 Payroll accrual - OCTOBER WRS GENERAL FUND/WI          0          9,086.43

RETIREMENT FUND

202300098 WISCONSIN RETIREMENT OCT WR 11/21/2023 Payroll accrual - OCTOBER WRS SPECIAL EDUCATION          0          1,737.78

FUND/WI RETIREMENT

FUND

202300098 WISCONSIN RETIREMENT OCT WR 11/21/2023 Payroll accrual - OCTOBER WRS FOOD SERVICE          0            399.08

FUND/WI RETIREMENT

FUND

Totals for 202300098         22,446.58

202300109 WISCONSIN RETIREMENT OCT WR 11/21/2023 Payroll accrual - OCTOBER WRS GENERAL FUND/WI          0          9,147.55

RETIREMENT FUND

202300109 WISCONSIN RETIREMENT OCT WR 11/21/2023 Payroll accrual - OCTOBER WRS SPECIAL EDUCATION          0          1,758.29

FUND/WI RETIREMENT

FUND

202300109 WISCONSIN RETIREMENT OCT WR 11/21/2023 Payroll accrual - OCTOBER WRS FOOD SERVICE          0            450.28

FUND/WI RETIREMENT

FUND

202300109 WISCONSIN RETIREMENT OCT WR 11/21/2023 Payroll accrual - OCTOBER WRS COMMUNITY SERVICE          0            199.24

FUND/WI RETIREMENT

FUND

202300109 WISCONSIN RETIREMENT OCT WR 11/21/2023 Payroll accrual - OCTOBER WRS GENERAL FUND/WI          0          9,147.55

RETIREMENT FUND

202300109 WISCONSIN RETIREMENT OCT WR 11/21/2023 Payroll accrual - OCTOBER WRS SPECIAL EDUCATION          0          1,758.29

FUND/WI RETIREMENT

FUND

202300109 WISCONSIN RETIREMENT OCT WR 11/21/2023 Payroll accrual - OCTOBER WRS FOOD SERVICE          0            450.28

FUND/WI RETIREMENT

FUND

202300109 WISCONSIN RETIREMENT OCT WR 11/21/2023 Payroll accrual - OCTOBER WRS COMMUNITY SERVICE          0            199.24

FUND/WI RETIREMENT

FUND

Totals for 202300109         23,110.72

202300112 DELTA DENTAL OF WISC JPWI11 11/01/2023 DENTAL CLAIMS GENERAL FUND/SELF          0          1,143.40

FUND-EMPLOYER SHARE

PREMI

Totals for 202300112          1,143.40

202300118 DIVERSIFIED BENEFIT JPWI11 11/03/2023 HRA REIMBURSEMENTS GENERAL FUND/HEALTH          0          2,053.83

INSURANCE

Totals for 202300118          2,053.83

202300119 DIVERSIFIED BENEFIT JPWI11 11/10/2023 HRA REIMBURSEMENT GENERAL FUND/HEALTH          0            199.47

INSURANCE

Totals for 202300119            199.47

202300120 DELTA DENTAL OF WISC JPWI11 11/08/2023 DENTAL CLAIMS GENERAL FUND/SELF          0            582.27

FUND-EMPLOYER SHARE

PREMI

Totals for 202300120            582.27

202300121 EMPLOYEE BENEFITS CO JPWI11 11/09/2023 UNCOVERED MEDICAL, DEPENDENT GENERAL FUND/FLEX          0            448.30

CARE & FES CLAIMS PLAN SY23-24



3frdtl01.p 89-4 SCHOOL DISTRICT OF MANAWA 12/01/23 Page:8

05.23.10.00.00 Monthly BOE Checklist (Dates: 11/01/23 - 11/30/23)  2:17 PM

CHECK BATCH CHECK INVOICE ACCOUNT PO

   NUMBER VENDOR               NUMBER DATE       DESCRIPTION                    DESCRIPTION              NUMBER            AMOUNT

202300121 EMPLOYEE BENEFITS CO JPWI11 11/09/2023 UNCOVERED MEDICAL, DEPENDENT EMPLOYEE BENIFIT          0            500.00

CARE & FES CLAIMS TRUST FUND/OTHER

ADJUSTMENTS/ADJUSTME

NTS & REFUNDS

Totals for 202300121            948.30

202300122 INTERNAL REVENUE SER P9 11/15/2023 Payroll accrual GENERAL FUND/FICA          0          8,891.23

(SOCIAL SECURITY)

202300122 INTERNAL REVENUE SER P9 11/15/2023 Payroll accrual SPECIAL EDUCATION          0          1,470.46

FUND/FICA (SOCIAL

SECURITY)

202300122 INTERNAL REVENUE SER P9 11/15/2023 Payroll accrual FOOD SERVICE          0            338.95

FUND/FICA (SOCIAL

SECURITY)

202300122 INTERNAL REVENUE SER P9 11/15/2023 Payroll accrual COMMUNITY SERVICE          0            181.66

FUND/FICA (SOCIAL

SECURITY)

202300122 INTERNAL REVENUE SER P9 11/15/2023 Payroll accrual GENERAL FUND/FICA          0          2,079.40

(SOCIAL SECURITY)

202300122 INTERNAL REVENUE SER P9 11/15/2023 Payroll accrual SPECIAL EDUCATION          0            343.86

FUND/FICA (SOCIAL

SECURITY)

202300122 INTERNAL REVENUE SER P9 11/15/2023 Payroll accrual FOOD SERVICE          0             79.27

FUND/FICA (SOCIAL

SECURITY)

202300122 INTERNAL REVENUE SER P9 11/15/2023 Payroll accrual COMMUNITY SERVICE          0             42.48

FUND/FICA (SOCIAL

SECURITY)

202300122 INTERNAL REVENUE SER P9 11/15/2023 Payroll accrual GENERAL          0            529.00

FUND/FEDERAL INCOME

TAX

202300122 INTERNAL REVENUE SER P9 11/15/2023 Payroll accrual SPECIAL EDUCATION          0             84.24

FUND/FEDERAL INCOME

TAX

202300122 INTERNAL REVENUE SER P9 11/15/2023 Payroll accrual FOOD SERVICE          0             25.00

FUND/FEDERAL INCOME

TAX

202300122 INTERNAL REVENUE SER P9 11/15/2023 Payroll accrual GENERAL          0          9,501.40

FUND/FEDERAL INCOME

TAX

202300122 INTERNAL REVENUE SER P9 11/15/2023 Payroll accrual SPECIAL EDUCATION          0          1,093.93

FUND/FEDERAL INCOME

TAX

202300122 INTERNAL REVENUE SER P9 11/15/2023 Payroll accrual FOOD SERVICE          0             82.23

FUND/FEDERAL INCOME

TAX

202300122 INTERNAL REVENUE SER P9 11/15/2023 Payroll accrual COMMUNITY SERVICE          0             94.00

FUND/FEDERAL INCOME

TAX

202300122 INTERNAL REVENUE SER P9 11/15/2023 Payroll accrual GENERAL FUND/FICA          0          2,079.40

(SOCIAL SECURITY)

202300122 INTERNAL REVENUE SER P9 11/15/2023 Payroll accrual SPECIAL EDUCATION          0            343.86

FUND/FICA (SOCIAL

SECURITY)

202300122 INTERNAL REVENUE SER P9 11/15/2023 Payroll accrual FOOD SERVICE          0             79.27

FUND/FICA (SOCIAL

SECURITY)



3frdtl01.p 89-4 SCHOOL DISTRICT OF MANAWA 12/01/23 Page:9

05.23.10.00.00 Monthly BOE Checklist (Dates: 11/01/23 - 11/30/23)  2:17 PM

CHECK BATCH CHECK INVOICE ACCOUNT PO

   NUMBER VENDOR               NUMBER DATE       DESCRIPTION                    DESCRIPTION              NUMBER            AMOUNT

202300122 INTERNAL REVENUE SER P9 11/15/2023 Payroll accrual COMMUNITY SERVICE          0             42.48

FUND/FICA (SOCIAL

SECURITY)

202300122 INTERNAL REVENUE SER P9 11/15/2023 Payroll accrual GENERAL FUND/FICA          0          8,891.23

(SOCIAL SECURITY)

202300122 INTERNAL REVENUE SER P9 11/15/2023 Payroll accrual SPECIAL EDUCATION          0          1,470.46

FUND/FICA (SOCIAL

SECURITY)

202300122 INTERNAL REVENUE SER P9 11/15/2023 Payroll accrual FOOD SERVICE          0            338.95

FUND/FICA (SOCIAL

SECURITY)

202300122 INTERNAL REVENUE SER P9 11/15/2023 Payroll accrual COMMUNITY SERVICE          0            181.66

FUND/FICA (SOCIAL

SECURITY)

Totals for 202300122         38,264.42

202300123 WEA TAX SHELTERED AN P9 11/15/2023 Payroll accrual GENERAL FUND/WEA          0            100.00

TRUST - TSA/ROTH

202300123 WEA TAX SHELTERED AN P9 11/15/2023 Payroll accrual GENERAL FUND/WEA          0            175.00

TRUST - TSA/ROTH

Totals for 202300123            275.00

202300124 WISCONSIN DEPT OF RE P9 11/15/2023 Payroll accrual GENERAL FUND/STATE          0            120.00

INCOME TAX

202300124 WISCONSIN DEPT OF RE P9 11/15/2023 Payroll accrual SPECIAL EDUCATION          0              5.00

FUND/STATE INCOME

TAX

202300124 WISCONSIN DEPT OF RE P9 11/15/2023 Payroll accrual GENERAL FUND/STATE          0          5,398.19

INCOME TAX

202300124 WISCONSIN DEPT OF RE P9 11/15/2023 Payroll accrual SPECIAL EDUCATION          0            716.56

FUND/STATE INCOME

TAX

202300124 WISCONSIN DEPT OF RE P9 11/15/2023 Payroll accrual FOOD SERVICE          0             91.33

FUND/STATE INCOME

TAX

202300124 WISCONSIN DEPT OF RE P9 11/15/2023 Payroll accrual COMMUNITY SERVICE          0             28.14

FUND/STATE INCOME

TAX

Totals for 202300124          6,359.22

202300126 WEA MEMBER BENEFIT T P9 11/15/2023 Payroll accrual GENERAL FUND/WEA          0             40.00

TRUST ADVANTAGE

Totals for 202300126             40.00

202300127 EMPOWER RETIREMENT P9 11/15/2023 Payroll accrual GENERAL          0             50.00

FUND/HARTFORD INS -

TSA/ROTH

Totals for 202300127             50.00

202300131 EMPLOYEE BENEFITS CO JPWI11 11/30/2023 ADMIN FEES - BESTFLEX, POST GENERAL          0            120.49

EMPL & HRA FUND/DISTRICT FEES

/ BANKING

FEE/FISCAL

Totals for 202300131            120.49

202300132 DIVERSIFIED BENEFIT JPWI11 11/17/2023 HRA CLAIMS GENERAL FUND/HEALTH          0            578.29

INSURANCE

Totals for 202300132            578.29

202300133 DELTA DENTAL OF WISC JPWI11 11/15/2023 DENTAL CLAIMS GENERAL FUND/SELF          0          2,120.60

FUND-EMPLOYER SHARE

PREMI

Totals for 202300133          2,120.60



3frdtl01.p 89-4 SCHOOL DISTRICT OF MANAWA 12/01/23 Page:10

05.23.10.00.00 Monthly BOE Checklist (Dates: 11/01/23 - 11/30/23)  2:17 PM

CHECK BATCH CHECK INVOICE ACCOUNT PO

   NUMBER VENDOR               NUMBER DATE       DESCRIPTION                    DESCRIPTION              NUMBER            AMOUNT

202300134 DELTA DENTAL OF WISC JPWI11 11/22/2023 DENTAL CLAIMS GENERAL FUND/SELF          0            353.60

FUND-EMPLOYER SHARE

PREMI

Totals for 202300134            353.60

202300135 DIVERSIFIED BENEFIT JPWI11 11/24/2023 HRA CLAIMS GENERAL FUND/HEALTH          0          2,000.00

INSURANCE

Totals for 202300135          2,000.00

202300136 EMPLOYEE BENEFITS CO JPWI11 11/27/2023 DEPENDENT CARE & FSA CLAIMS GENERAL FUND/FLEX          0          1,431.91

PLAN SY23-24

Totals for 202300136          1,431.91

202300137 INTERNAL REVENUE SER P9 11/30/2023 Payroll accrual GENERAL FUND/FICA          0          8,573.43

(SOCIAL SECURITY)

202300137 INTERNAL REVENUE SER P9 11/30/2023 Payroll accrual SPECIAL EDUCATION          0          1,565.24

FUND/FICA (SOCIAL

SECURITY)

202300137 INTERNAL REVENUE SER P9 11/30/2023 Payroll accrual FOOD SERVICE          0            402.44

FUND/FICA (SOCIAL

SECURITY)

202300137 INTERNAL REVENUE SER P9 11/30/2023 Payroll accrual COMMUNITY SERVICE          0             24.65

FUND/FICA (SOCIAL

SECURITY)

202300137 INTERNAL REVENUE SER P9 11/30/2023 Payroll accrual GENERAL FUND/FICA          0          2,005.07

(SOCIAL SECURITY)

202300137 INTERNAL REVENUE SER P9 11/30/2023 Payroll accrual SPECIAL EDUCATION          0            366.03

FUND/FICA (SOCIAL

SECURITY)

202300137 INTERNAL REVENUE SER P9 11/30/2023 Payroll accrual FOOD SERVICE          0             94.12

FUND/FICA (SOCIAL

SECURITY)

202300137 INTERNAL REVENUE SER P9 11/30/2023 Payroll accrual COMMUNITY SERVICE          0              5.76

FUND/FICA (SOCIAL

SECURITY)

202300137 INTERNAL REVENUE SER P9 11/30/2023 Payroll accrual GENERAL          0            529.00

FUND/FEDERAL INCOME

TAX

202300137 INTERNAL REVENUE SER P9 11/30/2023 Payroll accrual SPECIAL EDUCATION          0             84.24

FUND/FEDERAL INCOME

TAX

202300137 INTERNAL REVENUE SER P9 11/30/2023 Payroll accrual FOOD SERVICE          0             25.00

FUND/FEDERAL INCOME

TAX

202300137 INTERNAL REVENUE SER P9 11/30/2023 Payroll accrual GENERAL          0          9,176.18

FUND/FEDERAL INCOME

TAX

202300137 INTERNAL REVENUE SER P9 11/30/2023 Payroll accrual SPECIAL EDUCATION          0          1,203.56

FUND/FEDERAL INCOME

TAX

202300137 INTERNAL REVENUE SER P9 11/30/2023 Payroll accrual FOOD SERVICE          0            111.54

FUND/FEDERAL INCOME

TAX

202300137 INTERNAL REVENUE SER P9 11/30/2023 Payroll accrual COMMUNITY SERVICE          0              0.00

FUND/FEDERAL INCOME

TAX

202300137 INTERNAL REVENUE SER P9 11/30/2023 Payroll accrual GENERAL FUND/FICA          0          2,005.07

(SOCIAL SECURITY)

202300137 INTERNAL REVENUE SER P9 11/30/2023 Payroll accrual SPECIAL EDUCATION          0            366.03



3frdtl01.p 89-4 SCHOOL DISTRICT OF MANAWA 12/01/23 Page:11

05.23.10.00.00 Monthly BOE Checklist (Dates: 11/01/23 - 11/30/23)  2:17 PM

CHECK BATCH CHECK INVOICE ACCOUNT PO

   NUMBER VENDOR               NUMBER DATE       DESCRIPTION                    DESCRIPTION              NUMBER            AMOUNT

FUND/FICA (SOCIAL

SECURITY)

202300137 INTERNAL REVENUE SER P9 11/30/2023 Payroll accrual FOOD SERVICE          0             94.12

FUND/FICA (SOCIAL

SECURITY)

202300137 INTERNAL REVENUE SER P9 11/30/2023 Payroll accrual COMMUNITY SERVICE          0              5.76

FUND/FICA (SOCIAL

SECURITY)

202300137 INTERNAL REVENUE SER P9 11/30/2023 Payroll accrual GENERAL FUND/FICA          0          8,573.43

(SOCIAL SECURITY)

202300137 INTERNAL REVENUE SER P9 11/30/2023 Payroll accrual SPECIAL EDUCATION          0          1,565.24

FUND/FICA (SOCIAL

SECURITY)

202300137 INTERNAL REVENUE SER P9 11/30/2023 Payroll accrual FOOD SERVICE          0            402.44

FUND/FICA (SOCIAL

SECURITY)

202300137 INTERNAL REVENUE SER P9 11/30/2023 Payroll accrual COMMUNITY SERVICE          0             24.65

FUND/FICA (SOCIAL

SECURITY)

Totals for 202300137         37,203.00

202300138 WEA TAX SHELTERED AN P9 11/30/2023 Payroll accrual GENERAL FUND/WEA          0            100.00

TRUST - TSA/ROTH

202300138 WEA TAX SHELTERED AN P9 11/30/2023 Payroll accrual GENERAL FUND/WEA          0            175.00

TRUST - TSA/ROTH

Totals for 202300138            275.00

202300139 WISCONSIN DEPT OF RE P9 11/30/2023 Payroll accrual GENERAL FUND/STATE          0            120.00

INCOME TAX

202300139 WISCONSIN DEPT OF RE P9 11/30/2023 Payroll accrual SPECIAL EDUCATION          0              5.00

FUND/STATE INCOME

TAX

202300139 WISCONSIN DEPT OF RE P9 11/30/2023 Payroll accrual GENERAL FUND/STATE          0          5,307.16

INCOME TAX

202300139 WISCONSIN DEPT OF RE P9 11/30/2023 Payroll accrual SPECIAL EDUCATION          0            790.95

FUND/STATE INCOME

TAX

202300139 WISCONSIN DEPT OF RE P9 11/30/2023 Payroll accrual FOOD SERVICE          0            122.92

FUND/STATE INCOME

TAX

202300139 WISCONSIN DEPT OF RE P9 11/30/2023 Payroll accrual COMMUNITY SERVICE          0              0.00

FUND/STATE INCOME

TAX

Totals for 202300139          6,346.03

202300141 WEA MEMBER BENEFIT T P9 11/30/2023 Payroll accrual GENERAL FUND/WEA          0             40.00

TRUST ADVANTAGE

Totals for 202300141             40.00

202300142 EMPOWER RETIREMENT P9 11/30/2023 Payroll accrual GENERAL          0             50.00

FUND/HARTFORD INS -

TSA/ROTH

Totals for 202300142             50.00

202300144 EMPLOYEE BENEFITS CO JPWI11 11/30/2023 FSA CLAIMS GENERAL FUND/FLEX          0            255.80

PLAN SY23-24

Totals for 202300144            255.80

202300146 DELTA DENTAL OF WISC JPWI11 11/29/2023 DENTAL CLAIMS AND GENERAL FUND/SELF          0            507.16

ADMINISTRATION FUND-EMPLOYER SHARE

PREMI

Totals for 202300146            507.16



3frdtl01.p 89-4 SCHOOL DISTRICT OF MANAWA 12/01/23 Page:12

05.23.10.00.00 Monthly BOE Checklist (Dates: 11/01/23 - 11/30/23)  2:17 PM

CHECK BATCH CHECK INVOICE ACCOUNT PO

   NUMBER VENDOR               NUMBER DATE       DESCRIPTION                    DESCRIPTION              NUMBER            AMOUNT

232400074 FIETZER, CRAIG JPAP11 11/02/2023 MILEAGE TO WASB MEETING GENERAL          0             57.64

FUND/EMPLOYEE

TRAVEL/BOARD

MEMBERS

Totals for 232400074             57.64

232400075 IGL, MICHAEL JPAP11 11/02/2023 BOYS MS BASKETBALL OFFICIAL COMMUNITY SERVICE          0             60.00

ON 10/30/23 VS AMHERST FUND/PERSONAL

SERVICES/OTHER

COMMUNITY SERVICES

Totals for 232400075             60.00

232400076 SIMONIS, JEROME JPAP11 11/02/2023 BOYS MS BASKETBALL OFFICIAL COMMUNITY SERVICE          0             60.00

ON 10/30/23 VS AMHERST FUND/PERSONAL

SERVICES/OTHER

COMMUNITY SERVICES

Totals for 232400076             60.00

232400078 BRAUER, DANIELLE JPAP11 11/07/2023 SUPPLIES & INCENTIVE POPCORN GENERAL          0             19.77

FUND/NON-CAPITAL

EQUIPMENT/UNDIFFEREN

TIATED CURRICULUM

232400078 BRAUER, DANIELLE JPAP11 11/07/2023 SUPPLIES & INCENTIVE POPCORN GENERAL          0             30.00

FUND/FOOD/UNDIFFEREN

TIATED CURRICULUM

Totals for 232400078             49.77

232400079 IGL, MICHAEL JPAP11 11/07/2023 BOYS MS BASKETBALL OFFICIAL COMMUNITY SERVICE          0             60.00

ON 11/6/23 VS FUND/PERSONAL

WITTENBERG-BIRNAMWOOD SERVICES/OTHER

COMMUNITY SERVICES

Totals for 232400079             60.00

232400080 SIMONIS, JEROME JPAP11 11/07/2023 BOYS MS BASKETBALL OFFICIAL COMMUNITY SERVICE          0             60.00

ON 11/6/23 VS FUND/PERSONAL

WITTENBERG-BIRNAMWOOD SERVICES/OTHER

COMMUNITY SERVICES

Totals for 232400080             60.00

232400081 DEPERRY, JEFFERY JPAP11 11/15/2023 GIRLS JV BASKETBALL OFFICIAL GENERAL          0             50.00

ON 11/14/23 VS WAUTOMA FUND/PERSONAL

SERVICES/GIRLS

BASKETBALL

232400081 DEPERRY, JEFFERY JPAP11 11/15/2023 GIRLS VARSITY BASKETBALL GENERAL          0             90.00

OFFICIAL ON 11/14/23 VS FUND/PERSONAL

WAUTOMA SERVICES/GIRLS

BASKETBALL

Totals for 232400081            140.00

232400082 MAULE, GEORGE JPAP11 11/15/2023 GIRLS VARSITY BASKETBALL GENERAL          0             90.00

OFFICIAL ON 11/14/23 VS FUND/PERSONAL

WAUTOMA SERVICES/GIRLS

BASKETBALL

Totals for 232400082             90.00

232400083 NILLISSEN, TERRY JPAP11 11/15/2023 GIRLS JV BASKETBALL OFFICIAL GENERAL          0             50.00

ON 11/14/23 VS WAUTOMA FUND/PERSONAL

SERVICES/GIRLS

BASKETBALL

232400083 NILLISSEN, TERRY JPAP11 11/15/2023 GIRLS VARSITY BASKETBALL GENERAL          0             90.00

OFFICIAL ON 11/14/23 VS FUND/PERSONAL

WAUTOMA SERVICES/GIRLS

BASKETBALL

Totals for 232400083            140.00



3frdtl01.p 89-4 SCHOOL DISTRICT OF MANAWA 12/01/23 Page:13

05.23.10.00.00 Monthly BOE Checklist (Dates: 11/01/23 - 11/30/23)  2:17 PM

CHECK BATCH CHECK INVOICE ACCOUNT PO

   NUMBER VENDOR               NUMBER DATE       DESCRIPTION                    DESCRIPTION              NUMBER            AMOUNT

232400084 LITCHFIELD, LANCE JPAP11 11/17/2023 TRAVEL & EXPENSES RELATED TO GENERAL          0            675.41

WADA CONFERENCE IN WIS DELLS FUND/EMPLOYEE

NOVEMBER 2023 TRAVEL/ATHLETIC

DIRECTOR

232400084 LITCHFIELD, LANCE JPAP11 11/17/2023 TRAVEL & EXPENSES RELATED TO GENERAL          0            390.00

WADA CONFERENCE IN WIS DELLS FUND/PERSONAL

NOVEMBER 2023 SERVICES/ATHLETIC

DIRECTOR

Totals for 232400084          1,065.41

232400085 DIECK, BENJAMIN JPAP11 11/27/2023 VARSITY GIRLS BASKETBALL GENERAL          0             90.00

OFFICIAL ON 11/21/23 VS FUND/PERSONAL

PACELLI SERVICES/GIRLS

BASKETBALL

Totals for 232400085             90.00

232400086 Hagberg, Gary JPAP11 11/27/2023 JV GIRLS BASKETBALL OFFICIAL GENERAL          0             50.00

ON 11/21/23 VS PACELLI FUND/PERSONAL

SERVICES/GIRLS

BASKETBALL

Totals for 232400086             50.00

232400087 SIMONIS, JEROME JPAP11 11/27/2023 MS BOYS BASKETBALL OFFICIAL COMMUNITY SERVICE          0             60.00

ON 11/20/23 VS FUND/PERSONAL

WEYAUWEGA-FREMONT SERVICES/OTHER

COMMUNITY SERVICES

Totals for 232400087             60.00

232400088 TOMLINSON, JACK JPAP11 11/27/2023 MS BOYS BASKETBALL OFFICIAL COMMUNITY SERVICE          0             60.00

ON 11/20/23 VS FUND/PERSONAL

WEYAUWEGA-FREMONT SERVICES/OTHER

COMMUNITY SERVICES

Totals for 232400088             60.00

232400089 BOIVIN, TODD JPAP11 11/29/2023 VARSITY GIRLS BASKETBALL GENERAL          0             90.00

OFFICIAL ON 11/21/23 VS FUND/PERSONAL

PACELLI SERVICES/GIRLS

BASKETBALL

Totals for 232400089             90.00

232400090 IGL, MICHAEL JPAP11 11/29/2023 MS BOYS BASKETBALL ON COMMUNITY SERVICE          0             60.00

11/27/23 VS BONDUEL FUND/PERSONAL

SERVICES/OTHER

COMMUNITY SERVICES

Totals for 232400090             60.00

232400091 SIMONIS, JEROME JPAP11 11/29/2023 MS BOYS BASKETBALL ON COMMUNITY SERVICE          0             60.00

11/27/23 VS BONDUEL FUND/PERSONAL

SERVICES/OTHER

COMMUNITY SERVICES

Totals for 232400091             60.00

232400092 STRIKE, ERIC JPAP11 11/29/2023 JV GIRLS BASKETBALL ON GENERAL          0             50.00

11/21/23 VS PACELLI FUND/PERSONAL

SERVICES/GIRLS

BASKETBALL

Totals for 232400092             50.00

  

Totals for checks        364,731.43



3frdtl01.p 89-4 SCHOOL DISTRICT OF MANAWA 12/01/23 Page:14

05.23.10.00.00 Monthly BOE Checklist (Dates: 11/01/23 - 11/30/23)  2:17 PM

 F U N D  S U M M A R Y

  

FUND  DESCRIPTION                        BALANCE SHEET           REVENUE           EXPENSE             TOTAL

10 GENERAL FUND                         220,188.50            298.80        107,844.89        328,332.19

27 SPECIAL EDUCATION FUND         18,466.80              0.00         11,169.48         29,636.28

50 FOOD SERVICE FUND                      3,986.30              0.00              0.00          3,986.30

73 EMPLOYEE BENIFIT TRUST FUND              0.00              0.00            500.00            500.00

80 COMMUNITY SERVICE FUND                 1,029.72              0.00          1,246.94          2,276.66

*** Fund Summary Totals ***        243,671.32            298.80        120,761.31        364,731.43

************************ End of report ************************



FUND TBD - Budget 23-24 July 2023 August 2023 September 2023 October 2023

$9,700,578.00 17,236.91 18,520.81 51,314.25 970,552.85
$8,871,561.00 1,640,430.92 1,689,713.76 1,990,576.83 2,491,144.91

(1,623,194.01) (1,671,192.95) (1,939,262.58) (1,520,592.06)
7,231,130.08 7,181,847.24 6,880,984.17 6,380,416.09

13,081.69 5,716.12 (212.00) 20,439.56
395,697.42 506,515.04 541,384.00 541,018.75

$1,026,318.00
$1,036,929.00 164,518.53 175,223.26 221,108.63 314,887.18

(164,518.53) (175,223.26) (221,108.63) (314,887.18)
872,410.47 861,705.74 815,820.37 722,041.82

11,919.30 46,605.90 75,069.00 91,452.57

$378,744.00 (327.00) (327.00) 11,479.02 11,479.02
$378,744.00 58,245.56 58,245.56 84,024.99 114,486.81

(58,572.56) (58,572.56) (72,545.97) (103,007.79)
320,498.44 320,498.44 294,719.01 264,257.19

(327.00) 0.00 11,806.02
9,632.67 7,786.82 32,644.07 17,126.85

$100,000.00 0.00 0.00 450.00 450.00
$100,000.00 5,346.70 5,346.70 8,882.18 21,218.43

(5,346.70) (5,346.70) (8,432.18) (20,768.43)
94,653.30 94,653.30 91,117.82 78,781.57

0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00
0.00 0.00 2,176.41 6,981.77

$100,000.00 1,032.56 1,032.56 2,859.31 6,540.75
$100,000.00 662.58 662.58 662.58 662.58

369.98 369.98 2,196.73 5,878.17
99,337.42 99,337.42 99,337.42 99,337.42
1,032.56 0.00 0.00 1,826.45
662.58 0.00 0.00 0.00

10 YTD Revenue
General Fund YTD Expenditure

YTD    Rev. - Exp.
Exp. vs. Budget

Monthly Revenue
Monthly Expenditures

27 Revenue
Special Ed. Expenditure

YTD    Rev. - Exp.
Exp. vs. Budget

Monthly Revenue
Monthly Expenditures

50 Revenue
Food Service Expenditure

YTD    Rev. - Exp.
Exp. vs. Budget

Monthly Revenue
Monthly Expenditures

80 Revenue
Community Fund Expenditure

YTD    Rev. - Exp.
Exp. vs. Budget

Monthly Revenue
Monthly Expenditures

46 Revenue
Capital Improvements Expenditure

YTD    Rev. - Exp.
Exp. vs. Budget

Monthly Revenue
Monthly Expenditures



REVENUE(S)

Grants Carryover Amount
Remaining to Claim

EXPENDITURE(S)
Past - FY Activity Budgeted FY Activity

Past - FY Activity Budgeted FY Activity

Allocation (23-24) (not claimed)
$6,140.00 $166.82

Carl Perkins (Tech. Ed) $8,014.00 $8,014.00
ESSER III $811,111.00 $811,111.00

Title I - (Reading/Math) $143,539.00 $143,539.00
Title II - (Professional Dev.) $25,152.00

Title III $360.00
Title IV -

(Student Support &
Enrichment) $10,000.00 $10,000.00

IDEA Flow Through (SPED) $186,544.00 $186,544.00
IDEA Preschool $8,516.00

2022-23 2023-24 2023-24

Salaries Fund 10 & 27 3,210,585.98 3,210,585.98 1,316,160.39
Benefits Fund 10 & 27 1,326,952.92 1,326,952.92 530,720.42

Purchased Services Fund 10 & 27 2,449,143.56 2,449,143.56 620,571.86
Fund 10 & 27 353,624.88 353,624.88 148,528.00
Fund 10 & 27 292,940.75 292,940.75 146,896.01
Fund 10 & 27 108,673.25 108,673.25 99,344.75
Fund 10 & 27 763,159.31 763,159.31 1,606.32
Fund 10 & 27 46,566.20 46,566.20 20,238.62

2022-23 2023-24 2023-24

Salaries Fund 50 128,002.79 128,002.79 44,150.75
Benefits Fund 50 44,504.58 44,504.58 18,005.71

Fund 50 30,209.98 30,209.98 2,348.24
Food Fund 50 157,764.32 157,764.32 49,982.11

Capital Equipment Fund 50 123,672.02 123,672.02 720.00

ARP Homeless Children & Youth II

$25,152.00

$360.00

Fund 27
Fund 27

Non-Capital Objects
Capital Objects

Insurance & Judgments
Transfers (i.e. to Fund 27, 46, etc.)

Other (Dues & Fees)

OBJECT Code

OBJECT Code

100's

200's

300's

100's

200's

300's

400's

500's

400's

500's

700's

800's

900's



Human Resources - Personnel Changes Chart

New Hires Position Start Date

Bryce Huettner Student Teacher 01/20/2024

Resignations Position End Date

Mikayla Frenche Food Service Team Member 12/28/2023

Julie Prey Account Payable/Payroll 06/30/2024

Knorr, Shasta Special Education Paraprofessional 12/21/2023



11/21/23, 1:15 PM BoardDocs® PL

https://go.boarddocs.com/wi/sdman/Board.nsf/Private?open&login# 1/2

Book Policy Manual

Section Vol. 32, No. 2, July 2023

Title New Bylaw - Vol. 32, No. 2, July 2023 - V1 [Common/Union High Schools Only] -
MEETINGS

Code po0164

Status Proposed to Policy & Human Resources Committee

New Bylaw - Vol. 32, No. 2 - V1 [Common/Union High Schools Only]
 
0164 - MEETINGS
 
Regular Meetings 
 
The Board of Education shall hold a meeting at least once each month on a date and at a time and place determined
annually by a resolution of the Board.
 
Change of Regular Meetings
 
If the Board adopts a resolution changing the date, time, or place of a regularly scheduled meeting, the meeting notice
shall state the date, time, place, and subject matter of the rescheduled meeting, as well as the name and address of the
District. Said notice shall be posted
 

(X) on the front door of the Administrative Office Building and
 
at such places as the Board may determine. Meeting notices of scheduled Board meetings shall be posted in accordance
with State law. (See also Policy 0166 - Agenda)
 
Special Meetings 
 
A special meeting of the Board shall be held upon the written request of any Board member provided there is compliance
with the following notice provisions and State law.
 
The School District Clerk or, in the School District Clerk's absence, the President shall fix a reasonable date, time, and
place for the meeting.  The School District Clerk or, in the School District Clerk's absence, the President shall notify each
Board member of the date, time, and place of the meeting, in a manner likely to give the Board member notice of the
meeting, at least twenty-four (24) hours before the meeting.  If the School District Clerk or, in the School District Clerk's
absence, the President determines that providing notice at least twenty-four (24) hours before a special Board meeting is,
for good cause, shown by the School District Clerk or President, impossible or impractical, the School District Clerk or
President may notify each Board member of the date, time, and place of the meeting less than twenty-four (24) hours, but
not less than two (2) hours, before the meeting. A notice of any special meeting shall be posted at least twenty-four (24)
hours before said special meeting at the District office and such other places as the Board may determine unless, for good
cause, such notice is impossible or impracticable, but in no case may the notice be less than two (2) hours in advance of
the meeting.
 
A special meeting may be held without prior notice if all Board members are present and consent, or if each member
consents in writing even if the Board member does not attend, provided appropriate notice is provided as defined under
Chapter 19.
 
The District Administrator and those administrators directed by the District Administrator shall attend all meetings, when
feasible. Administrative participation shall be by professional counsel, guidance, and recommendation - as distinct from
deliberation, debate, and voting of Board members.
 
Notice of Meetings
 
Public notice of all Board meetings, (XX) and other meetings subject to Policy 8309 - Open Meetings for Non-Board
Committees, [END OF OPTION] shall be given pursuant to statute. Such notice shall be given, without cost, to any news
media which submits a written request for meeting notices and to a news medium likely to give notice in the District's
geographic area. In addition, such notice shall be made public in at least one (1) of the following ways:
 



11/21/23, 1:15 PM BoardDocs® PL

https://go.boarddocs.com/wi/sdman/Board.nsf/Private?open&login# 2/2

A. posting the notice in at least three (3) public places likely to give notice to persons affected;
 

B. posting the notice in at least one (1) public place likely to give notice to persons affected and on the governmental
body's website; or
 

C. by paid publication in a news medium likely to give notice to persons affected.
 
[ ] The notice shall be given, without cost, to the District's official newspaper, the _______________. [DRAFTING NOTE:
The official newspaper of the District, if required according to criteria in 985.05, Wis. Stats.]
 
The notice shall list the date, time, place, and subject matter of each regularly scheduled meeting of the Board, including
subjects intended for the consideration at any closed session, in the form which is reasonably likely to inform members of
the public and the news media. To assure that notice of a meeting is specific enough to apprise the public of the purpose of
the meeting, the following factors shall be considered: (1) the time and effort required to provide detailed notice; (2) the
level of public interest in the particular subject; and (3) whether the meeting will involve routine or novel issues. The
notice shall contain the name and address of the District and its telephone number. The notice shall be given at least
twenty-four (24) hours prior to the meeting unless for good cause such notice is impossible or impractical, but in no case
may the notice be less than two (2) hours in advance of the meeting.
 
(XX) The notice shall also contain the following statement:
 

"Upon request to the ___________District Administrator__, submitted twenty-four (24) hours in advance, the
District shall make reasonable accommodation including the provision of informational material in an alternative
format for a disabled person to be able to attend this meeting." [DRAFTING NOTE: this language is not
required in the meeting notice, however, it is recommended because the Board is obligated to make
meetings accessible, including with accommodations, to persons with a disability who wish to attend
the meeting regardless of whether this statement is included or not. This clause provides the obligation
to give advance notice of any such need so as to assist in providing the accommodation rather than the
individual making such requests on the day of or at the meeting itself].

[END OF OPTION]
 
Cancellation of Meetings
 
If a regularly scheduled and legally noticed meeting needs to be canceled (e.g., inclement weather, electrical outage,
broken water pipe, lack of quorum, etc.), the Board President or designee shall have the authority to cancel or reschedule
the meeting.   To the extent practical, a notice of cancellation should be provided, similar to the notice of the meeting.
 
Virtual Participation in Meetings
 
X Unless otherwise determined by the Board ( ), Board President [END OF OPTION] or due to an order by an authorized
authority preventing in-person attendance at a meeting, Board members are expected to attend meetings in person at the
location set by the Board for the meeting. A Board member may attend virtually in instances where a member is unable to
attend in person due to a scheduled absence from the District or due to a physical restriction preventing attendance. The
Board member is responsible for making advance arrangements with the District administration to facilitate participation in
the meeting.
 
Any Board member attending a meeting remotely may vote in accordance with Bylaw 0167.1 – Voting.
 
Board members are not provided with technology to facilitate remote Board attendance unless the Board authorizes such
expenditure.
 
[END OF OPTION]
 
Any Board member attending a meeting or who intended to attend a meeting remotely but is unable to attend or unable to
maintain attendance due to technological complications, such as a poor connection or other equipment failures, will be
considered absent for all or part of the meeting. The meeting may continue in the member’s absence provided that a
quorum is still present.
 
© Neola 2023

Legal 19.84, Wis. Stats.

120.11, Wis. Stats.

985.05(3), Wis. Stats.

Last Modified by Ryan Peterson on November 1, 2023



11/21/23, 1:15 PM BoardDocs® PL

https://go.boarddocs.com/wi/sdman/Board.nsf/Private?open&login# 1/2

Book Policy Manual

Section Vol. 32, No. 2, July 2023

Title Rescind Bylaw - Vol. 32, No. 2, July 2023 - REGULAR MEETINGS

Code po0164.1

Status Proposed to Policy & Human Resources Committee

Adopted April 25, 2016

Last Revised December 18, 2017

Rescind Bylaw - Vol. 32, No. 2
 
0164.1 - REGULAR MEETINGS
 
[COMMON AND UNION SCHOOL DISTRICTS]
 
The Board shall hold a meeting at least once each month on a date and at a time and place determined annually by a
resolution of the Board.
 
[UNIFIED SCHOOL DISTRICT]
 
The Board shall hold a meeting at least once each month.
 
© Neola 2017

Legal [for common and union high school districts] 120.11(1), Wis. Stats.

[for unified school districts] 120.43(2), Wis. Stats.

Last Modified by Ryan Peterson on November 1, 2023



11/21/23, 1:15 PM BoardDocs® PL

https://go.boarddocs.com/wi/sdman/Board.nsf/Private?open&login# 2/2



11/21/23, 1:16 PM BoardDocs® PL

https://go.boarddocs.com/wi/sdman/Board.nsf/Private?open&login# 1/2

Book Policy Manual

Section Vol. 32, No. 2, July 2023

Title Rescind Bylaw - Vol. 32, No. 2, July 2023 - SPECIAL MEETINGS

Code po0164.2

Status Proposed to Policy & Human Resources Committee

Adopted April 25, 2016

Last Revised November 16, 2020

Rescind Bylaw - Vol. 32, No. 2
 
0164.2 - SPECIAL MEETINGS
 
[FOR COMMON OR UNION HIGH SCHOOL DISTRICTS]
 
A special meeting of the Board shall be held upon the written request of any Board member provided there is compliance
with the following notice provisions and State law.
 
The School District Clerk or, in the School District Clerk's absence, the President shall fix a reasonable date, time, and
place for the meeting.  The School District Clerk or, in the School District Clerk's absence, the President shall notify each
Board member of the date, time, and place of the meeting, in a manner likely to give the Board member notice of the
meeting, at least twenty-four (24) hours before the meeting.  If the School District Clerk or, in the School District Clerk's
absence, the President determines that providing notice at least twenty-four (24) hours before a special Board meeting is,
for good cause, shown by the School District Clerk or President, impossible or impractical, the School District Clerk or
President may notify each Board member of the date, time, and place of the meeting less than twenty-four (24) hours, but
not less than two (2) hours, before the meeting. A notice of any special meeting shall be posted at least twenty-four (24)
hours before said special meeting at the District office and such other places as the Board may determine unless, for good
cause, such notice is impossible or impracticable, but in no case may the notice be less than two (2) hours in advance of
the meeting.
 
A special meeting may be held without prior notice if all Board members are present and consent, or if each member
consents in writing even if s/he does not attend, provided appropriate notice is provided as defined under Chapter 19.
 
FOR UNIFIED SCHOOL DISTRICTS
 
Special meetings of the Board may be called by the President or by the written request of a majority of the members of
the Board provided there is compliance with the notice provision of these Bylaws and State law.
 
[END OF OPTIONS]
 
The District Administrator and those administrators directed by the District Administrator shall attend all meetings, when
feasible. Administrative participation shall be by professional counsel, guidance, and recommendation - as distinct from
deliberation, debate, and voting of Board members.
 
© Neola 2020

Legal 19.84(3), Wis. Stats.

120.11(2), Wis. Stats.

120.43(2), Wis. Stats.

Last Modified by Ryan Peterson on November 1, 2023



11/21/23, 1:16 PM BoardDocs® PL

https://go.boarddocs.com/wi/sdman/Board.nsf/Private?open&login# 2/2



11/21/23, 1:16 PM BoardDocs® PL

https://go.boarddocs.com/wi/sdman/Board.nsf/Private?open&login# 1/2

Book Policy Manual

Section Vol. 32, No. 2, July 2023

Title Rescind Bylaw - Vol. 32, No. 2, July 2023 - NOTICE OF MEETINGS

Code po0165.1

Status Proposed to Policy & Human Resources Committee

Rescind Bylaw - Vol. 32, No. 2
 
0165.1 - NOTICE OF MEETINGS
 
Public notice of all Board meetings, ( ) and other meetings subject to Policy 8309 - Open Meetings for Non-Board
Committees, [END OF OPTION] shall be given pursuant to statute. Such notice shall be given, without cost, to any news
media which submits a written request for meeting notices and to a news medium likely to give notice in the District's
geographic area. In addition, such notice shall be made public in at least one of the following ways:
 

A. posting the notice in at least three (3) public places likely to give notice to persons affected;
 

B. posting the notice in at least one (1) public place likely to give notice to persons affected and on the governmental
body's website; or
 

C. b y paid publication in a news medium likely to give notice to persons affected.
 
[ ] The notice shall be given, without cost, to the District's official newspaper, the _______________ . [DRAFTING
NOTE: The official newspaper of the District, if required according to criteria in 985.05, Wis. Stats.]
 
The notice shall list the date, time, place, and subject matter of each regularly-scheduled meeting of the Board, including
subjects intended for the consideration at any closed session, in the form which is reasonably likely to inform members of
the public and the news media. To assure that notice of a meeting is specific enough to apprise the public of the purpose of
the meeting, the following factors shall be considered: (1) the time and effort required to provide detailed notice; (2) the
level of public interest in the particular subject; and (3) whether the meeting will involve routine or novel issues. The
notice shall contain the name and address of the District and its telephone number. The notice shall be given at least
twenty-four (24) hours prior to the meeting unless for good cause such notice is impossible or impractical, but in no case
may the notice be less than two (2) hours in advance of the meeting.
 
The notice shall also contain the following statement:
 

"Upon request to the _____________, submitted twenty-four (24) hours in advance, the District shall make
reasonable accommodation including the provision of informational material in an alternative format for a disabled
person to be able to attend this meeting."

 
© Neola 2021

Legal 19.84, Wis. Stats.

120.11(4), Wis. Stats.

985.05(3), Wis. Stats.

Last Modified by Ryan Peterson on November 1, 2023



11/21/23, 1:16 PM BoardDocs® PL

https://go.boarddocs.com/wi/sdman/Board.nsf/Private?open&login# 2/2



11/21/23, 1:18 PM BoardDocs® PL

https://go.boarddocs.com/wi/sdman/Board.nsf/Private?open&login# 1/2

Book Policy Manual

Section Vol. 32, No. 2, July 2023

Title Rescind Bylaw - Vol. 32, No. 2, July 2023 - CHANGE OF REGULAR MEETINGS

Code po0165.2

Status Proposed to Policy & Human Resources Committee

Adopted April 25, 2016

Last Revised April 24, 2023

Rescind Bylaw - Vol. 32, No. 2
 
0165.2 - CHANGE OF REGULAR MEETINGS
 
If the Board adopts a resolution changing the date, time, or place of a regularly-scheduled meeting, the meeting notice
shall state the date, time, place, and subject matter of the rescheduled meeting, as well as the name and address of the
District. Said notice shall be posted
 

( ) on the front door of the Administrative Office Building and
 
at such places as the Board may determine. Meeting notices of scheduled Board meetings shall be posted in accordance
with State law. (See also Policy 0166 - Agenda)
 
© Neola 2022

Last Modified by Ryan Peterson on November 1, 2023



11/21/23, 1:18 PM BoardDocs® PL

https://go.boarddocs.com/wi/sdman/Board.nsf/Private?open&login# 2/2



11/21/23, 1:19 PM BoardDocs® PL

https://go.boarddocs.com/wi/sdman/Board.nsf/Private?open&login# 1/6

Book Policy Manual

Section Vol. 32, No. 2, July 2023

Title Renumbered/Revised Policy - Vol. 32, No. 2, July 2023 - SECTION 504/ADA
PROHIBITION AGAINST DISABILITY DISCRIMINATION IN EMPLOYMENT

Code po8913

Status Proposed to Policy & Human Resources Committee

Renumbered/Revised Policy - Vol. 32, No. 2
 
16238913 - SECTION 504/ADA PROHIBITION AGAINST DISABILITY DISCRIMINATION IN EMPLOYMENT
 
The Board of Education prohibits discrimination against any employee or applicant based upon his/hertheir disability. As
such, the Board will not engage in employment practices or adopt policies that discriminate on the basis of disability, or
otherwise discriminate against qualified individuals with disabilities in regard to job application procedures, the hiring,
advancement or discharge of employees, employee compensation, job training, or other terms, conditions and privileges of
employment. The Board further will not limit, segregate or classify applicants or employees in any way that adversely
affects their opportunities or status because of disability.  Additionally, the Board will not participate in any contractual or
other relationships that have the effect of subjecting qualified individuals with disabilities who are applicants or employees
to discrimination on the basis of disability.
 
Notice of the Board's policy on nondiscrimination in employment practices and the identity of the School District's
Compliance Officer(s) (see below) will be published on the District's website, posted throughout the District, and included
in the District's recruitment statements or general information publications.
 
Definitions
 
Words used in this policy shall have those meanings defined herein; words not defined herein shall be construed according
to their plain and ordinary meanings.
 
Complainant: is the individual who alleges or is alleged to have been subjected to discrimination/retaliation, regardless of
whether the person files a formal complaint or is pursuing an informal resolution to the alleged discrimination/retaliation.
 
Day(s): Unless expressly stated otherwise, the term “day” or “days” as used in this policy means business day(s) (i.e., a
day(s) that the District office is open for normal operating hours, Monday – Friday, excluding State-recognized holidays).
 
Respondent: is the individual who is alleged to have engaged in discrimination/retaliation, regardless of whether the
Complainant files a formal complaint or is seeking an informal resolution to the alleged discrimination/retaliation.
 
District  community: means students, District employees (i.e., administrators, and professional and support staff), and
Board members, agents, volunteers, contractors, or other persons subject to the control and supervision of the Board.
 
Third Parties: include but are not limited to guests and/or visitors on District property (e.g., visiting speakers,
participants on opposing athletic teams, parents), vendors doing business with or seeking to do business with the Board,
and other individuals who come in contact with members of the District community at school-related events/activities
(whether on or off District property).
 
An individual with a disability means a person who has, has a record of, or is regarded as having, a physical or mental
impairment that substantially limits one or more major life activities.
 
Major Life Activities
 
Major life activities are functions such as caring for one's self, performing manual tasks, walking, seeing, hearing, eating,
sleeping, standing, lifting, bending, speaking, breathing, learning, reading, concentrating, thinking, communicating, sitting,
reaching, interacting with others, and working.
 
Major life activities also include the operation of a major bodily function, including, but not limited to, functions of the
immune system, special sense organs and skin, normal cell growth, and digestive, genitourinary, bowel, bladder,
neurological, brain, respiratory, circulatory, endocrine, hemic, lymphatic, musculoskeletal and reproductive functions. The
operation of a major bodily function includes the operation of an individual organ within a body system.
 



11/21/23, 1:19 PM BoardDocs® PL

https://go.boarddocs.com/wi/sdman/Board.nsf/Private?open&login# 2/6

Impairment That Substantially Limits a Major Life Activity
 
The determination of whether an impairment substantially limits a major life activity must be made without regard to the
ameliorative effects of mitigating measures such as medication, medical supplies, equipment or appliances, low-vision
devices (defined as devices that magnify, enhance, or otherwise augment a visual image, but not including ordinary
eyeglasses or contact lenses), prosthetics (including limbs and devices), hearing aid(s) and cochlear implant(s) or other
implantable hearing devices, mobility devices, oxygen therapy equipment or supplies, use of assistive technology,
reasonable accommodations or "auxiliary aids or services," learned behavioral or adaptive neurological modifications,
psychotherapy, behavioral therapy, or physical therapy.
 
An impairment that is episodic in nature or in remission is considered a disability if it would substantially limit a major life
activity when active.
 
Qualified Individual with a Disability
 
A qualified individual with a disability means the individual satisfies the requisite skill, experience, education and other job-
related requirements of the employment position the individual holds or desires and can perform the essential functions of
the job in question, with or without reasonable accommodation.
 
Reasonable Accommodation
 
The Board will provide a reasonable accommodation to a qualified individual who has an actual disability or who has a
record of a disability unless the accommodation would impose an undue hardship on the operation of the Board’s program
and/or activities. A reasonable accommodation is not required for an individual who is merelybelieves they are
being regarded as having a disability. Employees requesting reasonable accommodation must cooperate with school
officials in obtaining specific medical opinion that identifies the precise limitations resulting from the disability and potential
reasonable accommodations that could overcome those limitations.
 
Facilities
 
No qualified person with a disability will be denied the benefits of, excluded from participation in, or otherwise be subjected
to discrimination under any program or activity to which Section 504/American with Disabilities Act (ADA) applies because
the District's facilities are inaccessible to or unusable by persons with disabilities.
 
For facilities constructed or altered after June 3, 1977, the District will comply with applicable accessibility standards. For
those existing facilities constructed prior to June 3, 1977, the District is committed to operating its programs and activities
so that they are readily accessible to persons with disabilities.
 
District Compliance Officers
 
The Board designates the following individual(s) to serve as the District's 504 CO(s)/ADA Coordinator(s) (hereinafter
referred to as the "COs").
 
[DRAFTING NOTE: Neola suggests the Board appoint both a male and a female CO in order to provide
complainants with the option to report their concerns to an individual of the gender with which they feel most
comfortable. Additionally, by appointing two (2) COs, there should always be a CO available to investigate a
claim that pertains to the other CO, as appropriate.]
 
_________________________MS/HS Principal (Michelle Johnson)_
(Name)
 
_________________________Manawa Middle School / Little Wolf High School _
(School District Title)
 
________________________(920)596-2524__
(Telephone Number)
 
________________________401 E. 4th St.  Manawa Wi, 54949__
(Office Address)
 
________________________mjohnson@manawaschools.org__
(E-mail Address)
 
 
________________________Dean of Students (Jeff Bortle)__
(Name)
 
________________________Manawa Middle School / Little Wolf High School__
(School District Title)
 
________________________(920)596-2524__
(Telephone Number)
 
________________________401 E. 4th St.  Manawa Wi, 54949__
(Office Address)
 
________________________Jbortle@manawaschools.org__
(E-mail Address)
 
The name(s), title(s), and contact information of this/these individual(s) will be published annually:
 



11/21/23, 1:19 PM BoardDocs® PL

https://go.boarddocs.com/wi/sdman/Board.nsf/Private?open&login# 3/6

A. on the School District's website.
 

B. ( X) in the staff handbooks.
 

C. ( ) in the School District Annual Report to the public.
 

D. ( ) on each individual school's website.
 

E. ( ) in the School District's calendar
 

F. ( ) ___________________________.
 
The COs are responsible for coordinating the District's efforts to comply with applicable Federal and State laws and
regulations, including the District's duty to address in a prompt and equitable manner any inquiries or complaints
regarding discrimination/retaliation or denial of equal access. The COs also shall verify that proper notice of
nondiscrimination for Title II of the Americans with Disabilities Act (as amended), Title VI and Title VII of the Civil Rights
Act of 1964, Section 504 of the Rehabilitation Act of 1973 (as amended), and the Age Discrimination in Employment Act of
1975 is provided to staff members and the general public. A copy of each of the Acts and regulations on which this notice
is based will be made available upon request from the CO.
 
The COs will oversee the investigation of any complaints of discrimination based on disability, which may be filed pursuant
to the Board's adopted internal complaint procedure, and will attempt to resolve such complaints. Any complaint received
regarding the District Administrator or a Board member shall be referred to the Board’s legal counsel, who shall assume
the role of the CO for such complaints, as appropriate. Additionally, if the complaint is regarding a CO, the complaint shall
be reported to the District Administrator, who shall coordinate with the other appointed/designated CO, or, if appropriate
appoint/designate another individual to serve as CO for the complaint regarding a CO.
 
The Board will provide for the prompt and equitable resolution of complaints alleging violations of Section 504/ADA. (See
Complaint Procedure below.)
 
Complaint Procedures
 
If a person believes that s/he hasthey have been discriminated against on the basis of his/hertheir disability, the person
may utilize the following complaint procedures as a means of reaching, at the lowest possible administrative level, a
prompt and equitable resolution of the matter.
 
In accordance with Section 504 of the Rehabilitation Act of 1973 and its implementing regulations ("Section 504"),
employees will be notified of their right to file an internal complaint regarding an alleged violation, misinterpretation, or
misapplication of Section 504. In addition, employees will be notified of their right to file a complaint with the U.S.
Department of Education's Office for Civil Rights.
 
Internal complaints must be put in writing and must identify the specific circumstances or areas of dispute that have given
rise to the complaint, and offer possible solutions to the dispute. The complaint must be filed with COs within the time
limits specified below. The COs are available to assist individuals in filing a complaint.
 
Internal Complaint Procedure
 
The following internal complaint procedure is available to employees for the prompt and equitable resolution of complaints
alleging discrimination based upon disability. Use of the internal complaint procedure is not a prerequisite to the pursuit of
other remedies, including the filing of a complaint with the U.S. Department of Education's Office for Civil Rights.
 

A. An employee with a complaint based on alleged discrimination on the basis of disability may first discuss the
problem with the CO.
 

B. If the informal discussion does not resolve the matter, or if the employee skips Step A, the individual may file a
formal written complaint with the CO. The written complaint must contain the name and address of the individual
or representative filing the complaint, be signed by the Complainant or someone authorized to sign for the
Complainant, describe the alleged discriminatory action in sufficient detail to inform the CO of the nature and date
of the alleged violation and propose a resolution. The complaint mustshould be filed within thirty (30) days of the
circumstances or event giving rise to the complaint unless the time for filing is extended by the CO for good cause.
 

C. The CO will conduct an independent investigation of the matter (which may or may not include a hearing). This
complaint procedure contemplates informal, but thorough investigations, affording all interested persons and their
representatives, if any, an opportunity to present witnesses and other evidence relevant to the complaint. The CO
will provide the Complainant with a written disposition of the complaint as soon as practicable relative to the ability
to complete a thorough investigation but within ten (10)sixty (60) days. If no decision is rendered within ten
(10)sixty (60) business days, or the decision is unsatisfactory in the opinion of the Complainant, the employee may
file, in writing, an appeal with the District Administrator. The CO shall maintain the District’s files and records
relating to the complaint.
 

D. The District Administrator will, within ten (10) days of receiving the written appeal, conduct a hearingmeeting with
all parties involved in an attempt to resolve the complaint.
 
The District Administrator will render his/hertheir decision within ten (10) days of the hearingmeeting.
 

E. The employee may be represented, at his/hertheir own cost, at any of the above-described meetings/hearings.
 



11/21/23, 1:19 PM BoardDocs® PL

https://go.boarddocs.com/wi/sdman/Board.nsf/Private?open&login# 4/6

F. The right of a person to a prompt and equitable resolution of the complaint shall not be impaired by the person’s
pursuit of other remedies such as the filing of a complaint with the Office for Civil Rights or the filing of a court
case. Use of this internal complaint procedure is not a prerequisite to the pursuit of other remedies.

 
If it is determined that the Complainant was subjected to discrimination, the CO must identify what corrective action will
be taken to stop, remedy, and prevent the recurrence of the discrimination/retaliation. The corrective action should be
reasonable, timely, effective, and tailored to the specific situation.
 
Directives During Investigation
 
The CO may recommend to the District Administrator placing any employee involved in an investigation under this Policy
on administrative leave pending resolution of the matter. If the District Administrator is the Respondent, the CO shall make
such a recommendation to the Board. For example, administrative leave may be appropriate in situations in which
protecting the safety of any individual or the integrity of the investigation necessitates such action.
 
The CO shall determine whether any witnesses in the course of an investigation may be required to answer questions that
could also involve criminal investigation or sanctions, including the existence of a co-occurring law enforcement
investigation are still required to answer questions concerning the District investigation, but are entitled to do so without
waiving their Constitutional right against self-incrimination that applies during a criminal investigation. should be provided
a Garrity warning apprising the person of their obligations to answer questions truthfully and honestly while preserving the
right against self-incrimination in the context of any resulting criminal investigation or prosecution. Employees should be
advised of this right, through what is often referred to as a "Garrity Warning”. The Garrity Warning informs the employee
that the employee is required to respond to questions posed during the investigation and that answers to questions
relating to the employee's conduct may be used by the District for determining appropriate discipline, but will not be
provided to law enforcement officials in the course of their independent criminal investigation, unless otherwise required
by law. (See Form 8913 F1 - Garrity Warning)
 
Every employee interviewed in the course of an investigation is required to provide truthful responses to all questions.
Failure to do so may result in disciplinary action.
 
OCR Complaint
 
At any time, if an employee believes that s/he hasthey have been subjected to discrimination based upon his/hertheir
disability in violation of Section 504 or the ADA, the individual may file a complaint with the U.S. Department of
Education's Office for Civil Rights ("OCR"). The OCR can be reached at:
 
U.S. Department of Education Office for Civil Rights Citigroup Center
500 W. Madison Street Suite 1475
Chicago, IL 60661
(312) 730-1560
FAX: (312) 730-1576
TDD: (877) 521-2172
E-mail: OCR.Chicago@ed.gov
 
Privacy/Confidentiality
 
The District will employ all reasonable efforts to protect the rights of the Complainant, the Respondent(s), and the
witnesses as much as possible, consistent with the District’s legal obligations to investigate, take appropriate action, and
conform with any discovery or disclosure obligations.
 
All records generated under the terms of this policy shall be maintained as confidential to the extent permitted by law.
Confidentiality, however, cannot be guaranteed. Additionally, the Respondent must be provided the Complainant's identity.
 
During the course of a formal investigation, the CO or designee will instruct each person who is interviewed about the
importance of maintaining confidentiality. Any individual who is interviewed as part of an investigation is expected not to
disclose to third parties any information that is learned or provided during the course of the investigation.
 
Remedial Action and Monitoring
 
If warranted, appropriate remedial action shall be determined and implemented on behalf of the Complainant, including
but not limited to counseling services, reinstatement of leave taken due to the discrimination or other appropriate action.
 
The Board may appoint an individual, who may be a District employee, to follow up with the Complainant to ensure no
further discrimination or retaliation has occurred and to take action to address any reported occurrences promptly.
 
Sanctions and Disciplinary Action
 
The Board shall vigorously enforce its prohibitions against discrimination by taking appropriate action reasonably
calculated to stop and prevent further misconduct.
 
While observing the principles of due process, a violation of this policy may result in disciplinary action up to and including
the discharge of an employee or the suspension/expulsion of a student. All disciplinary action will be taken in accordance
with applicable State law and any relevant codes of conduct.
 
When imposing discipline, the District Administrator shall consider the totality of the circumstances involved in the matter,
including the age and maturity level of any student involved. In those cases where discrimination/retaliation is not
substantiated, the Board may consider whether the alleged conduct nevertheless warrants discipline in accordance with
other Board policies.
 
Where the Board becomes aware that a prior disciplinary action has been taken against the Respondent, all subsequent
sanctions imposed by the Board and/or District Administrator shall be reasonably calculated to end such conduct, prevent
its recurrence, and remedy its effect.



11/21/23, 1:19 PM BoardDocs® PL

https://go.boarddocs.com/wi/sdman/Board.nsf/Private?open&login# 5/6

 
Retaliation
 
Retaliation against a person who makes a report or files a complaint alleging discrimination/retaliation, or participates as a
witness in an investigation, is prohibited. Neither the Board nor any other person may intimidate, threaten, coerce, or
interfere with any individual because the person opposed any act or practice made by Section 504 or the ADA, or because
that individual made a report, formal complaint, testified, assisted or participated, or refused to participate in any manner
in an investigation, proceeding, or hearing under those laws and/or this policy, or because that individual exercised,
enjoyed, aided or encouraged any other person in the exercise or enjoyment of any right granted or protected by those
laws and/or this policy.
 
Retaliation against a person for making a report of discrimination, filing a formal complaint, or participating in an
investigation or meeting is a serious violation of this policy that can result in the imposition of disciplinary
sanctions/consequences and/or other appropriate remedies.
 
Formal complaints alleging retaliation may be filed according to the internal complaint process set forth above.
 
The exercise of rights protected under the First Amendment of the United States Constitution does not constitute
retaliation prohibited under this policy.
 
Education and Training
 
In support of this policy, the Board promotes preventative educational measures to create greater awareness of
discriminatory practices. The District Administrator shall provide appropriate information to all members of the District
community related to the implementation of this policy and shall provide training for District students and staff where
appropriate. All training and information provided regarding the Board's policy and discrimination, in general, will be age
and content-appropriate.
 
Retention of Investigatory Records and Materials
 
The CO is responsible for overseeing the retention of all records that must be maintained pursuant to this policy. All
individuals charged with conducting investigations under this policy shall retain all documents, electronically stored
information ("ESI"), and electronic media (as defined in Policy 8315 - Information Management) created and/or received
as part of an investigation, which may include but are not limited to:
 

A. all written reports/allegations/complaints/grievances/statements/responses pertaining to an alleged violation of this
policy;
 

B. any narratives that memorialize oral reports/allegations/complaints/grievances/statements/responses pertaining to
an alleged violation of this policy;
 

C. any documentation that memorializes the actions taken by District personnel or individuals contracted or appointed
by the Board to fulfill its responsibilities related to the investigation and/or the District's response to the alleged
violation of this policy;
 

D. written witness statements;
 

E. narratives, notes from, and audio, video, or digital recordings of witness interviews/statements;
 

F. e-mails, texts, and social media posts that directly relate to or constitute evidence pertaining to an alleged violation
of this policy (i.e., not after-the-fact commentary about or media coverage of the incident);
 

G. notes and summaries prepared contemporaneously by the investigator in whatever form made (e.g., handwritten,
keyed into a computer or tablet, etc.), but not including transitory notes whose content is otherwise memorialized
in other documents;
 

H. written disciplinary sanctions issued to students or employees and other documentation that memorializes oral
disciplinary sanctions issued to students or employees for violations of this policy;
 

I. dated written determinations/reports (including summaries of relevant exculpatory and inculpatory evidence) and
other documentation that memorializes oral notifications to the parties concerning the outcome of the investigation,
including any consequences imposed as a result of a violation of this policy;
 

J. documentation of any supportive measures offered and/or provided to the Complainant and the Respondent,
including no contact orders issued to both parties, the dates the no contact orders were issued, and the dates the
parties acknowledged receipt of the no contact orders;
 

K. documentation of all actions taken, both individual and systemic, to stop the discrimination or harassment, prevent
its recurrence, eliminate any hostile environment, and remedy its discriminatory effects;
 

L. copies of the Board policy and procedures/guidelines used by the District to conduct the investigation and any
documents used by the District at the time of the alleged violation to communicate the Board's expectations to



11/21/23, 1:19 PM BoardDocs® PL

https://go.boarddocs.com/wi/sdman/Board.nsf/Private?open&login# 6/6

students and staff with respect to the subject of this policy (e.g., Student Codes of Conduct and/or Employee
Handbooks);
 

M. copies of any documentation that memorializes any formal or informal resolutions to the alleged discrimination or
harassment;
 

N. documentation of any training provided to District personnel related to this policy including, but not limited to
notification of the prohibitions and expectations of staff set forth in this policy and the role and responsibility of all
District personnel involved in enforcing this policy, including their duty to report alleged violations of this policy
and/or conduct an investigation of an alleged violation of this policy; [REMINDER: Documentation of training
should be maintained regardless of whether there is an investigation of an alleged violation of this
policy. It is best practice to maintain a log of all staff members who participate in a training, along with
the date, time, and location of the training, the name and title (or credentials) of the presenter, and a
copy of the materials reviewed or presented during the training.]

[DRAFTING NOTE: The following options should be selected if the District concludes that the following
items are not adequately encompassed in the preceding paragraphs.]
 

O. ( X)  documentation that any rights or opportunities that the District made available to one party during the
investigation were made available to the other party on equal terms;
 

P. ( X) copies of any notices sent to the Respondent of the allegations constituting a potential violation of this policy;
 

Q. ( X) copies of any notices sent to the Complainant and the Respondent in advance of any interview or meeting;
 

R. ( X) copies of any documentation or evidence used during informal and formal disciplinary meetings and hearings,
including the investigation report and any written responses submitted by the Complainant or the Respondent.

 
The documents, ESI, and electronic media (as defined in Policy 8315 - Information Management) retained may include
public records and records exempt from disclosure under Federal (e.g., FERPA, ADA) and/or State law, such as student
records and confidential medical records.
 
The documents, ESI, and electronic media (as defined in Policy 8315 - Information Management) created or received as
part of an investigation shall be retained in accordance with Policy 8310 - Public Records, Policy 8315 - Information
Management, Policy 8320 - Personnel Records, and Policy 8330 - Student Records for not less than three (3) years and
longer if required by the District’s records retention schedule.
 
© Neola 202123

Legal 29 U.S.C. 794, Section 504 Rehabilitation Act of 1973, as amended

42 U.S.C. 12101 et seq., Americans with Disabilities Act of 1990, as amended

29 C.F.R. Part 1630

34 C.F.R. Part 104

Last Modified by Ryan Peterson on November 1, 2023



11/21/23, 1:20 PM BoardDocs® PL

https://go.boarddocs.com/wi/sdman/Board.nsf/Private?open&login# 1/6

Book Policy Manual

Section Vol. 32, No. 2, July 2023

Title Rescind Policy - Vol. 32, No. 2, July 2023 - SECTION 504/ADA PROHIBITION
AGAINST DISABILITY DISCRIMINATION IN EMPLOYMENT

Code po1623

Status Proposed to Policy & Human Resources Committee

Adopted October 17, 2016

Last Revised June 26, 2023

Rescind Policy - Vol. 32, No. 2
 
1623 - SECTION 504/ADA PROHIBITION AGAINST DISABILITY DISCRIMINATION IN EMPLOYMENT
 
The Board prohibits discrimination against any employee or applicant based upon his/her disability. As such, the Board will
not engage in employment practices or adopt policies that discriminate on the basis of disability, or otherwise discriminate
against qualified individuals with disabilities in regard to job application procedures, the hiring, advancement or discharge
of employees, employee compensation, job training, or other terms, conditions and privileges of employment. The Board
further will not limit, segregate or classify applicants or employees in any way that adversely affects their opportunities or
status because of disability.  Additionally, the Board will not participate in any contractual or other relationships that have
the effect of subjecting qualified individuals with disabilities who are applicants or employees to discrimination on the basis
of disability.
 
Notice of the Board's policy on nondiscrimination in employment practices and the identity of the School District's
Compliance Officer(s) (see below) will be published on the District's website, posted throughout the District, and included
in the District's recruitment statements or general information publications.
 
Definitions
 
Words used in this policy shall have those meanings defined herein; words not defined herein shall be construed according
to their plain and ordinary meanings.
 
Complainant: is the individual who alleges or is alleged to have been subjected to discrimination/retaliation, regardless of
whether the person files a formal complaint or is pursuing an informal resolution to the alleged discrimination/retaliation.
 
Day(s): Unless expressly stated otherwise, the term “day” or “days” as used in this policy means business day(s) (i.e., a
day(s) that the District office is open for normal operating hours, Monday – Friday, excluding State-recognized holidays).
 
Respondent: is the individual who is alleged to have engaged in discrimination/retaliation, regardless of whether the
Complainant files a formal complaint or is seeking an informal resolution to the alleged discrimination/retaliation.
 
District  community: means students, District employees (i.e., administrators, and professional and support staff), and
Board members, agents, volunteers, contractors, or other persons subject to the control and supervision of the Board.
 
Third Parties: include but are not limited to guests and/or visitors on District property (e.g., visiting speakers,
participants on opposing athletic teams, parents), vendors doing business with or seeking to do business with the Board,
and other individuals who come in contact with members of the District community at school-related events/activities
(whether on or off District property).
 
An individual with a disability means a person who has, has a record of, or is regarded as having, a physical or mental
impairment that substantially limits one or more major life activities.
 
Major Life Activities
 
Major life activities are functions such as caring for one's self, performing manual tasks, walking, seeing, hearing, eating,
sleeping, standing, lifting, bending, speaking, breathing, learning, reading, concentrating, thinking, communicating, sitting,
reaching, interacting with others, and working.



11/21/23, 1:20 PM BoardDocs® PL

https://go.boarddocs.com/wi/sdman/Board.nsf/Private?open&login# 2/6

 
Major life activities also include the operation of a major bodily function, including, but not limited to, functions of the
immune system, special sense organs and skin, normal cell growth, and digestive, genitourinary, bowel, bladder,
neurological, brain, respiratory, circulatory, endocrine, hemic, lymphatic, musculoskeletal and reproductive functions. The
operation of a major bodily function includes the operation of an individual organ within a body system.
 
Impairment That Substantially Limits a Major Life Activity
 
The determination of whether an impairment substantially limits a major life activity must be made without regard to the
ameliorative effects of mitigating measures such as medication, medical supplies, equipment or appliances, low-vision
devices (defined as devices that magnify, enhance, or otherwise augment a visual image, but not including ordinary
eyeglasses or contact lenses), prosthetics (including limbs and devices), hearing aid(s) and cochlear implant(s) or other
implantable hearing devices, mobility devices, oxygen therapy equipment or supplies, use of assistive technology,
reasonable accommodations or "auxiliary aids or services," learned behavioral or adaptive neurological modifications,
psychotherapy, behavioral therapy, or physical therapy.
 
An impairment that is episodic in nature or in remission is considered a disability if it would substantially limit a major life
activity when active.
 
Qualified Individual with a Disability
 
A qualified individual with a disability means the individual satisfies the requisite skill, experience, education and other job-
related requirements of the employment position the individual holds or desires and can perform the essential functions of
the job in question, with or without reasonable accommodation.
 
Reasonable Accommodation
 
The Board will provide a reasonable accommodation to a qualified individual who has an actual disability or who has a
record of a disability unless the accommodation would impose an undue hardship on the operation of the Board’s program
and/or activities. A reasonable accommodation is not required for an individual who is merely regarded as having a
disability.
 
Facilities
 
No qualified person with a disability will be denied the benefits of, excluded from participation in, or otherwise be subjected
to discrimination under any program or activity to which Section 504/American with Disabilities Act (ADA) applies because
the District's facilities are inaccessible to or unusable by persons with disabilities.
 
For facilities constructed or altered after June 3, 1977, the District will comply with applicable accessibility standards. For
those existing facilities constructed prior to June 3, 1977, the District is committed to operating its programs and activities
so that they are readily accessible to persons with disabilities.
 
District Compliance Officers
 
The Board designates the following individual(s) to serve as the District's 504 CO(s)/ADA Coordinator(s) (hereinafter
referred to as the "COs").
 
[DRAFTING NOTE: Neola suggests the Board appoint both a male and a female CO in order to provide
complainants with the option to report their concerns to an individual of the gender with which they feel most
comfortable. Additionally, by appointing two (2) COs, there should always be a CO available to investigate a
claim that pertains to the other CO, as appropriate.]
 
__________________________
(Name)
 
__________________________
(School District Title)
 
__________________________
(Telephone Number)
 
__________________________
(Office Address)
 
__________________________
(E-mail Address)
 
 
__________________________
(Name)
 
__________________________
(School District Title)
 
__________________________
(Telephone Number)
 
__________________________
(Office Address)
 
__________________________
(E-mail Address)



11/21/23, 1:20 PM BoardDocs® PL

https://go.boarddocs.com/wi/sdman/Board.nsf/Private?open&login# 3/6

 
The name(s), title(s), and contact information of this/these individual(s) will be published annually:
 

A. on the School District's website.
 

B. ( ) in the staff handbooks.
 

C. ( ) in the School District Annual Report to the public.
 

D. ( ) on each individual school's website.
 

E. ( ) in the School District's calendar
 

F. ( ) ___________________________.
 
The COs are responsible for coordinating the District's efforts to comply with applicable Federal and State laws and
regulations, including the District's duty to address in a prompt and equitable manner any inquiries or complaints
regarding discrimination/retaliation or denial of equal access. The COs also shall verify that proper notice of
nondiscrimination for Title II of the Americans with Disabilities Act (as amended), Title VI and Title VII of the Civil Rights
Act of 1964, Section 504 of the Rehabilitation Act of 1973 (as amended), and the Age Discrimination in Employment Act of
1975 is provided to staff members and the general public. A copy of each of the Acts and regulations on which this notice
is based will be made available upon request from the CO.
 
The COs will oversee the investigation of any complaints of discrimination based on disability, which may be filed pursuant
to the Board's adopted internal complaint procedure, and will attempt to resolve such complaints. Any complaint received
regarding the District Administrator or a Board member shall be referred to the Board’s legal counsel, who shall assume
the role of the CO for such complaints, as appropriate. Additionally, if the complaint is regarding a CO, the complaint shall
be reported to the District Administrator, who shall coordinate with the other appointed/designated CO, or, if appropriate
appoint/designate another individual to serve as CO for the complaint regarding a CO.
 
The Board will provide for the prompt and equitable resolution of complaints alleging violations of Section 504/ADA. (See
Complaint Procedure below.)
 
Complaint Procedures
 
If a person believes that s/he has been discriminated against on the basis of his/her disability, the person may utilize the
following complaint procedures as a means of reaching, at the lowest possible administrative level, a prompt and equitable
resolution of the matter.
 
In accordance with Section 504 of the Rehabilitation Act of 1973 and its implementing regulations ("Section 504"),
employees will be notified of their right to file an internal complaint regarding an alleged violation, misinterpretation, or
misapplication of Section 504. In addition, employees will be notified of their right to file a complaint with the U.S.
Department of Education's Office for Civil Rights.
 
Internal complaints must be put in writing and must identify the specific circumstances or areas of dispute that have given
rise to the complaint, and offer possible solutions to the dispute. The complaint must be filed with COs within the time
limits specified below. The COs are available to assist individuals in filing a complaint.
 
Internal Complaint Procedure
 
The following internal complaint procedure is available to employees for the prompt and equitable resolution of complaints
alleging discrimination based upon disability. Use of the internal complaint procedure is not a prerequisite to the pursuit of
other remedies, including the filing of a complaint with the U.S. Department of Education's Office for Civil Rights.
 

A. An employee with a complaint based on alleged discrimination on the basis of disability may first discuss the
problem with the CO.
 

B. If the informal discussion does not resolve the matter, or if the employee skips Step A, the individual may file a
formal written complaint with the CO. The written complaint must contain the name and address of the individual
or representative filing the complaint, be signed by the Complainant or someone authorized to sign for the
Complainant, describe the alleged discriminatory action in sufficient detail to inform the CO of the nature and date
of the alleged violation and propose a resolution. The complaint must be filed within thirty (30) days of the
circumstances or event giving rise to the complaint unless the time for filing is extended by the CO for good cause.
 

C. The CO will conduct an independent investigation of the matter (which may or may not include a hearing). This
complaint procedure contemplates informal, but thorough investigations, affording all interested persons and their
representatives, if any, an opportunity to present witnesses and other evidence relevant to the complaint. The CO
will provide the Complainant with a written disposition of the complaint within ten (10) days. If no decision is
rendered within ten (10) business days, or the decision is unsatisfactory in the opinion of the Complainant, the
employee may file, in writing, an appeal with the District Administrator. The CO shall maintain the District’s files
and records relating to the complaint.
 

D. The District Administrator will, within ten (10) days of receiving the written appeal, conduct a hearing with all
parties involved in an attempt to resolve the complaint.
 
The District Administrator will render his/her decision within ten (10) days of the hearing.
 

E. The employee may be represented, at his/her own cost, at any of the above-described meetings/hearings.



11/21/23, 1:20 PM BoardDocs® PL

https://go.boarddocs.com/wi/sdman/Board.nsf/Private?open&login# 4/6

 
F. The right of a person to a prompt and equitable resolution of the complaint shall not be impaired by the person’s

pursuit of other remedies such as the filing of a complaint with the Office for Civil Rights or the filing of a court
case. Use of this internal complaint procedure is not a prerequisite to the pursuit of other remedies.

 
If it is determined that the Complainant was subjected to discrimination, the CO must identify what corrective action will
be taken to stop, remedy, and prevent the recurrence of the discrimination/retaliation. The corrective action should be
reasonable, timely, effective, and tailored to the specific situation.
 
OCR Complaint
 
At any time, if an employee believes that s/he has been subjected to discrimination based upon his/her disability in
violation of Section 504 or the ADA, the individual may file a complaint with the U.S. Department of Education's Office for
Civil Rights ("OCR"). The OCR can be reached at:
 
U.S. Department of Education Office for Civil Rights Citigroup Center
500 W. Madison Street Suite 1475
Chicago, IL 60661
(312) 730-1560
FAX: (312) 730-1576
TDD: (877) 521-2172
E-mail: OCR.Chicago@ed.gov
 
Privacy/Confidentiality
 
The District will employ all reasonable efforts to protect the rights of the Complainant, the Respondent(s), and the
witnesses as much as possible, consistent with the District’s legal obligations to investigate, take appropriate action, and
conform with any discovery or disclosure obligations.
 
All records generated under the terms of this policy shall be maintained as confidential to the extent permitted by law.
Confidentiality, however, cannot be guaranteed. Additionally, the Respondent must be provided the Complainant's identity.
 
During the course of a formal investigation, the CO or designee will instruct each person who is interviewed about the
importance of maintaining confidentiality. Any individual who is interviewed as part of an investigation is expected not to
disclose to third parties any information that is learned or provided during the course of the investigation.
 
Remedial Action and Monitoring
 
If warranted, appropriate remedial action shall be determined and implemented on behalf of the Complainant, including
but not limited to counseling services, reinstatement of leave taken due to the discrimination or other appropriate action.
 
The Board may appoint an individual, who may be a District employee, to follow up with the Complainant to ensure no
further discrimination or retaliation has occurred and to take action to address any reported occurrences promptly.
 
Sanctions and Disciplinary Action
 
The Board shall vigorously enforce its prohibitions against discrimination by taking appropriate action reasonably
calculated to stop and prevent further misconduct.
 
While observing the principles of due process, a violation of this policy may result in disciplinary action up to and including
the discharge of an employee or the suspension/expulsion of a student. All disciplinary action will be taken in accordance
with applicable State law and any relevant codes of conduct.
 
When imposing discipline, the District Administrator shall consider the totality of the circumstances involved in the matter,
including the age and maturity level of any student involved. In those cases where discrimination/retaliation is not
substantiated, the Board may consider whether the alleged conduct nevertheless warrants discipline in accordance with
other Board policies.
 
Where the Board becomes aware that a prior disciplinary action has been taken against the Respondent, all subsequent
sanctions imposed by the Board and/or District Administrator shall be reasonably calculated to end such conduct, prevent
its recurrence, and remedy its effect.
 
Retaliation
 
Retaliation against a person who makes a report or files a complaint alleging discrimination/retaliation, or participates as a
witness in an investigation, is prohibited. Neither the Board nor any other person may intimidate, threaten, coerce, or
interfere with any individual because the person opposed any act or practice made by Section 504 or the ADA, or because
that individual made a report, formal complaint, testified, assisted or participated, or refused to participate in any manner
in an investigation, proceeding, or hearing under those laws and/or this policy, or because that individual exercised,
enjoyed, aided or encouraged any other person in the exercise or enjoyment of any right granted or protected by those
laws and/or this policy.
 
Retaliation against a person for making a report of discrimination, filing a formal complaint, or participating in an
investigation or meeting is a serious violation of this policy that can result in the imposition of disciplinary
sanctions/consequences and/or other appropriate remedies.
 
Formal complaints alleging retaliation may be filed according to the internal complaint process set forth above.
 
The exercise of rights protected under the First Amendment of the United States Constitution does not constitute
retaliation prohibited under this policy.
 
Education and Training



11/21/23, 1:20 PM BoardDocs® PL

https://go.boarddocs.com/wi/sdman/Board.nsf/Private?open&login# 5/6

 
In support of this policy, the Board promotes preventative educational measures to create greater awareness of
discriminatory practices. The District Administrator shall provide appropriate information to all members of the District
community related to the implementation of this policy and shall provide training for District students and staff where
appropriate. All training and information provided regarding the Board's policy and discrimination, in general, will be age
and content-appropriate.
 
Retention of Investigatory Records and Materials
 
The CO is responsible for overseeing the retention of all records that must be maintained pursuant to this policy. All
individuals charged with conducting investigations under this policy shall retain all documents, electronically stored
information ("ESI"), and electronic media (as defined in Policy 8315) created and/or received as part of an investigation,
which may include but are not limited to:
 

A. all written reports/allegations/complaints/grievances/statements/responses pertaining to an alleged violation of this
policy;
 

B. any narratives that memorialize oral reports/allegations/complaints/grievances/statements/responses pertaining to
an alleged violation of this policy;
 

C. any documentation that memorializes the actions taken by District personnel or individuals contracted or appointed
by the Board to fulfill its responsibilities related to the investigation and/or the District's response to the alleged
violation of this policy;
 

D. written witness statements;
 

E. narratives, notes from, and audio, video, or digital recordings of witness interviews/statements;
 

F. e-mails, texts, and social media posts that directly relate to or constitute evidence pertaining to an alleged violation
of this policy (i.e., not after-the-fact commentary about or media coverage of the incident);
 

G. notes and summaries prepared contemporaneously by the investigator in whatever form made (e.g., handwritten,
keyed into a computer or tablet, etc.), but not including transitory notes whose content is otherwise memorialized
in other documents;
 

H. written disciplinary sanctions issued to students or employees and other documentation that memorializes oral
disciplinary sanctions issued to students or employees for violations of this policy;
 

I. dated written determinations/reports (including summaries of relevant exculpatory and inculpatory evidence) and
other documentation that memorializes oral notifications to the parties concerning the outcome of the investigation,
including any consequences imposed as a result of a violation of this policy;
 

J. documentation of any supportive measures offered and/or provided to the Complainant and the Respondent,
including no contact orders issued to both parties, the dates the no contact orders were issued, and the dates the
parties acknowledged receipt of the no contact orders;
 

K. documentation of all actions taken, both individual and systemic, to stop the discrimination or harassment, prevent
its recurrence, eliminate any hostile environment, and remedy its discriminatory effects;
 

L. copies of the Board policy and procedures/guidelines used by the District to conduct the investigation and any
documents used by the District at the time of the alleged violation to communicate the Board's expectations to
students and staff with respect to the subject of this policy (e.g., Student Codes of Conduct and/or Employee
Handbooks);
 

M. copies of any documentation that memorializes any formal or informal resolutions to the alleged discrimination or
harassment;
 

N. documentation of any training provided to District personnel related to this policy including, but not limited to
notification of the prohibitions and expectations of staff set forth in this policy and the role and responsibility of all
District personnel involved in enforcing this policy, including their duty to report alleged violations of this policy
and/or conduct an investigation of an alleged violation of this policy; [REMINDER: Documentation of training
should be maintained regardless of whether there is an investigation of an alleged violation of this
policy. It is best practice to maintain a log of all staff members who participate in a training, along with
the date, time, and location of the training, the name and title (or credentials) of the presenter, and a
copy of the materials reviewed or presented during the training.]

[DRAFTING NOTE: The following options should be selected if the District concludes that the following



11/21/23, 1:20 PM BoardDocs® PL

https://go.boarddocs.com/wi/sdman/Board.nsf/Private?open&login# 6/6

items are not adequately encompassed in the preceding paragraphs.]
 

O. ( )  documentation that any rights or opportunities that the District made available to one party during the
investigation were made available to the other party on equal terms;
 

P. ( ) copies of any notices sent to the Respondent of the allegations constituting a potential violation of this policy;
 

Q. ( ) copies of any notices sent to the Complainant and the Respondent in advance of any interview or meeting;
 

R. ( ) copies of any documentation or evidence used during informal and formal disciplinary meetings and hearings,
including the investigation report and any written responses submitted by the Complainant or the Respondent.

 
The documents, ESI, and electronic media (as defined in Policy 8315) retained may include public records and records
exempt from disclosure under Federal (e.g., FERPA, ADA) and/or State law, such as student records and confidential
medical records.
 
The documents, ESI, and electronic media (as defined in Policy 8315) created or received as part of an investigation shall
be retained in accordance with Policy 8310, Policy 8315, Policy 8320, and Policy 8330 for not less than three (3) years and
longer if required by the District’s records retention schedule.
 
© Neola 2021

Legal 29 U.S.C. 794, Section 504 Rehabilitation Act of 1973, as amended

42 U.S.C. 12101 et seq., Americans with Disabilities Act of 1990, as amended

29 C.F.R. Part 1630

34 C.F.R. Part 104

Last Modified by Ryan Peterson on November 1, 2023



11/21/23, 1:23 PM BoardDocs® PL

https://go.boarddocs.com/wi/sdman/Board.nsf/Private?open&login# 1/2

Book Policy Manual

Section Vol. 32, No. 2, July 2023

Title Rescind Policy - Vol. 32, No. 2, July 2023 - EMPLOYMENT OF CASUAL RESOURCE
PERSONNEL

Code po3120.07

Status Proposed to Policy & Human Resources Committee

Adopted May 16, 2016

Rescind Policy - Vol. 32, No. 2
 
3120.07 - EMPLOYMENT OF CASUAL RESOURCE PERSONNEL
 
It is the purpose of this policy to allow the casual employment of personnel in a consulting capacity for administration, in-
service, or instruction.
 
In the general fund of the Board of Education, money is appropriated annually for special services. This might include
resource persons in specialized fields of education that could offer consulting advice on the administration or instructional
processes. The District Administrator shall negotiate a reasonable payment with the resource person.
 
Specialists from industry, business, agriculture, or health occupation fields may be employed in a consulting capacity to
assist with program planning, in-services, or directly in the instructional program. Professional staff members employed by
the District may be used as casual resource personnel, outside of their regular assignment, at the discretion of the District
Administrator.
 
The District Administrator shall prepare administrative guidelines to ensure proper implementation of this policy.
 
© Neola 1997

Last Modified by Ryan Peterson on November 1, 2023



11/21/23, 1:23 PM BoardDocs® PL

https://go.boarddocs.com/wi/sdman/Board.nsf/Private?open&login# 2/2



11/21/23, 1:24 PM BoardDocs® PL

https://go.boarddocs.com/wi/sdman/Board.nsf/Private?open&login# 1/2

Book Policy Manual

Section Vol. 32, No. 2, July 2023

Title New Policy - Vol. 32, No. 2, July 2023 - NURSING MOTHERS

Code po8700

Status Proposed to Policy & Human Resources Committee

New Policy - Vol. 32, No. 2
 
8700 - NURSING MOTHERS
 
The Board of Education supports staff members who choose to breast feed and/or express breast milk following the birth
of a child. When any staff member, whether a professional staff member or support staff member has notified their
supervisor of the staff member’s intent to express breast milk during the workday, the X principal [  ] District
Administrator [  ] ____________________[End of Options] shall make necessary arrangements to provide the
following:
 

A. An appropriate location that is suitable for expressing breast milk. The location must be shielded from view and not
accessible during usage by any other person. The location provided may not be a bathroom.
 

B. A reasonable amount of time to complete the activity based on an established schedule of frequency the staff
member requires. The staff member is responsible for providing a schedule of frequency and for completing the
process efficiently.

 
A participating employee must record time spent expressing breast milk at work [  ] which will be recorded as unpaid
time, unless the employee also performs work related responsibilities during this time [END OF OPTION]. [Drafting
Note: the law does not require employers to pay employees during time provided to express breast milk
unless it would otherwise pay an employee for the same amount of break time for other reasons. This applies
to both exempt and non-exempt employees such that a Board may determine that it is easier to consider
break time under this policy as compensable time]. Any staff member who has given birth to a child and opts to
express breast milk thereafter is entitled to the benefits of this policy.
 
Any staff member who has provided notice of the need to express breast milk at work and has complied with the
responsibilities of doing so in this policy is eligible to do so for up to one (1) calendar year from the birth of the child.
 
No staff member who requires break time to express breastmilk consistent with this policy shall be subjected to retaliation
or any form of adverse treatment for doing so.
 
Any staff member who feels they have been denied adequate protections or feels they have been retaliated against or
otherwise treated unfairly as a result of availing themselves of the rights described in this policy shall report such concerns
to the District Administrator. Any such report shall specify the alleged deficiency and desired resolution so that the District
Administrator may provide an appropriate resolution, within ten (10) calendar days of the report.
 
The benefits described in this policy shall be administered concurrently with other benefits, such as Family Medical Leave
Act (FMLA) rights.
 
© Neola 2023

Legal 29 U.S.C. 218d

Last Modified by Ryan Peterson on November 1, 2023



11/21/23, 1:24 PM BoardDocs® PL

https://go.boarddocs.com/wi/sdman/Board.nsf/Private?open&login# 2/2



11/21/23, 1:25 PM BoardDocs® PL

https://go.boarddocs.com/wi/sdman/Board.nsf/Private?open&login# 1/2

Book Policy Manual

Section Vol. 32, No. 2, July 2023

Title Rescind Policy - Vol. 32, No. 2, July 2023 - NURSING MOTHERS

Code po4430.05

Status Proposed to Policy & Human Resources Committee

Adopted May 16, 2016

Rescind Policy - Vol. 32, No. 2, June 2023
 
4430.05 - NURSING MOTHERS
 
As required by the Fair Labor Standards Act (FLSA), it shall be the policy of the Board to support the decision of support
staff members to breastfeed their infants by providing unpaid breaks for lactating employees to express breast milk for
infants on District premises.
 
The building administrator shall designate a private area, other than a restroom, where an employee can express breast
milk. The designated area shall be a space where intrusion from coworkers, students, and the public can be prevented,
and one where an employee who is using this area can be shielded from view.
 
Prior to returning to work from maternity leave, the employee shall notify her supervisor of her intent to continue
breastfeeding her infant(s), and of her need to express milk during work hours. It shall be the responsibility of the
employee to keep her supervisor informed of her needs in this regard throughout the period of lactation ( ), or until such
time as the child reaches the age of one.
 
The employee can express milk during regularly scheduled unpaid break periods. The building administrator or employee’s
supervisor shall make accommodation in the event that the time of regular breaks needs to be adjusted or, in the event
that additional and/or longer unpaid breaks are needed. In the event that the number and duration of the unpaid breaks
requires modification to the employee’s work schedule, the building administrator or the employee’s supervisor shall work
with the employee to determine the necessary modifications.
 
© Neola 2010

Legal 29 U.S.C. 207 (Section 4207)

Last Modified by Ryan Peterson on November 1, 2023



11/21/23, 1:25 PM BoardDocs® PL

https://go.boarddocs.com/wi/sdman/Board.nsf/Private?open&login# 2/2



11/21/23, 1:26 PM BoardDocs® PL

https://go.boarddocs.com/wi/sdman/Board.nsf/Private?open&login# 1/2

Book Policy Manual

Section Vol. 32, No. 2, July 2023

Title Revised Policy - Vol. 32, No. 2, July 2023 - PROGRAM OR CURRICULUM
MODIFICATIONS

Code po2451

Status Proposed to Policy & Human Resources Committee

Revised Policy - Vol. 32, No. 2
 
2451 - PROGRAM OR CURRICULUM MODIFICATIONS
 
The Board of Education recognizes that the regular school program may not be appropriate for all students. Some students
may need program or curriculum modifications to successfully meet the District’s academic goals and/or graduation
requirements. (See Policy 5461 - Children At-Risk of Not Graduating from High School)
 
Any student's parent, or the student if the parent is notified, may submit a written request to the Board, to provide the
student with program or curriculum modifications, including, but not limited to:
 

A. modifications within the student's current academic program;
 

B. a school work training or work-study program;
 

C. enrollment in an alternative public school or program located in the School District in which the student resides;
 

D. enrollment in any nonsectarian private school or program, or tribal school, located in the School District in which
the student resides, which complies with the requirements of State and Federal law;
 

E. homebound study, including nonsectarian correspondence courses or other courses of study approved by the Board
or nonsectarian tutoring provided by the school in which the child is enrolled;
 

F. enrollment in any public educational program located outside the School District in which the student resides,
pursuant to a contractual agreement between school districts.

 
The written request shall be provided to the (X) building principal ( ) District Administrator [END OF OPTIONS] who will
provide it to the Board or an administrator who is designated to do so, musthandle such requests. The Board or
appropriate staff member shall render itsa decision, in writing, within ninety (90) days of a request, except that if the
request relates to a student who has been evaluated by an Individualized Education Program team and has not been
recommended for special education, the decision must be made within thirty (30) days of the request. If the request is
denied, the reasons for the denial must be included. A parent may request reconsideration of any decision made by the
Board or the designated administrator in response to a request for program or curriculum modifications and such request
must be reviewed by the Board. The Board is required to render its determination upon review in writing.
 
Annually, the District shall notify students and parents of the provisions of this policy. Inclusion of such notification in the
student handbook shall satisfy this requirement.
 
X  The District Administrator shall issue an administrative guideline specifying the process for submitting a request for
program or curriculum modifications and how such requests shall be handled when received by the District. [END OF
OPTION]
 
© Neola 20192023

Legal 118.15, Wis. Stats.



11/21/23, 1:26 PM BoardDocs® PL

https://go.boarddocs.com/wi/sdman/Board.nsf/Private?open&login# 2/2

Last Modified by Ryan Peterson on November 1, 2023



11/21/23, 1:27 PM BoardDocs® PL

https://go.boarddocs.com/wi/sdman/Board.nsf/Private?open&login# 1/2

Book Policy Manual

Section Vol. 32, No. 2, July 2023

Title Rescind Policy - Vol. 32, No. 2, July 2023 - PROGRAM OR CURRICULUM
MODIFICATIONS

Code po5250

Status Proposed to Policy & Human Resources Committee

Rescind Policy - Vol. 32, No. 2
 
5250 – PROGRAM OR CURRICULUM MODIFICATIONS
 
In accordance with Policy 5200 – Attendance, the Board may excuse a student from regular school attendance to
participate in a program or curriculum modification leading to high school graduation or a high school equivalency diploma.
 
Any such request for a program or curriculum modification from the parent, or the student if the parent is notified, shall be
in writing.
 
The Board, or its designee, shall provide a written decision within ninety (90) days to a properly submitted request for a
program or curriculum modification. If the request is denied, the reasons for denial shall be included in the written
decision. An exception is if the student has been evaluated by an IEP team but not recommended for special education,
then the written decision must be provided within thirty (30) days.
 
[ ] The Board designates the District Administrator to make decisions for program or curriculum modifications. [END OF
OPTION]
 
Any decision made by the Board or its designee regarding a request for a program or curriculum modification may be
appealed by the parent to the Board, and the Board shall provide a written decision to the parent.
 
The request for a program or curriculum modification may include, but is not limited to, the following:
 

A. modifications within the student’s current academic program;
 

B. a school work training or work study program;
 

C. enrollment in any alternative public school or program located in the school district in which the student resides;
 

D. enrollment in any nonsectarian private school or program, or tribal school, located in the School District in which
the student resides in accordance with applicable State and Federal law;
 

E. homebound study, including nonsectarian correspondence courses or other courses of study approved by the
Board, or nonsectarian tutoring provided by the school in which the student is enrolled;
 

F. enrollment in any public educational program located outside the School District in which the student resides,
which may be pursuant to a contractual agreement between the school districts.

 
Annually, the District shall notify students and parents of the provisions of this policy. Inclusion of such notification in the
student handbook shall satisfy this provision.
 
[ ] The District Administrator shall issue an administrative guideline specifying the process for submitting a request for
program or curriculum modifications and how such requests shall be handled when received by the District.
 
© Neola 2023

Legal 118.15(1)(d), 118.15(1)(dm), 118.15(1)(e), 118.15(1)(f), Wis. Stats.



11/21/23, 1:27 PM BoardDocs® PL

https://go.boarddocs.com/wi/sdman/Board.nsf/Private?open&login# 2/2

Last Modified by Ryan Peterson on November 1, 2023



11/21/23, 1:27 PM BoardDocs® PL

https://go.boarddocs.com/wi/sdman/Board.nsf/Private?open&login# 1/2

Book Policy Manual

Section Vol. 32, No. 2, July 2023

Title New Policy - Vol. 32, No. 2, July 2023 - ACADEMIC HONESTY

Code po5505

Status Proposed to Policy & Human Resources Committee

New Policy - Vol. 32, No. 2
 
5505 – ACADEMIC HONESTY
 
The Board of Education values honesty and expects integrity in the District’s students. Violating academic honesty erodes
the trust between teachers and students as well as compromises the academic standing of other students. So that each
student is judged solely on their own merits, the Board prohibits any student from presenting someone else’s work as their
own, using artificial intelligence platforms in place of one’s own work, providing unauthorized assistance to another
student, and cheating in all its forms.
 
All school work submitted for the purpose of meeting course requirements must be the individual student’s original work.
It is prohibited for any student to unfairly advance their own academic performance or that of any other student. Likewise,
no student may intentionally limit or impede the academic performance or intellectual pursuits of other students.  
 
Academic dishonesty includes, but is not limited to:
 

A. plagiarism (of ideas, work, research, speech, art, music, etc.);
 

B. forgery of another’s work;
 

C. presenting the results from an artificial intelligence platform as one’s own ( ) (See Policy 7540.08 - Artificial
Intelligence (AI));
 

D. downloading or copying information from other sources and presenting it as one’s own;
 

E. using language translation work of someone else when the expectation is doing one’s own translation;
 

F. copying another person’s work;
 

G. allowing another person to copy one’s own work;
 

H. stealing another person’s work;
 

I. doing another person’s work for them;
 

J. distributing copies of one’s work for use by others;
 

K. distributing copies of someone else’s work for use by others;
 

L. intentionally accessing another’s work for the purpose of presenting it as one’s own;
 

M. distributing or receiving answers to assignments, quizzes, tests, assessments, etc. 
 

N. distributing or receiving questions from quizzes, tests, assessments, etc.
 



11/21/23, 1:27 PM BoardDocs® PL

https://go.boarddocs.com/wi/sdman/Board.nsf/Private?open&login# 2/2

O. ( ) ___________________________________________________;
 

P. ( ) ___________________________________________________.
 
Faculty and Administration have the responsibility for monitoring students’ work for compliance with this policy.
 
X All teachers, beginning in the elementary grades, will educate students as to what constitutes academic dishonesty and
what is acceptable and unacceptable behavior in District schools regarding academic integrity. ( ) Such education shall
reference this Board policy.
 
Students who violate this policy are subject to disciplinary consequences.
 
[ ] Teachers are authorized, in consultation with their Principal, to apply appropriate consequences for violations of this
policy. Disciplinary consequences for significant violations may include removal from the class with a failing grade, removal
from student leadership positions, elimination of honors recognition, loss of membership in honor organizations, as well as
other disciplinary consequences appropriate to the nature of the violation. 
 
Parents shall be contacted as soon as practicable to report any alleged acts of academic dishonesty by their child.
 
Repeated violations of this policy ( X) at the high school level [END OF OPTION] will result in additional disciplinary
consequences, up to and including suspension and expulsion. 
 
Student and/or parent appeals of disciplinary consequences resulting from violation of this policy may be made within five
(5) business days to the Principal whose decision shall be final. If the Principal was the staff member responsible for the
disciplinary consequence being appealed, then student and/or parent appeals should be directed within five (5) business
days to the ( X) District Administrator ( ) _______________ [END OF OPTION] whose decision shall be final.
 
X A summary of this policy shall be included in the Student Handbook and the Employee Handbook.
 
© Neola 2023

Legal 118.01, 118.164, 120.12, Wis. Stats.

Last Modified by Ryan Peterson on November 1, 2023



11/21/23, 1:28 PM BoardDocs® PL

https://go.boarddocs.com/wi/sdman/Board.nsf/Private?open&login# 1/2

Book Policy Manual

Section Vol. 32, No. 2, July 2023

Title New Policy - Vol. 32, No. 2, July 2023 - ARTIFICIAL INTELLIGENCE (AI)

Code po7540.08

Status Proposed to Policy & Human Resources Committee

New Policy - Vol. 32, No. 2
 
7540.08 - ARTIFICIAL INTELLIGENCE (AI)
 
The Board of Education recognizes the positive impact that artificial intelligence (AI) technology may have in the District’s
educational program and operations. The District Administrator is authorized to support the use of artificial intelligence
technology when its use is consistent with the District’s mission, goals, and operational integrity.
 
Any use of artificial intelligence technology in the District’s educational program or operations must be in accordance with
State and Federal law as well as Board policies. () including, but not limited to the following: Policy 5505 – Academic
Honesty; Policy 5500 – Student Code of Classroom Conduct; Policy 5500.01 – Conduct in Virtual Classroom; Policy 5517 –
Student Anti-Harassment; Policy 5517.01 – Bullying; Policy 2266 – Nondiscrimination on the Basis of Sex in Education
Programs and Activities; Policy 8330 – Student Records; Policy 2240 – Controversial Issues in the Classroom; Policy
7540.03 – Student Technology Acceptable Use and Safety; and Policy 7540.04 – Staff Technology Acceptable Use and
Safety. [Drafting Note:  Confirm and Select as Needed] [END OF OPTION]
 
Violation of this policy may result in disciplinary consequences. Students may be disciplined for violations, up to and
including suspension or expulsion. Staff may be disciplined for violations, up to and including suspension or termination of
employment. The Administration will refer any illegal acts to law enforcement.
 
© Neola 2023

Last Modified by Ryan Peterson on November 1, 2023



11/21/23, 1:28 PM BoardDocs® PL

https://go.boarddocs.com/wi/sdman/Board.nsf/Private?open&login# 2/2



11/21/23, 1:29 PM BoardDocs® PL

https://go.boarddocs.com/wi/sdman/Board.nsf/Private?open&login# 1/3

Book Policy Manual

Section Vol. 32, No. 2, July 2023

Title Replacement Policy - Vol. 32, No. 2, July 2023 - SUICIDE PREVENTION,
INTERVENTION, AND POSTVENTION

Code po5350

Status Proposed to Policy & Human Resources Committee

Adopted October 1, 2015

Last Revised April 25, 2022

Replacement Policy - Vol. 32, No. 2
 
5350 - SUICIDE PREVENTION, INTERVENTION, AND POSTVENTION
 
The Board of Education recognizes that suicide is a leading cause of death among youth and must be taken seriously. In
order to attempt to reduce suicidal behavior and its impact on students and families, the District Administrator shall
develop prevention, intervention, and postvention strategies and procedures.
 
The District Administrator may involve school health professionals, school counselors, administrators, other staff,
parents/guardians, students, local health agencies and professionals, and community organizations in planning,
implementing, and evaluating the district's strategies for suicide prevention,  intervention, and postvention.
 
(X) The District's comprehensive health education program shall promote the healthy mental, emotional, and social
development of students including, but not limited to, the development of problem-solving skills, coping skills, and self-
esteem. Suicide prevention instruction shall be incorporated into the health education curriculum in the secondary grades.
Such instruction shall be aligned with state content standards and shall be designed to help students analyze signs of
depression and self-destructive behaviors, including potential suicide, and to identify suicide prevention strategies.
 
The District Administrator may offer parents education or information which describes the severity of the youth suicide
problem, the district's suicide prevention curriculum, risk factors and warning signs of suicide, basic steps for helping
suicidal youth, and/or school and community resources that can help youth in crisis.
 
Prevention and Instruction
 
Using the Department of Public Instruction notice, the District Administrator shall annually inform the professional staff of
the resources available from the Department and other resources regarding suicide prevention. The District Administrator
shall also implement procedures to obtain payment or reimbursement for professional mental health services provided by
any licensed treatment professional.
 
Suicide prevention strategies may include, but not be limited to, efforts to promote a positive school climate that enhances
students' feelings of connectedness with the school and is characterized by caring staff and harmonious interrelationships
among students.
 
Developmentally appropriate, student-centered education materials will be integrated into the curriculum of all K-12 health
classes. The content of these materials will: [Drafting Note - Letters A-D are required by statute]
 

A. encourage positive social and emotional development.
 

B. teach life skills such as problem-solving and sound decision-making.
 

C. provide knowledge of the relationship between youth suicide and the use of alcohol and controlled substances.
 

D. promote awareness of the warning signs of suicide, how to respond to potential suicidal persons and available
community counseling and mental services.
 



11/21/23, 1:29 PM BoardDocs® PL

https://go.boarddocs.com/wi/sdman/Board.nsf/Private?open&login# 2/3

E. (X) stress the importance of safe and healthy choices and coping strategies.
 

F. (X) instruct how to recognize risk factors and warning signs of mental disorders and suicide in oneself and others.
 

G. (X) facilitate help-seeking strategies for oneself or others, including how to engage school resources and refer
friends for help. In addition, schools may provide supplemental small group suicide prevention programming for
students.

 
(X) Staff Development
 
Suicide prevention training for staff shall be designed to help staff identify and respond to students at risk of suicide. The
training shall be offered under the direction of a school counselor/school psychologist and/or in cooperation with one or
more community mental health agencies and must include information on:
 

A. (X) the role of protective factors with an emphasis on school climate, connectedness, caring staff, and positive
student relationships, and building support for these protective factors within staff and community as a positive
purpose of suicide prevention.
 

B. (X) research identifying risk factors, such as previous suicide attempt(s), history of depression or mental illness,
substance use problems, family history of suicide or violence, feelings of isolation, interpersonal conflicts, a recent
severe stressor or loss, family instability, and other factors.
 

C. (X) warning signs that may indicate suicidal intentions include changes in students' appearance, personality, or
behavior. Warning signs of this nature should receive particular attention when displayed by an individual in one or
more of the following groups:
 

1. Youth bereaved by suicide
 

2. Youth with disabilities, mental illness, or substance abuse
 

3. Homeless youth
 

4. LGBTQ youth
 

5. Youth in the juvenile justice or welfare system
 

6. Native American youth
 

7. Youth on the fringes of mainstream social groups
 

D. (X) research-based instructional strategies for teaching the suicide prevention curriculum and promoting mental
and emotional health.
 

E. (X) school and community resources and services.
 

F. (X) District procedures for intervening when a student attempts, threatens, or discloses the desire to die by
suicide.

 
X Training will be provided () annually (X) regularly [END OF OPTIONS] for all teachers and staff.
 
Suicide Intervention; Civil Liability Exemption
 
Any School District officer, employee, or volunteer who in good faith attempts to prevent suicide by a student is immune
from civil liability for their acts or omissions in respect to the suicide or attempted suicide.
 
Postvention
 
The Board recognizes that the death of a staff member or student, whether by suicide or other means, that affects the
entire school and community. In the event of a staff member or student’s death, it is critical that the school’s response be
swift, consistent, and intended to protect the student body and community. 
 
[] This policy has related AGs that will help guide this response. Following the AG in the context of any student or staff
death will aid in providing for a swift, consistent, and thoughtful approach.
 
Confirming the News and Convening the Education Support Team
 
Upon receiving news of a student’s or employee's death, including an unconfirmed rumor, a staff member must
immediately contact the Principal, and/or designee. Contact must be made whether this is during or outside school hours.
 
The () District Administrator (X) Principal [END OF OPTIONS] will:
 



11/21/23, 1:29 PM BoardDocs® PL

https://go.boarddocs.com/wi/sdman/Board.nsf/Private?open&login# 3/3

A. (X) contact the (X) District Administrator ( ) Board President.
 

B. (X) contact key staff who will comprise the support team; i.e., teaching and classified staff, parents, students,
and/or community members.
 

C. (X) compose a potential “shared statement” to for students and staff so the same message is disseminated to
everyone. This statement should not be read over the intercom but delivered in person by a teacher who has a
relationship with the students. This is very important in grades where the deceased student had close connections
to his/her classmates.
 

D. (X) compose a potential public statement to notify the community at large what the school is experiencing and that
the school is focused on providing support to the students. This may be beneficial in the event that the matter
becomes publicly discussed, including on social media.
 

E. (X) will convene the educational support team which may include:
 

1. (X) administrators
 

2. (X) school counselor(s)
 

3. (X) school psychologist(s)
 

4. (X) social worker(s)
 

5. () ________________
 
In the case of a death by suicide, other concerns such as the prevention of suicide contagion will be taken into account.
 Suicide contagion is the process by which suicidal behavior or a suicide completion influences an increase in the suicide
risk of others. Identification, modeling, and guilt are each thought to play a role in contagion. Although rare, suicide
contagion can result in a cluster of suicides within a community.
 
(X) Publication and Distribution
 
This policy will be included in age-appropriate student handbooks and on the school website.
 
© Neola 2023

Legal 115.365, Wis. Stats. (Assistance for Schools for Suicide Prevention Programs)

118.01(2)(d)7, Wis. Stats. (Educational Goals and Expectations)

118.295, Wis. Stats. (Suicide Intervention, Civil Liability Exemption)

895.48(1), Wis. Stats. (Liability Exemption)

Last Modified by Ryan Peterson on November 1, 2023



11/30/23, 10:11 AM BoardDocs® PL

https://go.boarddocs.com/wi/sdman/Board.nsf/Private?open&login# 1/2

Book Policy Manual

Section 0000 Bylaws

Title Copy of BOUNDARIES

Code po0113

Status Proposed to Policy & Human Resources Committee

Adopted April 25, 2016

Last Reviewed December 6, 2023

0113 - BOUNDARIES
 
The School District of Manawa is comprised of the following areas: City of Manawa, Townships of Little Wolf, Helvetia,
Union, St. Lawrence, Ogdensburg, Royalton, Mukwa, Bear Creek, and Lebanon and Village of Ogdensburg.
 
© Neola 2011

Last Modified by Ryan Peterson on November 30, 2023



11/30/23, 10:11 AM BoardDocs® PL

https://go.boarddocs.com/wi/sdman/Board.nsf/Private?open&login# 2/2



11/30/23, 10:29 AM BoardDocs® PL

https://go.boarddocs.com/wi/sdman/Board.nsf/Private?open&login# 1/2

Book Policy Manual

Section Vol. 32, No. 2, July 2023

Title Revised Bylaw - Vol. 32, No. 2, July 2023 - ELECTORAL PROCESS

Code po0142.1

Status Proposed to Policy & Human Resources Committee

Adopted April 25, 2016

Last Revised December 6, 2023

Last Reviewed December 6, 2023

Revised Bylaw - Vol. 32, No. 2
 
0142.1 - ELECTORAL PROCESS
 
Members of the The Board of Education elections are held shall be elected annually atduring the spring election on the first
Tuesday in April in a manner that is consistent with State law.
 

The Board shall consist of seven (7) members elected by the voters of the District by ballot in compliance with State law at
the Spring election. The number of members elected each year shall maintain a two-two-three (2-2-3) sequence.

 

Board member representation shall be according to the established plan of apportionment, with six (6) members
representing specific geographical areas and one (1) member representing the full District. Representation shall be
apportioned with one (1) Board member from each of the following:

 

 
 Zone 1 City of Manawa

 
 Zone 2 Township of Little Wolf

 
 Zone 3 Townships of Helvetia and Union

 
 Zone 4 Townships of St. Lawrence and Village of Ogdensburg

 
 Zone 5 Townships of Royalton and Mukwa

 
 Zone 6 Townships of Bear Creek and Lebanon

 
 At-Large Represents Entire District

 
 
Declaration of Candidacy
 



11/30/23, 10:29 AM BoardDocs® PL

https://go.boarddocs.com/wi/sdman/Board.nsf/Private?open&login# 2/2

Any qualified elector desiring election to the Board must file a Declaration of Candidacy with the Board Clerk, using forms
provided by the District, no later than 5:00 P.M. on the first Tuesday in January. Qualified candidates shall then be placed
on the ballot.
 
Incumbent Board members may file a Declaration of Non-Candidacy by 5:00 P.M. on the 2nd Friday preceding the deadline
for filing ballot access documents, as specified in the preceding paragraph, to avoid an extension of time for filing such
papers.
 
If an incumbent fails to file a Declaration of Candidacy ( ) and nomination papers [END OF OPTION] by the 5:00 P.M.
deadline on the first Tuesday in January, candidates may file a Declaration of Candidacy ( ) and nomination papers [END
OF OPTION] within seventy-two (72) hours following the original Tuesday deadline.
 
In addition, if an incumbent files written notification that the incumbent is not a candidate for reelection to their office or
fails to file a declaration of candidacy within the time prescribed by this paragraph, the District Clerk shall promptly provide
public notice of that fact on the District's website or, if the District does not maintain a website, by posting notices in at
least three (3) different locations within the District.
 
The order of names on the ballot shall be determined by lot, in the event more than one (1) person seeks office from a
representative area.
 
Declaration of Non-Candidacy
 
If an incumbent files a Declaration of Non-Candidacy no later than 5:00 P.M. on the 2nd Friday preceding the Tuesday
deadline, there is no extension of the Tuesday deadline.
 
When the first Tuesday in January is a holiday the deadline becomes 5:00 P.M. the next day.
 
In addition, if an incumbent files written notification that the incumbent is not a candidate for reelection to their office or
fails to file a declaration of candidacy within the time prescribed by this bylaw, the District Clerk shall promptly provide
public notice of that fact on the District's website or, if the District does not maintain a website, by posting notices in at
least three (3) different locations within the District.
 
120.06 (1), 10.68 (5)(2b), Wis. Stats.
120.06 (6)(b), Wis. Stats.
120.06(6)(b)3m, Wis. Stats.
 
© Neola 20212023

Legal 120.06 (1), Wis. Stats.

120.06 (6)(b), Wis. Stats.

120.06(6)(b)3m, Wis. Stats.

Last Modified by Ryan Peterson on November 30, 2023



11/30/23, 10:34 AM BoardDocs® PL

https://go.boarddocs.com/wi/sdman/Board.nsf/Private?open&login# 1/2

Book Policy Manual

Section Vol. 32, No. 2, July 2023

Title Revised Bylaw - Vol. 32, No. 2, July 2023 - PUBLIC EXPRESSION OF BOARD
MEMBERS

Code po0143.1

Status Proposed to Policy & Human Resources Committee

Adopted October 1, 2015

Last Revised June 19, 2017

Last Reviewed December 6, 2023

Revised Bylaw - Vol. 32, No. 2
 
0143.1 - PUBLIC EXPRESSION OF BOARD MEMBERS
 
The Board President functions as the official spokesperson for the Board. ( X ) (see Bylaw 0144.5 - Board Member
Behavior and Code of Conduct)
 
From time-to-time, however, individual Board members make public statements, or statements to individuals, on school
matters:
 

A. to local media;
 

B. on social media;
 

C. to members of the community;
 

D. to local officials and/or State officials.
 
Sometimes the public statements, or statements to individuals, by Board members imply, or the readers (listeners) infer,
that the opinions expressed or statements made are the official positions of the Board. The misunderstandings that can
result from these incidents may cause issues for the member, the Board, as well as the District. Therefore, Board members
should, when writing or speaking on school matters on social media, to the media, members of the community, legislators,
and other officials, make it clear that their views do not necessarily reflect the views of the Board or of their colleagues on
the Board.
 
This bylaw shall apply to all statements and/or writings by individual Board members not explicitly sanctioned by a
majority of its members, except as follows:
 

A. correspondence, such as legislative proposals, when the Board member has received official guidance from the
Board on the matters discussed in the letter 
 

B. routine, not for publication, correspondence of the District Administrator and other Board employees 
 

C. routine "thank you" letters of the Board
 

D. statements by Board members on nonschoolnon-school matters (providing the statements do not identify the
author as a member of the Board)
 

E. personal statements not intended for publication

[ X ] Copies of this bylaw shall be sent annually to local media by the Board President.
 
© Neola 20162023



11/30/23, 10:34 AM BoardDocs® PL

https://go.boarddocs.com/wi/sdman/Board.nsf/Private?open&login# 2/2

Last Modified by Ryan Peterson on November 30, 2023



12/11/23, 11:42 AM BoardDocs® PL

https://go.boarddocs.com/wi/sdman/Board.nsf/Private?open&login# 1/2

Book Policy Manual

Section Vol. 32, No. 2, July 2023

Title Revised Bylaw - Vol. 32, No. 2, July 2023 - CONFLICT OF INTEREST

Code po0144.3

Status Proposed to Policy & Human Resources Committee

Adopted April 25, 2016

Last Revised January 17, 2022

Last Reviewed December 6, 2023

Revised Bylaw - Vol. 32, No. 2
 
0144.3 - CONFLICT OF INTEREST
 
Board of Education members shall perform their official duties in an ethical manner and free from conflict of interest
pursuant to 19.59, Wis. Stats. To this end:
 

A. no Board member shall use his/hertheir position as a Board member to obtain financial gain or anything of
substantial value for himself/herselfthemself, immediate family as defined in 19.42(7), Wis. Stats., or any
organization with which s/hethe Board member is associated;
 

B. no Board member shall accept any offer of anything of value from a person either directly or indirectly, nor shall
solicit or accept anything of value, if it could be reasonably expected to influence the Board member's actions;
 

C. no Board member shall engage in or have a financial interest, directly or indirectly, in any activity that conflicts or
raises a reasonable question of conflict with his/herthe Board member's duties and responsibilities in the school
system and as a public officer;
 

D. when a member of the Board determines that the possibility of such a personal or financial interest conflict exists,
s/hethe Board member should, prior to the matter being considered, disclose his/hertheir interest (such disclosure
shall become a matter of record in the minutes of the Board), and thereafter shall abstain from participation in both
the discussion of the matter and the vote thereon. In the event that the potential conflict involves a program or
activity in whole or in part financed through Federal grant funds, the potential conflict of interest must be disclosed
to the Federal granting agency consistent with the requirements of the particular granting agency;
 

E. Board members shall also perform their duties in a manner that does not violate criminal conflict of interest laws
pursuant to 946.13, Wis. Stats. by having a private pecuniary interest in a contract with the District in an amount
that exceeds $15,000 annually or by participating in making or performing some function as a Board member with
respect to a contract in which the Board member has a private pecuniary interest, unless statutory exceptions
apply;.
 

 

F. no member of the Board shall hold a paid position within the School District, regardless of the type or level of
position or manner of pay. ( X ) However, a Board member may serve as a volunteer coach, bus driver, or
supervisor of an extra-curricular activity if the provision of 120.20, Wis. Stats., ( X ) Policy 8120 - Volunteers,
[END OF OPTION] and this policy are satisfied. [END OF OPTIONAL SENTENCE] [DRAFTING NOTE:
Selecting this option should be consistent with Policy 8120 - Volunteers.]



12/11/23, 11:42 AM BoardDocs® PL

https://go.boarddocs.com/wi/sdman/Board.nsf/Private?open&login# 2/2

19.42(7), Wis. Stats.
19.59, Wis. Stats.
120.20, Wis. Stats.
946.13, Wis. Stats.
 
© Neola 20212023

Legal 19.42(7), Wis. Stats.

19.59, Wis. Stats.

120.20, Wis. Stats.

946.13, Wis. Stats.

Last Modified by Ryan Peterson on December 6, 2023



12/11/23, 11:43 AM BoardDocs® PL

https://go.boarddocs.com/wi/sdman/Board.nsf/Private?open&login# 1/3

Book Policy Manual

Section Vol. 32, No. 2, July 2023

Title Revised Policy - Vol. 32, No. 2, July 2023 - DISTRICT-SPONSORED TRIPS

Code po2340

Status Proposed to Policy & Human Resources Committee

Last Reviewed December 6, 2023

Revised Policy - Vol. 32, No. 2
 
2340 - DISTRICT-SPONSORED TRIPS
 
The Board of Education recognizes the value of organized trips or other excursions away from the classroom as a valuable
part of the District's educational programming and a valuable opportunity to obtain additional educational experiences not
offered directly in the curriculum offerings. These opportunities occur in four (4) primary forms addressed in this policy:
(a) field trips; (b) extra-curricular/co-curricular program-related trips; (c) overnight trips; and (d) other District-sponsored
trips.
 
Field Trips
 
The Board recognizes that field trips, when used for teaching and learning integral to the curriculum, are an educationally
sound and important ingredient in the instructional program of the schools. For purposes of this policy, a field trip shall be
defined as any planned journey by one (1) or more students away from District premises, which is under the supervision
of a professional staff member, approved by ( X ) Administration ( ) the Board [END OF OPTIONS] and furthers or
supplements an integral part of a course of study as planned for and incorporated into that course of study by the teacher.
Properly planned and executed field trips should:
 

A. ( X ) supplement and enrich classroom procedures by providing learning experiences in an environment outside the
schools;
 

B. ( X ) arousecultivate new interests among students;
 

C. ( X ) help students relate school experiences to the reality of the world outside of school;
 

D. ( X ) bring the resources of the community - natural, artistic, industrial, commercial, governmental, educational -
within the student's learning experience;
 

E. ( X ) afford students the opportunity to study real things and real processes in their actual environment.
 
[ X ] Out-of-state field trips that do not include an overnight stay must be approved by ( X ) the Administration ( ) the
Board.
 
[ ] Field trips to destinations more than ______ miles from the District must be approved by the ( ) District Administrator
( ) Board.
 
Extra-Curricular/Co-Curricular Trips
 



12/11/23, 11:43 AM BoardDocs® PL

https://go.boarddocs.com/wi/sdman/Board.nsf/Private?open&login# 2/3

The Board recognizes that student trips will occur for reasons that are not directly incorporated into the curriculum as part
of a class, but rather are part of the extra-curricular/co-curricular activities offered by the District. For example, a District
athletic team may travel to away games, or take a trip to an out-of-town tournament. Any such trips must be identified at
the beginning of the activity for the school year, or for the particular season. Extra-curricular or co-curricular trips shall be
approved by the ( X ) Administration ( ) athletic director ( ) Board [END OF OPTIONS] in accordance with the same
procedures used for approving field trips. In cases where such advance notice is not possible (such as travel to State
tournament competition), the staff member responsible for such activity shall notify the ( ) athletic director ( X ) building
administrator ( X ) District Administrator ( ) Board [END OF OPTIONS] of the activity and pertinent information.
 
Extra-curricular trips that extend to an overnight stay are considered overnight travel, other than WIAA athletic teams
participating in State tournaments/meets.
 
Overnight Travel
 
Overnight travel is defined as a field trip that involves one or more overnight stays. Overnight travel includes foreign
travel. The District views overnight travel outside of the District related to the curriculum/program as an adjunct to that
curriculum/program. As such it is an important feature of the overall educational program. The District recognizes the
importance of overnight travel outside of the District to amplify and enhance studies that occur in the schools' classrooms
through unique enrichment opportunities that are not available locally. Overnight travel shall first be approved by the ( X )
Principal ( ) District Administrator [END OF OPTIONS] in accordance with the District's overnight travel guidelines, ( X )
and then must be submitted to the Board for final approval.
 
Other District-Sponsored Trips
 
Other District-sponsored trips shall be defined as any planned, student-travel activity which is approved as part of the
District's total educational program, but not a part of a particular course and not expressly connected to an established
extra-curricular/co-curricular activity. These trips may include such trips as summer trip programs, youth service trips, and
other types of day trips that are organized by or through school staff or facilitated in some fashion through the District.
Any and all water related activities must be approved by the Principal and then must be submitted to the Board for final
approval..
 
[ X ] Trip Approval Process
 
No staff member may offer or lead any trip as a District-sponsored trip no matter the type unless the trip has been
approved in the manner prescribed in this policy.
 
[ X ] Any staff member may propose a trip by presenting details of the proposed trip to the principal. [END OF OPTION]
 
[ X ] Proposals shall include the details of the trip, the cost of the trip, identify any third party entities that will be involved
in the trip, identify the curriculum-based purpose of the trip, identify what students will be eligible to participate, and any
other pertinent information. If overnight, the proposal must describe how accommodations will be provided and how such
arrangements will be properly supervised. [END OF OPTION]
 
[ X ] Any trip included in curriculum guides shall be considered to have been approved in advance. All field trips not listed
in the curriculum guide must each be approved.
 
[ X ] A list of field trips may be approved annually. Each proposed field trip not so listed must be separately approved.
 
General Trip Provisions
 
[ ] The Board shall assume the costs of field trips; no regularly enrolled student shall be charged a fee for participation in
field trips ( ) except that the school may require reimbursement for the cost of transportation [END OF OPTION].
Students may be charged fees, however, for other District-sponsored trips which are not part of a course of study.
 
[ X ] Students may be charged fees for District-sponsored trips.
 
[ X ] Students on all District-sponsored trips remain under the supervision of this Board and are subject to the District's
administrative guidelines.
 
The Board does not endorse, support, or assume liability in any way for any staff member, volunteer, or parent of the
District who takes students on trips not approved by the Board or District Administrator. No staff member may solicit
students of this District for such trips within the facilities or on the school grounds of the District without permission from
the District Administrator. Permission to solicit neither grants nor implies approval of the trip. ( X ) Such approval must be
obtained in accordance with the District's Administrative Guidelines for Extended Trips. [END OF OPTION]
 



12/11/23, 11:43 AM BoardDocs® PL

https://go.boarddocs.com/wi/sdman/Board.nsf/Private?open&login# 3/3

[ ] The District Administrator shall prepare administrative guidelines for the operation of both field and other District-
sponsored trips, including athletic trips, which shall ensure:
 

A. ( ) the safety and well-being of students;
 

B. ( ) parental permission is sought and obtained before any student leaves the District on a trip;
 

C. ( ) each trip is properly planned and, if a field trip, is integrated with the curriculum, evaluated, and followed up by
appropriate activities which enhance its usefulness;
 

D. ( ) the effectiveness of field trip activities is judged in terms of demonstrated learning outcomes;
 

E. ( ) each trip is properly monitored;
 

F. ( ) student behavior while on all field trips complies with the Student Code of Conduct and on all other trips
complies with an approved code of conduct for the trip;
 

G. ( ) a copy of each student's Emergency Medical Authorization Form is in the possession of the staff member in
charge;
 

H. ( ) all necessary arrangements for transportation are made and any cost of transportation which will be charged to
participants is approved.

 
[ X ] A professional staff member shall not change a planned itinerary while the trip is in progress, except where the
health, safety, or welfare of the students in the staff member's charge is imperiled ( X ) or where changes or substitutions
beyond their control have frustrated the purpose of the trip [END OF OPTION].
 
In any instance in which the itinerary of a trip is altered, the professional staff member in charge shall notify the
administrative superior immediately.
 
Trips Not Sponsored by the District
 
No staff member, volunteer, coach, or other individual acting in some capacity for the District may solicit students of this
District to participate in any trip not sponsored by the District unless that staff individual has received approval of the ( )
principal ( X ) District Administrator [END OF OPTIONS] to promote such trips within the facilities or on the school
grounds. This includes summer trips abroad or other trips offered through a third-party organizer in which a  staff member,
volunteer, coach, or other individual acting in some capacity for the District is participating, as well as athletic activities
outside the District's athletic program.
 
If approval is granted to solicit students to participate, that individual must clearly communicate to parents that the trip is
not District-sponsored and that that individual is not participating within the staff individual's role representing the District.
Coordination and/or participation in such a program shall be consistent with Policy 3210 - Staff Ethics/Policy 4210 -
Support Staff Ethics.
 
© Neola 20222023

Legal 121.54(7), Wis. Stats.

Last Modified by Ryan Peterson on December 6, 2023



11/30/23, 11:38 AM BoardDocs® PL

https://go.boarddocs.com/wi/sdman/Board.nsf/Private?open&login# 1/2

Book Policy Manual

Section Vol. 32, No. 2, July 2023

Title Revised Policy - Vol. 32, No. 2, July 2023 - SELECTION OF INSTRUCTIONAL
MATERIALS AND EQUIPMENT

Code po2521

Status Proposed to Policy & Human Resources Committee

Adopted October 17, 2016

Last Reviewed December 6, 2023

Revised Policy - Vol. 32, No. 2
 
2521 - SELECTION OF INSTRUCTIONAL MATERIALS AND EQUIPMENT
 
The Board of Education of Education shall provide instructional materials and equipment, within budgetary constraints, to
implement the District's educational goals and objectives and to meet students' needs. The primary objective of such
instructional materials and equipment shall be to enrich, support, and implement the educational program of the school.
 
For purposes of this policy, the term "instructional materials" is defined as supplemental books, readings, activities, online
resources, and media distributed by a classroom teacher to students for the purpose of teaching the course content in
accordance with the Board-approved course of study (see Policy 2220 - Adoption of Courses of Study). Textbooks, as
defined in Policy 2510 - Adoption of Textbooks, are not included in this definition or policy. Learning assessment materials
designed or selected by the teacher, such as quizzes, tests, exams, worksheets, lesson plans, homework assignments, and
the like, are not selected by the Board and therefore not considered instructional materials for purposes of this policy.
 
The term "instructional equipment" is defined as tools and apparatus used by a classroom teacher for the purpose of
conveying the course content or by a student for the purpose of learning the course content. Examples of instructional
equipment include, but are not limited to, computing devices, projectors, screens, smartboards, chalkboards/whiteboards,
televisions, DVD/video players, overhead projectors, calculators, maps, microscopes, scientific laboratory items, balls,
physical activity equipment, musical equipment, career and technical education tools and appliances, art apparatus such as
kilns and easels, and the like. Expendable supplies with an expected lifespan of a school year or less, and purchased with a
corresponding WUFAR accounting code in accordance with DPI regulations, are not considered instructional equipment.
 
Any concerns by the public regarding instructional materials and equipment shall be reviewed in accordance with Policy
9130 - Public Requests, Suggestions, or Complaints.
 
The Board does not discriminate on the basis of any characteristic protected under State or Federal law including, but not
limited to race, color, religion, national origin, ancestry, creed, pregnancy, marital status, parental status, sexual
orientation, sex, (including transgendergender status, change of sex or gender identity), or physical, mental, emotional, or
learning disability ("Protected Classes") in its selection of instructional materials and equipment.
 

The District provides instructional materials to accomplish the goals and objectives of the school system. The Board
believes the District shall be responsible for providing instructional materials that meet the following standards:

 

A. Enrich and support the curriculum, taking into consideration the varied interests, abilities and maturity levels of the
students served.

 

B. Stimulate growth in factual knowledge, literary appreciation, aesthetic values and ethical standards.

 

C. Provide a background of information that will enable students to make intelligent judgments in their daily lives.

 



11/30/23, 11:38 AM BoardDocs® PL

https://go.boarddocs.com/wi/sdman/Board.nsf/Private?open&login# 2/2

 
 
( X ) The District Administrator shall develop administrative guidelines for the selection and maintenance of all educational
and instructional materials and equipment.
 
In addition s/heThe District Administrator shall periodically, provide for a systematic review, by the Board, of the District's
educationalinstructional resourcesmaterials and equipment in order to ensure that they are appropriate for the current
educational program. Any revisions that occur should be a result of the school improvement process.
 
[ X ] Students shall be held responsible for the cost of replacing any materials or properties which are lost or damaged
through their negligence.
 
[ X ] CostThe cost of materials may be charged for materials used in those activities beyond the basic curriculum in which
a student elects to participate, particularly in shop and art activities where the product becomes the property of the
student.
 
The Board does not discriminate on the basis of any characteristic protected under State or Federal law
including, but not limited to  race, color, religion, sex, national origin, age, marital status, veteran status,
parental status, sexual orientation, genetic information, or physical, mental, emotional, or learning disability
("Protected Classes") in its selection of instructional materials and equipment.
 
Any concerns by the public regarding instructional materials and equipment shall be reviewed in accordance with
Policy 9130 - Public Requests, Suggestions, or Complaints.
 
118.13, 120.13(5), 121.02(1)(h), Wis. Stats.
P.I. 9, 41, Wis. Adm. Code
Fourteenth Amendment, U.S. Constitution
20 U.S.C. Section 1681, Title IX of Education Amendments Act
20 U.S.C. Section 1701 et seq., Equal Educational Opportunities Act of 1974
29 U.S.C. Section 794, Rehabilitation Act of 1973
42 U.S.C. Section 2000 et seq., Civil Rights Act of 1964
42 U.S.C. Section 12101 et seq., The Americans with Disabilities Act of 1990
Vocational Education Program Guidelines for Eliminating Discrimination and Denial of Services, Department of Education,
Office of Civil Rights, 1979
 
© Neola 20142023

D. Provide a diversity of viewpoints so that students may develop, under guidance, the practice of analytical reading
and thinking.

 

E. Represent many religious, ethnic and cultural groups and show how these contributed to the American heritage.

 

F. Provide students with options for constructive use of leisure time.

 

G. Provide content that is valid, relevant, appropriate and up-to-date.

 

H. Contain format quality and variety.

Legal 118.13, 120.13(5), 121.02(1)(h), Wis. Stats.

P.I. 9, 41, Wis. Adm. Code

Fourteenth Amendment, U.S. Constitution

20 U.S.C. Section 1681, Title IX of Education Amendments Act

20 U.S.C. Section 1701 et seq., Equal Educational Opportunities Act of 1974

29 U.S.C. Section 794, Rehabilitation Act of 1973

42 U.S.C. Section 2000 et seq., Civil Rights Act of 1964

42 U.S.C. Section 12101 et seq., The Americans with Disabilities Act of 1990

Vocational Education Program Guidelines for Eliminating Discrimination and Denial of
Services, Department of Education, Office of Civil Rights, 1979

Last Modified by Ryan Peterson on November 30, 2023



11/30/23, 10:50 AM BoardDocs® PL

https://go.boarddocs.com/wi/sdman/Board.nsf/Private?open&login# 1/2

Book Policy Manual

Section Vol. 32, No. 2, July 2023

Title Revised Policy - Vol. 32, No. 2, July 2023 - CRIMINAL HISTORY RECORD CHECK AND
EMPLOYEE SELF-REPORTING REQUIREMENTS

Code po3121

Status Proposed to Policy & Human Resources Committee

Adopted May 16, 2016

Last Revised December 19, 2022

Last Reviewed December 6, 2023

Revised Policy - Vol. 32, No. 2
 
3121 - CRIMINAL HISTORY RECORD CHECK AND EMPLOYEE SELF-REPORTING REQUIREMENTS
 
Criminal History Record Check
 
To more adequately safeguard students and staff members, the Board of Education requires an inquiry into the
background of each applicant the District Administrator recommends for employment on the District's professional staff.
Any contracts with outsourced services, employment agencies, or temporary services must require such providers to
conduct and retain a criminal history record check of individuals providing service to the District.
 
Such an inquiry shall also be made for substitutes who may be employed by the District ( X ) and for volunteers assisting
District staff.
 
The District Administrator shall establish the necessary procedures for obtaining any criminal history on the applicant.
 
Should it be necessary to employ a person in order to maintain continuity of the program prior to receipt of the report, the
District Administrator may employ the person on a provisional basis until the report is received.
 
All information and records obtained from such inquiries are to be considered confidential and shall not be released or
disseminated to those not directly involved in evaluating the applicant's qualifications.
 
Employee Self-Reporting Requirement
 
All District employees shall notify the District Administrator as soon as possible, but no more than three (3) calendar days,
after any arrest, indictment, conviction, no contest or guilty plea, or other adjudication of the employee for any criminal or
municipal offense.
 
The requirement to report a conviction or deferred adjudication shall not apply to minor traffic offenses (e.g. non-moving
violations, failure to yield, failure to obey a traffic signal, unattended vehicle, illegal parking). However, an offense of
operating under the influence, revocation or suspension of license, and driving after revocation or suspension or any
moving violation must be reported if the employee drives or operates a District vehicle or piece of mobile equipment or
transports students or staff in any vehicle. Failure to report under this section may result in disciplinary action, up to and
including termination. All employment decisions by the District based on such information must comply with Wisconsin's
arrest and conviction discrimination law.
 
The requirement to report a conviction or deferred adjudication applies to major traffic offenses (e.g., operating under the
influence of an intoxicant or other drug, reckless driving, operating after suspension/revocation, failure to report an
accident, refusal to take a breath test). Minor traffic offenses (e.g., non-moving violations, speeding, failure to yield,
failure to obey a traffic signal, unattended vehicle, illegal parking) do not need to be reported.
 
However, if an employee drives or operates a District vehicle or piece of mobile equipment or transports students or staff,
other than the staff member's own family, in any vehicle they must report any traffic offense (not including parking
tickets).
 



11/30/23, 10:50 AM BoardDocs® PL

https://go.boarddocs.com/wi/sdman/Board.nsf/Private?open&login# 2/2

Failure to report under this section may result in disciplinary action, up to and including termination. All employment
decisions by the District based on such information must comply with Wisconsin's arrest and conviction discrimination law.
 
© Neola 20222023

Legal 111.335, Wis. Stats.

Last Modified by Ryan Peterson on November 30, 2023



11/30/23, 11:48 AM BoardDocs® PL

https://go.boarddocs.com/wi/sdman/Board.nsf/Private?open&login# 1/2

Book Policy Manual

Section Vol. 32, No. 2, July 2023

Title Revised Policy - Vol. 32, No. 2, July 2023 - STAFF DISCIPLINE

Code po3139

Status Proposed to Policy & Human Resources Committee

Last Reviewed December 6, 2023

Revised Policy - Vol. 32. No. 2
 
3139 - STAFF DISCIPLINE
 
The Board of Education retains the right and the responsibility to manage the workforce. When the discipline of a staff
member becomes necessary, such action shall be consistent with the requirements of any applicable Board policy, and
State and Federal law. The District Administrator may issue discipline when s/he deemsdeemed appropriate; however,
student performance on examinations may not form the basis for staff discipline. This policy does not cover decisions to
terminate or nonrenew a staff member's employment or accepting a staff member's resignation (see Policy 3140 - Non-
Renewal, Resignation, and Termination).
 
Investigation of Possible Criminal Activity
 
The District may be required to investigate potential wrongdoings on the part of its employees, and such wrongdoing in
some cases may involve potential criminal conduct and/or co-occurring law enforcement investigation. Such investigations
maystill require that the employee truthfully answer questions relating to the activity, and refusal to answer may result in
discipline up to and including termination. Employees required to respond to questions regarding potential criminal activity
are permitted to do so without waiving any Constitutional rights against self-incrimination that may apply during the
course of a criminal investigation. As appropriate, employees will be informed of this right, through what is often referred
to as a "Garrity Warning". Employees may be required to answer such questions. Failure to cooperate in an investigation
may result in discipline, up to and including termination of the employee. In cases where this possible wrongdoing may
involve criminal activity, the District shall informThe Garrity Warning informs the employee that the employee is required
to respond to questions posed during the investigation and that answers to questions relating to the employee's conduct
may be used by the District for determining appropriate discipline, but will not be provided to law enforcement officials in
the course of their independent criminal investigation, unless otherwise required by law. Employees must also be informed
that refusal to answer questions may be considered in determining discipline. (see Form 3139 F1 - "Garrity" Warning)
 
[ X ] OPTION #1
 
Staff may be disciplined for violations of Board policy or for other failures to meet the expectations and obligations of their
position. Discipline may only be issued when just cause exists to issue discipline. Just cause as used in this policy shall
mean that the District has concluded through a preponderance of evidence that a violation has occurred and the level of
discipline is appropriate under the circumstances, considering the employee’s disciplinary record, and other pertinent
factors.
 
[ ] OPTION #2
 
Staff may be disciplined for violations of Board policy or for other failures to meet the expectations and obligations of their
position. No staff member may be subject to arbitrary or capricious disciplinary action, or disciplinary action that is
otherwise in violation of law or public policy.
 
[END OF OPTIONS]
 
[ X ] OPTION #1
 
Disciplinary action will normally follow a progressive discipline model that is designed to correct inappropriate conduct on
the part of staff members. Progressive discipline will generally progress as follows:
 

A. oral reprimand, with a written record placed in the employee file;
 

B. written warning;



11/30/23, 11:48 AM BoardDocs® PL

https://go.boarddocs.com/wi/sdman/Board.nsf/Private?open&login# 2/2

 
C. suspension, the length of which is determined by the administration to effect the corrective goal of discipline; and

 
D. termination, pursuant to the process established for termination as set forth in Policy 3140 - Non-Renewal,

Resignation, and Termination.
 
The District Administrator may skip one or all steps in the progressive discipline model when s/hethey deems that the
severity of the offense requires more substantial discipline, or in the case of termination, where the District Administrator
determines that the conduct is so egregious as to require the staff members immediate termination of employment,
consistent with the process established  for termination as set forth in Policy 3140 - Non-Renewal, Resignation, and
Termination.
 
[ ] OPTION #2
 
The District Administrator may issue discipline to staff members when s/he deemsdeemed appropriate. The level of
discipline may range from oral reprimands to suspension or terminationand may lead to termination consistent with Policy
3140 - Non-Renewal, Resignation, and Termination. consistent with the process established   for termination as set forth in
Policy 3140. The level of discipline shall be consistent with the seriousness of the offense as determined by the District
Administrator.
 
[END OF OPTION 2]
 
(  X ) Management efforts engaged to improve an employee's job performance or address specific performance concerns,
including letters of direction, performance improvement plans, mandatory training, etc., are not disciplinary in nature and
are not subject to this policy or to Policy 3340 - Grievance Procedure.
 
[END OF OPTIONS]
 
All instances of staff discipline are subject to the employee grievance procedure, set forth in Policy 3340 - Grievance
Procedure.
 
© Neola 201923

Legal 66.0509(1m)(a), Wis. Stats.

Franklin v. City of Evanston, 384 F.3d 838 (7th Cir. 2004)

Garrity v. New Jersey, 385 U.S. 493 (1967)

Last Modified by Ryan Peterson on November 30, 2023



11/30/23, 11:06 AM BoardDocs® PL

https://go.boarddocs.com/wi/sdman/Board.nsf/Private?open&login# 1/7

Book Policy Manual

Section Vol. 32, No. 2, July 2023

Title Revised Policy - Vol. 32, No. 2, July 2023 - FAMILY & MEDICAL LEAVE OF ABSENCE
("FMLA")

Code po3430.01

Status Proposed to Policy & Human Resources Committee

Last Reviewed December 6, 2023

Revised Policy - Vol. 32, No. 2
 
3430.01 - FAMILY & MEDICAL LEAVE OF ABSENCE ("FMLA")
 
Introduction
 
In accordance with Federal and State law, the Board of Education will provide family and medical leave to professional
staff. The Board's Family and Medical Leave Act policy is intended to conform to and comply with, but not exceed, the
requirements of the Federal Family and Medical Leave Act of 1993 ("FMLA") and the Wisconsin Family and Medical Leave
Act ("WFMLA"). To the extent that this policy is ambiguous or conflicts with the FMLA or the WFMLA, the FMLA and the
WFMLA will govern.
 
Family and medical leave taken under this policy may be covered by Federal law, State law, or both. When leave taken by
a staff member under this policy is governed by both Federal and State law, the more generous provision will control in the
event of a conflict. However, when leaves are governed by State or Federal law, but not both, the applicable law will
control under this policy. In this regard, staff members should note that certain leaves may be covered by both State and
Federal law for only a portion of the leave. To the extent permitted by law, leave under the FMLA, leave under the WFMLA
and leave granted under the Board's other policies will run concurrently (at the same time).
 
Eligibility Requirements
 
To be eligible for leave under the FMLA, a staff member must have been employed by the Board for at least twelve (12)
months in the past seven (7) years and must have worked at least 1,250 hours during the twelve (12) month period
immediately preceding the commencement of the requested leave. All full-time instructional staff members are deemed to
meet the 1,250 hour requirement.
 
To be eligible for leave under the WFMLA, a staff member must have been employed for more than fifty-two (52)
consecutive weeks and have worked or been paid for at least 1,000 hours in the preceding fifty-two (52) weeks. The kind
and amount of leave available to the staff member under this policy, as well as the staff member's rights during leave,
depend upon whether the staff member satisfies the above requirements.
 
Qualifying Reasons for Leave
 
The Board provides family and medical leave for eligible staff members under the following circumstances:
 

A. for the birth of the eligible staff member's child and to care for a newborn child
 

B. for placement with the eligible staff member of a child for adoption or foster care
 

C. to care for an eligible staff member's spouse, child or parent with a "serious health condition"
 
The term "child" generally includes a legal ward or a biological, adopted foster or stepchild. For leaves governed
exclusively by the FMLA, the term also includes a son or daughter for whom the staff member has assumed the
day-to-day obligations of a parent. A child must be either under eighteen (18) years of age or unable to care for
himself/herselfthemself due to a physical or mental disability or, for leave under State law only, unable to care for
himself/herselfthemself due to a serious health condition.
 



11/30/23, 11:06 AM BoardDocs® PL

https://go.boarddocs.com/wi/sdman/Board.nsf/Private?open&login# 2/7

"Parent" includes a staff member's spouse's legal guardian only if the staff member is requesting leave under the
WFMLA.
 
"Spouse" includes a qualified domestic partner for leaves governed by the WFMLA. Domestic partnerships must be
registered with the county of residence and proof of such registration may be requested prior to approval of leave.
Unregistered domestic partners must demonstrate that they are 1) both over age eighteen (18); 2) not in a
domestic partnership or marriage with another individual; 3) they share a common residence; 4) they are not
related in any way that would prohibit marriage under Wisconsin law; 5) they consider each other to be immediate
family members and agree to be responsible for the other's living expense.
 

D. because of a serious health condition that makes the eligible staff member unable to perform the essential
functions of his/herthe position
 

E. because of a qualifying exigency resulting from active military service by the employee's spouse, son, daughter, or
parent in covered active duty or call to covered active duty in the United States Armed Forces including the National
Guard and Reserves
 
Qualifying exigencies, as defined by Federal regulations, include: 1) short-notice deployment; 2) military events
and related activities; 3) childcare and school activities; 4) financial and legal arrangements; 5) counseling; 6) rest
and recuperation; (maximum fifteen (15) calendar days); 7) post-deployment activities; 8) caring for a military
member's parent who is incapable of self-care when the care is necessitated by the member's covered active duty;
and 9) additional activities not encompassed in the other categories, but agreed to by the employer and employee.
Covered active duty means deployment with the Armed Forces to a foreign country.
 

F. to care for a service member who is the employee's parent, spouse, child or next of kin who, while on active
military duty, sustains a serious injury or illness or aggravation of a pre-existing illness or injury while in the line of
duty, while on covered active duty in the United States Armed Forces, including the National Guard and Reserves, in
the line of duty which renders the service member medically unfit to perform the member's office, grade, rank, or
rating
 
Covered active duty means deployment with the Armed Forces to a foreign country. This leave is also available to
care for veterans of the United States Armed Forces, including the National Guard and Reserves, provided the
veteran was a service member at any time within the five (5) years prior to the start of the treatment, recuperation
or therapy. In accordance with applicable regulations, a veteran's serious injury or illness incurred or aggravated in
the line of active duty can also be manifested by: 1) a physical or mental condition with a VA Service Disability
Rating of 50% or greater and is the condition precipitating the need for leave; or 2) a physical or mental condition
that substantially impairs the ability to secure or substantially follow a gainful occupation, or would do so absent
treatment; or 3) an injury, including psychological, for which the veteran has been enrolled in the Dept. of V.A.
Program of Comprehensive Assistance for Family Care Givers. Leave is available for up to twenty-six (26) weeks in
a twelve (12) month period. This type of leave is available for serious injury or illness which results in:
 

1. inpatient medical treatment, recuperation or therapy;
 

2. outpatient services at a military treatment facility or assignment to a unit established for the purpose of
providing command and control of service members receiving outpatient medical services; or
 

3. assignment to the temporary disability retired list.
 
The maximum twenty-six (26) weeks of Federal leave to care for a service member includes, and is not in addition
to, all other FMLA leave. In other words, employees may not take more than a total of twenty-six (26) weeks of
FMLA leave during a single twelve (12) month period for any qualifying reasons under the FMLA. For instance, if an
employee takes the maximum twelve (12) weeks of Federal FMLA leave for his/hertheir own serious health
condition, the employee may then only take fourteen (14) weeks of FMLA leave within that same twelve (12) month
period to care for a military family member injured in the line of duty.

 
The District Administrator will determine whether an employee’s request for leave qualifies under one (1) of the above
categories.
 
Amount of Leave Available
 
Under the FMLA, if the staff member satisfies the eligibility requirements set forth above, s/hethe staff member is entitled
to a total of twelve (12) work weeks of leave in a ( X ) a calendar year ( ) a fiscal year running from July 1 to the
following June 30 ( ) a twelve (12) month period marked by each employees' date of hire ( ) a rolling twelve (12) month
period measured backward from the date of usage ( ) a twelve (12) month period measured forward from the date of any
employee's first FMLA usage [END OF CALENDAR OPTIONS] for any of the reasons stated above, with the exception of
leave to care for an injured service member, which is provided as described in (F) above. [DRAFTING NOTE: If a
decision is made to change the manner of counting Federal leave entitlement usage, the change must be
made following at least sixty (60) days notice to employees and in a manner such that any employee
qualifying for leave during the transition period is afforded whichever counting method during the leave that
affords the employee the greatest benefit.]
 
( ) Spouses who are both employed by the District may take a combined total of twelve (12) weeks of leave for the birth
or placement of a child for adoption or foster care. [DRAFTING NOTE: This option is available under Federal law,
but should only be selected upon the advice of District legal counsel for compliance with Wisconsin's marital
status discrimination law.]
 
Under the WFMLA, if the staff member satisfies the eligibility requirements set forth above, s/hethe staff member is
entitled to ten (10) work weeks of leave in a calendar year as follows:
 

A. a total of six (6) weeks of leave for the birth of his/herthe natural child and/or the placement of a child with the
staff member for, or as a precondition to, adoption;



11/30/23, 11:06 AM BoardDocs® PL

https://go.boarddocs.com/wi/sdman/Board.nsf/Private?open&login# 3/7

 
B. a total of two (2) weeks of leave to care for a covered family member with a serious health condition; and

 
C. a total of two (2) weeks of leave due to the staff member’s serious health condition.

 
Board policy calls for concurrent Federal/State leave coverage whenever a staff member is eligible for leave under both the
FMLA and WFMLA to the extent available under the law. All periods of absence from work due to or necessitated by
USERRA-covered service is counted in determining an employee's eligibility for FMLA leave.
 
Definitions of Serious Health Conditions
 
In conjunction with the certification provided by a healthcare provider, the Board reserves the right to determine whether
an illness, injury, impairment or physical or mental condition constitutes a serious health condition entitling a staff member
to family or medical leave under State or Federal law.
 
In general, a "serious health condition" under this policy means an illness, injury, impairment, or physical or mental
condition that involves one (1) of the following:
 

A. Hospital Care
 
Inpatient care (i.e., an overnight stay) in a hospital or other care facility, including any period of incapacity or
subsequent treatment in connection with or consequent to such inpatient care.
 

B. Absence Plus Treatment
 
A period of incapacity of more than three (3) consecutive calendar days* (including any subsequent treatment or
period of incapacity relating to the same condition), that also involves:
 

1. treatment two (2) or more times by a healthcare provider, a nurse, physician’s assistant or physical
therapist under a healthcare provider’s supervision, order or referral as appropriate within thirty (30) days
of the first date of incapacity; or
 

2. treatment by a healthcare provider on at least one (1) occasion which results in a regimen of continuing
treatment under the supervision of the healthcare provider and occurs within seven (7) days of the first day
of incapacity.

 
*Under the WFMLA, leave may also be available for a "serious health condition" of less than three (3) consecutive
days in duration.
 

C. Pregnancy
 
Any period of incapacity due to pregnancy, or for prenatal care.
 

D. Chronic Conditions Requiring Treatment
 
A chronic condition which:
 

1. requires periodic visits of at least two (2) times per year for treatment by a healthcare provider, or by a
nurse or physician’s assistant under a healthcare provider’s supervision;
 

2. continues over an extended period of time (including recurring episodes of a single underlying condition);
and
 

3. may cause episodic rather than continuing periods of incapacity (e.g., asthma, diabetes, epilepsy, etc.).
 

E. Permanent/Long-Term Conditions Requiring Supervision
 
A period of incapacity which is permanent or long-term due to a condition for which treatment may not be effective.
The staff member or his/hertheir family member must be under the continuing supervision of, but need not be
receiving active treatment by, a healthcare provider (e.g., Alzheimer’s disease, a severe stroke, or the terminal
stages of a disease). The continued existence of such a chronic condition is subject to certification no more than
once every six (6) months.
 

F. Multiple Treatments (Non-Chronic Conditions)

Any period of absence to receive multiple treatments (including any period of recovery therefrom) by a healthcare
provider or by a provider of healthcare services under orders of, or on referral by, a healthcare provider, either for
restorative surgery after an accident or other injury, or for a condition that would likely result in a period of
incapacity of more than three (3) consecutive calendar days in the absence of medical intervention or treatment,
including: cancer (chemotherapy, radiation, etc.); severe arthritis (physical therapy); or kidney disease (dialysis).

 
Required Staff Member Notice
 
The staff member must provide the District Administrator with notice in a reasonable and practicable manner before leave
taken under this policy is to begin, if the need for leave is foreseeable (e.g., an expected birth, placement or adoption or
foster care, or planned medical treatment for the staff member's own serious health condition or that of a family member).
When requesting partial or intermittent leave in connection with childbirth or adoption under the WFMLA, the staff member
must provide at least as much notice as required for taking other non-emergency or non-medical leave, as well as a
definite schedule for the leave. Where advance notice is not practical due to uncertainty as to when leave will be required



11/30/23, 11:06 AM BoardDocs® PL

https://go.boarddocs.com/wi/sdman/Board.nsf/Private?open&login# 4/7

to begin, a change in circumstances or medical emergency, notice must be given as soon as practical. Leave will be
accounted for in increments no greater than the smallest increment used for other similar leaves, but in no event greater
than one (1) hour increments. Leave entitlement will not be reduced by more than the amount of leave actually taken.
 
[ X ] Staff members must provide an explanation as to why proper advance notice was not provided in such cases and
may be required to verify the explanation. Notice that was not provided timely without reasonable explanation may result
in the denial of the leave request.
 
The staff member must provide a written request for leave, the reasons for the requested leave, and the anticipated
beginning date and duration of the leave by submitting a FMLA leave request form to the District Administrator (forms
available from the U.S. Department of Labor).
 
When planning medical treatment, the staff member should consult with his/hertheir supervisor and make a reasonable
effort to schedule the leave so as not to disrupt unduly the District’s operations, subject to the approval of the staff
member’s healthcare provider. The staff member is ordinarily expected to consult with his/hertheir supervisor in order to
work out a treatment schedule which best suits his/herthe staff member's needs, as well as the District’s.
 
If a staff member must take more leave than originally anticipated, s/hethe staff member must notify the District
Administrator within two (2) business days of learning of the circumstances necessitating the extension.
 
Certification By Healthcare Provider
 
If a staff member requests leave due to his/hertheir own serious health condition or the serious health condition of
his/herthe staff member's spouse, child or parent, the Board requires that the leave request be supported by certification
issued and signed by the healthcare provider for the individual with a serious health condition. For service member leave,
any certification permitted under 29 C.F.R. 825.310 shall be allowed. The Board reserves the right to certify all information
permitted by law.
 
The staff member must provide the fully completed certification to the District Administrator within fifteen (15) calendar
days of the date that the certification is provided to the staff member, unless it is not practicable to do so despite the staff
member's diligent, good faith efforts. If it is not practicable to return the certification within fifteen (15) calendar days, it
must be returned to the District Administrator as soon as practicable.
 
If the staff member fails to submit the certification, the leave or continuation of leave may be delayed until the certification
is submitted. Further, any absence prior to the date the certification is furnished may be considered unauthorized. A staff
member who is absent without authorization may be disciplined, up to and including termination.
 
The District Administrator will give a staff member a reasonable opportunity to cure any deficiency in a certification, but
not fewer than seven (7) calendar days. It is the responsibility of the staff member or family member with a serious health
condition to use a healthcare provider who will complete and furnish an accurate certification in a timely manner.
 
A member of the administration, other than the staff member's direct supervisor, may contact the healthcare provider to
clarify illegible answers and to authenticate the certification. If the certification is incomplete or otherwise unclear, the
administrator must request that the employee obtain updated or completed information from the healthcare provider and
return it directly to the administrator.
 
If the District Administrator doubts the validity of a certification, the District Administrator may require, at the Board’s
expense, that the staff member obtain a second opinion from a Board-designated provider, not regularly employed by the
Board. If the opinions of the staff member's and the Board’s healthcare providers differ, a third, final and binding opinion
may be obtained. The staff member must cooperate in obtaining a second or third opinion including facilitating the transfer
of pertinent records to the subsequent healthcare providers.
 
The District Administrator may request re-certifications on a periodic basis as permitted by law.
 
Designation of Leave
 
In all circumstances, it is the responsibility of the District Administrator to designate leave, whether paid or unpaid, as
FMLA leave and to give the staff member notice of the designation and his/hertheir rights and responsibilities under this
policy.
 
The District Administrator will give the staff member the notice on each occasion that s/hethe staff member notifies
his/hertheir supervisor of the need for leave that may be FMLA-qualifying, including, but not limited to, when the staff
member requests another type of leave for an FMLA-qualifying reason. In the case of intermittent or reduced schedule
leave, only one notice will be provided unless the circumstances regarding the leave have changed.
 
Absent extenuating circumstances, the District Administrator will provide to the employee a "Designation Notice" stating
whether a request for leave has been approved or denied within five (5) business days. At a minimum, the staff member
will be verbally notified whether leave is being designated as FMLA leave within five (5) business days of the date the staff
member provides information to the District Administrator sufficient to enable him/herthe District Administrator to
determine that the leave is being taken for an FMLA-qualifying reason.
 
The District Administrator will confirm the verbal notice with the written notice as soon as feasible, but no later than the
first payday following the verbal notice (unless the payday is less than one (1) week after the verbal notice, in which case
the notice must be no later than the subsequent payday).
 
Manner In Which Leave Can Be Taken
 
Leave available under this policy may be taken in full and, under certain circumstances, may also be taken intermittently
or on a reduced leave schedule. Intermittent leave is leave taken in separate blocks of time due to a single qualifying
reason. Reduced schedule leave is leave that reduces the usual number of working hours per day or week. The staff
member must consult with his/her supervisor and make a reasonable effort to schedule intermittent or reduced schedule
leave so it does not unduly disrupt the District’s operations.



11/30/23, 11:06 AM BoardDocs® PL

https://go.boarddocs.com/wi/sdman/Board.nsf/Private?open&login# 5/7

 
When leave is governed only by the FMLA intermittent or reduced schedule leave to be with the employee's newborn child,
or after the placement of a child with the employee for adoption or foster care, requires the District's agreement, unless
the intermittent or reduced schedule leave is due to a serious health condition. Intermittent or reduced schedule leave due
to a serious health condition must be medically necessary. Medically necessary means there must be a medical need for
the leave and the leave can be best accommodated through an intermittent or reduced leave schedule, as certified by the
healthcare provider in the Certification.
 
When leave is governed only by the FMLA, the District Administrator may offer a staff member a temporary transfer to
another position for which s/hethe staff member is qualified with equivalent pay and benefits that better accommodates
the intermittent or reduced schedule leave when the need for leave is foreseeable based on planned medical treatment or
the staff member takes such leave for the birth of a child or for placement of a child for adoption or foster care. The staff
member may reject this offer in which case there will be no adverse effect on the leave or entitlement to return to the
same or similar position following leave. Any time spent by the staff member in an alternative position will not count
against the employee's FMLA leave entitlement.
 
Instructional staff members (i.e. individuals whose principal function is to teach and instruct students in a class, a small
group, or an individual setting) who request intermittent leave or a reduced-leave schedule governed only by the FMLA,
which would exceed twenty percent (20%) of the total number of working days over the period of anticipated leave, must
elect either to:
 

A. take leave for a period or periods of a particular duration, not greater than the duration of the planned treatment;
or
 

B. transfer temporarily to an available alternative position offered by the District Administrator for which the
instructional staff member is qualified, and that has equivalent pay and benefits and that better accommodates the
recurring periods of leave than the staff member’s regular position.

 
The District Administrator may require instructional staff members who take Federal leave near the end of an academic
term to extend their leave through the end of the academic term if:
 

A. the leave is commenced more than five (5) weeks from the end of the term but the employee intends to return
during the final three (3) weeks of the term and the leave is longer than three (3) weeks in duration;
 

B. the leave is commenced within five (5) weeks of the end of the term and the employee intends to return during the
final two (2) weeks of the term and the leave period was at least two (2) weeks in duration; or
 

C. the leave commences within three (3) weeks of the end of a term and the leave was at least five (5) working days
in duration.

 
Staff members whose leave is extended at the end of an academic term under this section will be charged against their
FMLA entitlement only the time that they required for purposes of their leave.
 
Coordinating Leaves - Substitution
 
Generally, leave taken under this policy is unpaid. However, for leave governed exclusively by the FMLA, the staff member
( X ) must ( ) may [END OF OPTION] use the following leaves provided by the Board, if available:
 

A. vacation or personal leave, if available, for any family or medical leave;
 

B. accrued paid family leave (i.e., paid leave covering the particular circumstances for which the staff member is
seeking leave), if available, for birth, adoption, or to care for a seriously ill family member; and
 

C. accrued paid medical or sick leave, if available, to care for a seriously ill family member, or for the staff member’s
own serious health condition.

 
A staff member may not substitute paid leave for unpaid FMLA leave taken under this policy in any situation where the
Board would not normally provide such paid leave.
 
For leaves governed by the WFMLA, a staff member may substitute paid or unpaid leave, which s/he havethe staff member
has earned and accrued, for leave taken under this policy, if available. The Board reserves the right to deny substitution as
permitted by law.
 
Any paid leave substituted for unpaid FMLA leave or WFMLA leave will decrease, in whole or in part, the staff member’s
FMLA and/or WFMLA leave entitlement.
 
Continuation of Benefits
 
A staff member will remain eligible for group health insurance benefits under the Board’s group health plan during leave
taken under this policy under the same conditions as coverage would have been provided if the staff member had been
actively employed during the entire leave. However, the staff member has the option of choosing not to retain such
coverage during family or medical leave.
 
During leave taken under this policy, the Board will continue to pay any portion of group health insurance premiums for
coverage that it was responsible for paying immediately prior to the leave as required by law. The staff member will be
responsible for paying his/hertheir portion of health insurance premiums regardless of whether his/her family and medical
leave is paid or unpaid. It is the staff member’s responsibility to make arrangements with the District Administrator for
making premium payments for group health insurance during leaves.
 



11/30/23, 11:06 AM BoardDocs® PL

https://go.boarddocs.com/wi/sdman/Board.nsf/Private?open&login# 6/7

To the extent permitted by law, the Board reserves the right to require the staff member to place up to eight (8) weeks of
health insurance premiums in escrow prior to leave, or to discontinue coverage if such premiums are received more than
thirty (30) days late.
 
The staff member’s entitlement to benefits other than group health benefits during a period of family or medical leave is
determined by the Board’s policy regarding provision of such benefits when a staff member is on other types of leave.
 
If a staff member fails to return to work or fails to remain at work for a period provided under the law, the District may
recover its portion of the premiums paid for medical benefit coverage during the leave, unless the reason for the staff
member's failure to return to work is due to the continuation of the serious health condition or the onset of a new serious
health condition.
 
Accrual of Benefits
 
The use of leave under this policy will not result in the loss of any employment benefit that accrued prior to the start of the
staff member’s leave. A staff member will not continue to accrue seniority or any other employment benefit during leave
taken under this policy, except that such benefit shall accrue if the staff member elects to use other leaves provided by the
Board, and if such benefits would normally accrue during such leave.
 
Employment Restoration
 
A staff member will generally be reinstated to the same position s/hethey held when leave began or a position with
equivalent pay, benefits, and other terms and conditions of employment, if such position remains available, and the staff
member possesses the ability to perform the essential functions of the job satisfactorily, with or without any
accommodation that may be required by the Americans With Disabilities Act of 1990. The staff member, however, has no
greater right to reinstatement or benefits than if s/hethey had been actively employed during the leave. Further, if the staff
member gives unequivocal notice of intent not to return to work, s/hethe staff member is not entitled to be reinstated.
 
A staff member who exceeds his/hertheir FMLA/WFMLA leave, but remains off work under a non-FMLA/WFMLA leave policy,
is not entitled to reinstatement to the same or a similar position under the FMLA/WFMLA; however, the staff member may
be eligible to be reinstated under the non-FMLA/WFMLA leave policy.
 
A staff member who is able to return to work prior to the expiration of leave must notify his/hertheir supervisor
immediately. Upon such notice, the District Administrator will promptly reinstate the staff member to active employment,
provided s/hethe staff member has the present skill and ability to perform the essential functions of his/hertheir job
satisfactorily with or without accommodation. However, the reinstatement need not occur until the third business day
following the staff member's notification of his/hertheir ability to return to work.
 
Fitness For Duty Certification
 
If leave is due to the staff member’s serious health condition, s/hethey must present certification to return to work to
his/hertheir supervisor upon returning to work. The staff member’s principal attending physician must complete the
certification. The certification must indicate that the staff member has been released to return to work. It must also
specify any physical or other limitation on the staff member’s ability to perform regular or other duties and the duration of
the limitations. No certification will be required when the staff member returns from intermittent leave, except as
otherwise permitted or required by the Americans With Disabilities Act of 1990.
 
The certification will be limited to the particular health condition that caused the staff member’s need for leave, except as
otherwise permitted by the Americans With Disabilities Act of 1990. If the staff member is an "individual with a disability"
within the meaning of the ADA, any fitness-for-duty physical examination or inquiry by the District will be job-related and
consistent with business necessity.
 
Reinstatement may be delayed until the staff member submits the certification. Under such circumstances, if the staff
member does not promptly provide a certification or qualify for another leave of absence, s/hethe staff member may be
disciplined, up to and including termination.
 
With the staff member’s permission, the Board’s healthcare provider may contact the staff member’s healthcare provider
to clarify and authenticate the certification, but no additional information may be requested or required, and the staff
member’s return to work may not be delayed while the contact is being made. No second or third fitness for duty
certification may be required.
 
Confidentiality
 
All medical information relating to leave, whether written or verbal, shall be kept confidential to the maximum extent
possible. All medical documents including, but not limited to, medical certifications and return-to-work statements must be
maintained in confidential, secure files separate from personnel files.
 
No Discrimination
 
Leave under this policy will not be used as a negative factor in employment actions, such as hiring, promotions,
disciplinary actions or under attendance policies.
 
Miscellaneous
 
The District Administrator may designate another administrator to perform his/hertheir duties under this policy.
 
A staff member who fraudulently obtains leave under this policy is not protected by this policy’s job restoration or
maintenance of health benefits provisions.
 
The District Administrator shall see that the policy is posted properly.
 
The District Administrator shall provide a copy of the policy upon the request of a staff member.



11/30/23, 11:06 AM BoardDocs® PL

https://go.boarddocs.com/wi/sdman/Board.nsf/Private?open&login# 7/7

 
© Neola 20182023

Legal 29 U.S.C. 2601 et. seq.

29 C.F.R. Part 825

103.10, Wis. Stats.

Wis. Admin. Department of Workforce Development (DWD) 225

National Defense Authorization Act of 2010

Last Modified by Ryan Peterson on November 30, 2023



12/11/23, 11:44 AM BoardDocs® PL

https://go.boarddocs.com/wi/sdman/Board.nsf/Private?open&login# 1/7

Book Policy Manual

Section Vol. 32, No. 2, July 2023

Title Revised Policy - Vol. 32, No. 2, July 2023 - OPEN ENROLLMENT PROGRAM (INTER-
DISTRICT)

Code po5113

Status Proposed to Policy & Human Resources Committee

Last Reviewed December 6, 2023

Revised Policy - Vol. 32, No. 2
 
5113 - OPEN ENROLLMENT PROGRAM (Inter-District)
 
The District will participate in the Wisconsin Public School Open Enrollment Program in accordance with applicable law and
the relevant policies and rules of the District, all as amended from time-to-time.
 
[ X ] DEFINITIONS
 
The following definitions will apply to the District's Open Enrollment Program.
 

A. Nonresident District

A school district located in Wisconsin which is not a student's district of residence.
 

B. Nonresident Student

A student who does not reside within the geographic boundaries of the District and who seeks admission to this
District under the Open Enrollment Program.
 

C. Tuition Student

A nonresident student who attends school in the District and pays tuition in accordance with State law.
 

D. Full-Time Enrollment

A student is enrolled for the entire school day and receives all required education in this District.
 

E. Class Size

The District's determination of the maximum number of students who can be accommodated properly in a
particular classroom without jeopardizing the quality of the instructional program and mitigating circumstances for
a particular school, class, or program, including enrollment projections established by the District Administrator.
 

F. Program Size

The enrollment or size restrictions in a specific program within a class or building. The District reserves the
exclusive right to establish program size and to limit enrollment based upon the capability to properly allocate
available resources, create and maintain a proper learning environment, and comply with contracts, grants, and



12/11/23, 11:44 AM BoardDocs® PL

https://go.boarddocs.com/wi/sdman/Board.nsf/Private?open&login# 2/7

applicable laws and regulations.
 

G. Resident Student

A student who is a resident of this District and is consequently entitled to attend school in this District in
accordance with Policy 5111 - Eligibility of Resident/Nonresident Students.
 

H. Absences (Excused and Unexcused)

See Policy 5200 - Attendance.As defined by Policy 5200 - Attendance.

 
[END OF OPTION]
 
FULL-TIME OPEN ENROLLMENT
 

A. Annual Space Determinations

During a January meeting, the Board of Education shall establish the availability of space by determining the
number of regular education and special education spaces in the schools, programs, classes, or grades. In setting
space availability, the Board may choose to set no limitations or may set limits on availability using the following
criteria:
 

1. District practices, policies, procedures, or other factors regarding class size ranges for particular programs or
classes.
 

2. District practices, policies, procedures, or other factors regarding faculty-student ratio ranges for particular
programs, classes, or buildings.
 

3. Enrollment projections, which account for factors that include but are not necessarily limited to, likely short
and long term economic development in the community, housing starts, current and future needs for special
programs, laboratories, or other initiatives.

[ X ] Option 1

In establishing current enrollment numbers for open enrollment availability purposes, the Board does not
guarantee open enrollment approvals to any non-resident students.

[END OF OPTION 1]

[ ] Option 2

In establishing current enrollment numbers for open enrollment availability purposes, the Board shall include
the following as guaranteed open enrollment approvals:   
 

a. ( ) Students attending the District for whom tuition is paid by written agreement with the resident
district under 121.78(1)(a), Wis. Stats.
 

b. ( ) All currently attending students.
 

c. ( ) All siblings of currently attending students.
 

[END OF OPTION 2]
 

I.  
J. Truancy and Habitual Truancy

See Policy 5200 - Attendance.As defined by Policy 5200 - Attendance.
K.  
L. Part of the School Day

See Policy 5200 - Attendance.As defined by Policy 5200 - Attendance.
M.  
N. Tardiness

See Policy 5200 - Attendance.As defined by Policy 5200 - Attendance.



12/11/23, 11:44 AM BoardDocs® PL

https://go.boarddocs.com/wi/sdman/Board.nsf/Private?open&login# 3/7

[Drafting Note for options b and c: If a nonresident school board’s open enrollment policy
guarantees approval of currently-attending students and siblings of currently-attending
students, it means that all applications for these students must be approved. If a student with a
disability is a currently-attending student or a sibling of a currently-attending student and the
Board guarantees approval of either or both of those groups of students, the Board must approve
their open enrollment application, even if the Board has determined that there is no space
available in a specific program for students with disabilities, but may be able to deny the
application if a particular service required in the student's IEP is not available in the District.]

 
4. ( ) If the District is a union high school district, the number of students who have applied under 118.51(3)

(a)  or (3m)(a), Wis. Stats., and are currently attending an underlying elementary school district.
 

B. Processing of Open Enrollment Applications

A parent of a nonresident student may submit an application to attend school in the District during the applicable
regular open enrollment period or through the alternative open enrollment process. The application must be
submitted using the form designated by the Wisconsin Department of Public Instruction.

Upon receipt of an application, the District Administrator shall confirm that the application is complete or request
that it be completed before being further considered.

Parents shall be notified of the determination on their applications on or before the first Friday following the first
Monday in June following receipt of the application, or within the timeframe otherwise established by law. If
approved, the parent shall be notified of the approval and the specific assignment within the District. If, upon
enrollment, the student is appropriately placed in a different grade level, the student shall be so assigned unless
applications for that grade level have been denied or there is no longer space available at that grade level.

Any notice of a decision to deny shall include the following: 
 

1. Specific reason(s) for denial ( ) and whether the student has been placed on the waiting list. [Select only
if use of a waiting list is selected below.]
 

2. Notice of the parents' right to appeal, the address to send the appeal, and information on where to locate
the form required for appeal.

 
Application of Space Determinations and Random Selection Process
 
If there are more applications than spaces, the Board will fill the available spaces by random selection. Random
selection shall be conducted among the student applications for each grade level. The order of grade level selection
shall also be randomly determined. The following considerations will be included in the random selection process:
 

1. Preferences
 

a. If the Board has not  guaranteed approval in its determination of space availability to currently
attending students, it shall grant preference to such students in the random selection process.
 

b. If the Board has not guaranteed approval in its determination of space availability to the siblings of
currently attending students, it shall grant preference to such students in the random selection
process.

If in any selection process there are more students eligible for preferred treatment than there are
spaces available, the Board shall conduct random selection from among the students granted
preference. Both currently attending students and siblings of currently attending students who are
not guaranteed approval shall be granted equal preference.
 

2. The sibling of a student selected in the random selection process shall be granted preference to any spaces
available that the sibling has applied for, but the sibling may not be approved if there are no remaining
spaces for the sibling.
 

3. [ ] The District will establish a numbered waiting list of all applicants.  When all available slots have been
filled by randomly selecting names from all applicants, the remaining names will be drawn randomly and
placed on the waiting list in order of selection, with those students granted a preference under this policy to
be included first on the waiting list in random order followed by any other student applicants in random
order.



12/11/23, 11:44 AM BoardDocs® PL

https://go.boarddocs.com/wi/sdman/Board.nsf/Private?open&login# 4/7

After the date specified in 118.51(3)(a)3., Wis. Stats., the nonresident school board may approve
applications it had initially denied if any of the following cause spaces to become available:
 

a. A parent notifies the nonresident school board that the student will not attend the nonresident school
district.
 

b. A parent fails to provide the notification accepting open enrollment as required in 118.51(3)(a)6.,
Wis. Stats.
 

c. The Board determines that additional spaces have become available since its determination at the
January Board meeting.

 
The District shall notify the parent of a student accepted from the waiting list of that student’s eligibility to
attend the District, unless the student has already enrolled in a different nonresident school district or has
since become a resident of the District. The notice shall state the following:

 
a. the school or program the student has been assigned to;

 
b. a date, at least ten (10) calendar days from the date of the notice, by which the parent must accept

the open enrollment approval. Failure to timely accept shall be considered rejection and the approval
shall be considered rescinded.  [END OF OPTION]

 
C. Decisional Criteria for Nonresident Applications

Decisions on nonresident open enrollment applications will be based only on the following criteria:
 

1. Space availability as defined in this policy.
 

2. Whether an applicant for a pre-kindergarten, four (4) year old kindergarten, early childhood or school
operated day care program resides in a district which offers the program for which application is made.
 

3. Whether the nonresident student is currently under an order of expulsion for any reason; or has been
expelled from any school district within the current school year or the two (2) preceding school
years but the period of expulsion has ended, or is pending any disciplinary proceeding, based on any of the
following activities:
 

a. Conveying or causing to be conveyed any threat or false information concerning an attempt or
alleged attempt being made or to be made to destroy school property by means of explosives.
 

b. Engaging in conduct while at school or under school supervision that endangered the health, safety,
or property of others.
 

c. Engaging in conduct while not at school or while not under the supervision of a school authority that
endangered the health, safety, or property of others at school or under the supervision of a school
authority or of any school employee or Board member.
 

d. Possessing a dangerous weapon (as defined in 939.22(10), Wis. Stats.) while on school property or
under school supervision.

 
Notwithstanding the Board’s acceptance of a nonresident student's application, the Board may withdraw
acceptance if, prior to the beginning of the first school year in which the nonresident student will attend a
school in the District, the student is determined to fall under paragraph C. 3.
 
The Board may request a copy of a nonresident student's disciplinary records from the resident school
board.
 
The resident board shall provide to the nonresident board a copy of any expulsion order or findings, a copy
of any pending disciplinary proceedings, a written explanation of said proceeding, the length of the
expulsion or possible outcomes of a pending proceeding, and/or such records as permitted by law.
 

4. Whether the special education program or related services described in the nonresident
student's Individualized Education Program ("IEP") are available in the District. Whether a service is
available depends on whether existing staff in the District are qualified to provide the service or whether the
District has facilities and/or equipment required for the service. A service is not available in the District if
that service is currently provided to resident students through contract with a third party. Whether a service



12/11/23, 11:44 AM BoardDocs® PL

https://go.boarddocs.com/wi/sdman/Board.nsf/Private?open&login# 5/7

is available is not a function of whether there is space available in any program or service. A service may be
unavailable even if no space limitations have been established.
 

5. Whether there is space available in the District to provide the special education or related services identified
in the nonresident student's IEP, after consideration of class size limits, student-teacher ratios, and
enrollment projections.
 

6. Whether the nonresident student has been referred to the nonresident student's resident board under
115.777(1), Wis. Stats. or identified by the nonresident student's resident school board under 115.77(1m)
(a), Wis. Stats., but not yet evaluated by an individualized education program team.
 

7. If a nonresident student's IEP is developed or changed after starting in the District, and it is then discovered
that the District does not have necessary programs available or does not have space in the special education
program, the District may notify the student’s parent and the student’s resident board. If such notice is
provided, the nonresident may be transferred to their resident school district.
 

8. If the Board has made a determination that a nonresident student attending the District under the Open
Enrollment Program is habitually truant from the District during either semester of the current school year,
the Board may prohibit the student from attending in the succeeding semester or school year, after
complying with the requirements of PI 36.09(2).

The habitual truancy determination shall be made on the sole basis of enrollment in the nonresident
district.  Open enrollment may not be denied based on the student’s truancy from any other district.
 

D. Reapplication Procedures

[ X ] The Board will require accepted nonresident students to reapply under the open enrollment policy when the
nonresident student enters ( X ) middle school, ( ) junior high school or ( X ) high school. A nonresident
student may be required to reapply only once. [END OF OPTION]

[ ] The Board will not require accepted nonresident students to reapply under the open enrollment policy as long as
the student is continuously enrolled in the District. [END OF OPTION]
 

F. Transportation

The parents of a student attending a nonresident school district will be solely responsible for providing
transportation to and from the school site. ( x ) The District will permit a nonresident student to ride District
transportation if space is available on a regularly-scheduled bus route. [END OF OPTION] The District will provide
transportation for a nonresident student with an identified disability for whom transportation is required by the
student's IEP.

( ) The Board may provide transportation to nonresident students from their resident district provided the student's
resident district approved. The District Administrator shall develop procedures for implementing this provision.

E. Termination of Open Enrollment

If the Board determines that a student is habitually truant during either semester of the current school year, the
Board may prohibit the nonresident student from attending in the succeeding semester or school year. The District
Administrator shall assure compliance with DPI regulations pertaining to open enrollment termination found in Wis.
Admin Code PI 36.09.

If the parent or nonresident student believes the student has been marked absent, tardy, or truant in error, the
parent or student may contact the school attendance officer and provide a written explanation of the circumstances
believed to be in error. The attendance officer shall review the matter and provide a response to the parent or
student either correcting the attendance record, confirming the accuracy of the record, or requesting additional
information upon which a decision will then be made. If additional information is requested, it must be provided
within five (5) school days of the request or no additional information will be considered in the decision.

Open enrollment of a student in a virtual charter school may also be terminated if, on three (3) occasions during a
single semester, the student has failed to respond to a school assignment or directive within five (5) school days
not counting any days excused by the student's parents up to a maximum of ten (10) school days per year, and
after each occurrence the virtual charter school notified the student's parents. After the third incident, the virtual
charter school program shall notify the Board of the nonresident students failure to participate in the program. The
Board may terminate the student's open enrollment.
 



12/11/23, 11:44 AM BoardDocs® PL

https://go.boarddocs.com/wi/sdman/Board.nsf/Private?open&login# 6/7

[SELECT ONE OF THE OPTIONS BELOW:]

[OPTION #1]

( ) The Board will permit a neighboring district to bus resident students from within its boundaries for attendance
at the nonresident neighboring district. The District Administrator shall develop procedures for implementing this
provision.

[OPTION #2]

( x ) The Board will not permit a neighboring district to bus resident students from within its boundaries for
attendance at the nonresident neighboring district.

[END OF OPTIONS] 
 
ALTERNATIVE APPLICATION PROCEDURES
 
The parent of a nonresident student who wishes to attend a school in the District may apply at any time throughout the
year by submitting an application under the alternative application procedure if the student satisfies at least one (1) of the
statutory criteria and has not applied to more than three (3) nonresident school districts. (See AG 5113 and AG 5113B –
Open Enrollment for Students with Disabilities.)
 
Applications from a nonresident student under the alternative application procedures received after the Board's January
meeting, at which it sets open enrollment space availability numbers for the subsequent year, may be approved for the
current year if the Board has not imposed a space limitation for the student's current year grade level and also has not
imposed a space limitation for the subsequent school year in the student's subsequent grade level. Alternative applications
received prior to the 3rd Friday in September may be approved if the Board has approved all applications for that grade
level that were received during the regular period, including the offer of enrollment to applicants placed on the waiting list,
if any.
 
[ X ] DELEGATION TO DISTRICT ADMINISTRATOR
 
The Board delegates to the District Administrator the authority to approve or deny open enrollment applications ( )
including under the alternative procedures [END OF OPTION] consistent with the criteria in this policy and based on the
Board's space determinations approved in January of each year.
 
[END OF OPTION]
 
ANNUAL REVIEW AND REVISION OF POLICY
 
The Board shall review itsIf, in the course of reviewing the Board's Open Enrollment Program annually, it opts to modify
the policy, any changes shall be made by resolution and be adopted prior to the first application date of the open
enrollment period to which the revisions shall apply.
 
General Provisions
 

A. ( X ) A student, who has been accepted under this program, who has not met the academic prerequisites for
participation in a particular program in which the student wishes to enroll shall not be placed in that program.
 

B. ( X ) The District's Policy 2260 – Nondiscrimination and Access to Equal Educational Opportunity shall apply to all
applicants under this program. In addition, the District will not discriminate on the basis of an applicant's
intellectual, academic, artistic, athletic, or other ability, talent, or accomplishment, or based on a mental or physical
disability, except as provided for in the statute authorizing this program.
 

C. ( ) The District Administrator shall be responsible for developing and promulgating administrative guidelines to
implement this policy. (See accompanying pages.) Such guidelines shall address at least the following matters:
 

1. ( ) participation in interscholastic athletics
 

2. ( ) District transportation services
 

3. ( ) transfer of academic credit
 

4. ( ) assignment within the District
 



12/11/23, 11:44 AM BoardDocs® PL

https://go.boarddocs.com/wi/sdman/Board.nsf/Private?open&login# 7/7

5. ( ) payment of fees and other charges
 
Application of Emergency Orders
 
All timelines or other procedures described in this policy and in any implementing administrative guidelines are subject to
modification in the event that the State or Federal government issues emergency or other temporary orders affecting any
of the subject matter of this policy. The policy automatically incorporates the contents of any such order or
proclamation, including any discretionary authority provided, and delegates by policy the authority to exercise that
discretion to the District Administrator.
 
© Neola 20222023

Legal 118.51, Wis. Stats.

Wis. Adm. Code Ch. P.I. 36

Last Modified by Ryan Peterson on December 6, 2023



12/11/23, 11:45 AM BoardDocs® PL

https://go.boarddocs.com/wi/sdman/Board.nsf/Private?open&login# 1/7

Book Policy Manual

Section Vol. 32, No. 2, July 2023

Title Revised Policy - Vol. 32, No. 2, July 2023 - ATTENDANCE

Code po5200

Status Proposed to Policy & Human Resources Committee

Last Reviewed December 6, 2023

Revised Policy - Vol. 32, No. 2
 
5200 - ATTENDANCE
 
The Board of Education will enforce regular student attendance in the District's program in which each student is enrolled
as required pursuant to State law. Further, the Board recognizes that the District's educational program is predicated upon
the participation of each student in the program of instruction in which the student is enrolled and required to attend.
Student success requires continuity of instruction and program participation. For purposes of this policy, the regular period
and hours of instruction including both those periods and hours a student's program require that they are in school as well
as any attendance requirements defined as part of a course of virtual instruction, or a combination of the more than one
type of instructional delivery.
 
All children between six (6) and eighteen (18) years of age shall attend school regularly during the full period and hours,
religious holidays excepted, that the school in which the child is enrolled is in session until the end of the term, quarter, or
semester of the school year in which the child becomes eighteen (18) years of age unless they fall under an exception
under State law, this policy, or administrative guideline issued under this policy. A child who is enrolled in five (5) year-old
kindergarten shall attend school regularly, religious holidays excepted, during the full period and hours that kindergarten is
in session until the end of the school term.
 
Parent Notification of Absence Required
 
The District Administrator shall require, from the parent of each student or from an adult student, who has been absent for
any reason either a written or oral notification stating the reason for the absence and the time period covered by the
absence, except a parent-excused, pre-planned absence requires written notification as indicated below. The Board
reserves the right to verify such statements and to investigate the cause of each:
 

A. ( ) single absence;
 

B. ( ) prolonged absence;
 

C. ( ) absence of more than ____ (__) days duration;
 

D. ( ) repeated unexplained absence and tardiness; or
 

E. ( X ) _absence and instance of tardiness_____________________________________.
 
School Attendance Officer
 
The District Administrator shall designate an administrator at each school to be the School Attendance Officer. The School
Attendance Officer shall perform any duties and responsibilities as required by State law, this policy, and any
administrative guidelines issued by the school. The duties of the School Attendance Officer shall include, but not be limited



12/11/23, 11:45 AM BoardDocs® PL

https://go.boarddocs.com/wi/sdman/Board.nsf/Private?open&login# 2/7

to, the following:
 

A. Determining daily from attendance reports submitted by teachers which students enrolled in the school are absent
from school, or failed to fulfill the attendance requirements of a virtual instruction program component, and
whether the absence is excused.
 

B. Submitting to the District Administrator, on or before August 1st of each year, a report of the number of students
enrolled in the school who were absent in the previous year and whether the absences were excused. The District
Administrator shall then submit this information to the State Superintendent. ( ) To the extent feasible, absentee
data shall be separated by absences for in-person instruction periods and absences based on virtual instruction
attendance requirements.
 

C. Providing student attendance information to individuals and agencies for purposes authorized by State law and the
Board's Policy 8330 - Student Records.

 
Excused Absences
 
As required under State law, a student shall be excused from school for the following reasons:
 

A. Physical or Mental Condition

The student is temporarily not in proper physical or mental condition to attend a school program. Absences for this
reason may be excused by oral or written notification to the attendance officer by the adult student or minor
student's parent. The attendance officer in appropriate circumstances may require a written statement from a
health care provider describing the condition and excusing the student for a period not the exceed thirty (30) days.
 

B. Obtaining Religious Instruction

To enable the student to obtain religious instruction outside the school during the required school period (see Policy
5223 - Absences for Religious Instruction).
         

C. Permission of ParentParent-Excused Pre-Planned Absence

The student has been excused in writing by their parent before the absence for any or no reason.  A student may
not be excused for more than ten (10) days per school year under this paragraph and must complete any
coursework missed during the absence.  Examples of reasons for being absent that should be counted under this
paragraph include, but are not limited to, the following:
 

1. ( X ) professional and other necessary appointments (e.g., medical, dental, and legal) that cannot be
scheduled outside of the school day
 

2. ( X ) to attend a funeral
 

3. ( X ) legal proceedings that require the student's presence
 

4. ( X ) college visits
 

5. ( X ) job fairs
 

6. ( X ) vacations
 

D. Religious Holiday

For observance of a religious holiday consistent with the student's creed or belief.
 

E. Suspension or Expulsion

The student has been suspended or expelled.
 

F. Program or Curriculum Modification

The Board has excused the student from regular school attendance to participate in a program or curriculum
modification leading to high school graduation or a high school equivalency diploma as provided by State law.
         



12/11/23, 11:45 AM BoardDocs® PL

https://go.boarddocs.com/wi/sdman/Board.nsf/Private?open&login# 3/7

G. High School Equivalency – Secured Facilities

The Board has excused a student from regular school attendance to participate in a program leading to a high
school equivalency diploma in a secured correctional facility, a secured child caring institution, a secure detention
facility, or a juvenile portion of a county jail, and the student and the student's parent(s) agree that the student will
continue to participate in such a program.
 

H. Child at Risk

The student is a "child at risk" as defined under State law and is participating in a program at a technical college on
either a part‑time or full-time basis leading to high school graduation, as provided under State law.
 

I. Election Day Official

A high school student, including students enrolled in private schools and students enrolled in home-based private
education, age sixteen (16) or seventeen (17) is permitted to be excused to serve as an election official provided
that the following criteria are met: (1) the student has the permission of their parent to serve as an election official
on election day; (2) the student has signed up and the municipal clerk has informed the principal that the student
has been assigned to serve in this capacity; and (3) the student has at least a 3.0 grade point average
or equivalent, or has met alternative criteria established by Board, if any. The principal shall promptly notify the
municipal clerk or the board of election commissioners of the municipality that appointed the child as an election
official if the child no longer has at least a 3.0 grade point average or the equivalent, or no longer meets the
established alternative requirements. A student's absence to serve as an election official under this policy shall be
treated as an excused absence. Where possible students are encouraged to provide advance notice as much as
possible. Students are responsible for completing any missed school work and responsible for making appropriate
arrangements to do so.
 

J. Virtual Access 

The student is unable to access virtual instruction programming due to a temporary disruption in the student's
access to necessary technological systems (i.e. internet outage, computer failure, software malfunction, etc.) as
communicated by the student's parent. 

 
A student may be excused from school, as determined by the School Attendance Officer, or the School Attendance Officer's
designee, for the following reasons:
 

A. ( X ) Quarantine

Quarantine of the student's home by a public health officer.
 

B. ( ) Illness of an Immediate Family Member

The illness of an immediate family member.
 

C. ( X ) Emergency

An emergency that requires the student to be absent because of familial responsibilities or other appropriate
reasons.
 

D. ( ) Work at Home Due to Absence of Parents

To work at home due to the absence of the student's parents.  Absences under this section shall not exceed ____
(__) days nor be granted to any student younger than ____ (__) years of age.
 

E. ( ) _____________________________________ [other].
 
Unexcused Absences
 
Unexcused absences are absences from school for part or all of one (1) or more days from school without an acceptable
excuse. Unexcused absences demonstrate a deliberate disregard for the educational program and are considered a serious
matter.  The District Administrator shall develop administrative guidelines to address unexcused absences.
 
[ X ] The Board authorizes, but does not encourage the District Administrator, to suspend a student from a particular class
or from school if sincere efforts by the staff and parents cannot rectify the pattern of absence.  In keeping with its
philosophy, the Board supports efforts to provide for out‑of-school alternative educational opportunities for truant students



12/11/23, 11:45 AM BoardDocs® PL

https://go.boarddocs.com/wi/sdman/Board.nsf/Private?open&login# 4/7

rather than to heighten the effects of absence through suspension.
 
Definitions
 

A. Truancy

A student will be considered truant if the student is absent part or all of one (1) or more days from school during
which the School Attendance Officer, principal, or a teacher has not been notified of the legal cause of such absence
by the parent of the absent student. A student who is absent intermittently for the purpose of defeating the intent
of the Wisconsin Compulsory Attendance Statute 118.15, Wis. Stats., will also be considered truant.
 

B. Habitual Truant

A student will be considered a habitual truant if the student is absent from school without an acceptable excuse for
part or all of five (5) or more days on which school is held during a school semester.
 

C. Part of a School Day

Part of a school day is any time period within a school day, which is from the time the first class period of that day
begins until the end of the last class period of that day.

 
Tardiness/Late Arrival and Early Dismissal
 
It is necessary that a student be in attendance throughout the school day, or as required by the student's virtual
instruction program, in order to benefit fully from the educational program of the District. Unless excused per this policy,
tardiness, or late arrival, occurs when a student arrives at the student's registered class location after the bell that signals
the start of the class period has sounded. Unless excused, early dismissal occurs when a student leaves the student's
registered class location before the bell has rung signaling the end of the class period or the end of the school day.
Tardiness and early dismissal can occur more than once per day. Tardiness and early dismissal constitute being absent for
part of a school day.
 
The Board recognizes, however, that from time-to-time compelling circumstances require that a student be late to school
or dismissed before the end of the school day.
 
[ X ]  As agent responsible for the education of the children of this District, the Board shall require that the school be
notified in advance of such absences by
         

( X ) written (including e-mail)
 
( X ) personal (phone or face-to-face)

 
request of the student's parent, who shall state the reason for the tardiness or early dismissal. Justifiable reasons shall be
determined by the _______________Administration_.
 
No student who has a medical disability which may be incapacitating may be released without a person to accompany
him/her.
 
No student shall be released to anyone who is not authorized such custody by the parents.
 
Truancy Plan
 
The Board will issue a Truancy Plan based upon the recommendations of the County Truancy Committee convened under
State law, the Board's policies and procedures, and applicable provisions of State law.  The Board will review and, if
appropriate, revise the Truancy Plan at least once every two (2) years.
 
The Truancy Plan will include, at a minimum, the following:
 

A. procedures to be followed for notifying the parents of the unexcused absences of a student who is truant or a
habitual truant and for meeting and conferring with such parents
 

B. plans and procedures for identifying truant children of all ages and returning them to school, including the identity
of school personnel to whom a truant child shall be returned
 

C. methods to increase and maintain public awareness of and involvement in responding to truancy within the School
District



12/11/23, 11:45 AM BoardDocs® PL

https://go.boarddocs.com/wi/sdman/Board.nsf/Private?open&login# 5/7

 
D. a provision addressing the immediate response to be made by school personnel when a truant child is returned to

school
 

E. the types of truancy cases to be referred to the District Attorney and the time periods within which the District
Attorney will respond to and take action on the referrals
 

F. plans and procedures to coordinate the responses to the problems of habitual truants, as defined under Sec.
118.16(1)(a), Wis. Stats., with public and private social services agencies
 

G. methods to involve the truant child's parent in dealing with and solving the child's truancy problem
 
Notice of Truancy
 
The School Attendance Officer shall notify a truant student's parent of the student's truancy and direct the parent to return
the student to school no later than the next day on which school is in session or to provide an excuse for the absence. The
notice under this paragraph shall be given before the end of the second school day after receiving a report of an
unexcused absence. The notice may be made by electronic communication, personal contact, telephone call, or 1st class
mail, and a written record of this notice shall be kept. This notice must be given every time a student is truant until the
student becomes a habitual truant.
 
Notice of Habitual Truancy
 
When a student initially becomes a habitual truant, the School Attendance Officer shall provide a notice to the student's
parent, by registered or certified mail, or by 1st class mail.  The School Attendance Officer may simultaneously notify the
parent of the habitually truant student by an electronic communication. The notice must contain the following:
 

A. a statement of the parent's responsibility under State law to cause the student to attend school regularly
 

B. a statement that the parent or student may request program or curriculum modifications for the student under
State law and that the student may be eligible for enrollment in a program for children at risk
 

C. a request that the parent meet with the appropriate school personnel to discuss the student's truancy

The notice shall include the name of the school personnel with whom the parent should meet, a date, time, and
place for the meeting and the name, address, and telephone number of a person to contact to arrange a different
date, time, or place.  The date for the meeting shall be within five (5) school days after the date that the notice is
sent, except that with the consent of the student's parent the date for the meeting may be extended for an
additional five (5) school days.
 

D. a statement of the penalties, under State law or local ordinances that may be imposed on the parent upon failure to
cause the child to attend school regularly as required by State law.
 

E. if the student is attending the District through the Open Enrollment Program, each notification shall also inform the
parent: (1) that the student's open enrollment may be terminated if the student is habitually truant; and (2) the
process described in Board Policy 5113 - Open Enrollment Program (Inter-District), which the parent or student
may follow if they believe the student was erroneously marked truant.

 
The School Attendance Officer will also continue to notify the parent of a habitual truant's subsequent unexcused
absences.
 
Referral to the District Attorney
 
Truancy cases will be referred to the District Attorney as provided in the County Truancy Committee Plan.  The School
Attendance Officer will ensure that appropriate school personnel have done the following before any case is referred to the
District Attorney:
 

A. met with the student's parent to discuss the student's truancy or attempted to meet with the student's parent and
received no response or were refused
 

B. provided an opportunity for educational counseling to the student to determine whether a change in the student's
curriculum would resolve the student's truancy and have curriculum modifications under State law
 

C. evaluated the student to determine whether learning problems may be a cause of the student's truancy and, if so,
have taken steps to overcome the learning problems, except that the student need not be evaluated if tests



12/11/23, 11:45 AM BoardDocs® PL

https://go.boarddocs.com/wi/sdman/Board.nsf/Private?open&login# 6/7

administered to the student within the previous year indicate that the student is performing at grade level
 

D. conducted an evaluation to determine whether social problems may be a cause of the student's truancy and, if so,
have taken appropriate action or made appropriate referrals

 
Note that paragraph A. is not required if the meeting between school personnel, the student, and the student's parent,
which was requested in the Notice of Habitual Truancy to the parent, did not occur within ten (10) school days after the
Notice was sent.  Paragraphs B., C., and D. are not required if appropriate school personnel were unable to carry out the
activity due to the student's absences from school.
 
Make-up Coursework and Examinations
 
[NOTE:  How make-up work and course examinations will be dealt with must be in policy.]
 
[ X ]  OPTION #1
 
Students who are absent from school, whether the absence was excused or unexcused, shall be permitted to make-up
coursework and examinations missed during the absence when they return to school. It is the student's responsibility to
contact their teachers to determine what coursework and examinations must be made-up. Teachers shall have the
discretion to assign substitute coursework and examinations. Teachers shall also have the discretion to specify where and
when examinations and coursework shall be completed, including outside regular school hours. The time for completing
the work shall be commensurate with the length of the absence unless extended by the principal based upon extenuating
circumstances.
 
[END OF OPTION #1]
 
[ ]  OPTION # 2
 
Excused Absences
 
A student whose absence from school was excused, except for an expelled student, shall be permitted to make-up
coursework and any quarterly, semester, or grading period examinations missed during the absences when they return to
school. It is the student's responsibility to contact their teachers to determine what coursework and examinations must be
made-up. Teachers shall have the discretion to assign substitute coursework and examinations. Teachers shall also have
the discretion to specify where and when examinations and coursework shall be completed, including outside regular
school hours. The time for completing the work shall be commensurate with the length of the absence unless extended by
the principal based upon extenuating circumstances.
 
Unexcused Absences
 
Credit in a course or subject shall not be denied solely because of a student's unexcused absences from school.
 
Students with unexcused absences shall be permitted to make-up coursework and any quarterly, semester, or grading
period examinations missed during the absence if the student is at risk of receiving no credit in a course or subject if the
work is not made up.
 
Subject to the immediately preceding two (2) paragraphs, credit may, but is not required to be given for the completion of
make-up work. Further, credit for make‑up work may be given only after the student has satisfied consequences imposed
for unexcused absences. The extent to which make-up credit is given shall be determined on a case-by-case basis by the
principal and the respective teachers.
 
If make-up work has been assigned, it is the student's responsibility to contact their teachers to determine what
coursework and examinations must be made‑up. Teachers shall have the discretion to assign substitute coursework and
examinations. Teachers shall also have the discretion to specify where and when examinations and coursework shall be
completed, including outside regular school hours.  The time for completing the work shall be commensurate with the
length of the absence unless extended by the principal based upon extenuating circumstances.
 
[NOTE:  END OF OPTION # 2]
 

District Administrator Guidelines

 

The District Administrator shall develop administrative guidelines concerning the attendance of students which:
 

A. ensure a school session that is in conformity with the requirement of the law;



12/11/23, 11:45 AM BoardDocs® PL

https://go.boarddocs.com/wi/sdman/Board.nsf/Private?open&login# 7/7

 
 
© Neola 2023

 

B. ensure that students absent for an excusable reason have an opportunity to make-up work they missed;

 

C. govern the keeping of attendance records in accordance with State law;

 

D. facilitate implementation of the Truancy Plan;
 

E. identify the habitual truant, investigate the cause(s) of his/her behavior, and consider modification of his/her
educational program to meet particular needs and interests;

 

F. ensure that any student who, due to a specifically identifiable physical or mental impairment, exceeds or may
exceed the District's limit on excused absence is referred for evaluation for eligibility either under the Individuals
with Disabilities Education Act (IDEA) or Section 504 of the Rehabilitation Act of 1973 and Chapter 115, Wis. Stats.;

 

G. provide that a student's grade in any course is based on his/her performance in the instructional setting and is not
reduced for reasons of conduct. If a student violates the attendance or other rules of the school, s/he should be
disciplined appropriately for the misconduct, but his/her grades should be based upon what the student can
demonstrate s/he has learned;

 

H. ensure that all parents and students are informed of the District's Attendance Policy and related guidelines;

 

I. enable the School Attendance Officer to perform his/her duties under State law and this policy; and

 

J. address unexcused absences.

Legal 7.30(2)(am), Wis. Stats.

118.15, Wis. Stats.

118.153, Wis. Stats.

118.16, Wis. Stats.

118.162, Wis. Stats.

Last Modified by Ryan Peterson on November 30, 2023



11/30/23, 12:31 PM BoardDocs® PL

https://go.boarddocs.com/wi/sdman/Board.nsf/Private?open&login# 1/2

Book Policy Manual

Section Vol. 32, No. 2, July 2023

Title Revised Policy - Vol. 32, No. 2, July 2023 - MISSING AND ABSENT CHILDREN

Code po5215

Status Proposed to Policy & Human Resources Committee

Last Reviewed December 6, 2023

Revised Policy - Vol. 32, No. 2
 
5215 - MISSING AND ABSENT CHILDREN
 
It is the intent of this Board of Education to cooperate with local, State, and National efforts to decrease the number of
missing children. For purposes of this Policypolicy, the following definitions apply:
 
"Absent child"  means a child that left the child's parents or approved placement through social services and whose
whereabouts are known, but who refuses to return. This involves children who are runaways, but not known to be missing.
 
"Missing child" means a child whose whereabouts are unknown, which may include abducted children who have been
abducted by a non-custodial parent, a victim of human trafficking, or another unknown circumstance.
 
The District Administrator and/or building principalsPrincipals shall permit during the school day the entrance into the
school a student lacking records or identification as a student, and shall assure thatallow the child remainsto remain in the
building office area until law enforcement or social services is notified and takes custody of the child. Such a procedure
reduces the risk of removal of a missing or absent child from the area before intervention by law enforcement or social
services.
 
Procedures in this policy are to be implemented in coordination with Policy 5111.01 - Homeless Students.
 
© Neola 20212023

Last Modified by Ryan Peterson on November 30, 2023



11/30/23, 12:31 PM BoardDocs® PL

https://go.boarddocs.com/wi/sdman/Board.nsf/Private?open&login# 2/2



12/11/23, 11:48 AM BoardDocs® PL

https://go.boarddocs.com/wi/sdman/Board.nsf/Private?open&login# 1/13

Book Policy Manual

Section Vol. 32, No. 2, July 2023

Title Revised Policy - Vol. 32, No. 2, July 2023 - STUDENT ANTI-HARASSMENT

Code po5517

Status Proposed to Policy & Human Resources Committee

Last Reviewed December 6, 2023

Revised Policy - Vol. 32, No. 2
 
5517 - STUDENT ANTI-HARASSMENT
 
Prohibited Harassment
 
It is the policy of the Board of Education to maintain an educational environment that is free from all forms of harassment.
This commitment applies to all District operations, programs, and activities. All students, administrators, teachers, staff,
and all other school personnel share responsibility for avoiding, discouraging, and reporting any form of harassment. This
policy applies to conduct occurring in any manner or setting over which the Board can exercise control, including on school
property, or at another location if such conduct occurs during an activity sponsored by the Board.
 
The Board will not tolerate any form of harassment and will take all necessary and appropriate actions to eliminate it,
including suspension or expulsion of students and disciplinary action against any other individual in the School District
community. Additionally, appropriate action will be taken to stop and otherwise deal with any third party who engages in
harassment against our students.
 
The Board will vigorously enforce its prohibition against harassment based on the traits of sex (including gender status,
change of sex, or gender identity), race, color, national origin, religion, creed, ancestry, marital or parental status, sexual
orientation or physical, mental, emotional or learning disability, or any other characteristic protected by Federal or State
civil rights laws (hereinafter referred to as "Protected Classes"), and encourages those within the School District
community as well as Third Parties, who feel aggrieved to seek assistance to rectify such problems. Additionally, the Board
prohibits harassing behavior directed at students for any reason, even if not based on one of the Protected Classes,
through its policies on bullying (See Policy 5517.01 – Bullying).
 
[ ] The District will offer counseling services to any person found to have been subjected to harassment and, where
appropriate, the person(s) who committed the harassment.
 
The Board will investigate all allegations of harassment and in those cases where harassment is substantiated, the Board
will take immediate steps designed to end the harassment, prevent its reoccurrence, and remedy its effects. Individuals
who are found to have engaged in harassment will be subject to appropriate disciplinary action.
 
Other Violations of the Anti-Harassment Policy
 
The Board will also take prompt steps to impose disciplinary action on individuals engaging in any of the following
prohibited acts:
 

A. Retaliating against a person who has made a report or filed a complaint alleging harassment, or who has
participated as a witness in a harassment investigation;
 

B. Filing a malicious or knowingly false report or complaint of harassment;



12/11/23, 11:48 AM BoardDocs® PL

https://go.boarddocs.com/wi/sdman/Board.nsf/Private?open&login# 2/13

 
C. Disregarding, failing to investigate adequately, or delaying investigation of allegations of harassment, when

responsibility for reporting and/or investigating harassment complaints comprises part of one's duties
 
Sexual Harassment covered by Policy 2266 ( X )/AG 2266 [END OF OPTION] - Nondiscrimination on the Basis of Sex in
Education Programs or Activities, i.e., sexual harassment prohibited by Title IX, is not included in this policy. Allegations of
such conduct shall be addressed by Policy 2266 ( X )/AG 2266 [END OF OPTION] - Nondiscrimination on the Basis of
Sex in Education Programs or Activities.
 
Notice
 
Notice of the Board's policy on anti-harassment in the educational environment and the identity of the District's
Compliance Officers will be posted throughout the District and published in any District statement regarding the availability
of employment, staff handbooks, and general information publications of the District as required by Federal and State law
and this policy.
 
Definitions
 
Words used in this policy shall have those meanings defined herein; words not defined herein shall be construed according
to their plain and ordinary meanings.
 
Complainant  is the individual who alleges, or is alleged, to have been subjected to harassment, regardless of whether the
person files a formal complaint or is pursuing an informal resolution to the alleged harassment.
 
Day(s) means business day(s) (i.e., a day(s) that the District office is open for normal operating hours, Monday – Friday,
excluding State-recognized holidays) unless expressly stated otherwise herein.
 
Respondent is the individual who has been alleged to have engaged in harassment, regardless of whether the Reporting
Party files a formal complaint or is seeking an informal resolution to the alleged harassment.
 
School District community means individuals, students, administrators, teachers, and staff, as well as Board members,
agents, volunteers, contractors, or other persons subject to the control and supervision of the Board.
 
Third Parties include, but are not limited to, guests and/or visitors on School District property (e.g., visiting speakers,
participants on opposing athletic teams, parents), vendors doing business with, or seeking to do business with, the Board,
and other individuals who come in contact with members of the School District community at school-related
events/activities (whether on or off District property).
 
Bullying
 
Bullying is prohibited by Board Policy 5517.01 – Bullying. It is defined as deliberate or intentional behavior using words or
actions, intended to cause fear, intimidation, or harm. Bullying may be a repeated behavior and involves an imbalance of
power. Furthermore, it may be serious enough to negatively impact a student’s educational, physical, or emotional well-
being. Bullying need not be based on any Protected Class. Bullying behavior rises to the level of harassment when the
prohibited conduct is based upon the student’s sex (including gender status, change of sex, or gender identity), race, color,
national origin, religion, creed, ancestry, marital or parental status, sexual orientation, physical, mental, emotional, or
learning disability, or any other characteristic protected by Federal or State civil rights. Complaints brought under this
policy that are more appropriately handled under the Bullying policy shall be referred for investigation consistent with the
procedures in that policy.
 
Bullying that rises to the level of Sexual Harassment is covered by Policy 2266 ( X )/AG 2266 [END OF OPTION] -
Nondiscrimination on the Basis of Sex in Education Programs or Activities, i.e., sexual harassment prohibited by Title IX,
and is not included in this policy. Allegations of such conduct shall be addressed by Policy 2266 ( X )/AG 2266 [END OF
OPTION] - Nondiscrimination on the Basis of Sex in Education Programs or Activities.
 
Harassment
 
Harassment means any threatening, insulting, or dehumanizing gesture, use of data or computer software, or written,
verbal or physical conduct directed against a student based on one or more of the student’s Protected Class that:
 

A. places a student in reasonable fear of harm to their person or damage to their property;
 

B. has the effect of substantially interfering with a student's educational performance, opportunities, or benefits; or
 

C. has the effect of substantially disrupting the orderly operation of a school.



12/11/23, 11:48 AM BoardDocs® PL

https://go.boarddocs.com/wi/sdman/Board.nsf/Private?open&login# 3/13

 
“Harassment” also includes “hate speech” directed against a student—the use of language, behavior, or images/symbols
that express prejudice against a particular group or groups on the basis of any protected characteristic(s).
 
Examples are:
 

A. making statements that promote violence toward a racial or ethnic group;
 

B. drawing, displaying, or posting images or symbols of prejudice.
 
Sexual Harassment
 
For purposes of this policy only and not sexual harassment under Title IX, addressed in Policy 2266/( X ) AG 2266 [END
OF OPTION] - Nondiscrimination on the Basis of Sex in Education Programs or Activities, "sexual harassment" is defined
as unwelcome sexual advances, requests for sexual favors, sexually motivated physical conduct or other verbal or physical
conduct or communication of a sexual nature when:
 

A. submission to that conduct or communication is made a term or condition, either explicitly or implicitly, of access to
educational opportunities or program;
 

B. submission or rejection of that conduct or communication by an individual is used as a factor in decisions affecting
that individual's education;
 

C. that conduct or communication has the purpose or effect of substantially or unreasonably interfering with an
individual's education, or creating an intimidating, hostile, or offensive educational environment.

 
Sexual harassment may involve the behavior of a person of any gender against a person of the same or another gender.
 
Prohibited acts that constitute sexual harassment under this policy may take a variety of forms. Examples of the kinds of
conduct that may constitute sexual harassment include, but are not limited to:
 

A. unwelcome verbal harassment or abuse;
 

B. unwelcome pressure for sexual activity;
 

C. threats or insinuations that a person's employment, wages, academic grade, promotion, classroom work or
assignments, academic status, participation in athletics or extra-curricular programs, activities, or events, or other
conditions of employment or education may be adversely affected by not submitting to sexual advances;
 

D. unwelcome verbal expressions, including graphic sexual commentaries about a person's body, dress, appearance,
or sexual activities; the unwelcome use of sexually degrading language, profanity, jokes or innuendoes; unwelcome
suggestive or insulting sounds or whistles; obscene telephone calls and obscene gestures;
 

E. Sexually suggestive objects, pictures, graffiti, videos, posters, audio recordings or literature, placed in the work or
educational environment, that may reasonably embarrass or offend individuals;
 

F. unwelcome, sexually motivated or inappropriate patting, pinching, or physical contact, other than necessary
restraint of students by teachers, administrators, or other school personnel to avoid physical harm to persons or
property;
 

G. unwelcome sexual behavior or words including demands for sexual favors, accompanied by implied or overt threats
concerning an individual's educational status;
 

H. unwelcome sexual behavior or words, including demands for sexual favors, accompanied by implied or overt
promises of preferential treatment with regard to an individual's educational status;
 

I. unwelcome behavior or words directed at an individual because of gender;
 
Examples are:
 

1. repeatedly asking a person for dates or sexual behavior after the person has indicated no interest;
 

2. rating a person's sexuality or attractiveness;
 

3. staring or leering at various parts of another person's body;



12/11/23, 11:48 AM BoardDocs® PL

https://go.boarddocs.com/wi/sdman/Board.nsf/Private?open&login# 4/13

 
4. spreading rumors about a person's sexuality;

 
5. letters, notes, telephone calls, or materials of a sexual nature;

 
6. displaying pictures, calendars, cartoons, or other materials with sexual content.

 
J. inappropriate boundary invasions by a District employee or other adult member of the District community into a

student's personal space and personal life;
 
Boundary invasions may be appropriate or inappropriate. Appropriate boundary invasions make medical or
educational sense. For example, a teacher or aide assisting a kindergartner after a toileting accident or a coach
touching a student during wrestling or football can be appropriate. However other behaviors might be going too far,
are inappropriate and may be signs of sexual grooming.
 
Inappropriate boundary invasions may include, but are not limited to the following:
 

1. hugging, kissing, or other physical contacts with a student;
 

2. telling sexual jokes to students;
 

3. engaging in talk containing sexual innuendo or banter with students;
 

4. talking about sexual topics that are not related to the curriculum;
 

5. showing pornography to a student;
 

6. taking an undue interest in a student (i.e. having a "special friend" or a "special relationship");
 

7. initiating or extending contact with students beyond the school day for personal purposes;
 

8. using e-mail, text messaging or websites to discuss personal topics or interests with students;
 

9. giving students rides in the staff member's personal vehicle or taking students on personal outings without
administrative approval;
 

10. invading a student's privacy (e.g. walking in on the student in the bathroom, locker-room, asking about bra
sizes or previous sexual experiences);
 

11. going to a student's home for non-educational purposes;
 

12. inviting students to the staff member's home without proper chaperones (i.e. another staff member or
parent of a student);
 

13. giving gifts or money to a student for no legitimate educational purpose;
 

14. accepting gifts or money from a student for no legitimate educational purpose;
 

15. being overly "touchy" with students;
 

16. favoring certain students by inviting them to come to the classroom at non-class times;
 

17. getting a student out of class to visit with the staff member;
 

18. providing advice to or counseling a student regarding a personal problem (i.e. problems related to sexual
behavior, substance abuse, mental or physical health, and/or family relationships, etc.), unless properly
licensed and authorized to do so;
 

19. talking to a student about problems that would normally be discussed with adults (i.e. marital issues);
 

20. being alone with a student behind closed doors without a legitimate educational purpose;
 

21. telling a student "secrets" and having "secrets" with a student;
 



12/11/23, 11:48 AM BoardDocs® PL

https://go.boarddocs.com/wi/sdman/Board.nsf/Private?open&login# 5/13

22. other similar activities or behavior:
 

a. ( ) ____________________________________;
 

b. ( ) ____________________________________;
 

c. ( ) ____________________________________.
 
Inappropriate boundary invasions are prohibited and must be reported promptly to one of the District Compliance
Officers, as designated in this policy, the Building Principal or the District Administrator.
 

K. remarks speculating about a person's sexual activities or sexual history, or remarks about one's own sexual
activities or sexual history;
 

L. ( X ) a pattern of conduct, which can be subtle in nature, that has sexual overtones and is intended to create or
has the effect of creating discomfort and/or humiliation to another;
 

M. verbal, nonverbal, or physical aggression, intimidation, or hostility based on sex or sex-stereotyping that does not
involve conduct of a sexual nature.

 
Not all behavior with sexual connotations constitutes sexual harassment. Sex-based or gender-based conduct must be
sufficiently severe, pervasive, or persistent such that it adversely affects, limits, or denies an individual's education, or
such that it creates a hostile or abusive educational environment, or such that it is intended to, or has the effect of,
denying or limiting a student's ability to participate in or benefit from the educational program or activities.
 
[ ] In addition to investigating and taking appropriate corrective action in instances of harassment, or of sexual
harassment or other sexual misconduct, the District shall make available to the victim of such harassment or misconduct
resources to assist the student with coping with the effects of victimization.  The school counseling services shall identify
available resources in the community and provide assistance to students in contacting such resources if desired by the
student. The District will not directly provide or pay for assistance unless such services are available in the District
program or the Board otherwise approves.
 
It is further the policy of the Board that a sexual relationship between staff and students is not permissible in any form or
under any circumstances, in or out of the workplace, in that it interferes with the educational process and may involve
elements of coercion by reason of the relative status of a staff member to a student.
 
Race/Color Harassment
 
Prohibited racial harassment occurs when unwelcome physical, verbal, or nonverbal conduct is based upon an individual's
race or color and when the conduct has the purpose or effect of: interfering with the individual's educational performance;
creating an intimidating, hostile, or offensive learning environment; or interfering with one's ability to participate in or
benefit from a class or an educational program or activity. Such harassment may occur where conduct is directed at the
characteristics of a person's race or color, such as racial slurs, nicknames implying stereotypes, epithets, and/or negative
references regarding racial customs.
 
Religious (Creed) Harassment
 
Prohibited religious harassment occurs when unwelcome physical, verbal, or nonverbal conduct is based upon an
individual's religion or creed and when the conduct has the purpose or effect of: interfering with the individual's work or
educational performance; creating an intimidating, hostile, or offensive learning environment; or interfering with one's
ability to participate in or benefit from a class or an educational program or activity. Such harassment may occur where
conduct is directed at the characteristics of a person's religious tradition, clothing, or surnames, and/or involves religious
slurs.
 
National Origin/Ancestry Harassment
 
Prohibited national origin/ancestry harassment occurs when unwelcome physical, verbal, or nonverbal conduct is based
upon an individual's national origin or ancestry and when the conduct has the purpose or effect of: interfering with the
individual's educational performance; creating an intimidating, hostile, or offensive working and/or learning environment;
or interfering with one's ability to participate in or benefit from a class or an educational program or activity. Such
harassment may occur where conduct is directed at the characteristics of a person's national origin or ancestry, such as
negative comments regarding customs, manner of speaking, language, surnames, or ethnic slurs.
 
Disability Harassment
 



12/11/23, 11:48 AM BoardDocs® PL

https://go.boarddocs.com/wi/sdman/Board.nsf/Private?open&login# 6/13

Prohibited disability harassment occurs when unwelcome physical, verbal, or nonverbal conduct is based upon an
individual's physical, mental, emotional or learning disability and when the conduct has the purpose or effect of:
interfering with the individual's educational performance; creating an intimidating, hostile, or offensive learning
environment; or interfering with one's ability to participate in or benefit from a class or an educational program or activity.
Such harassment may occur where conduct is directed at the characteristics of a person's disability, such as negative
comments about speech patterns, movement, physical impairments or defects/appearances, or the like.
 
Anti-Harassment Compliance Officers
 
The Board designates the following individuals to serve as the District's Compliance Officers (also known as "Anti-
Harassment Compliance Officers"; hereinafter referred to as the "COs").
 
[DRAFTING NOTE: Neola suggests the Board appoint both a male and a female Compliance Officer in order to
provide Complainants with the option to report their concerns to an individual of the gender with which they
feel most comfortable. The Compliance Officers may also serve as the District's Section 504Compliance
Officer(s)/ADA Coordinator(s) and/or Title IX Coordinators. Additionally, by appointing two (2) Compliance
Officers, there should also be a Compliance Officer available to investigate a claim of harassment that
pertains to the other Compliance Officer, as appropriate.]
 
_____________Jeff Bortle_________________
(Name)
 
____________Dean of Students MMS/LWHS__________________
(School District Title)
 
__________920.596.5806____________________
(Telephone Number)
 
_________515 East 4th Street, Manawa, WI 54949_____________________
(Office Address)
 
________jbortle@manawaschools.org______________________
(E-mail Address)
 
 
________Michelle Johnson ______________________
(Name)
 
_______Principal MMS/LWHS_______________________
(School District Title)
 
______920.596.5310________________________
(Telephone Number)
 
_______515 East 4th Street, Manawa WI 54949_______________________
(Office Address)
 
_______mjohnson@manawaschools.org_______________________
(E-mail Address)
 
The names, titles, and contact information of these individuals will be published annually:
 

A. on the School District's website.
 

B. ( X ) in the parent and staff handbooks.
 

C. ( ) in the School District Annual Report to the public.
 

D. ( ) on each individual school's website.
 

E. ( ) in the School District's calendar.
 

F. ( ) _________________________.
 



12/11/23, 11:48 AM BoardDocs® PL

https://go.boarddocs.com/wi/sdman/Board.nsf/Private?open&login# 7/13

The Compliance Officer(s) are responsible for coordinating the District’s efforts to comply with applicable Federal and State
laws and regulations, including the District’s duty to address in a prompt and equitable manner any inquiries or complaints
regarding harassment.
 
Reports and Complaints of Harassing Conduct
 
Reporting procedures are as follows:
 

A. Any student who believes they have been the victim of harassment prohibited under this policy will be encouraged
to report the alleged harassment to any District employee, such as a teacher, administrator or other employees.
 

B. Any parent of a student who believes the student has been the victim of harassment prohibited under this policy is
encouraged to report the alleged harassment to the student’s teacher, building administrator or District
Administrator.
 

C. Teachers, administrators, and other school employees who have the knowledge or received notice that a student
has or may have been the victim of harassment prohibited under this policy shall report the alleged harassment to
one (1) of the Compliance Officer(s) ( X ) and the building principal or District Administrator [END OF OPTION]
within two (2) days.
 

D. Any other person with knowledge or belief that a student has or may have been the victim of harassment
prohibited by this policy shall be encouraged to immediately report the alleged acts to any District employee, such
as a teacher, administrator or other employees.
 

E. The reporting party or Complainant shall be encouraged to use a report form available from the principal of each
building or available from the District office, but oral reports shall be considered complaints as well. Use of formal
reporting forms shall not be mandated. However, all oral complaints shall be reduced to writing.
 

F. To provide individuals with options for reporting harassment to an individual of the gender with which they feel
most comfortable, the Board has designated both a male and a female Compliance Officer for receiving reports of
harassment prohibited by this policy. At least one (1) Compliance Officer or other individuals shall be available
outside regular school hours to address complaints of harassment that may require immediate attention.

 
A CO will be available during regular school/work hours to discuss concerns related to harassment and to assist students,
other members of the School District community, and third parties who seek support or advice when informing another
individual about "unwelcome" conduct, or to intercede informally on behalf of the student.
 
Any Board employee who directly observes harassment of a student is obligated, in accordance with this policy, to report
such observations to one of the COs within two (2) days. Thereafter, the COs must contact the Complainant, if over age
eighteen (18) or the Complainant's parents/guardians if under age eighteen (18), within two (2) days to advise of the
Board's intent to investigate the alleged misconduct, including the obligation of the Compliance Officer to conduct an
investigation following all the procedures outlined in the complaint procedures.
 
The COs are assigned to accept complaints of harassment directly from any member of the School District community or a
Third Party, or to receive complaints that are initially filed with a school building administrator. Upon receipt of a complaint,
either directly or through a school building administrator, a CO will contact the Complainant and begin either an informal or
formal process (depending on the request of the Complainant or the nature of the alleged harassment), or [ ] Option 1
the CO(s) will designate a specific individual to conduct such a process as identified in a pre-defined list of investigators.
[END OF OPTION 1] [ X ] Option 2 the District Administrator will designate a specific individual to conduct the process
necessary for an informal or formal investigation. [END OF OPTION 2] The Compliance Officer(s) will provide a copy of
this policy to the Complainant and Respondent. The CO will prepare recommendations for the District Administrator. In the
case of a complaint against the District Administrator or a Board member, the CO will prepare recommendations for [ ]
_____________ [ X ] the Board Attorney [END OF OPTION] who has been designated to serve as the decision-maker
for such complaints. All Board employees must report incidents of harassment that are reported to them to the Compliance
Officer as soon as possible, but always within no more than two (2) days of learning of the incident.
 
In cases where no District CO is able to investigate a complaint due to concerns regarding conflicts, bias, or partiality, or
for other reasons that impair the CO's ability to conduct an investigation, the CO may, in consultation with the District
Administrator, or Board President if the matter involves the District Administrator, engage outside legal counsel to conduct
the investigation consistent with this policy.
 
Filing a Complaint and Initial Processing of a Complaint
 



12/11/23, 11:48 AM BoardDocs® PL

https://go.boarddocs.com/wi/sdman/Board.nsf/Private?open&login# 8/13

Except for Sexual Harassment that is covered by Policy 2266 - Nondiscrimination on the Basis of Sex in Education Program
or Activities, any student, or the student's parent/guardian, who believes that the student has been subjected to
harassment may seek resolution of the complaint through the procedures described below. The formal complaint process
involves an investigation of the Complainant's claims of harassment or retaliation and a process for rendering a decision
regarding whether the charges are substantiated.
 
The procedures set forth below are not intended to interfere with the rights of a student to pursue a complaint of
harassment or retaliation with the United States Department of Education Office for Civil Rights ("OCR") and/or other
applicable government agency. The Chicago Office of the OCR can be reached at John C. Kluczynski Federal Building, 230
S. Dearborn Street, 37th Floor Chicago, IL 60604; Telephone: 312-730-1560; FAX: 312-730-1576; TDD: 800-877-8339;
Email: OCR.Chicago@ed.gov; Web: http://www.ed.gov/ocr.
 
If at any time during the investigation process the investigator determines that the complaint is properly defined as
Bullying, under Policy 5517.01 - Bullying and not Harassment under this Policy, because the conduct at issue is not based
on a student’s Protected Characteristics, the investigator shall transfer the investigation to the appropriate building
principal.
 
If during an investigation of alleged bullying, aggressive behavior, and/or harassment, in accordance with Policy 5517.01 -
Bullying, the Principal believes that the reported misconduct may have created a hostile educational environment and may
have constituted discriminatory harassment based on a Protected Class, the Principal shall report the act of bullying,
aggressive behavior, and/or harassment to one (1) of the Compliance Officer(s) who shall investigate the allegation in
accordance with this policy. If the alleged harassment involves Sexual Harassment as defined by Policy 2266 -
Nondiscrimination on the Basis of Sex in Education Program or Activities, the matter will be investigated in accordance
with the grievance process and procedures outlined in Policy 2266 - Nondiscrimination on the Basis of Sex in Education
Program or Activities. While the Compliance Officer investigates the allegation, or the matter is being addressed pursuant
to Policy 2266, the Principal shall suspend the Policy 5517.01- Bullying investigation to await the Compliance Officer's
written report or the determination of responsibility pursuant to Policy 2266 -Nondiscrimination on the Basis of Sex in
Education Program or Activities. The Compliance Officer shall keep the Principal informed of the status of the investigation
under this policy and provide the Principal with a copy of the resulting report. Likewise, the Title IX Coordinator will
provide the Principal with the determination of responsibility that results from the Policy 2266 - Nondiscrimination on the
Basis of Sex in Education Program or Activities grievance process.
 
Complaint and Investigation Procedure
 
A Complainant may file a complaint, either orally or in writing with a teacher, principal, or other District employee at the
student’s school, the CO, District Administrator, or other District official who works at another school or at the District
level. Due to the sensitivity surrounding complaints of harassment, timelines are flexible for initiating the complaint
process; however, individuals should make every effort to file a complaint within thirty (30) days after the conduct occurs
while the facts are known and potential witnesses are available. If a Complainant informs a teacher, principal, or other
District official at the student’s school, the CO, District Administrator, or other District employee, either orally or in writing,
about any complaint of harassment, that employee must report such information to the CO within two (2) days.
 
Throughout the course of the process, the CO should keep the parties reasonably informed of the status of the
investigation and the decision-making process.
 
All complaints must include the following information to the extent known: the identity of the Respondent; a detailed
description of the facts upon which the complaint is based (i.e., when, where, and what occurred); and a list of potential
witnesses.
 
If the Complainant is unwilling or unable to provide a written statement including the information set forth above, the
Compliance Officer shall ask for such details in an oral interview. Thereafter the CO will prepare a written summary of the
oral interview, and the Complainant will be asked to verify the accuracy of the reported charge by signing the document.
 
Upon receiving a complaint, the CO will consider whether any action should be taken in the investigatory phase to protect
the Complainant from further harassment or retaliation including but not limited to a change of class schedule for the
Complainant or the Respondent, or possibly a change of school for either or both of the parties. In making such a
determination, the Compliance Officer should consult the ( ) Principal ( X ) District Administrator [END OF OPTION] prior
to any action being taken, except for complaints against the District Administrator, in which case the Board President
should be consulted. The Complainant should be notified of any proposed action prior to such action being taken.
 
As soon as appropriate in the investigation process, the CO will inform the Respondent that a complaint has been received.
The Respondent will be informed about the nature of the allegations and a copy of any relevant policies and/or
administrative procedures and the Board's anti-harassment policy shall be provided to the Respondent at that time. The
Respondent must also be provided an opportunity to respond to the complaint.
 



12/11/23, 11:48 AM BoardDocs® PL

https://go.boarddocs.com/wi/sdman/Board.nsf/Private?open&login# 9/13

All investigations shall be commenced as soon as practicable upon receipt of a complaint and concluded as expeditiously as
feasible, in consideration of the circumstances, while taking measures to complete a thorough investigation. The
Complainant shall be notified in writing of receipt of the complaint within forty-five (45) days of the complaint and shall
reach a determination concerning the complaint within ninety (90) days of receipt unless additional time is agreed to by
the Complainant.
 
Generally, within two (2) days of receiving the complaint, the CO will initiate an investigation by at a minimum confirming
receipt of the complaint with the Complainant and informing the Complainant of the investigation process.
 
The investigation generally will include:
 

A. interview(s) with the Complainant;
 

B. interview(s) with the Respondent;
 

C. interviews with any other witnesses who reasonably may be expected to have any information relevant to the
allegations, as determined by the CO;
 

D. consideration of any documentation or other evidence presented by the Complainant, Respondent, or any other
witness which is reasonably believed to be relevant to the allegations, as determined by the CO.

 
At the conclusion of the investigation, the CO shall prepare and deliver a report to the District Administrator which
summarizes the evidence gathered during the investigation and provides recommendations based on the evidence and the
definition of harassment as provided in Board policy and State and Federal law as to whether the Respondent engaged in
harassment/retaliation of the Complainant. In determining if harassment occurred, a preponderance of evidence standard
will be used. The CO’s recommendations must be based upon the totality of the circumstances, including the ages and
maturity levels of those involved.
 
( X ) The CO may consult with the Board's attorney during the course of the investigatory process and/or before finalizing
the report to the District Administrator.
 
Generally, within five (5) days of receiving the report of the CO or designee, the District Administrator, or in the case of a
complaint against the District Administrator or a Board member, the person designated to serve as the decision-maker for
the complaint either must issue a written decision regarding whether the complaint has been substantiated or request
further investigation. A copy of the District Administrator's final decision will be delivered to both the Complainant and the
Respondent. The District Administrator may redact information from the decision consistent with applicable law. The Board
authorizes the District Administrator to consult with legal counsel to determine the extent to which information in an
investigation report must be provided to either the Complainant or Respondent.
 
If the District Administrator requests additional investigation, the District Administrator must specify the additional
information that is to be gathered, and such additional investigation must be completed within five (5) days. At the
conclusion of the additional investigation, the District Administrator must issue a final written decision as described above.
 
The decision of the District Administrator shall be final. If the Complainant feels that the decision does not adequately
address the complaint they may appeal the decision to the State Superintendent of Public Instruction by submitting a
written request to the Wisconsin Department of Public Instruction ("DPI"), Pupil Nondiscrimination Program, or by
contacting the DPI Pupil Nondiscrimination Program at (608) 267-9157.
 
The Board reserves the right to investigate and resolve a complaint or report of harassment regardless of whether the
member of the School District community or Third Party alleging the harassment pursues the complaint. The Board also
reserves the right to have the complaint investigation conducted by an external person in accordance with this policy or in
such other manner as deemed appropriate by the Board.
 
To the extent required by law or permitted by the District, the parties may be represented, at their own cost, at any of the
above-described meetings/hearings.
 
The right of a person to a prompt and equitable resolution of the complaint shall not be impaired by the person’s pursuit of
other remedies such as the filing of a complaint with the Office for Civil Rights, the filing of charges with local law
enforcement, or the filing of a civil action in court. Use of this internal complaint process is not a prerequisite to the pursuit
of other remedies.
 
Additional School District Action
 



12/11/23, 11:48 AM BoardDocs® PL

https://go.boarddocs.com/wi/sdman/Board.nsf/Private?open&login# 10/13

If the evidence suggests that the harassment at issue is a crime or requires mandatory reporting under the Children's
Code (Sec. 48.981, Wis. Stat.), the CO or District Administrator shall report the harassment to the appropriate social
service and/or law enforcement agency charged with responsibility for handling such investigations and crimes.
 
Any reports made to the local child protection service or to local law enforcement shall not terminate the CO's obligation
and responsibility to continue to investigate a complaint of harassment. While the COs may work cooperatively with
outside agencies to conduct concurrent investigations, in no event shall the harassment investigation be inhibited by the
involvement of outside agencies without good cause after consultation with the District Administrator.
 
Privacy/Confidentiality
 
The District will employ all reasonable efforts to protect the rights of the Complainant, the Respondent(s), and the
witnesses as much as possible, consistent with the District's legal obligations to investigation, take appropriate action, and
comply with any discovery or disclosure obligations. Confidentiality cannot be guaranteed, however. Respondents must be
provided an opportunity to meaningfully respond to allegations, which may include disclosure of the Complainant's identity.
 
All records generated under the terms of this policy shall be maintained as confidential to the extent permitted by law.
Additionally, the Respondent must be provided with the Complainant's identity.
 
During the course of an investigation, the CO will instruct each person who are interviewed about the importance of
maintaining confidentiality. Any individual who is interviewed as part of an investigation is expected not to disclose to Third
Parties any information that is learned or provided during the course of the investigation.
 
Directives During Investigation
 
The CO may recommend to the District Administrator placing any employee involved in an investigation under this Policy
on administrative leave pending resolution of the matter. If the District Administrator is the Respondent, the CO shall make
such recommendation to the Board. For example, administrative leave may be appropriate in situations in which protecting
the safety of any individual or the integrity of the investigation necessitates such action.
 
The CO shall determine whether any witnesses in the course of an investigation should be provided a Garrity warning
apprising the person of their obligations to answer questions truthfully and honestly while preserving the right against self-
incrimination in the context of any resulting criminal investigation or prosecutionmay be required to answer questions that
could also involve criminal investigations or sanctions, including the existence of a co-occurring law enforcement
investigation are still required to answer questions concerning the District's investigation, but are entitled to do so without
waiving their Constitutional right against self-incrimination that applies during a criminal investigation. Employees should
be advised of this right, through what is often referred to as a "Garrity Warning". The Garrity Warning informs the
employee that the employee is required to respond to questions posed during the investigation and that answers to
questions relating to the employee's conduct may be used by the District for determining appropriate discipline, but will
not be provided to law enforcement officials in the course of their independent criminal investigation, unless otherwise
required by law. (see Form 5517 F3 - "Garrity" Warning)
 
Every employee interviewed in the course of an investigation is required to provide truthful responses to all questions.
Failure to do so may result in disciplinary action.
 
Remedial Action and Monitoring
 
If warranted, appropriate remedial action shall be determined and implemented on behalf of the Complainant, including
but not limited to counseling services, reinstatement of leave taken because of the discrimination, or other appropriate
action.
 
The Board may appoint an individual, who may be a District employee, to follow up with the Complainant to ensure no
further discrimination or retaliation has occurred and to take action to address any reported occurrences promptly.
 
Sanctions and Disciplinary Action
 
The Board shall vigorously enforce its prohibitions against harassment by taking appropriate action reasonably calculated
to stop the harassment and prevent further misconduct.
 
While observing the principles of due process, a violation of this policy may result in disciplinary action up to and including
the discharge of an employee or the suspension/expulsion of a student. All disciplinary action will be taken in accordance
with applicable law.
 



12/11/23, 11:48 AM BoardDocs® PL

https://go.boarddocs.com/wi/sdman/Board.nsf/Private?open&login# 11/13

When imposing discipline, the District Administrator shall consider the totality of the circumstances involved in the matter,
including the age and maturity level of any student involved. In those cases where harassment is not substantiated, the
Board may consider whether the alleged conduct nevertheless warrants discipline in accordance with other Board policies.
 
Where the Board becomes aware that a prior disciplinary action has been taken against the Respondent, all subsequent
sanctions imposed by the Board and/or District Administrator shall be reasonably calculated to end such conduct, prevent
its reoccurrence, and remedy its effects.
 
Retaliation
 
Retaliation against a person who makes a report or files a complaint alleging harassment/retaliation or participates as a
witness in an investigation is prohibited. Neither the Board nor any other person may intimidate, threaten, coerce or
interfere with any individual because the person opposed any act or practice made by any Federal or State civil rights law,
or because that individual made a report, formal complaint, testified, assisted or participated or refused to participate in
any manner in an investigation, proceeding, or hearing under those laws and/or this policy, or because that individual
exercised, enjoyed, aided or encouraged any other person in the exercise or enjoyment of any right granted or protected
by those laws and/or this policy.
 
Retaliation  against a person for making a report of discrimination, filing a formal complaint, or participating in an
investigation or meeting is a serious violation of this policy that can result in imposition of disciplinary
sanctions/consequences and/or other appropriate remedies.
 
Formal complaints alleging retaliation may be filed according to the internal complaint process set forth above.
 
The exercise of rights protected under the First Amendment of the United States Constitution does not constitute
retaliation prohibited under this policy.
 
Education and Training
 
In support of this policy, the Board promotes preventative educational measures to create greater awareness of
discriminatory practices. The District Administrator shall provide appropriate information to all members of the School
District community related to the implementation of this policy and shall provide training for District students and staff
where appropriate. All training, as well as all information, provided regarding the Board's policy and discrimination in
general, will be age and content appropriate.
 
Retention of Investigatory Records and Materials
 
The CO is responsible for overseeing retention of all records that must be maintained pursuant to this policy. All individuals
charged with conducting investigations under this policy shall retain all information, documents, electronically stored
information (“ESI”), and electronic media (as defined in Policy 8315) created and received as part of an investigation
which may include but are not limited to:
 

A. all written reports/allegations/complaints/statements;
 

B. narratives of all verbal reports, allegations, complaints, and statements collected;
 

C. a narrative of all actions taken by District personnel;
 

D. any written documentation of actions taken by District personnel or individuals contracted or appointed by the
Board to fulfill its responsibilities;
 

E. narratives of, notes from, or audio, video, or digital recordings of witness statements;
 

F. all documentary evidence;
 

G. e-mails, texts, or social media posts pertaining to the investigation;
 

H. contemporaneous notes in whatever form made (e.g., handwritten, keyed into a computer or tablet, etc.)
pertaining to the investigation;
 

I. written disciplinary sanctions issued to students or employees and a narrative of verbal disciplinary sanctions issued
to students or employees for violations of the policies and procedures prohibiting discrimination or harassment;
 

J. dated written determinations to the parties;
 



12/11/23, 11:48 AM BoardDocs® PL

https://go.boarddocs.com/wi/sdman/Board.nsf/Private?open&login# 12/13

K. dated written descriptions of verbal notifications to the parties;
 

L. written documentation of any supportive measures offered and/or provided to the Complainant and/or the
Respondent, including no contact orders issued to both parties, the dates issued, and the dates the parties
acknowledged receipt;
 

M. documentation of all actions taken, both individual and systemic, to stop the discrimination or harassment, prevent
its recurrence, eliminate any hostile environment, and remedy its discriminatory effects;
 

N. copies of the Board policy and/or procedures/guidelines used by the District to conduct the investigation, and any
documents used by the District at the time of the alleged violation to communicate the Board’s expectations to
students and staff with respect to the subject of this policy (e.g., Student Code of Conduct and/or Employee
Handbooks);
 

O. copies of any documentation that memorializes any formal or informal resolutions to the alleged discrimination or
harassment;
 

P. documentation of any training provided to District personnel related to this policy, including but not limited to,
notification of the prohibitions and expectations of staff set forth in this policy and the role and responsibility of all
District personnel involved in enforcing this policy, including their duty to report alleged violations of this policy
and/or conducting an investigation of an alleged violation of this policy; [REMINDER:  Documentation of
training should be maintained regardless of whether there is an investigation of an alleged violation of
this policy. It is best practice to maintain a log of all staff members who participate in a training, along
with the date, time and location of the training, and a copy of the materials reviewed and/or presented
during the training.]

[DRAFTING NOTE: The following options should be selected if the district concludes that the following
items are not adequately encompassed in the preceding paragraphs.]
 

Q. ( X )  documentation that any rights or opportunities that the District made available to one party during the
investigation were made available to the other party on equal terms;
 

R. ( X ) copies of any notices sent to the alleged perpetrator/responding party of the allegations constituting a
potential violation of this policy;
 

S. ( X ) copies of any notices sent to the Complainant and the Respondent in advance of any interview or hearing;
 

T. ( X ) copies of any documentation or evidence used during informal and formal disciplinary meetings and hearings,
including the investigation report, and any written responses submitted by the Complainant or the Respondent.

 
The information, documents, ESI, and electronic media (as defined in Policy 8315) retained may include public records and
records exempt from disclosure under Federal and/or State law (e.g., student records).
 
The information, documents, ESI, and electronic media (as defined in Policy 8315 - Information Management) created or
received as part of an investigation shall be retained in accordance with Policy 8310 - Public Records, Policy 8315 -
Information Management, Policy 8320 - Personnel Records, and Policy 8330 - Student Records for not less than three (3)
years, but longer if required by the District’s records retention schedule.
 
© Neola 2023

Legal 48.981, Wis. Stats.

118.13, Wis. Stats.

P.I. 9, Wis. Admin. Code

P.I. 41 Wis. Admin. Code

20 U.S.C. 1400 et seq., the Individuals with Disabilities Education Act of 2004, as
amended (IDEA)

29 U.S.C. 794, Section 504 of the Rehabilitation Act of 1973, as amended

42 U.S.C. 1983

42 U.S.C. 2000d et seq., Title VI of the Civil Rights Act of 1964

42 U.S.C. 12101 et seq., Americans with Disabilities Act of 1990, as amended



12/11/23, 11:48 AM BoardDocs® PL

https://go.boarddocs.com/wi/sdman/Board.nsf/Private?open&login# 13/13

34 C.F.R. Part 104, Section 504 Regulations

34 C.F.R. Part 300, IDEA Regulations

Last Modified by Ryan Peterson on December 6, 2023



12/11/23, 11:50 AM BoardDocs® PL

https://go.boarddocs.com/wi/sdman/Board.nsf/Private?open&login# 1/2

Book Policy Manual

Section Vol. 32, No. 2, July 2023

Title Revised Policy - Vol. 32, No. 2, July 2023 - STUDENT USE OR POSSESSION OF
INTOXICANTS, DRUGS, OR PARAPHERNALIA

Code po5530

Status Proposed to Policy & Human Resources Committee

Last Reviewed December 6, 2023

Revised Policy - Vol. 32, No. 2
 
5530 - STUDENT USE OR POSSESSION OF INTOXICANTS, DRUGS, OR PARAPHERNALIADRUG PREVENTION
 
The Board of Education recognizes that the misuse of drugs is a serious problem with legal, physical, and social
implications for the entire school community.
 
[ X ] As the educational institution of this community, the schools should strive to prevent drug abuse and help drug
abusers by educational, rather than punitive, means.
 
For purposes of this policy, "drugs" shall mean:
 

A. ( X ) all dangerous controlled substances as so designated and prohibited by Wisconsin statute;
 

C. ( X ) all chemicals which release toxic vapors;
 

D. ( X ) all alcoholic beverages;
 

E. ( X ) any prescription or patent drug, except those for which permission to use in school has been granted
pursuant to Board policy;
 

F. ( X ) "look-alikes";
 

H. ( X ) anabolic steroids;
 

I. ( X ) any other illegal substance so designated and prohibited by law.
 
The Board prohibits the use, possession, concealment, or distribution of any drug and any drug-paraphernalia at any time
on District property or at any District-related event.
 

B. ( X ) all derivates of hemp, except CBD products permitted by the school ( X ) (see Policy 5330 - Administration of
Medication/Emergency Care);

This includes Delta-8-THC, Delta-9-THC, Delta-10-THC, Delta-11-THC, THC-0, and all other forms that cause
psychosis; in all forms of delivery (i.e., inhalation, ingestion, injection, etc.).
 

G. ( X ) essential oils and oil like products that may be mistaken for a drug ( X ) (see Policy 5330 - Administration of
Medication/Emergency Care);
 



12/11/23, 11:50 AM BoardDocs® PL

https://go.boarddocs.com/wi/sdman/Board.nsf/Private?open&login# 2/2

The District Administrator shall prepare guidelines for the identification, amelioration, and regulation of drug use in the
schools, including education, prevention and standards of conduct. Education shall be intended to develop awareness of:
drug abuse, including prescription drug abuse, and prevention; the relationship between highway safety and the use of
alcohol and controlled substances, including prescription drugs; and the relationship between youth suicide and the use of
alcohol and controlled substances, including prescription drugs.
 
© Neola 20182023

Legal 118.01(2)(d), Wis. Stats.

118.24(2)(f), Wis. Stats.

118.257, Wis. Stats.

125.09(2), Wis. Stats.

Drug-Free Schools and Communities Act of 1986 as amended

20 U.S.C. 3171 et seq.

20 U.S.C. 3224A

Last Modified by Ryan Peterson on December 6, 2023



11/30/23, 12:57 PM BoardDocs® PL

https://go.boarddocs.com/wi/sdman/Board.nsf/Private?open&login# 1/2

Book Policy Manual

Section Vol. 32, No. 2, July 2023

Title Revised Policy - Vol. 32, No. 2, July 2023 - RETURNED/OUTSTANDING-STALE
CHECKS

Code po6151

Status Proposed to Policy & Human Resources Committee

Adopted July 18, 2016

Last Revised January 17, 2022

Last Reviewed December 6, 2023

Revised Policy - Vol. 32, No. 2
 
6151 - RETURNED/OUTSTANDING-STALE CHECKS
 
When the District receives a check from a student or parent that, when deposited, is returned marked "insufficient funds",
the District Administrator shall provide an opportunity for the payer to make proper payment or to arrange for a
satisfactory payment schedule. If payment is not received within ____ (_30_) days, the payment schedule is not adhered
to, or the monies do not appear to be collectable, the Board of Education authorizes the District Administrator to remove
the fee or charge from the District's Accounts Receivable and to take appropriate action against the student and/or the
parents. The parent or student may be charged any cost charged by the District's banking institution for a returned check.
 
Outstanding (Stale Dated) Checks - Unclaimed Property Process
 
Checks that are outstanding, meaning they have not been cashed by the payee, after ( X ) the period of time established
by the banking institution for the validity period of the check ( ) a period of 180 days after issuance ( ) a period of
_____________ days after issuance [END OF OPTIONS] [DRAFTING NOTE: Neola recommends that District's
consult with their banking institution to determine if the bank has established a period of time after which a
check is no longer valid.] shall be deemed to be a "stale" check. Any stale check shall be treated as unclaimed property
consistent with the guidance provided by the Wisconsin Department of Revenue's (WI DOR) "Unclaimed Property Holder
Report Guide" for locating the owner and/or remitting the unclaimed property to the WI DOR.
 
© Neola 202123

Last Modified by Ryan Peterson on November 30, 2023



11/30/23, 12:57 PM BoardDocs® PL

https://go.boarddocs.com/wi/sdman/Board.nsf/Private?open&login# 2/2



11/30/23, 1:04 PM BoardDocs® PL

https://go.boarddocs.com/wi/sdman/Board.nsf/Private?open&login# 1/2

Book Policy Manual

Section Vol. 32, No. 2, July 2023

Title New Policy - Vol. 32, No. 2, July 2023 - COMMUNITY SERVICES FUND (FUND 80)

Code po6236

Status Proposed to Policy & Human Resources Committee

Last Reviewed December 6, 2023

New Policy - Vol. 32, No. 2
 
6236 - COMMUNITY SERVICES FUND (FUND 80)
 
It is the purpose of this policy to authorize a Community Services Fund (hereinafter referred to as “Fund 80”) for the
development and maintenance of programs and services outside of the regular curricular and extra-curricular programs
(these programs may include education, training, recreational, cultural and/or athletic programs and services).  
 
The Community Services Program is accounted for in Fund 80 and the Board of Education may fund the program by a
combination of a local tax levy and user/rental fees.  Fund 80 expenses shall not be paid from the Fund 10 general fund.
 
Each activity or service covered by this policy must be authorized by the Board before monies can be collected or
disbursed in the name of said activity or service. 
 
Each activity or service supported by this fund must be open for participation by the general community within any age or
similar guidelines of the activity and not contain prohibitive requirements based on school district membership.  The
following costs are ineligible costs for community programs and services:
 

A. Costs for any program or service that it limited to only District students;
 

B. Costs for any program or service whose schedule presents a significant barrier for age-appropriate School District
resident to participate in the program or service;
 

C. Costs that are not the actual, additional cost to operate community programs and services under this policy; and
 

D. Costs that would be incurred by the District if community programs and services were not being provided by the
District.

 
The Board must adopt a budget for Fund 80 expenditures.  (  X ) A summary of revenues and expenses will be provided at
each District Annual Meeting to determine future Fund 80 tax levies. [DRAFTING NOTE: This option should not be
selected by Unified School Districts.]
 
© Neola 2023

Legal 65.90, Wis. Stat.

120.13(19), Wis. Stats.

Wis. Admin Code PI 80

Last Modified by Ryan Peterson on November 30, 2023



11/30/23, 1:04 PM BoardDocs® PL

https://go.boarddocs.com/wi/sdman/Board.nsf/Private?open&login# 2/2



11/30/23, 1:17 PM BoardDocs® PL

https://go.boarddocs.com/wi/sdman/Board.nsf/Private?open&login# 1/2

Book Policy Manual

Section Vol. 32, No. 2, July 2023

Title Replacement Policy - Vol. 32, No. 2, July 2023 - NONDISTRICT-SUPPORTED
STUDENT ACTIVITY ACCOUNTS

Code po6610

Status Proposed to Policy & Human Resources Committee

Adopted July 18, 2016

Last Revised March 15, 2021

Last Reviewed December 6, 2023

Replacement Policy - Vol. 32, No. 2
 
6610 - NONDISTRICT-SUPPORTED STUDENT ACTIVITY ACCOUNTS
 
The Board of Education authorizes the maintenance of approved student activity accounts for nondistrict-supported
student activities as allowed by DPI regulations and the auditor's recommendations in accordance with GASB 84. Approval
of the establishment of any student activity account for a nondistrict-supported student activity, after the student activity
is approved, without District financial support, in accordance with Policy 2430 - District-Sponsored Clubs and Activities,
shall be determined by the ( X ) District Administrator ( ) Business Manager ( ) School Administration ( )
___________________ [END OF OPTION] before monies can be collected or disbursed in the name of said activity.
[DRAFTING NOTE: For consistency, it is recommended to make the selection of the approval entity consistent
with Policy 2430 - District-Sponsored Clubs and Activities.]
 
Definitions
 
The following definitions are provided for these terms within the context of this policy:
 

A. District-sponsored student activity: All student activities recognized by the District as approved co-
curricular/extra-curricular activities are designated as District-sponsored, including both District-supported and
nondistrict-supported student activities. (see Policy 2430 - District-Sponsored Clubs and Activities)
 

B. District-supported student activity: The District provides financial support of the student activity and exercises
administrative control over dispersal of the activity's funds.
 

C. Nondistrict-supported student activity: The District does not provide financial support of the student activity
and does not exercise administrative control over dispersal of funds.

 
Other terms are used as defined in Bylaw 0100 - Definitions.
 
Nondistrict-supported Student Activities
 
Nondistrict-supported student activity accounts are intended to provide a custodial account for an approved student
activity for which the District does not provide funds (i.e., have financial involvement) or exercise administrative control
over the funds. Such nondistrict-supported student activities may not be required by any course or provide any academic
credit. These student activities are established for District students and may have a District-assigned and/or a District-
compensated staff advisor/coach for supervisory purposes. While these student activities may use District facilities,
equipment, and materials, the funds for these activities are self-managed by the students. Assistance from parents or
other volunteers is permissible (see Policy 8120 - Volunteers). Fund-raising is permissible in accordance with District
policies (see Policy 5830 - Student Fund-Raising and Policy 9700 - Relations with Non-School Affiliated Groups). Equal
access shall be provided in accordance with Policy 5730 - Equal Access for Nondistrict-Sponsored Student Clubs and
Activities. A District staff member may serve as an advisor/coach, but decisions regarding money must be made by the
students, as long as such expenditures do not violate District policies (e.g., purchase of illegal items, purchase of



11/30/23, 1:17 PM BoardDocs® PL

https://go.boarddocs.com/wi/sdman/Board.nsf/Private?open&login# 2/2

nonconforming technology, purchase from a non-approved vendor). As a fiduciary in accordance with GASB 84, the District
maintains custodial accounts for the student activity, but does not determine or approve how account monies are used
since financial decisions are made by the students without administrative control or endorsement from District staff. 
 
Criteria for Nondistrict-Supported Student Activity Accounts
 
Nondistrict-supported student activity accounts may be established if all of the following criteria are met:
 

A. The student activity account has been approved in accordance with this policy.
 

B. The activity's students or student officers make all decisions regarding revenues, budgeting, and expenditures.
 

C. Any request to expend money from the account must be endorsed in writing by the activity's President and
Treasurer. 
 

D. The activity's advisor/coach is NOT permitted to make decisions regarding money, nor may the advisor/coach
initiate or endorse any expenditure request.
 

E. The student activity account is not under the District's control, nor subject to District oversight.
 
Accounts for District-Supported Clubs, Activities, and Athletics
 
District-supported clubs, activities, and athletics are supported, at least in part, with District funds and are therefore
subject to District oversight and management. In addition, any club, activity, or athletic team that does not directly receive
designated District funds but is required for a course or provides academic credit is also considered District-supported and
is subject to District oversight and management. 
 
District-supported clubs, activities, or athletics are not affected by this policy. 
 
Typically, District-supported student co-curricular activities have designated activity funds established either in Fund 10 or
Fund 21 in accordance with GASB 84, DPI regulations, and auditor recommendations. Financial support includes, but is not
limited to, budgeted funds allocated by the District or school, an advisor/coach paid for by the District or school who
exercises control over the activity's fund, some activities offered to students paid for by the District or school, and
transportation paid for by the District or school. Also, financial support includes indirect financial assistance as part of the
District's educational program when student participation is required by a course or academic credit is awarded for
participation in the activity.
 
General Provisions
 
The purpose of District-sponsored activities is to enable students to explore a wider range of individual interests than may
be available in the District's courses of study but are still related to accomplishing the educational outcomes for students
as adopted by the Board in Policy 2131 - Educational Outcome Goals and Expectations. District-sponsored activities must
be approved in accordance with Policy 2430 - District-Sponsored Clubs and Activities or Policy 2431 - Interscholastic
Athletics.
 
District-sponsored student activities are authorized to use the District name, logo, mascot, or any other name which would
associate an activity with the District provided such use is consistent with other applicable District policies. 
 
Student fund-raising shall be conducted in accordance with Policy 5830 - Student Fund-Raising and Policy 9700 - Relations
with Non-School Affiliated Groups.
 
All collected money shall be handled, secured, and deposited in accordance with Policy 6630 - Cash Handling and Deposits.
Misappropriation of activity monies, which includes theft or any other misuse of monies, will result in discipline up to and
including suspension, expulsion, and/or termination of employment.
 
Discontinued Student Activities
 
After one (1) full school year of inactivity, the unexpended funds of a discontinued nondistrict-supported student activity
shall be transferred to the Student Council's account unless the discontinued student activity had provided other
instructions for dispersal of its unexpended funds.
 
After one (1) full school year of inactivity, the unexpended funds of a discontinued District-supported student activity shall
be transferred to the District's General Fund - Fund 10.
 
© Neola 2023

Legal 120.16(2) Wis. Stats.

Last Modified by Ryan Peterson on November 30, 2023



11/30/23, 1:20 PM BoardDocs® PL

https://go.boarddocs.com/wi/sdman/Board.nsf/Private?open&login# 1/2

Book Policy Manual

Section Vol. 32, No. 2, July 2023

Title New Policy - Vol. 32, No. 2, July 2023 - MEMORIALS FOR STAFF AND STUDENTS

Code po7250.01

Status Proposed to Policy & Human Resources Committee

Last Reviewed December 6, 2023

New Policy - Vol. 32, No. 2
 
7250.01 - MEMORIALS FOR STAFF AND STUDENTS
 
The Board of Education recognizes the far-reaching impact that a student's or staff member’s death may have on other
students, staff, families, and the community as well as the importance of remembering deaths of students or staff, and
recommends that memorials take an active form.
 
Some examples of memorials include a blood drive, partnering with local nonprofit organizations and related activities,
and/or establishing a scholarship. As a courtesy, the family of the deceased student or staff member should also provide
consent before the activity is held. The Board believes that the remembrance of a student or staff member whose life
ended should be consistent from case to case, considerate of the grief process of family and friends, and in accordance
with this policy.
 
Generally, the Board does not support permanent memorials including, but not limited to, the use of memorial plaques or
markers which are mounted or displayed on District buildings or grounds. Memorials are permissible only after a proposal
is approved by the ( X ) Board ( ) District Administrator ( ) _______________ [END OF OPTION]. [ ] The ( ) District
Administrator ( ) __________________ [END OF OPTION] shall inform the Board of all such approved permanent
memorials. [END OF OPTION]
 
[ X ] When there is a death by suicide, it is important that the response to the death not serve as an incentive for self-
inflicted acts by others. The American Association of Suicidology concludes that memorials contribute negatively to the
contagion effect.  Projects that are life-affirming are encouraged. Examples include volunteering, tutoring, fundraising for a
charity, or community service. 
 
© Neola 2023

Last Modified by Ryan Peterson on November 30, 2023



11/30/23, 1:20 PM BoardDocs® PL

https://go.boarddocs.com/wi/sdman/Board.nsf/Private?open&login# 2/2



12/11/23, 11:51 AM BoardDocs® PL

https://go.boarddocs.com/wi/sdman/Board.nsf/Private?open&login# 1/4

Book Policy Manual

Section Vol. 32, No. 2, July 2023

Title Revised Policy - Vol. 32, No. 2, July 2023 - VIDEO SURVEILLANCE AND ELECTRONIC
MONITORING

Code po7440.01

Status Proposed to Policy & Human Resources Committee

Adopted November 21, 2016

Last Revised December 19, 2022

Last Reviewed December 6, 2023

Revised Policy - Vol. 32, No. 2
 
7440.01 - VIDEO SURVEILLANCE AND ELECTRONIC MONITORING
 
The Board of Education authorizes the use of video surveillance and electronic monitoring equipment at various facilities
and school sites throughout the District, and on school buses. No audio or video surveillance is permitted within the
District other than those authorized by policy or the District Administrator, and only if clear and visible notice is provided to
any persons entering an area or building subject to video and/or audio monitoring that such monitoring may occur. This
does not restrict the collection of video or audio recording at events open to the public.
 

Wherever video surveillance or electronic monitoring are used, such notification shall identify that video or electronic ( )
and audio [END OF OPTIONS] surveillance

( ) is possible technology

( ) are possible technologies
 
[END OF OPTIONS] being employed. 
 
[DRAFTING NOTE: If opting to employ audio surveillance, this should be done with legal consultation.
Whether notice of audio surveillance in a school facility is sufficient to establish consent is not a clearly
settled legal concept in Wisconsin.]
 
Placement of Surveillance
 
[ X ] The District Administrator is responsible for determining where to install and operate fixed-location video
surveillance/electronic monitoring equipment in the District. [END OF OPTIONAL SENTENCE] ( X ) The District
Administrator shall assure that video surveillance is handled in accordance with the placement, monitoring, and access
considerations incorporated into the school safety plan as more fully described in Policy 8420 - School Safety. [END OF
OPTIONAL SENTENCE] The determination of where and when to use video surveillance/electronic monitoring equipment
will be made in a nondiscriminatory manner. Video surveillance/electronic monitoring equipment may be placed in common
areas in school buildings (e.g. school hallways, entryways, the front office where students, employees, and visitors are
permitted to freely come and go, gymnasiums, cafeterias, libraries), the school parking lots and other outside areas, and
in school buses. Except in extraordinary circumstances and with the written authorization of the District Administrator,
video surveillance/electronic monitoring equipment shall not be used in areas where persons have a reasonable
expectation of privacy (e.g. restrooms, locker rooms, changing areas, private offices (unless there is express consent



12/11/23, 11:51 AM BoardDocs® PL

https://go.boarddocs.com/wi/sdman/Board.nsf/Private?open&login# 2/4

given by the office occupant), or conference/meeting rooms), or in individual classrooms during instructional times. (
X ) Security staff and administratorsAdministrators are authorized to carry and use portable video cameras when
responding to incidents. [END OF OPTIONAL SENTENCE] ( X ) The Board authorizes security personnel to use body-
worn video cameras while on duty but prohibits them from being operated while the individual is routinely patrolling
restrooms and locker rooms unless the staff member is responding to a specific incident. [END OF OPTIONAL
SENTENCE]
 
Any person who takes action to block, move, or alter the location and/or viewing angle of a video camera shall be subject
to disciplinary action.
 
Notification of Surveillance
 
[DRAFTING NOTE: If opting to employ audio surveillance, this should be done with legal consultation.
Whether notice of audio surveillance in a school facility is sufficient to establish consent is not a clearly
settled legal concept in Wisconsin.]

Wherever video surveillance or electronic monitoring are used, such notification shall identify that video or electronic ( )
and audio [END OF OPTIONS] surveillance
 

( X ) is possible technology

( ) are possible technologies
 
[END OF OPTIONS]
 
being employed. 
 
[DRAFTING NOTE: The language regarding the notification of parents and students regarding video
surveillance/electronic monitoring equipment in the student handbook has been made optional, however,
while not mandated by law this method of notification is strongly recommended and is considered best
practice.]
 
Legible and visible signs shall be placed at the main entrance to buildings and in the areas where video
surveillance/electronic monitoring equipment is in use to notify people that their actions/behavior are subject to being
monitored/recorded, which may include video footage, audio recording, or both. ( X ) Additionally, the District
Administrator is directed to annually notify parents and students through the Student Handbook, ( ) and school
newsletters [END OF OPTION] and staff via the Staff Handbook(s), of the use of video surveillance/electronic monitoring
systems in their schools, which may include either video or audio footage, or both. [END OF OPTIONAL SENTENCE] In
cases approved by the District Administrator, camera surveillance may be used for investigatory purposes without staff,
student, or public notice if the usage is calculated to further investigation into misconduct believed to have occurred or
believed to be ongoing.
 
Uses of Surveillance
 
Any information obtained from video surveillance/electronic monitoring systems may only be used to support the orderly
operation of the School District's schools and facilities, and for law enforcement purposes, and not for any other purposes.
As such, recordings obtained through the use of video surveillance/electronic monitoring equipment may be used as
evidence in any disciplinary proceeding, administrative proceeding or criminal proceeding, subject to Board policy and
regulations. Further, such recordings may become a part of a student's education record or staff member's personnel file.
 
[ X ] Ordinarily, video surveillance/electronic monitoring equipment will not be used to make an audio recording of
conversation occurring on school grounds or property.
 
The Board will not place video surveillance/electronic monitoring equipment for the purpose of obtaining information for
routine staff appraisal/evaluation or monitoring; however, video footage captured in the normal course of surveillance
which shows information pertinent to staff performance or conduct may be used for that purpose.
 
[ X ] Additionally, prerecorded lessons or observations of online or virtual learning sessions may be included as part of an
employee's evaluation.
 
Further, if an employee is assigned to work remotely (i.e., telework), the administrationAdministration is authorized to
conduct observations that consist of the supervisor reviewing video-recordings of the employee working and/or watching
the employee perform their job responsibilities through means of a live-stream that includes both video and audio.
 



12/11/23, 11:51 AM BoardDocs® PL

https://go.boarddocs.com/wi/sdman/Board.nsf/Private?open&login# 3/4

Additionally, nothing herein shall prevent the administrationAdministration from using information gathered through
electronic means (i.e., viewing a video-recording or live-stream of an employee working) for employment purposes
including, but not limited to, completing components of an evaluation.  
 
[END OF OPTION]
 
Recordings that capture students may be student records and as such will be treated as confidential, subject to the Board's
public records and student records policies.
 
Retention, Secure Storage, Access to and Disposal of Video Recordings
 
[DRAFTING NOTE: the minimum period of time that video footage will remain available should be based on
the technological capabilities being utilized by the District. If video footage is overwritten every seven (7)
days, then the policy should not reflect a longer period of time. The policy accounts for the possibility that
certain camera footage may be available longer, for example, if it is triggered by motion detection as opposed
to continuous recording, but the availability will have to be case-by-case. Neola recommends consultation
with District IT/security personnel when determining how to complete the following sections of this policy.]
 
The Board shall maintain video surveillance/electronic monitoring recordings for a limited period. Any request to view a
recording under this policy must be made within _____ (7 calendar__) [seven (7) to thirty (30)] days of the
event/incident in order to assure its availability. Inquiries after that time period may be available depending on current
retention capabilities. Unless a recording is separated and maintained for some reason by the District, any recording may
be destroyed after _____ (30 calendar__) [seven (7) to thirty (30)] days. If, however, action is taken by the
Board/administrationAdministration, as a result of a formal complaint or incident, recordings shall be kept consistent with
the Board's record retention policy depending on the nature of the video record retained, but for a minimum of one (1)
year from the date of the action taken. ( X ) Recordings may also be kept beyond the normal retention period if they are
going to be utilized for training purposes. [END OF OPTIONAL SENTENCE]
 
Video recordings, if stored on a removable/portable device or on a locally hosted server, when not in use, shall be stored in
a locked, fire-resistant cabinet or room in an area to which students and the public do not normally have access. The
recordings should be clearly and properly labeled and stored. Any video data stored on a cloud-based server system must
be stored pursuant to a vendor agreement that assures the confidentiality of data accessible only to school officials.
 
Access to and viewing of video recordings is limited to authorized personnel. ( X ) The Administrator or Technology
Director is responsible for maintaining a proper audit trail for all video recordings (i.e., logs must be maintained of all
instances of access to, and use of, recorded material – the log must document the person accessing the recording, the
date and time of access, and the purpose). The Administrator shall approve requests for access to recorded and stored
video images [END OF OPTION]. [DRAFTING NOTE: Caution should be exercised in selecting the option that
requires the creation and maintenance of a log regarding access to the video recordings. Once created, the log
is subject to open records requests. A log of video recordings, unlike pupil record logs, is not required by
Wisconsin law and the Board is not required to create written policies regarding retention or the creation of a
storage log in this instance. If this option is selected, then the logs must be created and maintained.]
 
The Administrator or  Technology Director may authorize the viewing of recorded images in the event of an ongoing law
enforcement investigation, an incident involving property damage or loss, or for other reasons deemed appropriate.
 
Video footage should not be removed from school officials' custody except as required by law or upon a request from law
enforcement. [ ] All video recordings to be taken off-site in any portable format must be signed out by the requestor and
the building principal. When returned, the requestor who originally signed the recording out and the building principal shall
sign the recording back in. ( X ) Video files should not be transmitted electronically to sources outside the District except
as required or permitted by law ( X ) and only with the approval of the District Administrator [END OF
OPTION]. [DRAFTING NOTE: If the District creates a log for signing in/out video recordings, this log may also
be subject to open records requests.]
 
All video surveillance/electronic monitoring recording media shall be considered legal evidence and treated as confidential
or as directed by Board counsel. The release of original video recordings to individuals or outside agencies may only occur
pursuant to subpoena or court order after the same has been reviewed by Board counsel.
 
Original video recordings shall never be edited or manipulated in any manner. When video recordings are requested by any
law enforcement agency as part of an ongoing investigation, a duplicate may be provided for that purpose. The original
media shall be protected from accidental overwrite or erasure during the duplicating process. Nothing in this paragraph
prohibits the redaction of personally identifiable information from duplicated media when mandated by FERPA.
 



12/11/23, 11:51 AM BoardDocs® PL

https://go.boarddocs.com/wi/sdman/Board.nsf/Private?open&login# 4/4

Video recordings may never be sold publicly, viewed or distributed in any other fashion except as provided for by Board
policy and ( X ) AG 7440.01 - Video Surveillance and Electronic Monitoring Facility Security, and [END OF OPTION]
consistent with State and Federal law.
 
Devices containing video recordings, scheduled to be destroyed must be securely disposed of in such a way that the
personal information cannot be reconstructed or retrieved (e.g. shredding, burning, magnetically erasing the personal
information).
 
Surveillance on School Buses
 
[DRAFTING NOTE: Whether posted notice of audio surveillance in a school facility is sufficient to establish
consent is not a clearly settled legal concept in Wisconsin, there is the express regulatory authority for the
use of audio surveillance on school buses.]
 
School buses owned by the District or a contractor under contract with the District may be equipped with video and/or
audio recording equipment in specified locations within the vehicle as provided in the Wisconsin Department of
Transportation regulations.
 
Exceptions
 
This policy does not address or cover instances where school officials record a specific event (e.g. a play, music
performance, athletic contest, graduation, or Board meeting), or an isolated instance where a classroom is video recorded
for educational or research purposes. Authorized video recording for educational, instructional and/or research purposes is
permitted and is not addressed by this policy.
 
Video surveillance is to be implemented in accordance with this policy ( X ) and the related administrative guidelines (AG
7440.01 - Video Surveillance and Electronic Monitoring Facility Security), [END OF OPTION] and consistent with the
school safety plan. The Board will not accept or tolerate the improper use of video surveillance/electronic monitoring
equipment and will take appropriate action in any cases of wrongful use of this policy.
 
19.31 – 19.39, 118.125, Wis. Stats.
Wis. Admin. Code Trans 300.81(7)
18 U.S.C. 2510-2521
FERPA 20 U.S.C. 1232g
34 C.F.R. 99.1-99.67
Title I of the Electronic Communication Privacy Act of 1986
 
© Neola 20222023

Legal 19.31 ��� 19.39, 118.125, Wis. Stats.

Wis. Admin. Code Trans 300.81(7)

18 U.S.C. 2510-2521

FERPA 20 U.S.C. 1232g

34 C.F.R. 99.1-99.67

Title I of the Electronic Communication Privacy Act of 1986

Last Modified by Ryan Peterson on December 6, 2023



11/30/23, 1:38 PM BoardDocs® PL

https://go.boarddocs.com/wi/sdman/Board.nsf/Private?open&login# 1/2

Book Policy Manual

Section Vol. 32, No. 2, July 2023

Title New Policy - Vol. 32, No. 2, July 2023 - SMART MONITORING EQUIPMENT

Code po7440.02

Status Proposed to Policy & Human Resources Committee

Last Reviewed December 6, 2023

New Policy - Vol. 32, No. 2
 
7440.02 - SMART MONITORING EQUIPMENT 
 
[DRAFTING NOTE: This policy is being offered to address the emerging monitoring technology used
to detect vape smoke and the like.] 
 
In order to protect students and faculty, promote security and protect the health, welfare and safety of students, staff and
visitors, the Board of Education authorizes the use of smart sensor and electronic monitoring equipment on school
property, and in school buildings and school buses. Information obtained through smart sensor devices may be used to
identify intruders and persons breaking the law, Board policy, or the Student Code of Conduct (i.e., it may be used as
evidence in disciplinary actions and criminal proceedings).
 
The monitoring of actions and behavior of individuals who come onto school property is a significant factor in maintaining
order and discipline and protecting students, staff, visitors, and school and student property. Smart sensor monitoring
systems serve to complement other means being employed in the District to promote and foster a safe and secure
teaching and learning environment for students and staff. The Board recognizes that the use of a smart sensor monitoring
system does not replace the need for the ongoing vigilance of the school staff assigned by the building principal to monitor
and supervise the school building. Rather, the smart sensor monitoring system serves as an appropriate and useful tool
with which to augment or support the in-person supervision provided by staff. The building principal is responsible for
verifying that due diligence is observed in maintaining general campus safety and security.
 
The District Administrator is responsible for determining where to install and operate fixed-location smart sensor
monitoring equipment in the District. The determination of where and when to use smart sensor equipment will be made in
a nondiscriminatory manner. Smart sensor equipment may be placed in designated areas in school buildings (e.g., school
hallways, restrooms, classrooms, locker rooms, entryways, the front office where students, employees, and visitors are
permitted to freely come and go, gymnasiums, cafeterias, libraries).
 
Any person who takes action to block, move, or alter the location of a smart sensor shall be subject to disciplinary action.
 
Any information obtained from smart sensor monitoring systems may only be used to support the orderly operation of the
School District's schools and facilities, and for law enforcement purposes, and not for any other purposes. As such,
information obtained through the use of smart sensor equipment may be used as evidence in any disciplinary proceedings,
administrative proceedings or criminal proceedings, subject to Board policy and regulations.
 
Smart sensor technology is to be implemented in accordance with this policy and the related guidelines. The Board will not
accept or tolerate the improper use of smart sensor equipment and will take appropriate action in any cases of wrongful
use of this policy.
 
© Neola 2023

Last Modified by Ryan Peterson on November 30, 2023



11/30/23, 1:38 PM BoardDocs® PL

https://go.boarddocs.com/wi/sdman/Board.nsf/Private?open&login# 2/2



11/30/23, 1:47 PM BoardDocs® PL

https://go.boarddocs.com/wi/sdman/Board.nsf/Private?open&login# 1/2

Book Policy Manual

Section Vol. 32, No. 2, July 2023

Title New Policy - Vol. 32, No. 2, July 2023 - PERSONAL BACKGROUND CHECK -
CONTRACTED SERVICES

Code po8121

Status Proposed to Policy & Human Resources Committee

Last Reviewed December 6, 2023

New Policy - Vol. 32, No. 2
 
8121 - PERSONAL BACKGROUND CHECK – CONTRACTED SERVICES
 
To protect students and staff members, the Board of Education requires an inquiry into the personal background of each
contractor, subcontractor, and employee of a contractor or subcontractor who is likely to have direct, ongoing contact with
children within the scope of their contracted service or employment.
 
The District Administrator shall establish the necessary procedures to provide that (1) individuals serving as contractors or
subcontractors submit to a background check and (2) entities operating as contractors or subcontractors conduct an
inquiry into the background information of their employees who are likely to have direct, ongoing contact with children.
 
Each individual serving as a contractor or subcontractor who is likely to have direct, ongoing contact with children in the
course of providing services to the District shall be required to report the ( X ) arrest and the filing of criminal charges
against the contractor or subcontractor, [END OF OPTION] conviction of the contractor or subcontractor for a crime, and
substantiated report of child abuse or neglect of which the contractor or subcontractor is the subject.
 
Each contractor and subcontractor providing services to the District shall screen all employees who are likely to have
direct, ongoing contact with children in the course of providing services to the District. Screening shall be required only
one (1) time during the period of the current contract with the District as long as the contractor has continuously screened
new hires, required the same of its subcontractors, and required that these employees report the ( X ) arrest and the filing
of criminal charges against the employee, [END OF OPTION] conviction of the employee for a crime, and substantiated
report of child abuse or neglect of which the employee is the subject.
 
© Neola 2023

Last Modified by Ryan Peterson on November 30, 2023



11/30/23, 1:47 PM BoardDocs® PL

https://go.boarddocs.com/wi/sdman/Board.nsf/Private?open&login# 2/2



11/30/23, 1:52 PM BoardDocs® PL

https://go.boarddocs.com/wi/sdman/Board.nsf/Private?open&login# 1/2

Book Policy Manual

Section Vol. 32, No. 2, July 2023

Title Revised Policy - Vol. 32, No. 2, July 2023 - NOTIFICATION OF EDUCATIONAL
OPTIONS

Code po8146

Status Proposed to Policy & Human Resources Committee

Last Reviewed December 6, 2023

Revised Policy - Vol. 32, No. 2
 
8146 - NOTIFICATION OF EDUCATIONAL OPTIONS
 
The Board recognizes the need to provide alternative means by which students achieve the goals of the District.
 
Annually, by January 31, a list of all educational options available to children who reside in the District will be provided to
parents as a class 1 notice and( X ) on the District's website [END OF OPTION]. These options include public schools,
private schools participating in a parental choice program, charter schools, virtual schools, full-time open enrollment, Early
College Credit Program, Start College Now Program, part-time open enrollment in a nonresident school district, youth
apprenticeship programs offered under 106.13, Wis. Stats. and options for students enrolled in a home-based private
education program. ( X ) (See Policy 2370 - Educational Options Provided by the District) [DRAFTING NOTE: This
option cross reference is only for districts that have Policy 2370.]
 
In the class 1 notice, as well as the notice on the District website, the Board of Education shall identify the most recent
report card accountability rating that has been assigned to each school within the District boundaries, including charter
schools and private schools participating in a parental choice program. This notice shall also inform parents of the
availability of the full school and School District accountability reports. (See also Policy 2700.01 - School Performance and
State Accountability Report Cards)
 
© Neola 20222023

Legal 115.385(4), Wis. Stats.

118.15, Wis. Stats.

118.55, Wis. Stats.

118.57, Wis. Stats.

Last Modified by Ryan Peterson on November 30, 2023



11/30/23, 1:52 PM BoardDocs® PL

https://go.boarddocs.com/wi/sdman/Board.nsf/Private?open&login# 2/2



11/30/23, 2:12 PM BoardDocs® PL

https://go.boarddocs.com/wi/sdman/Board.nsf/Private?open&login# 1/3

Book Policy Manual

Section Vol. 32, No. 2, July 2023

Title Revised Policy - Vol. 32, No. 2, July 2023 - PUBLIC RECORDS

Code po8310

Status Proposed to Policy & Human Resources Committee

Adopted November 21, 2016

Last Revised April 27, 2020

Last Reviewed December 6, 2023

Revised Policy - Vol. 32, No. 2
 
8310 - PUBLIC RECORDS
 
The Board of Education recognizes its responsibility to maintain the public records of this District and to make such records
available for inspection and reproduction. The Board designates the ___District Adminstrator____ as the District Records
Custodian (DRC), to be the legal custodian of records for the District. The DRC shall safely keep and preserve the public
records of the District and shall have the authority to render decisions and carry out duties related to those public records.
The DRC may deny access to records only in accordance with the law. The DRC is authorized and encouraged to consult
with the District's legal counsel to determine whether to deny access to a records request in whole or in part.
 
Under the Wisconsin Public Records Law, a "record" is defined as any material on which written, drawn, printed, spoken,
visual, or electromagnetic information or electronically generated or stored data is recorded or preserved, regardless of
physical form or characteristics, that has been created or is being kept by the authority. It includes handwritten, typed, or
printed pages, maps, charts, photographs, films, recordings, tapes, optical discs, and any other medium on which
electronically generated or stored data is recorded or preserved. A "record" does not include drafts, notes, preliminary
computations, and like materials prepared for the originator's personal use or prepared by the originator in the name of a
person for whom the originator is working; materials that are purely the personal property of the custodian and have no
relation to his/her office; materials to which access is limited by copyright, patent, or bequest; and published materials in
the possession of an authority other than a public library that are available for sale, or that are available for inspection at a
public library. The personal use exception applies to notes created by the originator solely for the purpose of refreshing
his/her recollection and as a matter of convenience (not part of his/her job duties), but does not apply to notes that are
distributed to others for the purpose of communicating information or notes that are created or retained for the purpose of
memorializing agency activity.  
 
In addition, records may be exempted from disclosure as a matter of statute or common law or, under the balancing test,
the public interest in disclosure may be outweighed by the public interest in non-disclosure.
 
Any person may make an oral or written request for any public records of the District. The person may inspect or receive
copies of the public record requested. The District will respond as soon as practicable and without delay. The District will
either provide the requested documents, subject to any redactions, or inform the requester of the District's decision to
deny the request.
 
The District will comply with the Safe at Home/Address Confidentiality Program administered by the Wisconsin Department
of Justice. (See Policy 5111 - Eligibility of Resident/Nonresident Students, Policy 8320 - Personnel Records and Policy 8330
- Student Records.)
 
The District may impose a fee upon the requester of a copy of a record of $___$.02__ per page, which represents the
actual, necessary, and direct cost of reproduction of the record. In addition, the District may impose a fee upon a
requester for the actual time spent by District employees in locating a record, if the cost is $50.00 or more. In calculating
location costs, the District will use the applicable employee's hourly rate for salary and benefits. 
 
The District may also charge the requester for any equipment required to fill the request (such as videotapes, computer
disks, etc.). The District may impose a fee upon a requester for the actual, necessary, and direct cost of mailing or
shipping of any copies which are mailed or shipped to the requester. 
 



11/30/23, 2:12 PM BoardDocs® PL

https://go.boarddocs.com/wi/sdman/Board.nsf/Private?open&login# 2/3

The District may require prepayment of fees if the total amount exceeds $5.00. If payment is required, the District will
calculate the actual cost and charge the requester. If advance payment is required, the District will either invoice the
requester for the difference between the estimate and actual cost or refund any overpayment.
 
No public record may be removed from the office in which it is maintained except by a Board officer or employee in the
course of the performance of his/her duties.
 
Nothing in this policy shall be construed as preventing a Board member from inspecting in the performance of his/her
official duties any record of this District, except student records and certain portions of personnel records.
 
The District Administrator is authorized to develop administrative guidelines to provide for proper compliance with the
intent of this policy and the public records law.
 
[  ] Records Retention Schedule
 
The District has adopted the Wisconsin Department of Public Instruction's guidelines on School District record retention.
 
It may be accessed at the following web address:
 
https://publicrecordsboard.wi.gov/Documents/DPI%20GS-APPROVED%20June%202015%20v8.1.pdf
 
19.21(6), Wis. Stats. requires that school districts retain public records, other than student records, for seven (7) years,
unless a shorter period is fixed by the Public Records Board (PRB) in a records retention schedule subsequently adopted by
the Board.
 
The Board has approved the following records retention schedules developed by the Wisconsin Historical Society and
PRB: [DRAFTING NOTE: The Wisconsin Public School District and Related Records GRS contains retention
schedules for school-specific records, including student records, and therefore it must be adopted or
alternatively, the Board must adopt its own schedule that includes retention for student records to account
for their separate treatment under the law. The remaining retention schedules can be adopted as desired but
if not adopted those records are covered by the default seven (7) year retention period in statutes. Any
schedule adopted by the Board, even those that were created by the PRB, must be approved for District-
specific usage by the Wisconsin Historical Society and the PRB after adoption.]
 

 
The District will retain public records in accordance with the preceding general records schedule(s).  In the event that the
preceding general records schedules adopted do not define the retention period for a particular record, the District will
retain the record for seven (7) years.
 
19.21, Wis. Stats.
19.31-39, Wis. Stats.
118.125, Wis. Stats.
120.13(12), Wis. Stats.
 
© Neola 202321

A. Wisconsin Public School District and Related Records GRS (expiring March 20, 2033)
 

B. (  X ) Administrative and Related Records GRS (expiring March 21, 2032)
 

C. (  X ) Budget and Related Records GRS (expiring November 21, 2032)
 

D. (  X ) Facilities Management and Related Records GRS (expiring November 18, 2029)
 

E. (  X ) Fiscal and Accounting and Related Records GRS (expiring November 20, 2027)
 

F. (  X ) Human Resources and Related Records GRS (expiring March 25, 2029)
 

G. (  X ) Information Technology and Related Records GRS (expiring November 10, 2024)
 

H. (  X ) Payroll and Benefits and Related Records GRS (expiring August 30, 2031)
 

I. (  X ) Purchasing & Procurement and Related Records GRS (expiring November 11, 2023)
 

J. (  X ) Risk Management and Related Records GRS (expiring August 25, 2024)
 

K. (  X ) Wisconsin Municipal and Related Records GRS (expiring August 27, 2028)

Legal 19.21, Wis. Stats.

19.31-39, Wis. Stats.

118.125, Wis. Stats.

120.13(12), Wis. Stats.

https://publicrecordsboard.wi.gov/Documents/DPI%20GS-APPROVED%20June%202015%20v8.1.pdf


11/30/23, 2:12 PM BoardDocs® PL

https://go.boarddocs.com/wi/sdman/Board.nsf/Private?open&login# 3/3

Last Modified by Ryan Peterson on November 30, 2023



11/30/23, 2:15 PM BoardDocs® PL

https://go.boarddocs.com/wi/sdman/Board.nsf/Private?open&login# 1/2

Book Policy Manual

Section 8000 Operations

Title Copy of SCHOOL RESOURCE OFFICER PROGRAM

Code po8407

Status Proposed to Policy & Human Resources Committee

Adopted July 27, 2020

Last Reviewed December 6, 2023

8407 - SCHOOL RESOURCE OFFICER PROGRAM
 
To promote a safe, secure, and supportive school environment, the Board believes it appropriate for the District to have a
collaborative relationship with the law enforcement agency(ies) with jurisdiction in the District through a School Resource
Officer (SRO) Program.
 
The SRO Program shall provide appropriate and relevant information, instruction, and resource services to students,
teachers, and parents.  These services along with the District’s and the law enforcement agency's(ies') duties and
obligations regarding the SRO Program, shall be set forth in an agreement between the District and the law enforcement
agency(ies), including:
 

 
This report shall summarize activities conducted throughout the previous school year and shall include recommendations
for the upcoming school year.  The Board may request additional updates or reports. 
 
The building principal(s) shall serve as the designated liaisons between the District and the law enforcement
agency(ies) and shall oversee the SRO Program as it pertains to the specific building(s).  The District and the law
enforcement agency(ies) shall collaborate in determining various responsibilities and requirements under the SRO
Program, including programming services and development of the school safety plan (See Policy 8420 - School Safety). 
Any services or activities provided or performed by the law enforcement agency(ies) via the SRO Program shall not serve
as a substitute for any responsibilities assigned to District personnel.
 
Sharing of confidential information and/or student record information with the law enforcement agency(ies) by the District
shall fully comply with all relevant statutory provisions and District policies.  Use of any devices by any member of the law
enforcement agency(ies) to gather or store information in the course of an investigation (e.g., body camera footage) shall

A. placement of a designated School Resource Officer in specific schools on specific days and times;
 

B. development of positive law enforcement officer/student relationships;
 

C. investigation of alleged violations of law, consistent with the authority and duties of law enforcement officers, that
involve student or staff conduct on or off of school property;
 

D. educational presentations/discussions;
 

E. preventative and/or informational discussions with students/parents;
 

F. patrol and supervision of various school functions;
 

G. creation and implementation of crime prevention and safety programs; and
 

H. performance of duties of regular patrol officers that pertain to school resource matters;
 

I. a requirement the law enforcement agency(ies) to provide the Board with an annual report regarding the SRO
Program.



11/30/23, 2:15 PM BoardDocs® PL

https://go.boarddocs.com/wi/sdman/Board.nsf/Private?open&login# 2/2

be done in full compliance with all law enforcement agency(ies) policies, as well as State and Federal law regarding the use
of any such devices.
 
© Neola 2019

Legal Wis. Stat. §§ 968.07(1)(d), (2)

Wis. Stat. § 165.85(2)(c)

Wis. Stat. § 121.02(1)(i)

Wis. Stat. § 120.44 (unified school districts)

Wis. Stat. § 120.13

Wis. Stat. § 118.257

Wis. Stat. § 118.127

Wis. Stat. § 118.125

Wis. Stat. § 118.001

Wis. Stat. § 66.0301

Last Modified by Ryan Peterson on November 30, 2023



11/30/23, 2:26 PM BoardDocs® PL

https://go.boarddocs.com/wi/sdman/Board.nsf/Private?open&login# 1/2

Book Policy Manual

Section Vol. 32, No. 2, July 2023

Title Revised Policy - Vol. 32, No. 2, July 2023 - SCHOOL SAFETY

Code po8420

Status Proposed to Policy & Human Resources Committee

Adopted November 21, 2016

Last Revised March 15, 2021

Last Reviewed December 6, 2023

Revised Policy - Vol. 32, No. 2
 
8420 - SCHOOL SAFETY
 
The Board of Education recognizes that its responsibility for the safety of students extends to its reaction to possible
natural and man-made disasters and that such emergencies are best met by preparedness, and planning, and training as
determined by the District Administrator consistent with the Board approved school safety plan.
 
Each school shall develop a school safety plan in accordance with State requirements, and each school’s safety plan shall
be reviewed and approved ( ) annually ( X ) every three (3) years [END OF OPTIONS] by the Board. The plan contains
guidelines and procedures to address school violence and attacks, threats of school violence and attacks, bomb threats,
fire, weather-related emergencies, intruders, parent‐student reunification, and threats to non‐classroom events, including
recess, concerts and other performances, athletic events, and any other extracurricularextra-curricular activity or event.
The plan shall contemplate the use of tools to mitigate threats of school violence, including video surveillance, school
resource officers, metal detectors, and other such preventative safety measures in addition to responsive measures.
 
The school safety plan shall include the manner of scheduling, conducting, and reviewing required drills, including fire
drills, tornado or other hazard drills, school safety incident drills, and school violence drills.  Each school safety plan shall
specify for each type of required drill how many and how frequently they will be conducted for each building in compliance
with State law requirements for the performance of such drills.  The plan shall designate the responsible administrator for
each building for assuring that required drills are completed, reviewed, and reported as required by law. Records of drills
and related reports shall be maintained for a period of not less than seven (7) years, consistent with Board Policy 8310 -
Public Records.
 
The Board must submit the following to the Wisconsin Office for School Safety prior to January 1st of each year:
 

A. A copy of its school safety plan.
 

B. The date(s) of the required annual school violence event drill or drills conducted in accordance with each building's
school safety plan during the previous year.
 

C. Certification that the Board reviewed a required written evaluation of the drill or drills.
 

D. The date of the most recent school training on school safety and the number of attendees.
 

E. The most recent date the Board reviewed and approved the school safety plan.
 

F. The most recent date the Board consulted with a local law enforcement agency to conduct on-site safety
assessments.

 



11/30/23, 2:26 PM BoardDocs® PL

https://go.boarddocs.com/wi/sdman/Board.nsf/Private?open&login# 2/2

School administrators and staff are mandatory reporters of suspected child abuse and neglect pursuant to Wis. Stats. §
48.981 (2)(a), Wis. Stats. The Board also requires all employees to receive training regarding mandatory reporting of
school violence threats pursuant to Wis. Stats. § 175.32(2) and (3), Wis. Stats. If the threat constitutes a serious and
imminent threat to the health or safety of a student or school employees or the public, it shall be reported to law
enforcement. A good faith standard exists for reporting threats made by an individual seen in the course of professional
duties. These obligations and procedures are covered by Board Policy 8462 - Child Abuse and Neglect, as well as Policy
8462.01 - Threats of Violence. All threats to the safety of District facilities shall be identified by appropriate personnel and
responded to promptly in accordance with the school safety plan.
 
The District Administrator shall develop guidelines for the handling of all emergency evacuations. A crisis procedure
checklist includes at least the following:
 

A.  __ Assess life/safety issues immediately.
 

B.  __ Provide immediate emergency medical care.
 

C.  __ Call 911 and notify policy/rescue first.  Call the District Administrator second.
 

D. __ Convene the crisis team to assess the situation and implement the crisis response procedures.
 

E.  __ Evaluate available and needed resources.
 

F.  __ Alert school staff to the situation.
 

G.  __ Activate the crisis communication procedure and system of verification.
 

H.  __ Secure all areas.
 

I.  __ Implement evaluation and other procedures to protect students and staff from harm.  Avoid dismissing students
to unknown care.
 

J.  __ Adjust the bell schedule to ensure safety during the crisis.
 

K.  __ Alert persons in charge of various information systems to prevent confusion and misinformation.  Notify parents.
 

L.  __ Contact appropriate community agencies and the District's public information office, if appropriate.
 

M.  __ Implement post-crisis procedures.
 
In response to public records requests for school safety documents, after consultation with the District legal counsel and
local law enforcement authorities, the District Administrator shall redact such information that may be sensitive safety or
security information that is in the public’s interest to remain confidential.
 
118.07, 121.02(1)(i), 175.32(2), (3), 48.981(2)(a), Wis. Stats.
 
© Neola 20202023

Legal 118.07, 175.32(2), (3), 48.981(2)(a), Wis. Stats.

Last Modified by Ryan Peterson on November 30, 2023



12/11/23, 11:51 AM BoardDocs® PL

https://go.boarddocs.com/wi/sdman/Board.nsf/Private?open&login# 1/7

Book Policy Manual

Section Vol. 32, No. 2, July 2023

Title Revised Policy - Vol. 32, No. 2, July 2023 - FOOD SERVICES

Code po8500

Status Proposed to Policy & Human Resources Committee

Adopted November 1, 2015

Last Revised April 24, 2023

Last Reviewed December 6, 2023

Revised Policy - Vol. 32, No. 2
 
8500 - FOOD SERVICES
 
The Board of Education shall provide cafeteria facilities in all school buildings where space permits, and will provide food
service for the purchase and consumption of lunch for all students.
 
[ X  The Board shall also provide a breakfast program in accordance with procedures established by the Department of
Public Instruction.
 
The Board does not discriminate on the race, color, national origin, age, sex (including gender status, change of sex,
sexual orientation, or gender identity), pregnancy, creed or religion, genetic information, handicap or disability, marital
status, citizenship status, veteran status, military service (as defined in 111.32, Wis. Stats.), ancestry, arrest record,
conviction record, use or non-use of lawful products off the District’s premises during non-working hours, declining to
attend an employer-sponsored meeting or to participate in any communication with the employer about religious matters
or political matters, or any other legally protected category in its programs and activities, including employment
opportunities in its educational programs or activities, including the Food Service program.  Students and all other
members of the District community and Third Parties are encouraged to promptly report incidents of discrimination and/or
retaliation related to the Food Service program to a teacher, administrator, supervisor, or other official so that the Board
may address the conduct.  See Policy 2260 – Nondiscrimination and Access to Equal Educational Opportunity.
 
The food-service program shall comply with Federal and State regulations pertaining to the selection, preparation, delivery,
consumption, and disposal of food and beverages, including but not limited to the current USDA's school meal pattern
requirements of the United States Department of Agriculture (USDA) and the USDAUSDA's Smart Snacks in School
nutrition standards, as well as to the fiscal management of the program. Further, the food-service program shall comply
with Federal and State regulations pertaining to the fiscal management of the program as well as all the requirements
pertaining to food service hiring and food service manager/operator licensure and certification. In addition, as required by
law, a food safety program based on the principles of the Hazard Analysis and Critical Control Point (HACCP) system shall
be implemented with the intent of preventing food-borne illnesses. For added safety and security, access to the facility and
the food stored and prepared therein shall be limited to food service staff and other authorized persons.
 
The Board shall approve and implement nutrition standards governing the types of food and beverages that may be sold
on the premises of its schools and shall specify the time and place each type of food or beverage may be sold.  In adopting
such standards, the Board shall:
 

A. consider the nutritional value of each food or beverage;
 



12/11/23, 11:51 AM BoardDocs® PL

https://go.boarddocs.com/wi/sdman/Board.nsf/Private?open&login# 2/7

B. consult and incorporate to the maximum extent possible the dietary guidelinesDietary Guidelines for Americans
jointly developed by the United States Department of Agriculture (USDA)USDA and the United States Department
of Health and Human Services; and
 

C. consult and incorporate the USDAUSDA's Smart Snacks in School nutrition guidelines.
 
No food or beverage may be sold on any school premises except in accordance with the standards approved by the Board.
 
Dietary Modifications [DRAFTING NOTE: This section contains three (3) categories of circumstances in which
a student may receive a modified meal. The first category "Compliant Medical Documentation" is mandatory;
whereas the second two (2) categories, i.e., "Noncompliant Medical Requests" and "Requests Not Based on a
Medical Statement", are optional. The Board may choose either or neither of the two (2) optional categories.]
 
Modifications Based on Compliant Medical Documentation
 
Substitutions to the standard meal requirements shall be made, at no additional charge, for students for whomwho have
received, from a health care provider who haswith prescriptive authority in the State of Wisconsin has providedWisconsin,
medical certification that the student's medical condition restricts their diet, in accordance with the criteria set forth in 7
C.F.R. Part 15b.
 
A request for substitutions to the standard meal requirements shall be made, at no additional charge, for
students for whom a health care provider with prescriptive authority in the State of Wisconsin has provided medical
certification that the student's medical condition necessitates dietary restrictions for the student. The individual making
such aan initial request offor such substitutions must inform the Food Service Director shall be informed that medical
certification that theor Special Dietary Accommodation Coordinator that the student has a restrictedmedical condition that
restricts the student's diet, in accordance with the criteria set forth in 7 C.F.R. Part 15b., must be submitted within _____
(__) school days from a health care provider with prescriptive authority in the State of Wisconsin or the dietary
modification may be discontinued until such statement is received. The School District will honor the request for __the___
(__) school days within the health care providers request. Within _____ (__2__) school days after receiving the initial
request, a health care provider with prescriptive authority in the State of Wisconsin must submit medical certification that
the student's medical condition restricts their diet, in accordance with the criteria set forth in 7 C.F.R. Part 15b. The
substitutions may be discontinued until such medical certification is received.
 
The medical certification must identify:
 

A. the student's medical condition or symptoms of a condition that restricts one (1) or more major life activity or
function;
 

B. an explanation of how the condition or symptom affects the student’s diet; and
 

C. the food(s) to be omitted from the student's diet, and the food or choice of foods that must be substituted (e.g.,
caloric modifications or use of liquid nutritive formula).

 
[Optional Provision - for medical statements not compliant with 7 C.F.R. Part 15b
 
[ ] Modifications Based on Noncompliant Medical Requests
 
[ ] On a case-by-case basis, substitutions to the standard meal requirements may be made, at no additional charge, for
students who provide a signed statement from a qualified medical authority that the student cannot consume certain food
items due to medical or other special dietary needs, but which does not comply with the requirements above. To qualify for
such consideration and substitutions the medical statement must identify:
 

A. the medical or dietary need that restricts the student's diet; and
 

B. the food(s) to be omitted from the student's diet and the food(s) or choice of foods that may be substituted.
 
[End Optional Provisionof Option]
 
[Optional Provision - Based on preferences with no medical documentation] [DRAFTING NOTE: If the Board
chooses to include this category of modification, it must also choose among the options below.]
 
[ ] Modification Based on Student/Parental Preference
 



12/11/23, 11:51 AM BoardDocs® PL

https://go.boarddocs.com/wi/sdman/Board.nsf/Private?open&login# 3/7

When a request for a special dietary accommodation is not supported by an authorized Medical Statement for Special
Dietary Needs or included in a student’s IEP or 504 plan, the School District cannot provide modified meals that are not in
compliance with USDA Child Nutrition Program requirements. However, the Board authorizes the following:
 

 
[END OF OPTIONS]
 
IMPLEMENTATION AND DISCONTINUATION
 
Review
 
Upon receipt of a request for a special dietary accommodation, the Food Service Director or Special Dietary
Accommodation Coordinator shall review the request to ensure it is supported as required by Federal law and District
policy.
 
Implementation
 
When the need for a special dietary accommodation is supported by a Medical Statement for Special Dietary Needs signed
by a State authorized medical authority, the District will offer a reasonable modification that effectively accommodates the
student’s disability. Following USDA Child Nutrition Program regulations, the School District may consider factors such as
cost and efficiency and is not required to prepare a specific meal, provide a specific brand of food, or provide a meal
beyond the meals provided to other students.
 
For students who have an IEP or 504 plan that requires specific food related accommodations, the School District shall
provide the accommodation as required by law, seeking clarifying medical information, as necessary.
 
A special dietary request will be approved and implemented upon submission of a completed authorized Medical
Statement.
 
Notification
 
Parents will be notified of clarifications needed or approval of a special dietary request.
 
Student Absence
 

A. [ ] Fluid Milk Substitution If Selected Choose One]
 

1. [ ] The School District shall have no legal obligation to accommodate a student’s or a parent's preference for
a fluid milk substitute if there is no Medical Statement for Special Dietary Needs on file requiring such a
substitute. However, the District will assist the student in choosing a reimbursable meal through offer versus
serve (OVS).
 

2. [ ] The School District shall offer a Federally approved milk substitute with a written and signed request
from a parent that identifies the reason for the special dietary accommodation.
 

B. [ ] Religious Reason If Selected Choose One]
 

1. [ ] The School District shall have no legal obligation to accommodate a student’s or parent’s request for
accommodations based on religious requests. However, the District will assist the student in choosing a
reimbursable meal through offer versus serve (OVS).
 

2. [ ] The School District will provide substitutions based on religious requests to any student, for any religious
reason with a written and signed request by a parent that identifies the reason for the accommodation. A
substitution for a religious request must meet USDA Child Nutrition Program meal pattern requirements.
 

C. [ ] General Dietary Preference If Selected Choose One]
 

1. [ ] The School District shall have no legal obligation to accommodate a student’s or parent’s general health,
nutrition, or food preferences. However, the District will assist the student in choosing a reimbursable meal
through offer versus serve (OVS).
 

2. [ ] The School District will provide substitutions based on lifestyle preferences to any student with a written
and signed request by a parent that identifies the reason for the accommodation. A substitution for a
personal request must meet USDA Child Nutrition Program meal pattern requirements.



12/11/23, 11:51 AM BoardDocs® PL

https://go.boarddocs.com/wi/sdman/Board.nsf/Private?open&login# 4/7

If a student receiving a special dietary accommodation is absent or does not wish to participate in school lunch on a day
an accommodation is planned, contact the Food Service Director or Special Dietary Accommodation Coordinator by 9:00
a.m. [or enter a time] the same day.
 
Renewing A Special Dietary Request
 
An authorized Medical Statement does not need to be updated annually. However, the Food Service Director or Special
Dietary Accommodation Coordinator may annually seek clarification or updates on special dietary requests.
 
Discontinuation of a Special Dietary Request
 
A special dietary request or part of a request may be discontinued by a parent by submitting the request in writing to the
Food Service Director or Special Dietary Accommodation Coordinator.
 
The District may provide a student with a substitute meal without any certification provided that the meal still meets the
USDA meal pattern for reimbursement.
 
( ) For students who need a nutritionally equivalent milk substitute, only a signed request by a parent is required.
 
Meal Charges
 
Lunches sold by the school may be purchased by students and staff members and community residents in accordance with
the rules of the District’s school lunch program.
 
The operation and supervision of the food-service program shall be the responsibility of the _District
Administrator______________. Food services shall be operated on a self-supporting basis with revenue from students,
staff, Federal reimbursement, and surplus food. The Board shall assist the program by furnishing available space, initial
major equipment, and utensils. Maintenance and replacement of equipment is the responsibility of the program.
 
A periodic review of the food-service accounts shall be made by the _______________Administration. Any surplus funds
from the National School Lunch Program shall be used to reduce the cost of the service to students or to purchase
cafeteria equipmentshall be used in a manner permitted by law as determined by the ( X ) District Administrator ( X )
Board [END OF OPTION]. Surplus funds from a-la-carte foods purchased using funds from the nonprofit food service
account must accrue to the nonprofit food service account.
 
Bad Debt
 
Bad debt incurred through the inability to collect lunch payment from students is not an allowable cost chargeable to any
Federal program. Any related collection cost, including legal cost, arising from such bad debt after they have been
determined to be uncollectable are also unallowable. District efforts to collect bad debt shall be in accordance with Policy
6152 - Student Fees, Fines, and Charges.
 
Bad debt is uncollectable/delinquent debt that has been determined to be uncollectable no sooner than the end of the
school year in which the debt was incurred ( X ) and after the District Administrator determines that sufficient reasonable
effort and approaches to collecting the debt have been made.  If the uncollectable/delinquent debt cannot be recovered by
the School Meals Program in the year when the debt was incurred, then this is classified as bad debt.  Once classified as
bad debt, non-Federal funding sources must reimburse the NSFSA for the total amount of the bad debt.  The funds may
come from the District general fund, State or local funding, school or community organizations such as the PTA, or any
other non-federal source.  Once the uncollectable/delinquent debt charges are converted to bad debt, records relating to
those charges must be maintained in accordance with the record retention requirements in 7 CFR 210.9(b) (17) and 7 CFR
210.15(b).
 
Negative Account Balances
 
[DRAFTING NOTE: USDA regulations provide local control with respect to permitting negative lunch account
balances, including prohibiting it altogether. The Wisconsin Department of Public Instruction's current
position is that it does not intend to issue model policy language or guidelines concerning this issue. As a
practical matter, a hard-line rule prohibiting any negative account balances is not recommended. Rather,
permitting some limited negative balances to occur, while placing some restrictions on those situations, is
likely the most appropriate. Nonetheless, this first option recognizes that each School District does have the
choice to prohibit a negative balance without any exceptions].
 
[ ] OPTION #1
 



12/11/23, 11:51 AM BoardDocs® PL

https://go.boarddocs.com/wi/sdman/Board.nsf/Private?open&login# 5/7

No student will be permitted to purchase any meals for which the student does not have sufficient balance in their food
service account or sufficient cash on hand to purchase the food items.
 
Students receiving paid or reduced-price lunch who do not have sufficient account balance or cash on hand to purchase a
meal ( ) will not be provided an alternative meal ( ) will be provided an alternative meal that meets the USDA guidelines
applicable to alternative meal options. The District Administrator shall, in coordination with the District's food service,
assure that any alternative meals that are provided meet the requisite USDA guidelines for alternative meals. The cost of
the alternative meal will be added to the delinquent account.
 
[ ] OPTION #2
 
Students will be permitted to purchase meals from the District's food service using either cash on hand or a food service
account. A student may be allowed to incur a negative food service account balance subject to the following conditions.
 
Students may be permitted to accumulate negative food service account balance as determined by the District
Administrator( ) not to exceed $__________ ( ) not to exceed an amount equal to one school week of regular meal price
[END OF OPTIONS]. ( ) Students up to grade 8 will be allowed to incur a negative balance not to exceed $_________.
[END OF OPTIONAL SENTENCE] [DRAFTING NOTE: The Board may establish a different permissible negative
balance for elementary grades to account for the students' lower level of responsibility for managing these
accounts at the younger grade levels.] The District Administrator shall determine the manner of determining
permissible account balances by grade level. A student ( ) shall be ( ) shall not be [END OF OPTION] permitted to
purchase a la carte items without sufficient account balance or cash on hand. ( ) Likewise, any student that has a negative
account balance may not purchase a la carte items with cash unless the student is also able to bring their account current.
 
[ X  A student who has exceeded the permissible negative balance amount in their account and does not have cash on
hand sufficient to purchase a meal will be treated respectfully. The District will provide meals to students with unpaid meal
balances without stigmatizing them, will provide parents of students who charge meals with notification when a student
charges a meal, and will make efforts to collect the charges incurred by the students so that the unpaid charges are not
classified as bad debt at the end of the school year.
 

[ X  [Option A]
 
If a student has a significantreached the permissible level of negative lunch account balance, they shall be provided
a regular reimbursable meal that follows the USDA meal pattern, the cost of which shall continue to accrue to a
negative lunch account balance.
 
[End of Option A]
 
[ ] [Option B]
 
If a student has a significant negative lunch account balance, they shall be provided an alternate meal ( ) at a
reduced price recommended by the District Administrator and approved by the Board END OF OPTION], the cost
of which shall continue to accrue to a negative lunch account balance, and the student's parent(s) shall be
contacted to collect the outstanding charges.  The alternate meal will be a low-cost alternative to the regular
reimbursable meal and shall meet USDA nutritional standards or the Smart Snacks in Schools Regulations so that it
qualifies for reimbursement under the National School Lunch/Breakfast Program.
 
[End of Option B]

 
[END OF OPTIONS]
 
This policy and any implementing guidelines shall be provided in writing to all households at the start of each school year
and to households transferring to the school or School District during the school year. The policy and implementing
guidelines will also be provided to all District staff with responsibility for enforcing the policies.  ( X ) The policy and
guidelines will be posted on the District website.
 
[Drafting Note: posting to the website is not sufficient to meet the notice requirement, but could be
supplemental]
 
The food-service program ( ) shall participate ( X ) may participate in the Farm to School Program using locally grown
food in school meals and snacks.
 
No foods or beverages, other than those associated with the District's food-service program, are to be sold during food-
service hours.
 



12/11/23, 11:51 AM BoardDocs® PL

https://go.boarddocs.com/wi/sdman/Board.nsf/Private?open&login# 6/7

The District’s food service program shall serve only food items and beverages determined by the Food Service Department
to be in compliance with the current USDA Dietary Guidelines for Americans and the USDA Smart Snacks in School
nutrition guidelines. Any competitive food items and beverages that are available for sale to students a la carte in the
dining area between midnight and thirty (30) minutes following the end of the school day shall also comply with the
current USDA Dietary Guidelines for Americans and the USDA Smart Snacks in School nutrition guidelines, and may only
be sold in accordance with Board Policy 8550 - Competitive Food Sales. Foods and beverages unassociated with the food-
service program may be vended in accordance with the rules and regulations set forth in Board Policy 8540 - Vending
Machines.
 
The District Administrator will require that the food service program serve foods in the schools of the District that are
wholesome and nutritious and reinforce the concepts taught in the classroom.
 
The District Administrator is responsible for implementing the food service program in accordance with the adopted
nutrition standards and shall provide a report regarding the District’s compliance with the standards at one of its regular
meetings annually. ( ) The District Administrator shall assure that the District's vendors and/or Food Service Management
Contractor is provided a copy of this policy and any implementing guidelines and that any pertinent agreements are
consistent with this policy and any implementing guidelines.
 
Nondiscrimination Statement
 
The following statement applies to all programs administered by the District that are funded in whole or in part by the U.S.
Department of Agriculture (USDA):
 
In accordance with Federal civil rights law and U.S. Department of Agriculture (USDA) civil rights regulations and policies,
the USDA, its Agencies, offices, and employees, and institutions participating in or administering USDA programs are
prohibited from discriminating based on race, color, national origin, sex (including gender status, change of sex, sexual
orientation, or gender identity), disability, age, or reprisal or retaliation for prior civil rights activity in any program or
activity conducted or funded by USDA.
 
Persons with disabilities who require alternative means of communication for program information (e.g. Braille, large print,
audiotape, American Sign Language, etc.), should contact the Agency (State or local) where they applied for benefits.
Individuals who are deaf, hard of hearing or have speech disabilities may contact USDA through the Federal Relay Service
at (800) 877-8339. Additionally, program information may be made available in languages other than English.
 
In accordance with Federal civil rights law and U.S. Department of Agriculture (USDA) civil rights regulations and policies,
this institution is prohibited from discriminating on the basis of race, color, national origin, sex (including gender identity
and sexual orientation), disability, age,race, color religion, sex, national origin, age, marital status, veteran status,
parental status, sexual orientation, genetic information, or physical, mental, emotional, or learning disability ("Protected
Classes") or reprisal or retaliation for prior civil rights activity. The District's nondiscrimination statement below is
complementary to the District's nondiscrimination policies, including Policy 2260 - Nondiscrimination and Access to Equal
Opportunity and Policy 1422/Policy 3122/Policy 4122 - Nondiscrimination and Equal Employment Opportunity.
 
Program information may be made available in languages other than English. Persons with disabilities who require
alternative means of communication to obtain program information (e.g., Braille, large print, audiotape, American Sign
Language), should contact the responsible state or local agency that administers the program or USDA’s TARGET Center at
(202) 720-2600 (voice and TTY) or contact USDA through the Federal Relay Service at (800) 877-8339.
 
To file a program complaint of discrimination, complete the USDA Program Discrimination Complaint Form, (AD-3027)
found online at: http://www.ascr.usda.gov/complaint_filing_cust.html, and at any USDA office, or write a letter addressed
to USDA and provide in the letter all of the information requested in the form. To request a copy of the complaint form, call
(866) 632-9992. Submit your completed form or letter to USDA by:
 
To file a program discrimination complaint, a Complainant should complete a Form AD-3027, USDA Program Discrimination
Complaint Form which can be obtained online at: https://www.usda.gov/sites/default/files/documents/USDA-OASCR%20P-
Complaint-Form-0508-0002-508-11-28-17Fax2Mail.pdf, from any USDA office, by calling (866) 632-9992, or by writing a
letter addressed to USDA. The letter must contain the complainant’s name, address, telephone number, and a written
description of the alleged discriminatory action in sufficient detail to inform the Assistant Secretary for Civil Rights (ASCR)
about the nature and date of an alleged civil rights violation. The completed AD-3027 form or letter must be submitted to
USDA by:
 

1. Mail:
U.S. Department of Agriculture
Office of the Assistant Secretary for Civil Rights
1400 Independence Avenue, SW



12/11/23, 11:51 AM BoardDocs® PL

https://go.boarddocs.com/wi/sdman/Board.nsf/Private?open&login# 7/7

Washington, D.C. 20250-9410; or
 

2. Fax:
(833) 256-1665 or (202) 690-7442; or
 

3. E-mail: 
program.intake@usda.gov.

 
This institution is an equal opportunity provider.
 
All verbal or written civil rights complaints regarding the school nutrition programs that are filed with the District must be
forwarded to the Civil Rights Division of USDA Food and Nutrition Service within three (3) days.
 
© Neola 20222023

Legal SP 32-2015 Statements Supporting Accommodations for Children with Disabilities in
the Child Nutrition Programs

SP 59-2016 Modifications to Accommodate Disabilities in the School Meal Program

OMB Circular No. A-87 USDA Smart Snacks in School Food Guidelines (effective July
1, 2014)

Child Nutrition Act of 1966, 42 U.S.C. 1771 et seq.

Healthy, Hunger-Free Kids Act of 2010 and Richard B. Russell National School Lunch
Act, 42 U.S.C. 1751 et seq.

42 U.S.C. 1758

15.137, Wis. Stats.

93.49, Wis. Stats.

115.34 - 115.345, Wis. Stats.

120.10(16), Wis. Stats.

120.13(10), Wis. Stats.

7 C.F.R. Part 15b

7 C.F.R. Part 210

7 C.F.R. Part 215

7 C.F.R. Part 220

7 C.F.R. Part 225

7 C.F.R. Part 226

7 C.F.R. Part 227

7 C.F.R. Part 235

7 C.F.R. Part 240

7 C.F.R. Part 245

42 U.S.C. Chapter 13

Last Modified by Ryan Peterson on December 6, 2023



11/30/23, 3:29 PM BoardDocs® PL

https://go.boarddocs.com/wi/sdman/Board.nsf/Private?open&login# 1/2

Book Policy Manual

Section Vol. 32, No. 2, July 2023

Title Revised Policy - Vol. 32, No. 2, July 2023 - FREE AND REDUCED-PRICE MEALS

Code po8531

Status Proposed to Policy & Human Resources Committee

Adopted November 21, 2016

Last Revised June 26, 2023

Last Reviewed December 6, 2023

Revised Policy - Vol. 32, No. 2
 
8531 - FREE AND REDUCED-PRICE MEALS
 
The Board of Education recognizes the importance of good nutrition to each student's educational performance.
 
The Board shall provide eligible children with ( X ) breakfast and [END OF OPTION] lunch at a reduced rate or at no
charge to the student.
 
Children, eligible for free or reduced-price meals, shall be determined by the criteria established by the Child Nutrition
Program.  These criteria are issued annually by the Federal government through the Wisconsin Department of Public
Instruction's administration of the School Nutrition Programs.
 
The Board designates the
 

( X ) District Administrator
 
( ) ________________

 
to determine in accordance with Board standards, the eligibility of students for free and/or reduced-price meals.
 
The schools shall
 

( X ) annually
 
( ) twice a year

 
notify all families of the availability, eligibility requirements, and/or application procedure for free and reduced‑price meals
by distributing an application to the family of each student enrolled in the school.
 

( X ) and shall seek out and apply for such Federal, State, and local funds as may be applied to the District's
program of free and reduced‑price meals.

 
Nondiscrimination Statement
 
The following statement applies to all programs administered by the District that are funded in whole or in part by the U.S.
Department of Agriculture (USDA):
 
In accordance with Federal civil rights law and U.S. Department of Agriculture (USDA) civil rights regulations and policies,
the USDA, its Agencies, offices, and employees, and institutions participating in or administering USDA programs are
prohibited from discriminating based on race, color, national origin, sex, disability, age, race, color, religion, sex, national
origin, age, marital status, veteran status, parental status, sexual orientation, genetic information, or physical, mental,
emotional, or learning disability ("Protected Classes") or reprisal or retaliation for prior civil rights activity in any program
or activity conducted or funded by USDA.
 



11/30/23, 3:29 PM BoardDocs® PL

https://go.boarddocs.com/wi/sdman/Board.nsf/Private?open&login# 2/2

Persons with disabilities who require alternative means of communication for program information (e.g. Braille, large print,
audiotape, American Sign Language, etc.), should contact the Agency (State or local) where they applied for benefits. 
Individuals who are deaf, hard of hearing or have speech disabilities may contact USDA through the Federal Relay Service
at (800) 877‑8339.  Additionally, program information may be made available in languages other than English.
 
To file a program complaint of discrimination, complete the USDA Program Discrimination Complaint Form, (AD-3027)
found online at: http://www.ascr.usda.gov/complaint_filing_cust.html, and at any USDA office, or write a letter addressed
to USDA and provide in the letter all of the information requested in the form. To request a copy of the complaint form, call
(866) 632-9992. Submit your completed form or letter to USDA by:
 
Program information may be made available in languages other than English. Persons with disabilities who require
alternative means of communication to obtain program information (e.g., Braille, large print, audiotape, American Sign
Language), should contact the responsible state or local agency that administers the program or USDA’s TARGET Center at
(202) 720-2600 (voice and TTY) or contact USDA through the Federal Relay Service at (800) 877-8339.
 
To file a program discrimination complaint, a Complainant should complete a Form AD-3027, USDA Program Discrimination
Complaint Form which can be obtained online at: https://www.usda.gov/sites/default/files/documents/ad-3027.pdf, from
any USDA office, by calling (866) 632-9992, or by writing a letter addressed to USDA. The letter must contain the
complainant’s name, address, telephone number, and a written description of the alleged discriminatory action in sufficient
detail to inform the Assistant Secretary for Civil Rights (ASCR) about the nature and date of an alleged civil rights
violation. The completed AD-3027 form or letter must be submitted to USDA by:
 

1. Mail:
U.S. Department of Agriculture
Office of the Assistant Secretary for Civil Rights
1400 Independence Avenue, SW
Washington, D.C. 20250-9410; or
 

2. Fax:
(833) 256-1665 or (202) 690-7442; or
 

3. E-mail:
program.intake@usda.gov.

 
This institution is an equal opportunity provider.
 
© Neola 2023

Legal 115.34-115.345, 120.10(16), 120.13(10), Wis. Stats.

42 U.S.C. 1771 et seq.

Last Modified by Ryan Peterson on November 30, 2023



11/30/23, 3:30 PM BoardDocs® PL

https://go.boarddocs.com/wi/sdman/Board.nsf/Private?open&login# 1/2

Book Policy Manual

Section Vol. 32, No. 2, July 2023

Title Rescind Policy - Vol. 32, No. 2, July 2023 - PARENT ORGANIZATIONS

Code po9210

Status Proposed to Policy & Human Resources Committee

Adopted November 21, 2016

Last Reviewed December 6, 2023

Rescind Policy - Vol. 32, No. 2
 
9210 - PARENT ORGANIZATIONS
 
The Board of Education supports all organizations of parents whose objectives are to promote the educational experiences
of District students. However, in using the name of the District or its schools and in organizing a group whose identity
derives from a school(s) of this District, the parental organization thereby shares responsibility with this Board for the
welfare of participating students.
 
Any new parent organization desiring to use the name or good offices of the District must obtain the approval of the
___________________ as a prerequisite to organizing.
 
Representatives and members of approved school-related organizations shall in all circumstances be treated by District
employees as interested friends of the schools and as supporters of public education in the School District.
 
[ ] Staff members are encouraged to join such organization(s) in their related area(s) of specialization or interest.
 
The Board relies upon approved organizations to operate in a manner consistent with public expectations for the schools
and reserves the right to withdraw sponsorship from organizations which violate the bounds of community taste.
 
Further, parent organizations shall comply with the rules and procedures set forth in Policy 9211 - District Support
Organizations.
 
© Neola 2014

Last Modified by Ryan Peterson on November 30, 2023



11/30/23, 3:30 PM BoardDocs® PL

https://go.boarddocs.com/wi/sdman/Board.nsf/Private?open&login# 2/2



12/11/23, 11:53 AM BoardDocs® PL

https://go.boarddocs.com/wi/sdman/Board.nsf/Private?open&login# 1/2

Book Policy Manual

Section Vol. 32, No. 2, July 2023

Title Revised Policy - Vol. 32, No. 2, July 2023 - DISTRICT-SUPPORT ORGANIZATIONS

Code po9211

Status Proposed to Policy & Human Resources Committee

Adopted November 21, 2016

Last Revised April 23, 2018

Last Reviewed December 6, 2023

Revised Policy - Vol. 32, No. 2
 
9211 - DISTRICT-SUPPORT ORGANIZATIONS
 
The Board of Educationof Education appreciates the efforts of all organizations whose objectives are to enhance the
educational experiences of District students, to help meet educational needs of students, and/or provide extra educational
benefits not provided for, at the time, by the Board.
 
The Board recognizes that parent-teacher organizations and other school-related community organizations are channels
through which school personnel, parents, and other citizens may discuss educational concerns, problems, and needs and
work together toward solutions. ( X ) The District Administrator is authorized to provide support and assistance as
appropriate upon the request of such an organization.
 
The Board encourages parents and District staff to participate in such organizations.
 
[ ] OPTION [DRAFTING NOTE: The more oversight the District takes on with respect to these organizations,
the more obligation it takes on relative to the activities of the organization. Districts should carefully consider
whether this level of oversight serves the interests of the organization and/or the school/District.]  
 
The District Administrator shall:
 

A. ( ) review the objectives of each volunteer group to determine that relevant educational needs are being
addressed;
 

B. ( ) provide assistance to a group in planning its activities;
 

C. ( ) monitor the plans and activities of each group to ensure compliance with laws, Board policies, and the District
Administrator's administrative guidelines;
 

D. ( X ) communicate school and/or District needs and concerns to the volunteer groups and those of the groups to
the Board;
 

E. ( X ) approve in-District fund-raising activities of a volunteer group as well as fund-raising activities held off-
premises which involve students and require that for any fundraisers by District support organizations that involve
the sale to students of food items and/or beverages that will be consumed on campus, the food and/or beverages
items to be sold comply with the current USDA Dietary Guidelines for Americans and Smart Snack Rules;
 



12/11/23, 11:53 AM BoardDocs® PL

https://go.boarddocs.com/wi/sdman/Board.nsf/Private?open&login# 2/2

F. ( X ) establish and maintain procedures related to proposed monetary and other gifts to the District that will
provide for proper screening, acceptance, acknowledgement, and use, consistent with accounting procedures
established by the State;.

 
( ) inform participants that aAny organization described in this policy must obtain advance written permission from ( ) the
District Administrator ( X ) Building Principal or District Administrator ( ) the Board [END OF OPTIONS] before using any
of the District's logos or name ( ) as well as the District's or school's slogans, specifically: ______________________,
____________________ [DRAFTING NOTE: Identify any specific slogans or taglines that would identify a
connection to the District or a school] [END OF OPTION] for the purpose of describing or promoting the organization
or any activity of the organization.
 
By the end of ______June_______ of each year, each group shall submit its tentative goals and objectives along with its
fund-raising plans for the next school year to the District Administrator for review by the Board. Should the goals and
objectives or fund-raising plans change during the school year, the District Administrator is to be advised before any final
revisions are made.
 
The District Administrator shall implement administrative guidelines that will require each group's fund-raising activities
are in compliance with all applicable Board policies, including, but not limited to, the requirement that, if approved,
fundraisers that involve the sale to students of food items or beverages to be consumed on campus can only be conducted
from thirty (30) minutes following the close of the last lunch period until thirty (30) minutes after the end of the school
day. The guidelines shall also require that the funds are used for school-related projects that have the approval of the
District Administrator and the Principal.
 
The District Administrator shall ensure that the Board receives an annual accounting of each group's receipts and
expenditures by no later than _____June_____ of each year.
 
[END OF OPTION]
 
Each volunteer organization that intends to work within the school setting may only do so in cooperation with the Principal
and other staff members, including for such activities as fundraisers, meetings, and the like.
 
© Neola 201723

Last Modified by Ryan Peterson on December 6, 2023



 School District of Manawa 
 Students Choosing to Excel, Realizing Their Strengths 

 Board Meeting Date:  __12/19/23__ 

 Agenda Item:  __13__ 

 Subject:  _ Free Lunch for Daily Short-Term Substitute Sta� _ 

 I.  Overall Content/Purpose: 
 The purpose of this memo is to provide information to the BOE about providing free lunch to our 

 substitute teaching sta�. 

 II.  Board Motion Needed: 
 Administrative Recommendation for approval and endorsement by the P&HR Committee. 

 Full BOE vote requested 

 III.  Point of Emphasis / Key Communication(s): 

 A.  Substitute Teachers are an integral part of the work we do educating students 

 B.  We  continue  to  have  struggles  filling  all  daily  absences/vacancies  for  our  regular  sta�.  On  any 

 given  day  we  have  unfilled  positions  that  must  be  covered  internally,  putting  additional  workload  on 

 contracted sta�. 

 C.  On average 3-5 substitute teachers work in Manawa, daily. 

 D.  Cost of Lunch - adult purchase = $4.75 

 E.  The  Policy  and  Human  Resources  Committee  discussed  and  endorsed  the  practice  of  providing  a 

 free  lunch  to  our  daily  substitute  teachers.  Adopting  this  practice  will  better  support  our  dedicated 

 substitutes  that  work  on  a  regular  basis.  This  practice  has  the  ability  of  encouraging  other 

 substitute  teachers  to  take  substitute  positions  in  Manawa  knowing  lunch  is  provided  as  a 

 convenience. 

 IV.  Contact for More Information: 

 Name:  __Ryan Peterson__ 



School District of Manawa
Students Choosing to Excel, Realizing Their Strengths

Board Meeting Date: 12/19/23
Agenda Item:

Subject: 2024-2025 LWH Course Additions Memo

Presenter(s): ____ Michelle Johnson_____

I. Overall Content/Purpose:
The purpose of this memo is to propose course additions to the 2024-2025 LWH Course Guide as well as approval of
the 2023-2024 LWHS Course Guide.

II. Point of Emphasis / Key Communication(s):
1. Additions:

a. Microsoft 365 Course (See Course Proposal)

b. Cybersecurity (See Course Proposal

BOE: Vote
III. Contact for More Information:

Name: ____Michelle Johnson____ email: mjohnson@manawaschools.org

mailto:mjohnson@manawaschools.org


New Course/Course Revision Proposal
School District of Manawa

Date: 11/20/23

Title of Course: Microsoft 365

Teacher: Meria Wright

Department or Grade Level: Computer Science- Grades 11 and 12

Please check: ☐ Revision X New

If New, does this replace a current class? X No ☐ Yes

If Yes, what class does this replace?

Course description as it will appear in the Course of Study Guide.

This course is designed to support students to understand cloud concepts; Microsoft 365 apps and services; security,
compliance, privacy, and trust in Microsoft 365; and Microsoft 365 collaborative, data analysis, presentation applications.
Additionally, completion of this course will result in student Microsoft 365 certification. Microsoft Certifications start with
foundational skills in Office 365 and Microsoft 365, but additional topics which may be covered ranging from Azure to AI, to data
analytics and cybersecurity so students can acquire the technical skills they will need to perform industry roles.

https://learn.microsoft.com/en-us/credentials/certifications/microsoft-365-fundamentals/

https://learn.microsoft.com/en-us/training/student-hub/certifications

Number of credits: .5

Required course x Elective course

Target student population: This course is to provide students with exposure to Office 365 and Microsoft 365 who are
planning to attend college or the workforce where Microsoft is more prevalent.

Prerequisites: Approval from teacher and parent.

Describe how this new or revised course aligns with the curriculum scope and sequence and/or career pathways. Why

should this course be offered?

The focus and benefits of this course:

https://learn.microsoft.com/en-us/credentials/certifications/microsoft-365-fundamentals/
https://learn.microsoft.com/en-us/training/student-hub/certifications


● Access to Microsoft Office Suite: A Microsoft 365 subscription provides students with access to the latest versions of

Microsoft Office applications, including Word, Excel, PowerPoint, Outlook, and OneNote, which can be used for a variety of

academic tasks.

● Cloud Storage: With OneDrive, students can save and access their files from anywhere, on any device, which can be

particularly useful for group projects or studying on the go.

● Collaboration and Sharing: Microsoft 365 provides students with the ability to share and collaborate on documents,

spreadsheets, and presentations in real time, making it easier for them to work on group projects and discuss ideas with their

classmates.

● Online Learning Resources: Microsoft 365 provides students with access to a variety of online learning resources, including

templates, tutorials, and training materials, which can help them to develop new skills and enhance their academic

performance.

● Accessibility and Inclusivity: Microsoft 365 offers a variety of accessibility features, such as dictation and text-to-speech,

that can help students with disabilities to access and use the software effectively.

Include any data that supports the need for this course (i.e. student survey, ACT Aspire, ACT plus Writing, iReady,

Wisconsin Forward Exam, PALS, labor market information, etc.).

Ms. Wright was approached by parents, former students currently in college, and Board Members who felt that this course would
benefit our students and our future workforce.

List costs associated with offering this course. Include staffing, textbooks and materials, equipment, and staff training.

Ms. Wright is adept in Microsoft 365 & Office 365. No textbooks, materials, equipment, or staff training would be needed for this
course.



New Course/Course Revision Proposal
School District of Manawa

Date: 11/20/23

Title of Course: Cybersecurity

Teacher: Meria Wright

Department or Grade Level: Computer Science- Grades 10 - 12

Please check: ☐ Revision X New

If New, does this replace a current class? X No ☐ Yes

If Yes, what class does this replace?

Course description as it will appear in the Course of Study Guide.

This course will focus on the implementation and monitoring of security on network and computer systems. Students will
investigate strategies to identify and protect against security threats such as hackers, eavesdropping and network attacks. The
basics of cryptography and logic reasoning will be explored. Hands-on labs in the CYBER.ORG Range provide practice in the
configuration and mitigation of system vulnerabilities. Each unit integrates current events and related cyber ethics and law.
*Ethics agreement must be signed by all students and parents during the first 2 weeks of class

Number of credits: 1

Required course X Elective course

Target student population: This course is designed for students interested or currently following a Computer Science
pathway.

Prerequisites: Intro to Programming & Intro to DC Circuits

Describe how this new or revised course aligns with the curriculum scope and sequence and/or career pathways. Why

should this course be offered?

The focus and benefits of this course:

● This course is a STEM course that offers a chance for students to work with a hands-on approach to cybersecurity and
computer networking.



● Cybersecurity is about communicating your findings, managing teams and tasks, and being creative. Our country needs
individuals with cybersecurity skills at all levels of every organization, in all industries, from finance to healthcare to
entertainment.

● Students will learn how to avoid the dangers of online threats and protect themselves from cyberattacks through learning
how to spot malware and other threats.

● Students will gain an understanding of the impact of a data breach and will learn how to create an emergency response plan
and design a security infrastructure that protects their systems and data. This includes identifying potential risks, assessing
the impact of an incident, and creating a recovery timeline.

● The demand for cybersecurity professionals is growing, and certification in the field can provide them with a competitive
edge when seeking employment. The average salary for a cyber security professional is higher than the average salary for
other tech jobs. Students will have the opportunity to earn a certification in cybersecurity.

Include any data that supports the need for this course (i.e. student survey, ACT Aspire, ACT plus Writing, iReady,

Wisconsin Forward Exam, PALS, labor market information, etc.).

Currently, the demand for cybersecurity talent is outpacing the supply. According to NICCS (NATIONAL INITIATIVE FOR CYBERSECURITY
CAREERS AND STUDIES ), “There are over 570,000 open cybersecurity positions available in the U.S. and over 3.4 million open
positions worldwide.” With the increase of cyber attacks not only to our businesses, but also to our schools, the need for cybersecurity
professionals has increased exponentially.

List costs associated with offering this course. Include staffing, textbooks and materials, equipment, and staff training.

No textbooks, materials, equipment, or staff training would be needed for this course.



 School District of Manawa 
 Students Choosing to Excel, Realizing Their Strengths 

 Board Meeting Date:  ___12/19/2023__ 

 Agenda Item:  __16__ 

 Subject:  __Annual School Safety Report__ 

 Presenter(s):  _ Ryan Peterson__ 

 I.  Overall Content/Purpose: 
 The purpose of this memo is to provide information to the BOE regarding the School Safety Plan in 

 preparation for submission of the annual report to the Department of Justice. 

 II.  Board Motion Needed: 
 Administrative Recommendation for approval. 

 Full BOE vote requested 

 III.  Point of Emphasis / Key Communication(s): 
 A.  Included in this memo is a copy of the School District of Manawa School Safety Plan. 

 1.  Last review and BOE approval was in November of 2022. 

 B.  Included  in  this  memo  are  the  22-23  Wisconsin  School  District  Record  of  Fire/Tornado/School 

 Safety  /  Other  Evacuation  Drills  log(s).  These  documents  include  the  dates  of  all  required 

 emergency drills. 

 C.  Included  in  this  memo  the  written  evaluation  of  the  most  recent  school  violence  drill  at  both  the 

 Elementary and Middle/High Schools. 

 D.  During  inservice,  on  August  22,  2023,  All  sta�  were  trained  on  SRP  -  Standard  Response  Protocols 

 and ALICE active shooter response.  Refresher training will take place virtually in January 2024. 

 E.  Emergency  Preparedness  County  Collaborative  Meetings  were  Started  in  the  2023  -  24  School  Year. 

 These  meetings  take  place  on  the  School  District  of  Manawa  Campus  and  include  members  of  local, 

 county,  and  state  emergency  personnel  and  law  enforcement.  The  purpose  of  these  proactive 

 meetings  are  to  discuss  best  practices  regarding  critical  incidents  and  plan  comprehensive 

 responses  of  all  community  partners.  Most  recent  meeting  was  held  on  November  13,  2023.  The 

 next  meeting  will  take  place  in  January,  2024.  School  Safety  Assessment  by  Law  Enforcement  are 

 part of normal operations because of this collaborative groups focus on emergency preparedness. 

 IV.  Contact for More Information: 

 Name:  __Ryan Peterson__ 



 Students choosing to excel; realizing their strengths. 

 School District of Manawa 

 Emergency Response 

 Protocols 

 Revised 12/2023 
 Approved by the B.O.E.  -  November 2022 



 (Leave this page blank) 



 Table of Contents 
 Table of Contents  3 

 1.2 Teacher & Staff  11 
 1.4 Kitchen Staff  11 
 1.6 Bus Drivers  11 
 1.7 Route Supervisor  11 

 Section 2 – Fire - Evacuate  13 
 2.1 Lead Administrative Response  13 
 2.2 Teacher & Staff Response  13 

 Error! Bookmark not defined. 
 2.4 Kitchen Staff Response  14 
 2.5 Custodial Response  14 
 2.6 Bus Driver Response  14 
 2.7 Route Supervisor Response  15 
 2.8 Lead Staff Member Response (after hours)  15 

 Section 2a - Tracking Sheet(s)  17 
 2a.1 - Fire Evacuation Incident Tracking Sheet  17 

 Section 3 - (Evacuate for Bomb Threat or Other Non-Fire Situation)  19 
 3.1 Principal Response  19 
 3.2 Teacher & Staff Response  19 

 Error! Bookmark not defined. 
 3.3 Kitchen Staff Response  20 
 3.4 Custodial Response  20 
 3.5 Bus Driver Response  20 
 3.6 Route Supervisor Response  20 
 3.7 Lead Staff Member Response (after hours)  21 

 Section 3a - Tracking Sheet(s)  23 
 3a.1 -Bomb Threat/Non-Fire Evacuation Incident Tracking Sheet  23 

 Section 4 - Shelter in Place Protocol  25 
 4.1 Lead Administrative Response  25 
 4.2 Teacher & Staff Response  25 

 Error! Bookmark not defined. 
 4.4 Kitchen Staff Response  26 
 4.5 Custodial Response  26 
 4.6 Bus Driver Response  26 
 4.7 Route Supervisor Response  26 
 4.8 Lead Staff Member Response (after hours)  26 

 Section 4a - Tracking Sheet(s)  29 
 4a.1 - Shelter in Place Incident Tracking Sheet  29 

 Section 5 - Relocation Evacuation & Family Reunification Protocol  31 



 5.1 Principal Response  31 
 5.2 Teacher & Staff Response  31 

 Error! Bookmark not defined. 
 5.4 Kitchen Staff Response  32 
 5.5 Custodial Response  32 
 5.6 Bus Driver Response (For an incident involving your bus)  32 
 5.7 Route Supervisor Response (For an incident involving your bus)  32 
 5.6a Bus Driver Response (When one or more schools are affected by a crisis)  33 
 5.7a Route Supervisor Response (When one or more schools are affected by a crisis)  33 
 5.8 Lead Staff Member Response (after hours)  33 

 Section 5a - Tracking Sheet(s)  35 
 5a.1 -Remote Evacuation and Family Reunification Incident Tracking Sheet  35 

 Section 6 – Secure  37 
 6.1 Principal Response  37 
 6.2 Teacher & Staff Response  37 

 Error! Bookmark not defined. 
 6.4 Kitchen Staff Response  38 
 6.5 Custodial Response  38 
 6.6 Bus Driver Response  38 
 6.7 Route Supervisor Response  38 
 6.8 Lead Staff Member Response (after hours)  39 

 Section 6a - Tracking Sheet(s)  41 
 6.a.1 - Secure Incident Tracking Sheet  41 

 Section 7 - Lock Down  43 
 7.1 Principal Response  43 
 7.2 Teacher & Staff Response  43 

 Error! Bookmark not defined. 
 7.4 Kitchen Staff Response  44 
 7.5 Custodial Response  44 
 7.6 Bus Driver Response  44 
 7.7 Route Supervisor Response  45 
 7.8 Lead Staff Member Response (after hours)  45 

 Section 7a - Tracking Sheet(s)  47 
 7a.1 - Lock Down Incident Tracking Sheet  47 

 Section 8- Resume Normal Activities  49 
 (Resumption of Normal Activities/Reverse Evacuation  49 

 8.1 Principal Response  49 
 8.2 Teacher & Staff Response  49 

 Error! Bookmark not defined. 
 8.4 Kitchen Staff Response  50 



 8.5 Custodial Response  50 
 8.6 Bus Driver Response  50 
 8.7 Route Supervisor Response  50 
 8.8 Lead Staff Member Response (after hours)  50 

 Section 8a - Tracking Sheet(s)  51 
 8a.1 - Resumption of Normal Activities/Reverse Evacuation Incident Tracking Sheet  51 



 Section 9 - Intruder/Suspicious Person  53 
 9.1 Principal Response  53 
 9.2 Teachers & Staff Response  53 

 Error! Bookmark not defined. 
 9.4 Kitchen Staff Response  53 
 9.5 Custodial Response  54 
 9.6 Bus Driver Response  54 
 9.7 Route Supervisor Response  54 
 9.6a Bus Driver Response – (Intruder on or attempting to board the bus)  54 
 9.7a Route Supervisor Response – (Intruder on or attempting to board the bus)  55 
 9.8 Lead Staff Member Response (after hours)  55 

 Section 10 - Tornado/Severe Weather  57 
 10.1 Principal Response  57 
 10(.2/.5) Staff Response  57 
 10.6 Bus Driver Response  57 
 10.7 Route Supervisor Response  58 
 10.8 Lead Staff Member and Support Personnel Action Steps  58 

 Section 11- Incident Command System Protocol  60 
 Section 11a - Tracking Sheet(s)  63 

 11a.1 - Incident Command System Activation Incident Tracking Sheet  63 
 Section 12 - Media Protocol  65 

 12.1 Lead Administrative Response  65 
 12(.2/.5) Staff Response (includes: office, teachers. custodial, pool, kitchen personnel)  65 
 12.6 Bus Driver Response  66 
 12.7 Route Supervisor Response  66 
 12.8 Lead Staff Member Response (after hours)  66 

 Section 12a - Media Information/Tracking Sheets  68 
 12a.1 - Media Information Sheets  68 
 12a.2 - Media Protocol Incident Tracking Sheet  70 
 12a.3 - Media Event Log  72 
 12a.4 - School Background Information Sheet  74 

 Section 13 - Mental Health Critical Incident Protocol Pre-Recovery Phase  76 
 13.1 Lead Administrative Response  76 
 13(.2/.5)Staff Response (includes: office, teachers. custodial, pool, kitchen personnel)  76 
 13.6 Driver Response  76 
 13.7 Route Supervisor Response  77 
 13.8 Lead Staff Member and Support Staff Response  77 

 Section 14 - Disruptive/Unruly Person  78 
 14.1 Lead Administrative Response  78 
 14(.2/.5) Staff Response (includes: office, teachers. custodial, pool, kitchen personnel)  78 



 14.6 Bus Driver Response  80 
 14.7 Route Supervisor Response  80 
 14.6a Bus Driver Response  80 
 14.7a Route Supervisor Response - disruptive/unruly person on or attempting to board the bus  80 
 14.8 Lead Staff Member Response (after Hours)  82 

 Section 15 - Civil Unrest  84 
 15.1 Lead Administrative Response  84 
 15(.2/.5) Staff Response (includes: office, teachers. custodial, pool, kitchen personnel)  84 
 15.6 Bus Driver Response  85 
 15.7 Route Supervisor Response  85 
 15.8 Lead Staff Member Response (after hours)  86 

 Section 16 - Kidnapping/Missing Child  88 
 16.1 Lead Administrative Response  88 
 16(.2/.5) Staff Response (includes: office, teachers. custodial, pool, kitchen personnel)  88 
 16.6 Bus Driver Response  89 
 16.7 Route Supervisor Response  89 
 16.8 Lead Staff Member Response (after hours)  89 

 Section 17 - Weapons Use  91 
 17.1 Lead Administrative Response  91 
 17(.2/.5) Staff Response (includes: office, teachers. custodial, pool, kitchen personnel)  91 
 17.6 Bus Driver Response  92 
 17.7 Route Supervisor Response  92 

 17.6a Bus Driver Response – (Weapons on Bus)  92 
 17.7a Route Supervisor Response  93 
 17.8 Lead Staff Member Response (after hours)  93 

 Section 18 - Hostage Situation  95 
 18.1 Lead Administrative Response  95 
 18(.2/.5) Staff Response (includes: office, teachers. custodial, pool, kitchen personnel)  95 
 18.6 Bus Driver Response  96 
 18.7 Route Supervisor Response  96 
 18.8 Lead Staff Member Response (after hours)  96 

 Section 18a -Tracking Sheet(s)  99 
 18a.1 Mental Health/Pre-Recovery Incident Tracking Sheet  99 

 Section 19 - Report of Weapon on Property  101 
 19.1 Lead Administrative Response  101 
 19(.2/.5) Staff Response  101 
 19.8 Lead Staff Member and Support Personnel Action Steps  102 

 Section 19a - Report of Weapon on the Bus  103 
 19a.6 Bus Driver Response  103 
 19a.7 Route Supervisor Response  103 

 Section 20 - Arrest or Criminal Indictment of Staff Member  105 



 20.1 Lead Administrative Response  105 
 20(.2/.5) Staff Response  105 
 20.6 Bus Driver Response  105 
 20.7 Route Supervisor Response  106 
 20.8 Lead Staff Member Response (after hours)  106 



 Section 21 - Sexual Assault  107 
 21.1 Lead Administrative Response  107 
 21(.2/.5) Staff Response (includes: office, teachers. custodial, pool, kitchen personnel)  107 
 21.6 Bus Driver Response  107 
 21.7 Route Supervisor Response  108 
 21.8 Lead Staff Member Response (after hours)  108 

 Section 22 - Bomb Threats/Suspicious Packages  109 
 22.1 Lead Administrative Response  109 
 22(.2/.5) Staff Response (includes: office, teachers. custodial, pool, kitchen personnel)  111 
 22.6 Bus Driver Response  111 
 22.7 Route Supervisor Response  112 
 22.8 Lead Staff Member Response (after hours)  113 

 Section 22a - Bomb Threat Checklist  116 
 Section 23 - Injury or Illness  118 

 23.1 Lead Administrative Response  118 
 23(.2/.5) Staff Response  118 
 23.6 Bus Driver Response  118 
 23.7 Route Supervisor Response  119 
 Bus Accident – Definition (A traffic accident involving a school bus.)  119 
 23.6a Bus Driver Response (Bus Accident)  119 
 23.7a Route Supervisor Response  119 
 23.8 Lead Staff Member Response (after hours)  120 

 Section 24 - Death  122 
 24.1 Lead Administrative Response  122 
 24(.2/.5) Staff Response  122 
 24.6 Bus Driver Response  122 
 24.7 Route Supervisor Response  123 
 24.8 Lead Staff Member Response (after hours)  123 

 Section 25 - Suspected Biological Emergency  124 
 25.1 Lead Administrative Response  124 
 25(.2/.5) Staff Response (includes: office, teachers. custodial, pool, kitchen personnel)  124 
 25.6 Bus Driver Response  124 
 25.7 Route Supervisor Response  124 

 Section 25a - Anthrax Threat/Suspicious Package/Substance Exposure  126 
 25a.1 Lead Administrative Response  126 
 25a(.2/.5) Staff Response  126 
 25a.6 Bus Driver Response  127 
 25a.7 Route Supervisor Response  127 
 25a.8 Lead Staff Member Response (after hours)  127 

 Section 25b - Chemical/Hazardous Materials Release Incidents  128 



 25b.1 Lead Administrative Response  128 
 25b(.2/.5) Staff Response (includes: office, teachers. custodial, pool, kitchen personnel)  128 
 25b.6 Bus Driver Response  129 
 25a.7 Route Supervisor Response  129 
 25a.8 Lead Staff Member Response (after hours)  129 



 Section 25c - Food Contamination Incident  132 
 25c.1 Lead Administrative Response  132 

 Section 26 - Utility Failure  135 
 26.1 Lead Administrative Response  135 
 26(.2/.5) Staff Response  135 
 26.8 Lead Staff Member Response (after hours)  135 

 Section 27 - Tactical Site Survey  137 
 Introduction and Disclaimer  137 
 Guidance for Use  137 



 Section 1 - Emergency Contact List 

 1 Principal/District Administrator 
 1.5 Custodial 
 1.8 Lead Staff Member (after hours) 

 (Front of page) 

 Police/EMS/Fire  911 
 (715) 258-4474 

 Sheriff’s Department  Waupaca County  911 
 (715) 258-4474 

 State Police  Wausau Office  (715) 845-1143 

 Emergency Management/Haz-mat  Waupaca County  911 
 (715) 258-4474 

 Air Shut Off –  (for complete building)  Automated Energy Systems  (920) 968-5882 

 Safe Area - (Evacuation site) 

 Manawa Rural Fire 
 Dept./City Hall or the other 
 school building for 
 emergencies not involving the 
 other building 

 _________________ 

 Staging area - (Family Reunification) 

 Masonic Center or the other 
 school building for 
 emergencies not involving the 
 other building 

 _________________ 

 Poison Control Center  (800) 815-8855 

 Hospital Emergency Room  ThedaCare – Waupaca  (715) 258-1000 

 Hospital Emergency Room  ThedaCare – New London  (715)  531-2030 

 Electric  Alliant Energy  (800) 255-4268 

 Water  City of Manawa – Dept. of 
 Public Works  (920) 596-2578 

 Gas Company  Alliant Energy  (800) 255-4268 

 Telephone Company  Solarus (VoiP)  (920) 596-2535 
 (800) 421-9282 

 District Administrator  Ryan Peterson  (920) 596-5300 

 Elementary Principal  Danielle Brauer  (920) 596-2559 

 Secondary Principal  Michelle Johnson  (920) 596-5310 

 Technology Director  Dean Marzofka  (920) 596-5737 



 Maintenance Person  Arthur Pethke  (920) 595-5805 

 Bus Route Supervisor  Kobussen – Jacob Elsner  (920) 389-1500 
 (920) 427-1408 



 (Leave this page blank) 



 1.2 Teacher & Staff 
 1.4 Kitchen Staff 

 When calling 911 -  SPECIFY 
 1.  Which school you are at (high school, middle school, elementary, Paving the Way etc.) 
 2.  Where you are located in the building (classroom, fitness center, gym etc.) 
 3.  The Door # (number) that the emergency vehicle should come to 

 MANAWA ELEMENTARY SCHOOL OFFICE  800 Beech Street 
 Ext: 5700 

 Police/EMS/FD  911 

 Sheriff’s Department  Waupaca County  911 
 (715) 258-4474 

 Emergency Management/Haz-mat  Waupaca County  911 
 (715) 258-4474 

 Elementary Principal  Danielle Brauer  (920) 596-2559 
 (920) 323-9636 

 Poison Control Center  800-815-8855 

 1.6 Bus Drivers 
 1.7 Route Supervisor 

 MANAWA MIDDLE/LITTLE WOLF HIGH SCHOOL OFFICE  515 East 4  th  Street 
 Ext: 5800 

 Police/EMS/FD  911 

 Sheriff’s Department  Waupaca County  911 
 (715) 258-4474 

 Emergency Management/Haz-mat  Waupaca County  911 
 (715) 258-4474 

 PAVING THE WAY  407 Bridge Street  (920) 596-2526 

 Secondary Principal  Michelle Johnson  (920) 596-5310 

 Dean of Students  Jeff Bortle  (920) 596-5806 



 (Leave this page blank) 

 School Safety Plan 
 Section 2 -  Evacuation Protocols - Fire  16 



 Section 2 - Evacuate - Fire 

 Definition 
 This type of evacuation is used for any emergency evacuation related to a fire incident and includes a 
 fire that is believed to be extinguished. 

 Alert Signal 
 Fire alarm and/or announcement over the public address system (PA). 

 2.1 Principal Response 
 1.  Make sure that the alarm has been activated as soon as notification is received. 

 Do not wait to verify that a fire is actually occurring before activating the alarm. 
 2.  Call 911 for emergency services. Report a fire and give the facility’s address as per the details on 

 page 15 for calling 911. 
 3.  See that the emergency evacuation kits are taken from the building and transported 

 to the initial evacuation site (MES- overflow parking lot; MS/HS- north end of west parking lot). 
 4.  If it is safe to do so sweep/quickly check that the area is empty: 

 a.  The MES custodian will sweep from the main office through the south end of the facility and 
 the school counselor will sweep from the main office through the north end of the facility. 

 b.  The MS/HS counselor/custodian will sweep the main academic level of the facility and the 
 Dean of Students will sweep the lower level/Fitness Center of the facility. 

 c.  The Paving the Way lead teacher will ensure all students and staff have exited. 
 5.  Confirm that all staff, students, and visitors are out of the building using the two-way radio 

 system. 
 6.  Leave the building and report to the first responding public safety official. 

 a.  Advise them of the emergency situation. 
 b.  Offer to provide master keys to a properly identified public safety official. 
 c.  Make a record of to whom the key is issued. 

 7.  The District Administrator, principal, and emergency management will assess the situation and 
 decide whether to move to the reunification evacuation site. 

 8.  If moving to the reunification site, the Business Manager will call Kobussen for transportation 
 and the Masonic Center manager. 

 9.  Report to the City Hall/Fire Department, appraise the situation, and with the district 
 administrator determine the course of action. 

 10.  Decide whether to implement the family reunification protocol. If family reunification protocol 
 is not appropriate, notify the transportation department to be prepared to implement it in the 
 event the situation escalates. 

 11.  The District Administrator will implement the Skylert/media protocol. 

 2.2 Teacher & Staff Response 
 1.  Shut off equipment such as Bunsen burners, stoves etc. 
 2.  Gather all students and visitors in your area of responsibility and prepare to evacuate to MES- 

 overflow parking lot; MS/HS- north end of west parking lot and area at least 300 feet from the 
 facility; Paving the Way- walk to the City Hall. 

 3.  Ensure that special needs persons in the immediate area are provided assistance. 

 School Safety Plan 
 Section 2 -  Evacuation Protocols - Fire  17 



 4.  Hold door open, allowing people to file out single file, to MES- overflow parking lot; MS/HS- 
 north end of west parking lot; Paving the Way – walk to City Hall. 

 5.  Take emergency evacuation kit & shut the door. 
 6.  If you encounter fire, any other significant hazard or find the designated pathway blocked, 

 quickly evaluate the situation and seek an alternate route. 
 7.  Once evacuees have reached the evacuation site take attendance (call each student’s name,  DO 

 NOT  just count students) and report any missing student(s)  to the Principal and office personnel 
 (high visibility vest). 

 School Safety Plan 
 Section 2 -  Evacuation Protocols - Fire  18 



 2.4 Kitchen Staff Response 
 1.  Turn off equipment (stove, appliances etc.) 
 2.  After last person has left the room/area shut the door and report to the evacuation site. 
 3.  Make sure that all people leaving the facility remain at the evacuation site until released by the 
 appropriate authority. 
 4.  DO NOT  attempt to reenter the facility unless the  principal or the designee directs you to do so. 

 2.5 Custodial Response 
 1.  Gather all students and visitors in your area of responsibility and evacuate according to the fire 

 evacuation plan. 
 2.  Ensure that special needs persons in the immediate area are provided assistance. 
 3.  If it is safe to do so  sweep areas of the facility  as in 2.1.4 above and take any people found to the 

 principal. 
 4.  If you encounter fire, any other significant hazard or find the designated pathway blocked, 

 quickly evaluate the situation and seek an alternate route. 
 5.  Report to the principal or their designee and assist as needed. 

 2.6 Bus Driver Response 
 1.  Instruct all occupants to evacuate according to the fire evacuation plan for your design of bus. 

 Provide direction on specific evacuation procedures if needed. 
 2.  Call 911 or notify dispatch and request that the Fire Department be called.  During notification 

 be sure to give the address twice to ensure accuracy. 
 3.  Take the emergency evacuation kit with you as you evacuate. 
 4.  Ensure that special needs persons on the bus are assisted in evacuating. 
 5.  If you encounter fire blocking an emergency exit, quickly evaluate the situation and seek an 

 alternate route. Once evacuees have reached the evacuation site, develop a written list of all 
 evacuees and provide the list to the principal or his or her designee. 

 6.  Remain alert to potential dangers in the area and properly supervise students under your care. 

 School Safety Plan 
 Section 2 -  Evacuation Protocols - Fire  19 



 2.7 Terminal Manager Response 
 1.  Ensure that the fire department has been called. 
 2.  Advise all other drivers to keep the radio clear except for emergency transmissions until public 

 safety responders are on the scene. 
 3.   Respond to the scene and meet responding public safety officials, brief them of the situation, 

 make them aware of the contents of the emergency evacuation kit. 
 4.   Report to the evacuation site and appraise the situation. 
 5.   Decide whether to use another bus to transport students or to implement the family reunification 

 protocol. 
 6.   Implement the media protocol. 
 7.   If appropriate, photograph the damage. 
 8.   Brief your supervisor and the District Administrator as appropriate for the situation. 
 9.   If it is a bus emergency, the District Administrator will respond in the event of injury. 

 2.8 Lead Staff Member Response (district/school sponsored after hours) 
 1.  Sound fire alarm. 
 2.  Call 911 and request fire department and law enforcement response. 
 3.  See that the emergency evacuation kits are taken from the building and go to MES- overflow 

 parking lot; MS/HS- north end of west parking lot; Paving the Way- walk to Fire Department 
 bay. 

 4.  In areas where it is safe to do so, ask a responsible adult to sweep the facility for students and 
 adults who may not have been able to evacuate. 

 5.  Meet responding public safety officials. Brief them of the situation. 
 6.  Contact the building principal and District Administrator. 
 7.  Report to the evacuation site and appraise the situation. 
 8.  The District Administrator will implement the media protocol. 

 School Safety Plan 
 Section 2 -  Evacuation Protocols - Fire  20 



 (Leave this page blank) 

 School Safety Plan 
 Section 2 -  Evacuation Protocols - Fire  21 



 Section 2a - Tracking Sheet(s) 

 2a.1 - Fire Evacuation Incident Tracking Sheet 
 Use official command post time. Please use ink. 

 Location of incident: ______________________________________________________ 
 Type of incident:  Fire Evacuation  ____________________________________________ 

 Sheet initiated by: ________________________________________________Date: ______________ 

 1  st  Shift 
 Relieved by:  ______________________________________________Time: ______________ 

 2  nd  Shift 
 Relieved by: ______________________________________________Time: ______________ 

 3  rd  Shift 
 Relieved by: _______________________________________________Time: ______________ 

 ACTION  ORGANIZATION  STATUS  NOTES  REPORTED BY 
 Sound fire Alarm, activate 
 appropriate crisis teams 
 Call 911, request Fire and 
 Police Dept. response 
 Sweep the facility for 
 students and adults 
 Obtain emergency 
 evacuation kits 
 Assist special needs persons 

 Evacuate according to the 
 fire evacuation plan 
 Report to evacuation site, 
 appraise the situation 
 Meet responding public 
 safety officials 
 Decide whether to 
 implement the family 
 reunification protocol 
 Implement the media 
 protocol 
 At evacuation site develop 
 a written list of all evacuees 

 Time and date log closed out: _______________________________________________ 

 Name of person closing log: ________________________________________________ 

 Incident Tracking Sheet received by: _________________________________Date received: _______ 

 School Safety Plan 
 Section 2 -  Evacuation Protocols - Fire  22 



 Witnessed by: ___________________________________________________Date: ______________ 

 School Safety Plan 
 Section 2 -  Evacuation Protocols - Fire  23 



 (Leave this page blank) 

 School Safety Plan 
 Section 2 -  Evacuation Protocols - Fire  24 



 Section 3 – “Evacuate” for Bomb Threat or Other Non-Fire 
 Situation 

 Definition 
 This type of evacuation is used for any emergency evacuation not related to a fire incident. Law enforcement 
 in coordination of the principal will determine if it is a credible threat and if evacuation is necessary. 

 Alert Signal 
 Announcement over the public address system. “All Staff and Students Evacuate, Evacuate, to the 
 “  Manawa Rural Fire Department/City Hall or the other  school building (if not affected)  .” 

 3.1 Principal Response 
 1.  Notify appropriate public safety agencies and central staff of the situation. 
 2.  Select an evacuation route. 
 3.  If time permits, send designated staff member(s) to sweep the evacuation route and site and wait 

 for an all-clear report before announcing the evacuation. 
 4.  Announce an evacuation is in effect. (refer to “Alert Signal”) 
 5.  If it is safe to do so sweep/quickly check that the area is empty: 

 a.  The MES custodian will sweep from the main office through the south end of the facility 
 and the school counselor will sweep from the main office through the north end of the 
 facility. 

 b.  The MS/HS counselor/custodian will sweep the main academic level of the facility and 
 the Dean of Students will sweep the lower level/Fitness Center of the facility. 

 c.  The Paving the Way lead teacher will ensure all students and staff have exited. 
 6.  Ensure that the emergency evacuation kits are removed from the building. 
 7.  Leave the building and report to the first responding public safety official 

 a.  Advise him/her of the emergency evacuation kits and their contents. 
 b.  Offer to provide master keys to a properly identified public safety official. 
 c.  Make a record of the person to whom the key is issued. 

 8.  Report/walk (or in the event of inclement weather as determined by the principal, buses will be 
 secured to transport) to the  Manawa Rural Fire Department/City  Hall  or other designated 
 facility. 
 a.  Check to ensure that all students and staff are at the site and appraise the situation. 

 9.  Decide whether to implement the family reunification protocol. If family reunification protocol 
 is not appropriate, notify the transportation department to be prepared to implement it in the 
 event the situation escalates. 

 10.  Implement the media protocol. 
 11.  If deemed appropriate after consulting with public safety officials, authorize staff to reenter the 

 facility. 

 3.2 Teacher & Staff Response 
 1.  Gather all students and visitors in your area of responsibility and evacuate using the route and 

 evacuation site  designated unless otherwise instructed. 
 2.  Ensure that all special needs persons are provided assistance. 
 3.  After last student has left the room - Take emergency file & shut the door. 
 4.  Once evacuees have reached the designated evacuation site: 

 School Safety Plan 
 Section 3 –  Emergency Evacuation for Bomb Threat/Non  Fire  25 



 a.  Take attendance (Call each student’s name,  DO NOT  just count students). 
 b.  Provide attendance list to the principal or their designee (high visibility vest). 
 c.  Report any missing student(s). 
 d.  Notify the principal or their designee of any suspicious packages/objects you noticed in your 

 room/work area  . 
 4.  Ask students to report anything out of place  or suspicious. 
 5.  DO NOT  attempt to reenter the facility unless the  principal or their designee directs you to do 

 so. 
 6.  DO NOT  allow students to use portable/cell phones. 
 7.  DO NOT  use cell phones unless a significant emergency  situation exists. 

 3.4 Kitchen Staff Response 
 1.  Turn off equipment (stove, appliances etc.). 
 2.  After last person has left the room/area shut the door and report to the evacuation site. 
 3.  Make sure that all people leaving the facility remain at the evacuation site until released by the 
 appropriate authority. 
 4.  DO NOT  attempt to reenter the facility unless the  principal or his or her designee or his or 
 her designee directs you to do so. 

 3.5 Custodial Response 
 1.  Inform all students, personnel and visitors in your area to evacuate using the route and site 

 designated by the principal or his or her designee. 
 2.  Ensure that all special needs persons in your area of responsibility are provided assistance. 
 3.  If it is safe to do so  sweep the facility as in 3.1.5  above and take any people found to the principal. 
 4.  Once you reach the designated evacuation area, report to the principal or their designee and assist 

 as needed. 
 5.  DO NOT  use cell phones unless a significant emergency  situation exists. 

 3.6 Bus Driver Response 
 1.  Instruct students to evacuate the bus and to take all of their possessions with them. Remove the 

 keys to the bus. Conduct a quick visual sweep of the bus before you exit. Do not touch, move or 
 disturb any suspicious item, but note its location.  If it is safe to do so  , move students to a point 
 approximately 1,000 feet from the bus (about the length of ten football fields). Meet with 
 responding officials and tell them what you observed when you visually swept the bus for 
 suspicious items. 

 2.  Remain alert to your surroundings. Be particularly alert to any people or conditions that might 
 pose a danger to evacuees. If you encounter a significant hazard, quickly evaluate the situation, 
 adjust your evacuation route and attempt to notify the principal or his or her designee or the 
 appropriate public safety officials. 

 3.  Once you reach the designated evacuation site, develop a written list of all evacuees and provide 
 the list to route supervisor upon their arrival. Report the presence or lack of any suspicious 
 objects on or near the bus, evacuation route or site. 

 4.  Remain alert to potential dangers in the area and properly supervise students under your care. 
 5.  DO NOT  allow students to use portable telephones.  Confiscate any electronic communications 

 devices that are prohibited by policy. The use of cellular phones can result in loss of control of 
 the situation. 

 School Safety Plan 
 Section 3 –  Emergency Evacuation for Bomb Threat/Non  Fire  26 



 6.  Try to avoid use of the bus radio unless an emergency situation dictates its use. In certain rare 
 instances, a two-way radio signal can cause a device to detonate. 

 3.7 Route Supervisor Response 
 1.  Ensure that the appropriate public safety agencies have been notified of the situation. 
 2.  Advise all other drivers to keep the radio clear except for emergency transmissions until public 

 safety responders are on the scene. 
 3.  Proceed to the incident site if only one bus is involved. 
 4.  Upon arrival, conduct a quick visual sweep the evacuation area. 
 5.  Report to the evacuation site, check to ensure that all students and staff are at the site and 

 appraise the situation. 
 6.  Meet with responding public safety officials and determine how the bus will be swept for 

 explosive devices. Public safety officials ordinarily request that someone who is familiar with the 
 area to be checked assist them. Any transportation personnel who assist in the sweep of the bus 
 should be clearly instructed not to touch, move or in any way disturb anything on or near the bus. 

 7.  After the bus has been swept, consult with public safety officials and decide whether to transport 
 students on the bus, transfer them to another bus or to implement the family reunification 
 protocol. 

 8.  Implement the media protocol. 
 9.  Brief your supervisor as appropriate for the situation. 

 3.8 Lead Staff Member Response (after hours) 
 1.  Notify appropriate public safety agencies of the situation. 
 2.  Select an evacuation route and site. 
 3.  If time permits, send designated staff member(s) to sweep the evacuation route and site and wait 

 for an all-clear report before announcing the evacuation. 
 4.  Announce evacuation. 
 5.  Notify the principal and district administrator and request that the Crisis Response Team be 

 activated. 
 6.  If it is safe for you to do so  , sweep the facility  for students and adults who may not have been 

 able to evacuate. 
 7.  Ensure that the emergency evacuation kits are removed from the building. 
 8.  Leave the building. Report to the first responding public safety official and advise him or her of 

 the emergency evacuation kits and their contents. Offer to provide master keys to a properly 
 identified public safety official. Make a record of the person to whom the key is issued. 

 9.  Report to the evacuation site. Check to ensure that visitors, students and staff are at the site. 
 Appraise the situation. 

 10.  Decide whether or not to implement the family reunification protocol. 
 11.  Implement the media protocol. 

 School Safety Plan 
 Section 3 –  Emergency Evacuation for Bomb Threat/Non  Fire  27 



 (Leave this page blank) 

 School Safety Plan 
 Section 3 –  Emergency Evacuation for Bomb Threat/Non  Fire  28 



 Section 3a - Tracking Sheet(s) 
 3a.1 -Bomb Threat/Non-Fire Evacuation Incident Tracking Sheet 
 Use official command post time. Please use ink. 

 Location of incident: ______________________________________________________ 

 Type of incident:  Bomb Threat/Non-Fire Evacuation  _____________________________ 

 Sheet initiated by: ____________________________________________Date: ________________ 

 1  st  Shift Relieved by: _________________________________________________Time:  ____________ 

 2  nd  Shift Relieved by: _________________________________________________Time:  ___________ 

 3  rd  Shift Relieved by: _________________________________________________Time:  ____________ 

 ACTION  ORGANIZATION  STATUS  NOTES  REPORTED BY 
 Notify appropriate public safety 
 (police, fire) 
 Select an evacuation route and site 
 Activate appropriate crisis teams 
 Send designated staff member(s) to 
 sweep the evacuation route and 
 site 
 Announce evacuation 

 Sweep the facility for students and 
 adults, assist special needs persons 
 Ensure that the emergency 
 evacuation kits are removed from 
 the building 
 Evacuate according to non-fire 
 evacuation protocol 
 Report to the first responding 
 public safety official 
 Report to the evacuation site 
 Decide whether to implement the 
 family reunification protocol 
 Implement the media protocol 
 Once at the site, develop a written 
 list of all evacuees 
 Confiscate any electronic 
 communications devices that are 
 prohibited by policy 

 Time and date log closed out: _______________________________________________ 

 Name of person closing log: ________________________________________________ 

 Incident Tracking Sheet received by: _____________________________Date received: ______ 

 School Safety Plan 
 Section 3 –  Emergency Evacuation for Bomb Threat/Non  Fire  29 



 Witnessed by: ____________________________________________________Date: _______________ 

 School Safety Plan 
 Section 3 –  Emergency Evacuation for Bomb Threat/Non  Fire  30 



 (Leave this page blank) 

 School Safety Plan 
 Section 3 –  Emergency Evacuation for Bomb Threat/Non  Fire  31 



 Section 4 - Shelter in Place Protocol 

 Definition 
 Sheltering in place procedures are utilized when there has been a chemical or biological release or 
 radiological incident outside of, but in proximity to, a facility and available information indicates that 
 there is not adequate time to evacuate building occupants to a safe location before the dangerous 
 contaminants reach the facility. 

 Alert Signal 
 Announcement for staff to shelter building occupants in place. 

 4.1 Principal/District Administrator Response (Principal makes a determination to 
 shelter in place quickly if evacuation is not practical.) 

 1.  The District Administrator will notify AES at  (920)  968-5882  to shut off air if the principals or 
 D.A. are not able to do it via the remote VPN. Pay particular attention to hood ventilation 
 systems in the production kitchens and technology education labs and shut off the fans in the 
 gym. 

 2.  Principal makes an announcement over the public address system to direct staff to shelter in place. 
 3.  Principal ensures that all outdoor personnel have been moved into the facility. 
 4.  Principal ensures that all staff and occupants receive word to shelter in place and verify that all 

 personnel are sheltered in appropriate locations. 
 5.  Principal checks to see that staff members have taken proper steps to seal off windows and doors 

 from outside airflow using items found in the Emergency Evacuation Kit. 
 6.  District Administrator monitors the situation through radio and/or television stations. Attempt to 

 calm staff and students. Keep staff informed of developments whenever possible. District 
 Administrator will use Skylerts to convey messages to families and emergency contacts and will 
 send similar messages using available social media outlets. 

 7.  Principal when informed by local public safety and emergency management personnel, notify 
 staff when it is safe to leave the facility. 

 8.  District Administrator and principals make preparations to implement the family reunification 
 protocol quickly if the situation dictates. Notify the transportation department to be prepared to 
 implement the family reunification protocol in the event the situation escalates. 

 4.2 Teacher & Staff Response 
 1.  All staff that are outdoors should quickly gather all students and adults in the area and instruct 

 them to go inside the facility immediately. 
 2.  Close all windows and doors. 
 3.  Seal off windows and doors from outside airflow using items found in the “Go Kit”. 
 4.  Wait for further instructions from your principal or their designee. 
 5.  Review emergency evacuation and family reunification protocol. 

 School Safety Plan 
 Section 4 –  Shelter in Place  32 



 4.4 Kitchen Staff Response 
 1.  Instruct everyone in the area to move to an interior area without windows if possible. 
 2.  Close all doors. 
 3.  Shut down all exhaust fan hoods. 
 4.  Wait for further instructions from your principal or their designee. 

 4.5 Custodial Response 
 1.  If you are outdoors, quickly gather all students and adults in the area and instruct them to go 

 inside the facility immediately. Once inside, instruct everyone to move to an interior area without 
 windows if possible. 

 2.  Close all windows and doors in your area of responsibility. 
 3.  If it is safe to do so  ,  sweep  /  quickly check that all  halls, rest rooms, common areas are empty in the 

 facility and take any people found to the principal. 
 4.  Report to the principal or their designee and provide assistance as needed. 

 4.6 Bus Driver Response 
 1.  Close all windows and doors. 
 2.  If available, use tape to cover all windows and doors with precut sheets of plastic to help reduce 

 airflow into the area. 
 3.  Close all outside air vents. Turn off all heating or ventilation systems. 
 4.  Notify the transportation department of your situation and exact location. 
 5.  Consult with area public safety and emergency management officials if any are in the area. 
 6.  Be prepared to move the bus or implement emergency evacuation procedures. 

 4.7 Route Supervisor Response 
 1.  Consult with driver(s) and public safety officials to determination if drivers in the affected area 

 should attempt to drive out of the area, move students to a building if they can locate one, or 
 shelter in place. 

 2.  Advise all other drivers to keep the radio clear except for emergency transmissions. 
 3.  Keep track of all bus locations and areas where students are evacuated or sheltered. 
 4.  Monitor situation through radio and/or television stations. Attempt to calm staff and drivers. 

 Keep staff and drivers informed of developments whenever possible. 
 5.  Notify staff when it is safe to leave their location based on advice from local public safety and 

 emergency management personnel. 
 6.  Brief your supervisor as appropriate for the situation. 

 4.8 Lead Staff Member Response (after hours) 
 1.  Make a determination to shelter in place quickly if evacuation is not practical. 
 2.  Make an announcement by the best available means to direct staff to shelter in place. Request 

 that staff advise visitors of the shelter in place procedures. 
 3.  Check to see that outdoor personnel have been moved into the facility. 
 4.  Notify the principal and district administrator and tell them to advise the Crisis Response Team 

 of the situation. 
 5.  The District Administrator will notify AES at  (920)  968-5882  to shut off air if the principals or 

 D.A. are not able to do it via the remote VPN. Pay particular attention to hood ventilation 
 systems in the production kitchens and technology education labs and shut off the fans in the 
 gym. 

 School Safety Plan 
 Section 4 –  Shelter in Place  33 



 6.  If it is safe to do so,  check to see that staff and occupants received word to shelter in place. 
 7.  Verify that personnel are sheltered in the most suitable locations. 
 8.  Check to see that staff members have taken proper steps to seal off windows and doors from 

 outside air flow. 
 9.  The District Administrator will monitor the situation through radio and/or television stations. 

 District Administrator will use Skylerts to convey messages to families and emergency contacts 
 and will send similar messages using available social media outlets. 

 10.  Attempt to calm staff, visitors and students. Keep staff informed of developments whenever 
 possible. 

 11.  When informed by local public safety and emergency management personnel, notify staff when 
 it is safe to leave facility. 

 School Safety Plan 
 Section 4 –  Shelter in Place  34 



 (Leave this page blank) 

 School Safety Plan 
 Section 4 –  Shelter in Place  35 



 Section 4a - Tracking Sheet(s) 
 4a.1 - Shelter in Place Incident Tracking Sheet 
 Use official command post time. Please use ink. 

 Location of incident: ______________________________________________________ 

 Type of incident:  Shelter in Place  _____________________________________________ 

 Sheet initiated by: ____________________________________________Date: ________________ 

 1  st  Shift Relieved by: ________________________________________________Time:  _____________ 

 2  nd  Shift Relieved by: ________________________________________________Time:  ____________ 

 3  rd  Shift Relieved by: ________________________________________________Time:  _____________ 

 ACTION  ORGANIZATION  STATUS  NOTES  REPORTED BY 
 Make announcement over public 
 address system, activate appropriate 
 crisis teams 
 Gather outdoor personnel into 
 facility 
 Verify that personnel have received 
 word and are sheltered in the most 
 suitable locations 
 Once inside, instruct everyone to 
 move to an interior area without 
 windows if possible 
 Close all windows and doors 
 Use tape to cover all windows and 
 doors with precut sheets of plastic to 
 help reduce air flow into the area 
 Use wet towels to reduce air flow 
 under doors 
 Close all outside air vents 
 Turn off all heating or ventilation 
 systems 
 Implement media protocol 
 Monitor situation through radio 
 and/or television stations 
 Attempt to calm staff and students 
 Notify staff when it is safe to leave 
 facility 
 Decide whether to implement family 
 reunification protocol 

 Time and date log closed out: _______________________________________________ 

 Name of person closing log: ________________________________________________ 

 Incident Tracking Sheet received by: ________________________________Date received: _________ 

 School Safety Plan 
 Section 4 –  Shelter in Place  36 



 Witnessed by: ____________________________________________________Date: _______________ 

 School Safety Plan 
 Section 4 –  Shelter in Place  37 



 (Leave this page blank) 

 School Safety Plan 
 Section 5 -  Relocation Evacuation & Family Reunification  38 



 Section 5 - Relocation Evacuation & Family Reunification Protocol 

 Definition 
 This type of evacuation is used for any evacuation where students and staff will need to be moved to a 
 site/location off the premises for reunification with family members and loved ones. 

 Alert Signal 
 Announcement over the public address system  “All Staff  and Students evacuate to  Manawa Rural Fire 
 Department/City Hall or the other school building”  ,  and be prepared to implement our Family 
 Reunification Protocol. 

 5.1 Principal/District Administrator Response 
 1.  Notify the District Administrator of your decision to implement a Relocation Evacuation. Provide a 

 brief description of the incident and specify the staging area so buses can be dispatched to the 
 appropriate location. 

 2.  The District Administrator will request that additional law enforcement officials dispatch uniformed 
 personnel to  Manawa Rural Fire Department/City Hall  or the other school building  ,  and the 
 Masonic Lodge  . 

 3.  Once at the Manawa Rural Fire Department/City Hall or the other school building make sure that 
 all staff members and students are accounted for. 

 4.  The bus company will send transportation to take students and staff from the  Manawa Rural 
 Fire Department/City Hall or the other school building  to the  Masonic Lodge. 

 5.  The principal or their designee is responsible for contacting family members for the pick-up of the 
 evacuated at the  Masonic Lodge or the other school  ,  - Follow Family Reunification Protocol. 

 6.  The principal will have the school office staff and school counselor assist in coordinating and 
 leading the Reunification Protocol at the  Masonic  Lodge or the other school  at the staging area. 
 Each of these staff members should have a complete school roster by grade-level or course in 
 their Emergency Evacuation Kits. 

 7.  The principal, school office staff, and school counselor will direct other staff members how they 
 are to assist with family reunification at the staging area. 

 8.  The District Administrator will implement the media protocol. 

 5.2 Teacher & Staff Response 
 1.  Follow Relocation Evacuation procedures and guide students to  Manawa Rural Fire 

 Department/City Hall or the other school building  . 
 2.  Prepare students for boarding of buses. 
 3.  Ensure that any special needs persons in your area of responsibility are assisted during the 

 evacuation. 
 4.  Assist police in obtaining a list of all witnesses and/or victims: 

 a.  Full name(s), date of birth, and address 
 b.  Indicate whether (“V”- for victim or “W” - for witness) 

 5.  Once students and other persons from your area of responsibility have boarded a bus, take the 
 roll. 

 6.  The principal, school office staff, and school counselor will direct you as to your assigned role in 
 the Family Reunification Protocol when you arrive at the  Masonic Lodge or the other school 
 staging area. 

 School Safety Plan 
 Section 5 -  Relocation Evacuation & Family Reunification  39 



 5.4 Kitchen Staff Response 
 1.  Turn off equipment (stove, appliances etc.). 
 2.  After last person has left the room/area shut the door and report to the  Manawa Rural Fire 
 Department/City Hall or the other school building  . 
 3.  Make sure that all people leaving the facility remain at the evacuation site until released by the 
 appropriate authority. 
 4.  DO NOT  attempt to reenter the facility unless the  principal or their designee directs you to do so. 
 5.  DO NOT  use cell phones unless a significant emergency  situation exists. 

 5.5 Custodial Response 
 1.  Follow Relocation Evacuation procedures and guide students to  Manawa Rural Fire 

 Department/City Hall or the other school building  . 
 2.  Ensure that any special needs persons in your area of responsibility are assisted during the evacuation. 
 3.  If it is safe to do so  ,  sweep/quickly check the facility  to be sure everyone has exited. At Paving the Way, 

 the lead teacher will ensure that everyone has left the building. 
 4.  Report to the principal or his or her designee and provide assistance as needed. 
 5.  Once you are advised to evacuate to the family reunification site and students and other persons from 

 your area of responsibility have boarded a bus, assist the bus driver by taking roll and completing the 
 driver’s evacuation roster. 

 6.  Follow the instructions of Family Reunification Staff when you arrive at the Family Reunification 
 Site. You may be asked to assist in staffing the site. 

 5.6 Bus Driver Response  (For an incident involving  your bus) 
 1.  Follow Relocation Evacuation procedures and guide students to an appropriate evacuation site. 

 Prepare students to board another bus. 
 2.  Ensure that any special needs persons are assisted during the evacuation. 
 3.  Once students have boarded a bus, assist the bus driver by taking roll and completing the driver’s 

 evacuation roster. 
 4.  Follow the instructions of Family Reunification Staff when you arrive at the Family 

 Reunification Site. You will be asked to assist in staffing the site. 

 5.7 Route Supervisor Response  (For an incident involving  your bus) 
 1.  Notify dispatch and the District office of your decision to implement the family reunification 

 protocol. Provide a brief description of the incident and specify the staging area so a bus can be 
 dispatched to the appropriate location. 

 2.  Request that law enforcement officials dispatch uniformed personnel to the staging area. 
 3.  If you must stay at the scene, designate a staff member to serve as your representative at the 

 family reunification center. 

 School Safety Plan 
 Section 5 -  Relocation Evacuation & Family Reunification  40 



 5.6a Bus Driver Response  (When one or more schools  are affected by a crisis) 
 1.  When you are notified that your assistance is needed for implementation of the family 

 reunification plan, make sure that you have copies of student family reunification rosters. 
 2.  Follow directions provided by route supervisors and public safety officials as to the best 

 approach to the affected school or its evacuation area. 
 3.  Try to calm students as they board the bus. 
 4.  Once  loaded,  proceed  safely  to  the  family  reunification  site.  Understand  that  evacuees  may  be 

 traumatized by events and may be in an excited and emotionally distraught state. 
 5.  Have  a  staff  member  fill  out  the  student  transport  roster.  If  no  staff  member  is  present,  ask  a 

 student  to  perform  this  task  and  note  the  name  of  the  student  who  completed  this  task  on  the 
 form. 

 6.  Do not  stop the bus or open the door to allow evacuees  to meet family members. 
 7.  When  you  arrive  at  the  family  reunification  site,  follow  the  instructions  of  public  safety 

 personnel. Provide the roster(s) to the staff member that meets your bus. 
 8.  Return  for  the  next  relay  if  you  are  needed  and  repeat  the  process  until  the  evacuation  is 

 complete. 
 9.  Your  bus  may  or  may  not  be  escorted  by  law  enforcement  depending  on  the  available  resources 

 and the nature of the crisis. 
 10.  Keep all radio traffic to a minimum. 

 5.7a Route Supervisor Response  (When one or more schools  are affected by a crisis) 
 1.  Advise  all  drivers  to  keep  the  radio  clear  except  for  important  transmissions  until  the  last 

 transport is completed. 
 2.  Work  with  administrators  at  the  affected  site,  crisis  response  team  members  and  public  safety 

 officials  to  set  up  an  efficient  relay  system.  Designate  a  staging  area  near  the  school  so  buses  can 
 be staged there if too many buses arrive at the evacuation area at one time for loading. 

 3.  Maintain a log of the status of all involved buses to help you keep track of available resources. 
 4.  If  buses  from  another  school  system  or  mass  transit  buses  are  sent  to  assist,  coordinate  with  their 

 supervisors  and  personnel.  Attempt  to  establish  a  means  of  radio  communications  with  their 
 personnel. You may be able to provide a spare radio to a representative of their organization. 

 5.  Brief your supervisor as appropriate. 

 5.8 Lead Staff Member Response (after hours) 
 1.  Coordinate with public safety officials and/or Crisis Response Team members when deciding 

 which site to use. Unlike a daytime emergency, the other school or Manawa Athletic Complex 
 may be appropriate. 

 2.  Notify the principal and district administrator of your decision to implement the family 
 reunification protocol and request that the Crisis Recovery Team be activated if needed and sent 
 to the selected site. Provide a brief description of the incident and specify the staging area so 
 buses can be dispatched to the appropriate location. 

 3.  Request that law enforcement officials dispatch uniformed personnel to the staging area. 
 4.  If available, make the announcement by public address system, runners, e-mail or by the most 

 practical means available to inform visitors, staff and students. It may be best to wait until the 
 Crisis Response Team and buses have had time to travel to the affected site and the family 
 reunification site before making the announcement and moving to the staging area. 

 School Safety Plan 
 Section 5 -  Relocation Evacuation & Family Reunification  41 



 5.  In certain situations, it may not be practical or safe to order a general evacuation (such as during 
 a hostage situation or if an armed intruder may still be in the area). In such instances, coordinate 
 with public safety officials for law enforcement personnel to conduct the evacuation room by 
 room. 

 6.  Designate a Crisis Response Team member or other staff member to serve as your representative 
 at the family reunification center. Instruct them to take student information from one of the 
 Emergency Evacuation Kits with them. 

 7.  Notify the appropriate Crisis Response Team member to serve as your representative at the 
 staging area. 

 School Safety Plan 
 Section 5 -  Relocation Evacuation & Family Reunification  42 



 Section 5a - Tracking Sheet(s) 

 5a.1 -Remote Evacuation and Family Reunification Incident Tracking Sheet 
 Use official command post time. Please use ink. 

 Location of incident: ______________________________________________________ 

 Type of incident:  Remote Evacuation and Family Reunification  ____________________ 

 Sheet initiated by: ___________________________________________Date: ________________ 

 1  st  Shift 
 Relieved by: ________________________________________________Time: ________________ 

 2  nd  Shift 
 Relieved by: ________________________________________________Time: ________________ 

 3  rd  Shift 
 Relieved by: ________________________________________________Time: ________________ 

 ACTION  ORGANIZATION  STATUS  NOTES  REPORTED BY 
 Notify the central office 
 Request law enforcement 
 to report to staging area 
 Make the announcement 
 over public address 
 system 
 Activate appropriate crisis 
 teams, notify a team 
 member to be 
 administrator’s 
 representative at family 
 reunification center 
 Follow non-fire 
 evacuation procedures 
 Provide assistance for 
 special needs persons 
 Take roll enroute (if on a 
 bus take roll and complete 
 the driver’s evacuation 
 roster) 
 Implement media protocol 

 Time and date log closed out: _______________________________________________ 

 Name of person closing log: ________________________________________________ 

 Incident Tracking Sheet received by: __________________________________Date: ______________ 

 School Safety Plan 
 Section 5 -  Relocation Evacuation & Family Reunification  43 



 Witnessed by: ____________________________________________________Date: _______________ 

 School Safety Plan 
 Section 5 -  Relocation Evacuation & Family Reunification  44 



 (Leave this page blank) 

 School Safety Plan 
 Section 6 –  Secure  (Secure)  45 



 Section 6 –  Secure  (Lock) 

 Definition 
 A  Secure  is  a  means  to  rapidly  enhance  the  level  of  security  in  the  facility.  By  locking  all  exterior  doors 
 and  main  interior  doors,  staff  can  make  it  more  difficult  for  a  dangerous  person  or  situation  in  the 
 vicinity  of  the  facility  to  gain  access  to  staff  and  students.  This  does  allow  staff  and  students  to  continue 
 with productive activities in a limited fashion. 

 Alert Signal 
 Announcement  over  the  public  address  system  ,  “All  staff  and  Students,  Secure,  Secure  the  Perimeter, 
 Secure, Secure the Perimeter. Remain inside the Building.” 

 6.1 Principal/District Administrator Response 
 1.  Make an announcement to implement the Secure (Lock Out). 
 2.  Notify  District  Office,  transportation  and  public  safety  officials  of  the  situation  requiring  a 

 Secure. 
 3.  If it is safe for you to do so  , verify that all exterior  doors have been secured. 
 4.  If it is safe for you to do so  , verify that all main  interior doors have been secured. 
 5.  Notify the transportation department so that they can stop any inbound buses and/or make 

 preparations to support you in the event you need to implement a  Lock Down. 
 6.  Brief  staff  and  students  as  quickly  as  it  is  safe  to  do  so.  You  may  do  so  in  several  ways 

 depending  on  your  situation.  Staff  may  be  notified  in  person,  over  two-way  radio,  via  intercom, 
 by  phone,  or  by  e-mail.  You  may  need  to  remain  in  this  Secure  condition  for  several  hours.  If  so, 
 you may wish to modify the Secure conditions as appropriate. 

 7.  Once  the  situation  is  resolved,  you  may  resume  normal  activities.  The  principal  should  inform 
 staff  and  students  of  the  reason  the  Secure  was  issued.  This  can  be  done  by  having 
 administrators  go  from  room  to  room,  using  an  announcement  over  the  public  address  system, 
 announcing  over  the  two-way  radios,  or  via  e-mail  as  appropriate  to  the  situation.  Staff  should 
 be  instructed  on  how  they  should  explain  the  situation  to  students.  In  some  cases,  the 
 administrator  may  find  it  appropriate  to  send  a  brief  letter  home  to  inform  parents  of  the  actions 
 that were taken to protect their children (see appendix of master protocol for sample letters). 

 6.2 Teacher & Staff Response 
 1.  If you are located outside of the building, gather all students in the vicinity into the building and 

 lock the door(s). 
 2.  Do not allow anyone to leave the building. Stay away from any exterior doors. 
 3.  If possible, report any concerns, missing students, suspicious activities, etc. to the principal or his 

 or her designee by telephone, two-way radio, or intercom. 
 4.  Continue with normal activities as much as the situation allows. 
 5.  If students or staff have a need to move about in the building, obtain permission first from the 

 principal or his or her designee. 
 6.  Be prepared to rapidly implement a Lock Down if directed to do so. 

 School Safety Plan 
 Section 6 –  Secure  (Secure)  46 



 6.4 Kitchen Staff Response 
 1.  Continue with normal activities as much as the situation allows. 
 2.  Do Not accept any deliveries during a Secure. 
 3.  Be prepared to rapidly implement a Lock Down if directed to do so. 

 6.5 Custodial Response 
 1.  Make sure all exterior entrance points to the building are locked immediately. 
 2.  Instruct all students and visitors you encounter to remain in the building. 
 3.  Once you have secured all exterior doors, report to the principal or his or her designee and assist 

 as needed. 
 4.  Continue with normal activities as much as the situation allows. Periodically check exterior 

 doors to ensure that they remain locked. 
 5.  If students or staff have a need to move about in the building, obtain permission first from the 

 principal or his or her designee. 
 6.  Be prepared to rapidly implement a Lock Down if directed to do so. 

 6.6 Bus Driver Response 
 A.  If you are unloading students in the morning and have other stops, continue your route, avoiding 

 the immediate area of the affected school(s). If your next stop is a school located in close 
 proximity to the affected school(s), seek guidance from a route supervisor. If you are picking up 
 students in the afternoon, drive to a location that is at least one thousand feet from any affected 
 school(s) and park in a safe area. Seek guidance from a route supervisor to see if you should wait 
 to make the pickup at the affected school(s) once normal activities have resumed or continue 
 your route. 

 B.  If you are advised of a Lock Down by a student, staff member, or public safety official and have 
 not been notified by the transportation department, depart from the area and immediately advise 
 your route supervisor or the dispatcher of the information you have received. If students are on 
 your bus who would normally disembark, have them remain on the bus until you confirm that it 
 is safe to drop them off at the school. 

 6.7 Route Supervisor Response 
 1.  If notified that a Lock Down is in affect at a school, notify all bus drivers that would normally 

 be dropping off or picking up students at the school and direct them as to what to do next. 
 2.  For Lock Downs instruct drivers to restrict radio transmissions to those that are critical if you 

 think it is appropriate based on the information you have. 
 3.  If it appears that a Lock Down may remain in place for an extended time, consult with district 

 administrator or his or her designee to determine if drivers who are designated to pick up at the school 
 should continue their routes and/or if students who are still on the bus should be taken to a secure 
 location until the threat subsides at the affected school(s). 

 4.  Keep drivers updated on the situation as appropriate. 
 5.  Brief your supervisor as appropriate for the situation. 

 School Safety Plan 
 Section 6 –  Secure  (Secure)  47 



 6.8 Lead Staff Member Response (after hours) 
 1.  Make sure the designated entrance points to the building near your location are locked immediately. 
 2.  If the function is in a contained area such as a cafeteria, lunchroom or gymnasium, it may be best 

 to have all exterior doors and all doors to the room where the function is being held secured and 
 to continue the activity. 
 This decision depends on the information about the threat that the lead staff member has at the 
 time. Otherwise: 

 3.  If you are located in an area with a lockable door, gather all staff, visitors, and students in the 
 vicinity into the room and lock the door. 

 4.  If you are not in a location with a lockable door, move staff, visitors, and students to an area 
 where they can be separated from other parts of the facility by a locked door. 

 5.  Verify that all exterior doors have been secured as soon as it is safe for you to do so. 
 6.  Call emergency services and advise them that you have initiated a Lock Down at the facility and 

 the reason for the Lock Down. Request that law enforcement officers be dispatched if 
 appropriate to the situation. 

 7.  Notify the principal and district administrator and report your situation request that they notify 
 the Crisis Response Team of the situation. 

 8.  Continue with normal activities to the extent the situation allows. 
 9.  If staff, visitors, or students have a need to move about in the building, make a decision whether 

 or not it is safe to do so. Students who are allowed to move about the building should be escorted 
 by an adult. 

 10.  Be prepared to rapidly implement an emergency evacuation or Lock Down if directed to do so. 
 11.  Brief staff, visitors, and students as quickly as it is safe to do so. You may do so in several ways 

 depending on your situation. Staff may be notified in person, over two-way radio, via intercom, 
 by phone, or by e-mail. You may need to remain in this Lock Down condition for an extended 
 time period. If so, you may wish to modify the Lock Down conditions as appropriate. 

 12.  Once the situation is resolved, resume normal activities. The lead staff member may wish to 
 inform other staff, visitors, and students of the reason the Secure was issued. This can be done by 
 public address system or other means. 

 School Safety Plan 
 Section 6 –  Secure  (Secure)  48 



 (Leave this page blank) 

 School Safety Plan 
 Section 6 –  Secure  (Secure)  49 



 Section 6a - Tracking Sheet(s) 

 6.a.1 – Secure  (Secure)  Incident Tracking Sheet 
 Use official command post time. Please use ink. 

 Location of incident: ______________________________________________________ 

 Type of incident:  Secure (Secure)  ____________________________ 

 Sheet initiated by: _________________________________________Date: ________________ 

 1  st  Shift 
 Relieved by: _____________________________________________Time: ________________ 

 2  nd  Shift 
 Relieved by: _____________________________________________Time: ________________ 

 3  rd  Shift 
 Relieved by: _____________________________________________Time: ________________ 

 ACTION  ORGANIZATION  STATUS  NOTES  REPORTED 
 BY 

 Make announcement to 
 implement the Secure(Lock) 
 Activate appropriate crisis teams 
 Notify central office 

 Notify public safety officials 
 Notify the transportation 
 department 
 Gather students and staff from 
 outside of the building 
 Gather all students in the 
 vicinity into a room and lock the 
 door 
 Verify that all exterior and 
 interior doors have been secured 
 as soon as it is safe to do so 
 Brief staff on the situation if it is 
 safe to do so 
 Notify staff when it is safe to 
 resume normal activity 

 Time and date log closed out: _______________________________________________ 

 Name of person closing log: ________________________________________________ 

 Incident Tracking Sheet received by: ____________________________Date received: _____________ 

 School Safety Plan 
 Section 6 –  Secure  (Secure)  50 



 Witnessed by: ______________________________________________Date: ____________________ 

 School Safety Plan 
 Section 6 –  Secure  (Secure)  51 



 (Leave this page blank) 

 School Safety Plan 
 Section 7 –  Lock Down  52 



 Section 7 – Lock Down 

 Definition 
 A Lock Down is a response to an actual emergency situation. A Lock Down is used to dramatically and rapidly 
 enhance the level of security in the facility. By locking all exterior and interior doors, staff can make it more 
 difficult for dangerous person(s) in the facility to gain access to staff and students. A Lock Down further 
 requires that all staff and students seek as much physical safety from physical assault as possible by using 
 barriers to sight, physical barriers, or moving to a safer location. 

 Alert Signal 
 Announcement over the public address system  , “All  staff and students–Lock Down, Locks, Lights, Out 
 of Sight, Lock Down, Locks, Lights, Out of Sight.” 

 7.1 Principal/District Administrator Response 
 1.  Make an announcement to implement a Lock Down. 
 2.  Notify District Office and public safety officials (911) of the situation requiring a Lock Down. 
 3.  If it is safe to do so,  verify that all exterior doors  have been secured. 
 4.  If it is safe to do so  , verify that all main interior  doors have been secured. 
 5.  Notify the transportation department so that they can stop any inbound buses and/or make 

 preparations to support you in the event you need to implement a Relocation Evacuation due to a 
 change in the situation. 

 6.  Brief staff as quickly as it is safe to do so. You may do so in several ways depending on your 
 situation. Staff may be notified in person, via intercom, by phone, over two-way radio, or by 
 e-mail. You may need to remain in this Lock Down condition for several hours. If so, you may 
 wish to modify the Lock Down conditions as appropriate. 

 7.  Once the situation is resolved,  Law Enforcement  will  provide procedures as appropriate for the 
 situation. You may wish to inform staff members of the reason the Lock Down was issued. This 
 can be done by having administrators go from room to room, using an announcement over the 
 public address system, over two-way radios, or via e-mail as appropriate to the situation. Staff 
 should be instructed on how they should explain the situation to students. In some cases, the 
 administrator may find it appropriate to send a brief letter home to inform parents of the actions 
 that were taken to protect their children (see appendix of master protocol for sample letters). 

 7.2 Teacher & Staff Response 
 1.  If you are located in an area with exterior/interior lockable door(s), gather all students in the 

 vicinity into the room and lock the door(s). 
 2.  If you are not in a location with a lockable door, move students to an area where they can be 

 separated from other parts of the facility by a locked door. 
 3.  If possible, report any concerns, missing students, suspicious activities, etc. to the principal or his 

 or her designee by telephone or intercom 
 4.  If possible, turn out lights and gather students and visitors into an area of the room where they 

 are not visible to someone looking into windows. 
 5.  Do not open your door for any reason  .  (The on scene  officer(s) will identify themselves by 

 passing his/her photo ID badge under the door - your door will then be unlocked according to 
 standard policies and procedures.) 

 6.  Remain in place if the fire alarm system rings. Fire evacuation will be signaled by intercom 
 announcement. 

 School Safety Plan 
 Section 7 –  Lock Down  53 



 7.4 Kitchen Staff Response 
 1.  Make sure entrance points to the building near your location are locked immediately. 
 2.  If you are located in an area with a lockable door, gather all students in the vicinity into the room 

 and lock the door. 
 3.  Do not open your door for any reason  .  (The on scene  officer(s) will identify themselves by 

 passing his/her photo ID badge under the door - your door will then be unlocked according to 
 standard policies and procedures.) 

 4.  Remain in place if the fire alarm system rings. Fire evacuation will be signaled by intercom 
 announcement. 

 7.5 Custodial Response 
 1.  Make sure entrance points to the building near your location are locked immediately. 
 2.  If you are located in an area with a lockable door, gather all students in the vicinity into the room 

 and lock the door. 
 3.  If you are not in a location with a lockable door, move students to an area where they can be 

 separated from other parts of the facility by a locked door. 
 4.  If possible, report your status to the principal or his or her designee by telephone or intercom. 
 5.  If possible, turn out lights and gather students and visitors into an area of the room where they 

 are not visible to someone looking into windows. 
 6.  Do not open your door for any reason  .  (The on scene  officer(s) will identify themselves by 

 passing his/her photo ID badge under the door - your door will then be unlocked according to 
 standard policies and procedures 

 7.  Remain in place if the fire alarm system rings. Fire evacuation will be signaled by intercom 
 announcement. 

 7.6 Bus Driver Response 
 1.  If you are unloading students in the morning and have other stops, continue your route, avoiding 

 the immediate area of the affected school(s). If your next stop is a school located in close 
 proximity to the affected school(s), seek guidance from a route supervisor. If you are picking up 
 students in the afternoon, drive to a location that is at least one thousand feet from any affected 
 school(s) and park in a safe area. Seek guidance from a route supervisor to see if you should wait 
 to make the pickup at the affected school(s) once normal activities have resumed or continue 
 your route. 

 School Safety Plan 
 Section 7 –  Lock Down  54 



 2.  If you are advised of a Lock Down by a student, staff member or public safety official and have 
 not been notified by the transportation department, depart from the area and immediately advise 
 your route supervisor or the dispatcher of the information you have received. If students are on 
 your bus who would normally disembark, have them remain on the bus until you confirm that it 
 is safe to drop them off at the school. 

 7.7 Route Supervisor Response 
 1.  If notified that a Lock Down is in affect at a school, notify all bus drivers that would normally be 

 dropping off or picking up students at the school and direct them as to what to do next. 
 2.  For Lock Downs instruct drivers to restrict radio transmissions to those that are critical if you 

 think it is appropriate based on the information you have. 
 3.  If it appears that a Lock Down may remain in place for an extended time, consult with district 

 principal or his or her designee to determine if drivers who are designated to pick up at the 
 school should continue their routes and/or if students who are still on the bus should be taken to a 
 secure location until the threat subsides at the affected school(s). 

 4.  Keep drivers updated on the situation as appropriate. 
 5.  Brief your supervisor as appropriate for the situation. 

 7.8 Lead Staff Member Response (after hours) 
 1.  Make an announcement to implement the Lock Down. 
 2.  Notify emergency services (911) that you have initiated a Lock Down, indicate the reason for the 

 Lock Down and request that law enforcement officers be dispatched to your location. 
 3.  Call the principal and district administrator and request that the Crisis Response Team be notified 

 of your situation. Briefly advise them of the situation. 
 4.  Verify that all exterior doors have been secured if it is safe for you to do so. 
 5.  Verify that all main interior doors have been secured if it is safe for you to do so. 
 6.  Make sure entrance points to the building near your location are locked immediately. 
 7.  If you are located in an area with a lockable door, gather all students and visitors in the vicinity 

 into the room and lock the door. If you are not in a location with a lockable door, move staff, 
 visitors and students to an area where they can be separated from other parts of the facility by a 
 locked door. 

 8.  If possible, turn out lights and gather students and visitors into an area of the room where they 
 are not visible to someone looking into windows. 

 9.  Do not open your door for any reason  .  (The on scene  officer(s) will identify themselves by 
 passing his/her photo ID badge under the door - your door will then be unlocked according to 
 standard policies and procedures.) 

 10.  Brief staff as soon as it is safe to do so. You may do so in several ways depending on your 
 situation. Staff may be notified in person, via intercom, by phone, over two-way radios, or by 
 e-mail. You may need to remain in this Lock Down condition for several hours. If so, you may 
 wish to modify the Lock Down conditions as appropriate. 

 11.  Once the situation is resolved, Law Enforcement will provide procedures as appropriate for the 
 situation. The lead staff member may wish to inform staff members, visitors and students of the 
 reason the Lock Down was issued. This can be done by having administrators go from room to 
 room, using an announcement over the public address system or via e-mail as appropriate to the 
 situation. 

 School Safety Plan 
 Section 7 –  Lock Down  55 



 (Leave this page blank) 

 School Safety Plan 
 Section 7 –  Lock Down  56 



 Section 7a - Tracking Sheet(s) 

 7a.1 - Lock Down Incident Tracking Sheet 
 Use official command post time. Please use ink. 

 Location of incident: ______________________________________________________ 

 Type of incident:  Lock Down  ______________________________ 

 Sheet initiated by: _____________________________________________Date: ________________ 

 1  st  Shift 
 Relieved by: _________________________________________________Time: ________________ 

 2  nd  Shift 
 Relieved by: _________________________________________________Time: ________________ 

 3  rd  Shift 
 Relieved by: _________________________________________________Time: ________________ 

 ACTION  ORGANIZATION  STATUS  NOTES  REPORTED 
 BY 

 Make announcement to 
 implement the Lock Down 
 Activate appropriate crisis 
 teams 
 Notify central office 
 Notify public safety officials 
 Gather all students in the 
 vicinity into the room and 
 lock the door 
 Gather students and staff 
 from outside the building 
 Verify that all exterior doors 
 have been secured 
 Verify that all main interior 
 doors have been secured 
 Notify the transportation 
 department 
 Turn out lights 
 Gather students and visitors 
 into an area of the room 
 where they are not visible to 
 someone looking into 
 windows 

 Name of person closing log: ___________________ Time and date log closed out: _________________ 

 Incident Tracking Sheet received by: _________________________________Date received: _______ 

 Witnessed by: ___________________________________________________Date: _______________ 
 School Safety Plan 

 Section 7 –  Lock Down  57 



 (Leave this page blank) 

 School Safety Plan 
 Section 8 -  Resumption of Normal Activities  58 



 Section 8- Resumption of Normal Activities 

 Resumption of Normal Activities/Reverse Evacuation 

 Definition 
 These protocols are used to return students and staff to the building after an evacuation or to resume 
 normal activities following a Lock Down or shelter in place once it is determined that potential danger 
 has passed. A Resumption of Normal Activities/Reverse Evacuation can be combined with a Secure or 
 Lock Down if the District Administrator or his or her designee determines that there is danger to 
 students who have been evacuated and that evacuees should be returned to the building and Locked 
 Down. 

 Alert Signal 
 For a resumption of normal activities  : An announcement  by bullhorn, runners, or via the public address 
 system of  “All teachers and staff implement the Resumption  of Normal Activities protocol now. Please 
 resume normal activities at this time.” 

 For a reverse evacuation and Secure:  An announcement  by bullhorn, runners or via the public address 
 system of  “All teachers and staff implement the Reverse  Evacuation and Secure immediately.” 

 8.1 Principal Response 
 1.  After the appropriate announcement has been made, determine when and if the school can return 

 to normal operations or if a  Secure  is required until  the situation is stabilized. 
 2.  Provide appropriate guidance to staff via public address announcements, e-mail, runners or other 

 means as appropriate. 
 3.  Notify the transportation department if you resume normal activities. 
 4.  The District Administrator or his or her designee may wish to inform staff members of the reason 

 the evacuation was implemented. This can be done by having administrators go from room to 
 room, using an announcement over the public address system, over two-way radios, or via e-mail 
 as appropriate to the situation. Staff should be instructed on how they should explain the 
 situation to students. In some cases, the administrator may find it appropriate to send a brief 
 letter home to inform parents of the actions that were taken to protect their children (see 
 appendix of master protocol for sample letters). 

 8.2 Teacher & Staff Response 
 If a reverse evacuation and Lock Down is indicated:  Teachers and staff shall return evacuees to their 
 classrooms/assigned areas (or nearest assigned Lock Down area) in an orderly but prompt fashion while 
 remaining alert to possible threats. If a threat is identified while en route, appropriate adjustment should 
 be made. Once they reach the assigned area, staff will implement the Lock Down Procedures. 

 1.  Once evacuees have returned to their assigned area(s), take attendance to verify that all students are 
 accounted for 

 2.  Provide a list of missing students and other concerns to the principal or his or her designee. 

 School Safety Plan 
 Section 8 -  Resumption of Normal Activities  59 



 If a Resumption of normal activities has been indicated:  Teachers and staff shall return evacuees to 
 their assigned areas in an orderly but prompt fashion. Upon reaching their assigned area, normal 
 activities should be resumed. 

 8.4 Kitchen Staff Response 

 ▪  If a reverse evacuation and Lock Down is indicated:  Follow your Lock Down protocol. 
 ▪  If a Resumption of normal activities has been indicated: Resume normal duties. 

 8.5 Custodial Response 
 If a reverse evacuation and Lock Down is indicated:  Teachers and staff shall return evacuees to their 
 classrooms/assigned areas (or nearest assigned Lock Down area) in an orderly but prompt fashion while 
 remaining alert to possible threats. If a threat is identified while en route, appropriate adjustment should 
 be made. Once they reach the assigned area, staff will implement the Lock Down Procedures. Upon your 
 return to the facility, follow the Lock Down Procedures. 

 8.6 Bus Driver Response 

 ▪  If a reverse evacuation and Lock Down is indicated:  Follow your Lock Down protocol. 
 ▪  If a Resumption of normal activities has been indicated:  Resume normal route activity and 

 make adjustments in your route as appropriate. 

 8.7 Route Supervisor Response 

 ▪  If a reverse evacuation and Lock Down is indicated:  Follow your Lock Down protocol. 
 ▪  If a Resumption of normal activities has been indicated:  Advise drivers to resume normal route 

 activity and provide direction on how they can adapt to the altered schedule created by the event. 

 8.8 Lead Staff Member Response (after hours) 
 If a reverse evacuation and Lock Down is indicated:  Teachers and staff shall return evacuees to their 
 classrooms/assigned areas (or nearest assigned Lock Down area) in an orderly but prompt fashion while 
 remaining alert to possible threats. If a threat is identified while en route, appropriate adjustment should 
 be made. Once evacuees reach the assigned area, staff will implement the Lock Down Procedures. 

 If a Resumption of normal activities has been indicated:  Teachers and staff shall return evacuees to 
 their assigned areas in an orderly but prompt fashion. Upon reaching the assigned area, the function 
 should be resumed. 

 1.  Provide appropriate guidance to staff, visitors and students via public address announcements, 
 e-mail, runners, two-way radios, or other means as appropriate. 

 2.  Call the principal and district administrator and request they notify the Crisis Response Team of 
 the decision to implement the reverse evacuation protocol. Advise them whether you are 
 implementing the Emergency Lock Down protocol or are resuming the function. 

 3.  The lead staff member may wish to inform staff, visitors and students of the reason the 
 evacuation was implemented. This can be done by having students go from room to room, using 
 an announcement over the public address system, over two-way radios, or via e-mail as 
 appropriate to the situation. 

 School Safety Plan 
 Section 8 -  Resumption of Normal Activities  60 



 Section 8a - Tracking Sheet(s) 

 8a.1 - Resumption of Normal Activities/Reverse Evacuation Incident Tracking Sheet 
 Use official command post time. Please use ink. 

 Location of incident: ______________________________________________________ 

 Type of incident:  Resumption of Normal Activities/Reverse  Evacuation  ___________ 

 Sheet initiated by: ________________________________________________ Date: ____________ 

 1  st  Shift 
 Relieved by: ____________________________________________________Time: ________________ 

 2  nd  Shift 
 Relieved by: ____________________________________________________Time: ________________ 

 3  rd  Shift 
 Relieved by: ____________________________________________________Time: ________________ 

 ACTION  ORGANIZATION  STATUS  NOTES  REPORTED BY 
 Make appropriate announcement 
 Notify appropriate crisis teams 
 Provide appropriate guidance to 
 staff 
 Notify the transportation 
 department if necessary 
 Brief staff 
 Return evacuees to their 
 classrooms/assigned areas 

 Time and date log closed out: _______________________________________________ 

 Name of person closing log: ________________________________________________ 

 Incident Tracking Sheet received by: __________________________________Date received: _______ 

 Witnessed by: ____________________________________________________Date: _______________ 

 School Safety Plan 
 Section 8 -  Resumption of Normal Activities  61 



 (Leave this page blank) 

 School Safety Plan 
 Section 8 -  Resumption of Normal Activities  62 



 Section 9 - Intruder/Suspicious Person 

 Definition 
 An intruder or suspicious person or person(s) are those who enters the grounds or building and do not 
 appear to have a legitimate purpose for being present. 

 Alert Signal 
 Refer to appropriate announcement for Lock Down or Secure. 

 9.1 Principal Response 
 1.  Obtain a description of the intruder(s) and any suspicious actions they have shown. 
 2.  Determine if a Lock Down or Secure is appropriate. Announce a Lock Down or Secure and 

 follow  appropriate procedures 
 3.  Call 911 or emergency services, and request a law enforcement response. 

 Provide dispatch personnel with all available information regarding intruder descriptions 
 and actions. It can be dangerous for administrators and/or staff to approach intruders or 
 suspicious persons. 

 4.  Upon their arrival, coordinate actions with law enforcement officials. 
 5.  Brief staff on the outcome of the situation as soon as it is resolved. 

 9.2 Teachers & Staff Response 
 1.  Direct students into areas that can be secured. 
 2.  Secure doors and exterior windows (if a Lock Down is announced). 
 3.  Do not  allow students under your supervision to leave  a secure area without approval from the 

 principal or his or her designee. 
 4.  Communicate with the principal or his or her designee if you have pertinent information (use the 

 intercom, e-mail, two-way radio or telephone as available). 
 5.  Attempt to calm students under your care. 
 6.  Do not  attempt to approach suspicious persons. 

 9.4 Kitchen Staff Response 
 1.  Continue with normal activities as much as the situation allows. 
 2.  Be prepared to rapidly implement a Relocation Evacuation or Lock Down if directed to do so. 

 School Safety Plan 
 Section 9 –  Intruder/Suspicious Person  63 



 9.5 Custodial Response 
 1.  Notify the office immediately if you become aware of a suspicious person on or near campus. 
 2.  Direct students and staff into areas that can be secured. Secure doors and exterior windows in 

 your immediate area (if a Lock Down is announced). 
 3.  Communicate with the principal or his or her designee if you have pertinent information (use the 

 intercom, two-way radio or telephone as available). 
 4.  Do not  attempt to approach suspicious persons. 

 9.6 Bus Driver Response 
 1.  If you are unloading students in the morning and have other stops, continue your route, avoiding 

 the immediate area of the affected school(s). If your next stop is a school located in close 
 proximity to the affected school(s), seek guidance from a route supervisor. If you are picking up 
 students in the afternoon, drive to a location that is at least one thousand feet from any affected 
 school(s) and park in a safe area. Seek guidance from a route supervisor to see if you should wait 
 to make the pickup at the affected school(s) once normal activities have resumed or continue 
 your route. 

 2.  If you are advised of a Lock Down by a student, staff member or public safety official and have 
 not been notified by the transportation department, depart from the area and immediately advise 
 your route supervisor or the dispatcher of the information you have received. If students are on 
 your bus who would normally disembark, have them remain on the bus until you confirm that it 
 is safe to drop them off at the school. 

 9.7 Route Supervisor Response 
 1.  If notified that a Lock Down is in affect at a school, notify all bus drivers that would normally be 

 dropping off or picking up students at the school and direct them as to what to do next. 
 2.  For Lock Downs instruct drivers to restrict radio transmissions to those that are critical if you 

 think it is appropriate based on the information you have. 
 3.  If it appears that a Lock Down may remain in place for an extended time, consult with the 

 district administrator or his or her designee to determine if drivers who are designated to pick up 
 at the school should continue their routes and/or if students who are still on the bus should be 
 taken to a secure location until the threat subsides at the affected school(s). 

 4.  Keep drivers updated on the situation as appropriate. 
 5.  Brief your supervisor as appropriate for the situation 

 9.6a Bus Driver Response –  (Intruder on or attempting  to board the bus) 
 Suspicious person(s) 

 1.  Note the description and action(s) of suspicious persons at or near bus stops and, report what you 
 have observed to your supervisor or dispatch. Request that police be dispatched to the site if you 
 deem necessary.  Do not  attempt to approach suspicious  persons. 

 Intruder on or attempting to board the bus 
 1.  If a person who is not authorized to board your bus tries to enter or remain on the bus, calmly 

 and clearly advise them that they must not enter or must leave the bus. 
 2.  If they refuse to leave the bus or try to force their way onto the bus, immediately notify dispatch 

 and request that law enforcement officers be dispatched to your location. Give your location 

 School Safety Plan 
 Section 9 –  Intruder/Suspicious Person  64 



 twice and provide a brief description of the situation. If you feel that it is safe to do so, provide a 
 description of the person(s). 

 3.  If they are trying to pry the doors open and are not in the bus, drive away slowly  if it is safe to 
 do  so. 

 4.  If they are on the bus and remain on the bus after law enforcement officers have been dispatched, 
 calmly and politely tell them that it is against the law for them to remain on the bus and that the 
 police are on the way. 

 5.  Watch their hands and scan their person for any visible sign of a weapon. 
 6.  Try to keep students as calm as possible while police are en route. 
 7.  If the person(s) become violent, decide whether it is best to instruct students to evacuate or stay 

 on the bus. Attempt to notify the dispatcher of any escalation in the situation. 

 9.7a Route Supervisor Response –  (Intruder on or attempting  to board the bus) 
 Suspicious person(s) 

 1.  Coordinate between drivers and law enforcement officers to ensure that reports of suspicious 
 activity at or near bus stops are provided to law enforcement officers who can assist. For 
 example, if a driver has noted what appears to be drug or gang activity near a bus stop, see that 
 the information is provided to the appropriate police personnel (precinct commander, gang unit, 
 drug squad, etc.) 

 2.  If it is appropriate for the situation based on the information you have, advise all other drivers to 
 keep the radio clear except for emergency transmissions until public safety responders are on the 
 scene. 

 3.  Follow up with drivers who report suspicious situations to see if they have noted any other 
 activity after their initial report. 

 Intruder on or attempting to board the bus 
 1.  Ensure that law enforcement officers are on the way. 
 2.  Respond to the location if appropriate. 
 3.  Remind other drivers to keep the radio frequency clear of non – emergency transmissions until 

 the situation is resolved. 
 4.  Follow up as appropriate for the situation. 

 9.8 Lead Staff Member Response (after hours) 
 1.  Obtain a description of the intruder(s) and any suspicious actions they have shown. 
 2.  Determine if a Lock Down or Secure is appropriate. Announce a Lock Down or Secure as 

 appropriate. Call 911 or emergency services, and request a law enforcement response. Provide 
 dispatch personnel with all available information regarding intruder’s descriptions and actions. It 
 can be dangerous for administrators and/or staff to approach intruders or suspicious persons. 

 3.  Do not  attempt to approach suspicious persons. 
 4.  Upon their arrival, coordinate actions with law enforcement officials. 
 5.  Brief staff, visitors and students of the outcome of the situation as soon as it is resolved. 
 6.  Call principal and district administrator and request that the Crisis Response Team be notified of 

 the situation. Provide a brief description of the situation. 

 School Safety Plan 
 Section 9 –  Intruder/Suspicious Person  65 



 (Leave this page blank) 

 School Safety Plan 
 Section 10 –  Tornado/Severe Weather  66 



 Section 10 - Tornado/Severe Weather 
 Definition 
 Tornado Watch:  Weather conditions are favorable for  the development of a tornado. 
 Tornado Warning:  A tornado has been sighted or detected  on radar. Take shelter now. 

 Alert Signal 
 Announce over the public address (PA) system, over two-way radios, or send a runner to notify staff of a 
 “Tornado Watch - be prepared to take shelter if a tornado is reported” or “Tornado Warning - take shelter 
 immediately.” 

 10.1 Principal Response 
 1.  Monitor weather radios. 
 2.  Announce appropriate alert signal over the PA. 
 3.  Call 911 or emergency services in the event of a tornado sighting or strike. 
 4.  Make sure that all outdoor activities and individuals are moved indoors when if conditions warrant. 
 5.  When a “Tornado Warning” is received: 

 ▪  Move everyone to tornado safe areas including volunteers and guests in the building. 

 ▪  Take Emergency Evacuation Kit. 

 ▪  Make sure that everyone remains in the duck and cover position until danger passes. 

 ▪  Implement the Injury or Illness Protocol, if needed. 

 ▪  If possible, consult with local emergency management officials regarding the structural 
 integrity of the facility prior to remaining in or re-entering the facility after a tornado strike. 
 You may have to make a determination to evacuate the facility or to remain in the damaged 
 facility, weighing the dangers posed by structural damage against the possibility of a second 
 tornado strike on exposed evacuees. If an evacuation is deemed appropriate after a tornado 
 strike, move evacuees to an area away from gas or electrical lines. 

 ▪  Implement the Family Reunification Protocol, if needed. 
 6.  The district administrator will implement the Media Protocol, if needed. 
 7.  If damage to the property occurs, request that the appropriate district officials notify insurance 

 carrier and document damage with properly documented photographs. 

 10(.2/.5) Staff Response  (includes: office, teachers.  custodial, kitchen personnel) 
 1.  If a tornado watch is reported, review procedures for tornado warning and take steps to be able to 

 implement “Tornado Warning” procedures if needed. 
 2.  If a tornado warning is announced: 

 ▪  Turn off any equipment in your area that could become a hazard (stove, appliances, etc.). 

 ▪  Move into tornado safe areas. 

 ▪  Take the Emergency Evacuation Kit with you. 

 ▪  Assist any individuals with special needs. 

 School Safety Plan 
 Section 10 –  Tornado/Severe Weather  67 



 ▪  Take roll to determine if anyone is missing. 

 ▪  Instruct all individuals to remain in the duck and cover position until danger passes. 

 ▪  Staff will periodically do a visual scan of the space to ensure everyone remains in the duck 
 and cover position. 

 10.6 Bus Driver Response 
 1.  If a tornado watch is reported, review procedures for tornado warning and take steps to be able to 

 implement “Tornado Warning” procedures if needed. Remain alert to any visual signs of a tornado. 
 2.  If a tornado warning is announced: 

 ▪  Locate the nearest structure that would afford protection from severe weather, ask 
 permission to shelter your students there and evacuate students into the site. Notify the 
 dispatcher of your shelter location. 

 ▪  Assist any individuals with special needs. 

 ▪  Take roll to determine if anyone is missing. 

 ▪  Instruct all students to remain in the duck and cover position until danger passes. 

 ▪  Do not  attempt to park under a bridge or underpass  as this can intensify the effect of a tornado. 

 ▪  If a tornado is sighted close by and you are not near a suitable structure, evacuate students 
 to a ditch or low lying area and instruct them to assume the duck and cover position. 

 10.7 Route Supervisor Response 
 1.  Monitor weather radios. 
 2.  Announce appropriate alert signal over the radio. 
 3.  Call 911 or emergency services in the event of a tornado sighting or strike. 
 4.  When a “Tornado Warning” is received: 

 ▪  Ensure that dispatch has instructed all drivers to shelter students in tornado safe areas. 

 ▪  Maintain a list of all buses and the shelter locations provided by each driver. Check the list against 
 your route list to ensure that all drivers have heard the instructions and evacuated their buses. 

 ▪  Implement the Injury or Illness Protocol, if needed. 

 ▪  Implement the Family Reunification Protocol, if needed. Consult with public safety officials 
 before transporting students and staff. Hold all students who walk or ride buses to and from 
 school until a determination can be made as to how they should be released to parents and 
 guardians. 

 ▪  Contact the district administrator to implement the Media Protocol, if needed. 

 ▪  Brief your supervisor as appropriate. 

 School Safety Plan 
 Section 10 –  Tornado/Severe Weather  68 



 10.8 Lead Staff Member and Support Personnel Action Steps 
 1.  Monitor weather radios. 
 2.  Announce appropriate alert signal over the PA. 
 3.  Call 911 or emergency services in the event of a tornado sighting or strike. 
 4.  Make sure that all outdoor activities and personnel are moved indoors when a “Tornado Watch” 

 is received. 
 5.  When a “Tornado Warning” is received: 

 ▪  Move all personnel to tornado safe areas. Ensure that all persons in areas such as the gym and 
 cafeteria are evacuated to the appropriate locations. Take the Emergency Evacuation Kit with 
 you. 

 ▪  Make sure that all personnel remain in the duck and cover position until danger passes. 

 ▪  Implement the Injury or Illness Protocol, if needed. 

 ▪  If possible, consult with local emergency management officials regarding the structural 
 integrity of the facility prior to remaining in or re-entering the facility after a tornado strike. 
 You may have to make a determination to evacuate the facility or to remain in the damaged 
 facility weighing the dangers posed by structural damage against the possibility of a second 
 tornado strike on exposed evacuees. If an evacuation is deemed appropriate after a tornado 
 strike, move evacuees to an area away from gas or electrical lines. 

 ▪  Do not  allow the use of open flames such as matches  or candles due to possible gas leaks in 
 the area. 

 ▪  Implement the Family Reunification Protocol, if needed. Consult with public safety officials 
 before transporting students and staff. Hold all students who walk or ride buses to and from 
 school until a determination can be made as to how they should be released to parents and 
 guardians. 

 ▪  Contact the district administrator to implement the Media Protocol, if needed. 
 ▪  If damage to the property and/or injury occurs, call the principal and district administrator and 

 request that the Crisis Response Team be notified and requested to respond. 

 School Safety Plan 
 Section 10 –  Tornado/Severe Weather  69 



 Section 11- Incident Command System Protocol 

 Definition 
 Response structure will be established using Incident Command System (ICS) principles with an 
 identified incident commander, supported by a staff designated for operations, planning, logistics, and 
 finance/administration respectively. A supplemental staff group consisting of public affairs, safety and 
 liaison elements will also be established. Generally, most of the event activities will be a part of the 
 Operations Section supporting another agency’s response to an incident; however, for health 
 emergencies the incident commander and primary operations staff may be from the school’s health 
 services area and local public health officials. 

 The Incident Commander is ultimately in charge of the event operations and activities associated with 
 the event. All school staff and Critical Response Team (CRT) members shall operate within the 
 framework of the incident command system during crisis situations. 

 Incident Commander 
 1.  Appoints Command Staff: 

 ▪  Information Officer 

 ▪  Liaison 

 ▪  Safety Officer 

 ▪  Appoints General Staff 

 ▪  Operations Chief 

 ▪  Planning Chief 

 ▪  Logistics Chief 

 ▪  Finance/Administration Chief 
 2.  Conducts incident briefings for Command Staff and General Staff. 
 3.  Monitors activities and events. 
 4.  Scales back personnel if necessary. 

 There are three positions under the Incident Commander. These are called the  Command Staff  and 
 consist of the following positions: 

 1.  Information Officer  : Point of contact for the media  and other people or organizations seeking 
 information. 

 2.  Safety Officer  : Monitors safety conditions and develops  measures for assuring the safety of all 
 personnel. 

 3.  Liaison Officer  : Point of contact for other agency  representative involved in the incident or 
 event, aids in coordinating their involvement. 

 Depending on the size of the event, all or some of the above positions may be activated.  However, any 
 task not assigned is the responsibility of the Incident Commander. 

 School Safety Plan 
 Section 12 –  Incident Command Protocol  70 



 There are five functional areas that may be implemented as needed to respond to an incident. They are: 
 1.  COMMAND  : sets objectives and priorities, has overall  responsibility at the incident or event. 
 2.  OPERATIONS  : Conducts tactical actions to carry out  the plan and develops the tactical 

 objectives, organization and directs all resources. 
 3.  PLANNING  : Develops the Action Plan to accomplish the  objectives, collects and evaluates 

 information, maintains resource status and documents the incident. 

 School Safety Plan 
 Section 12 –  Incident Command Protocol  71 



 4.  LOGISTICS:  Provides support to meet incident needs,  provides resources and all other services 
 needed to support the incident. 

 5.  FINANCE and ADMINISTRATION  : Monitors costs related  to the incident and provides 
 accounting, procurement, time recording and cost analysis. 

 The following organization chart depicts the Incident Command System: 

 School Safety Plan 
 Section 12 –  Incident Command Protocol  72 



 Section 11a - Tracking Sheet(s) 

 11a.1 - Incident Command System Activation Incident Tracking Sheet 
 Use official command post time. Please use ink. 

 Location of incident: ______________________________________________________ 

 Type of incident:  Incident Command System Activation  __________________________ 

 Sheet initiated by: _______________________________________________Date: ________________ 

 1  st  Shift 
 Relieved by: ____________________________________________________Time: ________________ 

 2  nd  Shift 
 Relieved by: ____________________________________________________Time: ________________ 

 3  rd  Shift 
 Relieved by: ____________________________________________________Time: ________________ 

 ACTION  ORGANIZATION  STATUS  NOTES  REPORTED BY 
 Appoint command staff 
 Activate appropriate crisis 
 teams 
 Appoint general staff 
 Conduct incident briefing 

 Time and date log closed out: _______________________________________________ 

 Name of person closing log: ________________________________________________ 

 Incident Tracking Sheet received by: _________________________________Date received: ________ 

 Witnessed By: ___________________________________________________ Date _______________ 

 School Safety Plan 
 Section 12 –  Incident Command Protocol  73 



 (Leave this page blank) 

 School Safety Plan 
 Section 12 –  Incident Command Protocol  74 



 Section 12 - Media Protocol 

 Definition 
 Media representatives frequently respond to situations that involve schools. Mistakes made in dealing 
 with the media can result in adverse publicity for the school; interference with emergency response and 
 increased civil liability. 

 12.1 District Administrator Response 
 1.  Brief your staff before you release information to the media. 
 2.  In the event of an emergency that draws significant media attention, notify the District Office 

 that you need the district media protocol enacted. 
 3.  Work closely with public safety officials on the release of information to the media. Refer all 

 public safety questions to the appropriate public safety official. In particular, do not discuss 
 specifics of any ongoing criminal investigations. 

 4.  Conduct periodic joint press conferences with public safety officials. Information should only be 
 released at the media staging area.  (Masonic Lodge  parking lot – 520 N. Bridge Street) 

 5.  Do not provide any information “off the record.” 
 6.  Be careful not to show any favoritism to any particular press representative. Be particularly 

 careful not to ignore local media representatives while trying to work with national media. 
 Remember, you will have to work with the local media for years after the national media 
 representatives are gone. 

 7.  Be careful of “hot mikes.” Television reporters will sometimes leave a camera turned on and 
 record people when they think that they are only engaged in casual conversation with reporters. 
 Consider all electronic equipment active at all times. 

 8.  Before releasing information, consider whether you can legally do so. Be particularly careful 
 about releasing identifying information. 

 9.  Do not  authorize interviews with juveniles without  specific parental permission. 
 10.  Maintain records of all interviews. 
 11.  Background information sheets (  see Appendix C  ) should  be made available for the media. These 

 sheets should contain information on the school and incident and can reduce the number and 
 duration of interviews. 

 12(.2/.5) Staff Response  (includes: office, teachers,  support staff, custodial, kitchen personnel, 
 etc.) 

 1.  Do not  make any statements to media personnel during  or after a critical event without the 
 expressed permission of the principal or his or her designee. 

 2.  Refer all media inquiries to the district administrator or his or her designee. 
 3.  Notify the principal or his or her designee whenever a media representative contacts you. 
 4.  As you discuss crisis events with other personnel, administrators and public safety officials, be 

 alert to individuals who are standing nearby. 

 School Safety Plan 
 Section 12 –  Media Protocol  75 



 12.6 Bus Driver Response 
 1.  Do not  make any statements to media personnel during  or after a critical event without the 

 express permission of a route supervisor or the transportation director. 
 2.  Refer all media inquiries to the district administrator. 
 3.  Notify a route supervisor whenever the media contacts you relating to your employment as a driver. 
 4.  You are under no legal obligation to talk to the media. 
 5.  As you discuss crisis events with other transportation personnel, administrators and public safety 

 officials, be alert to individuals who are standing nearby. Reporters have been known to 
 eavesdrop on these types of conversations and report what they overhear. Consider that reporters 
 may be listening to your radio transmissions on scanners. 

 12.7 Route Supervisor Response 
 1.  Brief your staff before you release information to the media. 
 2.  Consider that media personnel may be monitoring your radio transmissions on scanners. 
 3.  In the event of an emergency that draws significant media attention, notify the District Office 

 that you need the district media protocol enacted. 
 4.  Work closely with public safety officials on the release of information to the media. Refer all 

 public safety questions to the appropriate public safety official. In particular, do not discuss 
 specifics of any ongoing criminal investigations. 

 5.  Authorization by the appropriate district authorities is required to conduct periodic joint press 
 conferences with public safety officials. Information should only be released at the media staging 
 area. This tends to reduce attempts by media personnel to resort to unethical tactics to gain 
 information. 

 6.  Do not  provide any information “off the record.” 
 7.  Be careful not to show any favoritism to any particular press representative. Be particularly 

 careful not to ignore local media representatives while trying to work with national media. 
 Remember, you will have to work with the local media for years after the national media 
 representatives are gone. 

 8.  Be careful of “hot mikes” Television reporters will sometimes leave a camera turned on and 
 record people when they think that they are only engaged in casual conversation with reporters. 
 Consider all electronic equipment active at all times. 

 9.  Before releasing information, consider whether you can legally do so. Be particularly careful 
 about releasing identifying information. 

 10.  Do not  authorize interviews with juveniles without  specific parental permission. 
 11.  Maintain records of all interviews. 
 12.  Brief your supervisor when you are approached for interviews that you decline. 

 12.8 Lead Staff Member Response (after hours) 
 1.  Do not  release information to the media without approval  from the district administrator. 
 2.  In the event of an emergency that results in media requests, call the principal and district 

 administrator and request assistance from the Crisis Response Team in addressing media inquiries. 
 3.  Do not  provide any information “off the record.” 
 4.  Remind staff to follow the media protocol and to refer all media requests to the Crisis Response 

 Team. 
 5.  Be careful of “hot mikes.” Television reporters will sometimes leave a camera turned on and 

 record people when they think that they are only engaged in casual conversation with reporters. 
 Consider all electronic equipment active at all times. 

 School Safety Plan 
 Section 12 –  Media Protocol  76 



 6.  Do not  authorize interviews with juveniles without specific parental permission. 

 School Safety Plan 
 Section 12 –  Media Protocol  77 



 Section 12a - Media Information/Tracking Sheets 

 12a.1 - Media Information Sheets 

 These sheets can be given to media representatives and others wanting basic information during a crisis 
 to reduce the number of requested interviews during a hectic situation. The School Background sheet 
 can be pre-filled and kept on file, while the Incident Information sheet is to be completed after/during a 
 crisis. 

 School Background Information Sheet 

 (  Insert School System name here  ) 
 (  Insert School name here) 
 (Insert date of last update here) 

 School Address 
 ______________________________________________________ 
 ______________________________________________________ 
 ______________________________________________________ 

 School Information 
 Principal: _______________________________________________________________ 
 Number of Students: ______________________________________________________ 
 Special Programs: ________________________________________________________ 

 Additional Information:  __________________________________________________ 
 ________________________________________________________________________ 

 For more information, contact  (Insert Public Information  Officer name here)  at  (Insert PIO contact 
 information). 

 School Safety Plan 
 Section 12 –  Media Protocol  78 



 (Leave this page blank) 

 School Safety Plan 
 Section 12 –  Media Protocol  79 



 12a.2 - Media Protocol Incident Tracking Sheet 
 Use official command post time. Please use ink. 

 Location of incident: ______________________________________________________ 

 Type of incident:  Media Protocol  _____________________________________________ 

 Sheet initiated by: ________________________________________________________ 

 Date: ________________ 

 1  st  Shift 
 Relieved by: ___________________________________________________Time: ________________ 

 2  nd  Shift 
 Relieved by: ___________________________________________________Time: ________________ 

 3  rd  Shift 
 Relieved by: ___________________________________________________Time: ________________ 

 ACTION  ORGANIZATION  STATUS  NOTES  REPORTED 
 BY 

 Brief staff 
 Notify Central Office 
 Activate appropriate crisis 
 teams 
 Begin Media Event Log 
 (separate form) 
 Conduct periodic joint 
 press conferences with 
 public safety officials 
 Do not provide any 
 information “off the 
 record” 
 Maintain records of all 
 interviews 
 Provide school/incident 
 fact sheets to media 
 representatives 

 Time and date log closed out: _______________________________________________ 

 Name of person closing log: ________________________________________________ 

 Incident Tracking Sheet received by: ____________________________Date received: _____________ 

 Witnessed by: ____________________________________________________Date: _______________ 

 School Safety Plan 
 Section 12 –  Media Protocol  80 



 (Leave this page blank) 

 School Safety Plan 
 Section 12 –  Media Protocol  81 



 12a.3 - Media Event Log 
 Use official command post time. Please use ink. 

 Location of incident: ______________________________________________________ 

 Type of incident: _________________________________________________________ 

 Sheet initiated by: ________________________ on _________________ (date & time) 

 Relieved by _____________________________ at __________ 

 Relieved by _____________________________ at __________ 

 1.  District media protocol enacted by __________________ at ________ 
 2.  Formal liaison established between school system media representative and the media 

 representative for (complete all that apply): 

 Time established 
 a.  Police Department  ______________ 
 b.  Sheriff’s Department  ______________ 
 c.  Fire Department  ______________ 
 d.  Emergency Management Agency  ______________ 
 e.  Other:______________________  ______________ 
 f.  Other:______________________  ______________ 
 g.  Other:______________________  ______________ 

 3.  Media/Public Information Center opened: 

 Location: _________________________  Time: ____________ 
 _________________________ 

 4.  Press Conferences held at: 

 Location: _________________________  Time: ____________ 
 Location: _________________________  Time: ____________ 
 Location: _________________________  Time: ____________ 
 Location: _________________________  Time: ____________ 
 Location: _________________________  Time: ____________ 
 Location: _________________________  Time: ____________ 
 Location: _________________________  Time: ____________ 
 Location: _________________________  Time: ____________ 
 Location: _________________________  Time: ____________ 
 Location: _________________________  Time: ____________ 

 School Safety Plan 
 Section 12 –  Media Protocol  82 



 (Leave this page blank) 

 School Safety Plan 
 Section 12 –  Media Protocol  83 



 12a.4 - School Background Information Sheet 

 (  Insert School System name here  ) 
 (  Insert School name here) 
 (Insert date of last update here) 

 School Address 
 ______________________________________________________ 
 ______________________________________________________ 
 ______________________________________________________ 

 School Information 
 Principal: _______________________________________________________________ 
 Number of Students: ______________________________________________________ 
 Special Programs: ________________________________________________________ 

 Additional Information:  __________________________________________________ 
 ________________________________________________________________________ 
 ________________________________________________________________________ 

 For more information contact  (Insert Public Information  Officer name here)  at 
 (Insert PIO contact information). 

 School Safety Plan 
 Section 12 –  Media Protocol  84 



 School Safety Plan 
 Section 12 –  Media Protocol  85 



 (Leave this page blank) 

 School Safety Plan 
 Section 13 –  Mental Health Critical Incident  86 



 Section 13 - Mental Health Critical Incident Protocol Pre-Recovery 
 Phase 

 Definition 
 A mental health critical incident is any event that overwhelms an individual’s capacity to cope. 
 Traumatic events can cause psychological and emotional turmoil, cognitive problems, and behavioral 
 changes. 

 Alert Signal 
 Make announcement via intercom, classroom telephone, personal notification or e-mail directing 
 everyone what to do. 

 13.1 Principal Response 
 1.  Maintain structure and stability within the schools. 
 2.  Provide teachers and parents with information about what to say and do for children in school 

 and at home. 
 3.  Have teachers provide information directly to their students, not during the public address 

 announcements. 
 4.  If it is safe to do so,  have school psychologists  and counselors available to talk to students and 

 staff who may need or want extra support. 

 13(.2/.5) Staff Response  (includes: office, teachers,  support staff, custodial, kitchen personnel, 
 etc.) 

 1.  Remain calm. Avoid appearing anxious or frightened. 
 2.  Maintain student safety. 
 3.  Let children know that it is okay to feel upset. 
 4.  Observe children’s emotional state. Understand that children will express their emotions 

 differently. There is no right or wrong way to feel or express grief. 
 5.  Per the statement prepared by administration, tell children the factual, confirmed information. 

 Don’t try to pretend the event has not occurred or that it is not serious. 
 6.  Keep your explanations developmentally appropriate. 
 7.  Refer children who exhibit extreme anxiety, fear, or anger to mental health counselors in the 

 school. 

 13.6 Driver Response 
 1.  Remain calm. Avoid appearing anxious or frightened. 
 2.  Maintain student safety. 
 3.  Let children know that it is okay to feel upset. 
 4.  Observe children’s emotional state. Understand that children will express their emotions 

 differently. There is no right or wrong way to feel or express grief. 
 5.  Per the statement prepared by administration, tell children the factual, confirmed information. 

 Don’t try to pretend the event has not occurred or that it is not serious. 
 6.  Keep your explanations on the child’s level. 
 7.  Refer children who exhibit extreme anxiety, fear, or anger to mental health counselors in the 

 school. 

 School Safety Plan 
 Section 13 –  Mental Health Critical Incident  87 



 13.7 Route Supervisor Response 
 1.  Maintain structure and stability within the schools. 
 2.  Provide teachers and parents with information about what to say and do for children in school 

 and at home. 
 3.  Have teachers provide information directly to their students, not during the public address 

 announcements. 
 4.  If it is safe to do so  , have school psychologists  and counselors available to talk to students and 

 staff who may need or want extra support. 

 13.8 Lead Staff Member and Support Staff Response 
 1.  Remain calm. Avoid appearing anxious or frightened. 
 2.  Maintain student and visitor safety. 
 3.  Let children know that it is okay to feel upset. 
 4.  Observe children’s emotional state. Understand that children will express their emotions 

 differently. There is no right or wrong way to feel or express grief. 
 5.  Per the statement prepared by administration, tell children the factual, confirmed information. 

 Don’t try to pretend the event has not occurred or that it is not serious. 
 6.  Keep your explanations developmentally appropriate. 
 7.  Contact the principal to refer children who exhibit extreme anxiety, fear, or anger to mental 

 health counselors in the school. 

 School Safety Plan 
 Section 13 –  Mental Health Critical Incident  88 



 Section 14 - Disruptive/Unruly Person 

 Definition 
 A disruptive or unruly person is a student, employee or visitor who becomes unruly to the point of 
 disruption of the academic or work environment. 

 Alert Signal 
 “All staff and Students, Lock Down, Locks, Lights, out of Sight” (if a Lock Down is deemed to be 
 appropriate). 

 14.1 Principal/District Administrator Response 
 1.  Determine the person(s) who are disruptive and quickly assess the degree of their unruly behavior. 
 2.  Determine if a Lock Down is appropriate to keep the situation from escalating to other parts of the 

 facility. Announce a Lock Down and follow appropriate procedures if a Lock Down is desired. 
 3.  If appropriate, call 911 or emergency services, and request a law enforcement response. Provide 

 dispatch personnel with all available information regarding intruder descriptions and actions. It 
 can be dangerous for administrators and/or staff to approach unruly persons 

 4.  Apply ALICE protocols. If possible, seek a position of safety by positioning a physical barrier 
 between yourself and the individual(s). Consider potential escape routes for yourself and others 
 in the event the individual(s) become combative. 

 5.  Speak to staff and the individual(s) in a calm and firm manner. Decide if it is best to advise the 
 individual(s) that law enforcement personnel are on the way if you have called them. 

 6.  Attempt to contain the situation by ordering students and staff away from the individual(s) if 
 appropriate for the situation. 

 7.  Visually scan the unruly individual(s) for any signs that they may have a weapon. If you notice 
 bulges in clothing that could indicate a weapon or see part of a weapon protruding from their 
 clothing (such as a knife with a clip in a pocket or the butt of a handgun in the waistband), notify 
 law enforcement immediately. 

 8.  Upon their arrival, coordinate actions with law enforcement officials. 
 9.  Brief staff on the outcome of the situation as soon as it is resolved. 

 14(.2/.5) Staff Response  (includes: office, teachers,  support staff, custodial, kitchen personnel, 
 etc.) 

 1.  Notify the office of your situation by the best and safest available means. 
 2.  Apply ALICE protocols. If possible, seek a position of safety by positioning a physical barrier 

 between yourself and the individual(s). Consider potential escape routes for yourself and others 
 in the event the individual(s) become combative. 

 3.  Instruct students to move away from the unruly individual(s)/area. 
 4.  Speak in a calm and firm voice. 
 5.  If a  Lock Down  is announced follow appropriate procedures. 
 6.  If possible, seek a position of safety by positioning a physical barrier between yourself and the 

 individual(s). For example, take a position behind the counter. Consider potential escape routes 
 for yourself and staff in the event the individual(s) become combative. 

 7.  Visually scan the unruly individual(s) for any signs that they may have a weapon. If you notice 
 bulges in clothing that could indicate a weapon or see part of a weapon protruding from their 
 clothing (such as a knife with a clip in a pocket or the butt of a handgun in the waistband), notify 

 School Safety Plan 
 Section 14 –  Disruptive/Unruly Person  89 



 the office immediately and evacuate all students to a safe area and follow Lock Down 
 procedures. 

 8.  Do not  physically confront the individual(s) unless  you or a student are attacked or an attack 
 appears imminent. If you decide that it is appropriate to use physical force, comply with ALICE 
 guidelines and use only the minimal amount of force that is necessary to subdue or incapacitate 
 the individual. 

 School Safety Plan 
 Section 14 –  Disruptive/Unruly Person  90 



 14.6 Bus Driver Response 
 1.  If you are unloading students in the morning and have other stops, continue your route, avoiding the 

 immediate area of the affected school(s). If your next stop is a school located in close proximity to 
 the affected school(s), seek guidance from a route supervisor. If you are picking up students in the 
 afternoon, drive to a location that is at least one thousand feet from any affected school(s) and park in 
 a safe area. Seek guidance from a route supervisor to see if you should wait to make the pickup at the 
 affected school(s) once normal activities have resumed or continue your route. 

 2.  If you are advised of a Lock Down by a student, staff member or public safety official and have 
 not been notified by the transportation department, depart from the area and immediately advise 
 your route supervisor or the dispatcher of the information you have received. If students are on 
 your bus who would normally disembark, have them remain on the bus until you confirm that it 
 is safe to drop them off at the school. 

 14.7 Route Supervisor Response 
 1.  If notified that a Lock Down is in affect at a school, notify all bus drivers that would normally be 

 dropping off or picking up students at the school and direct them as to what to do next. 
 2.  For Lock Downs instruct drivers to restrict radio transmissions to those that are critical if you 

 think it is appropriate based on the information you have. 
 3.  If it appears that a Lock Down may remain in place for an extended time, consult with district 

 principal or his or her designee to determine if drivers who are designated to pick up at the 
 school should continue their routes and/or if students who are still on the bus should be taken to a 
 secure location until the threat subsides at the affected school(s). 

 4.  Keep drivers updated on the situation as appropriate. 
 5.  Brief your supervisor as appropriate for the situation. 

 14.6a Bus Driver Response  -  disruptive /unruly person  on or attempting to board the bus 
 1.  Determine the person(s) who are disruptive and quickly assess the degree of their unruly behavior. 
 2.  For situations involving students, calmly but clearly call them by their names if you know them 

 and give them clear instructions to discontinue the behavior. Tell them exactly what you need 
 them to do so you can calm the situation. Follow the district’s disciplinary action procedures. 

 3.  If the person(s) continue the disruptive behavior and it is appropriate due to the level of 
 disruption, notify dispatch of your situation, provide your location twice to confirm and request a 
 law enforcement assistance. 

 4.  If the behavior is or becomes violent enough to pose a clear danger to other students, consider if 
 it is the best and safest course of action to park the bus in an area away from traffic and instruct 
 the other children on the bus to disembark from the bus and assemble outside in an area that you 
 clearly identify to them until law enforcement officers arrive. Notify the dispatcher if you take 
 this course of action. 

 5.  Follow the district’s disciplinary procedures and provide proper and thorough documentation. 

 14.7a Route Supervisor Response -  disruptive/unruly  person on or attempting to board the  bus 
 1.  Ensure that law enforcement officers are dispatched if requested by the driver. 
 2.  If appropriate to the situation, advise all drivers to keep the radio clear except for emergency 

 radio transmissions. 

 School Safety Plan 
 Section 14 –  Disruptive/Unruly Person  91 



 3.  Provide follow up assistance to police and the driver once the situation is contained. Follow 
 through to see that the district’s disciplinary process is utilized. Make sure the driver provides 
 proper documentation. 

 School Safety Plan 
 Section 14 –  Disruptive/Unruly Person  92 



 14.8 Lead Staff Member Response (after Hours) 
 1.  Determine the person(s) who are disruptive and the quickly asses the degree of their unruly 

 behavior. 
 2.  Determine if a Lock Down is appropriate to keep the situation from escalating to other parts of 

 the facility. Announce a Lock Down if a Lock Down is desired. 
 3.  If appropriate, call 911 or emergency services, and request a law enforcement response. Provide 

 dispatch personnel with all available information regarding intruder descriptions and actions. It 
 can be dangerous for administrators and/or staff to approach unruly persons. 

 4.  Apply ALICE protocols. If possible, seek a position of safety by positioning a physical barrier 
 between yourself and the individual(s). Consider potential escape routes for yourself and staff in 
 the event the individual(s) become combative. 

 5.  Speak to staff and the individual(s) in a calm and firm manner. Decide if it is best to advise the 
 individual(s) that law enforcement personnel are on the way if you have called them. 

 6.  Attempt to contain the situation by ordering staff, visitors and students away from the 
 individual(s) if appropriate for the situation. 

 7.  Visually scan the unruly individual(s) for any signs that they may have a weapon. If you notice 
 bulges in clothing that could indicate a weapon or see part of a weapon protruding from their 
 clothing (such as a knife with a clip in a pocket or the butt of a handgun in the waistband), notify 
 law enforcement immediately. 

 8.  Call the principal and district administrator and request that the Crisis Response Team be notified 
 of the situation. Provide a brief description of the situation. 

 9.  Upon their arrival, coordinate actions with law enforcement officials. 
 10.  The district administrator will brief staff, visitors, and students on the outcome of the situation as 

 soon as it is resolved. 

 School Safety Plan 
 Section 14 –  Disruptive/Unruly Person  93 



 (Leave this page blank) 

 School Safety Plan 
 Section 15 –  Civil Unrest  94 



 Section 15 - Civil Unrest 

 Definition 
 Civil unrest is a situation in which a group of individuals become unruly and/or violent to the point of 
 disruption to an area of the community and/or the academic or work environment of a campus. 

 Alert Signal 
 Announce a  Secure or Lock Down as appropriate  . 

 15.1 Principal/District Administrator Response 
 1.  Determine the location of the persons who are disruptive and the quickly asses the degree of their 

 unruly behavior. 
 2.  Determine if a Lock Down is appropriate to keep the situation from escalating to other parts of 

 the facility. Announce a Secure or Lock Down and follow appropriate procedures if a Lock 
 Down is desired. 

 3.  Call 911 or emergency services, and request a law enforcement response. Provide dispatch 
 personnel with all available information regarding the location, descriptions and actions of 
 participants. If you have any indication that participants have weapons, be sure to convey this 
 information to dispatch personnel. It can be dangerous for administrators and/or staff to approach 
 unruly groups. 

 4.  Apply ALICE protocols. If possible, seek a position of safety by positioning a physical barrier 
 between yourself and the individual(s). Consider potential escape routes for yourself and staff in 
 the event the individual(s) become combative. 

 5.  Contact District Office. 
 6.  Make sure that transportation personnel are notified so they can divert any buses from the area. 
 7.  If you are in a position to observe the participants, visually scan them for any signs that they may 

 have a weapon. If you notice bulges in clothing that could indicate a weapon or see part of a 
 weapon protruding from their clothing (such as a knife with a clip in a pocket or the butt of a 
 handgun in the waistband), notify law enforcement immediately. 

 8.  Be prepared to implement family reunification procedures in the event the situation makes this 
 action appropriate. 

 9.  Be prepared to implement the “shelter in place protocol” if the use of pepper spray, tear gas or other 
 agents by law enforcement officers and/or protesters makes this action necessary. 

 10.  The district administrator will implement the media protocol. 
 11.  Coordinate with law enforcement officials upon their arrival. 
 12.  The district administrator will brief staff on the outcome of the situation as soon as it is resolved. 

 15(.2/.5) Staff Response  (includes: office, teachers,  support staff, custodial, kitchen personnel, 
 etc.) 

 1.  If you become aware of a civil unrest situation, make sure the office is notified. 
 2.  If you are in an outdoor or indoor area that is affected, attempt to gather students and move them 

 to a secure area. Implement Secure or Lock Down procedures as appropriate. 
 3.  Apply ALICE protocols. If possible, seek a position of safety by positioning a physical barrier 

 between yourself and the individual(s). Consider potential escape routes for yourself and staff in 
 the event the individual(s) become combative. 

 4.  Speak in calm and clear tones and work to keep students calm. 

 School Safety Plan 
 Section 15 –  Civil Unrest  95 



 5.  Do not  engage any participants verbally or physically unless you are forced to do so to protect 
 yourself or students. If you decide that it is appropriate to use physical force, comply with district 
 guidelines and use only the minimal amount of force that is necessary to subdue or incapacitate 
 the individual. 

 6.  Follow Lock Down procedures if they are given. Be prepared to implement emergency evacuation 
 procedures or shelter in place procedures if these procedures become necessary. 

 School Safety Plan 
 Section 15 –  Civil Unrest  96 



 7.  If you are in a position to observe the participants, visually scan them for any signs that they may 
 have a weapon. If you notice bulges in clothing that could indicate a weapon or see part of a 
 weapon protruding from their clothing (such as a knife with a clip in a pocket or the butt of a 
 handgun in the waistband), notify an administrator or law enforcement immediately. 

 8.  Contact the district administrator and follow the media protocol. 
 9.  Report to the principal or his or her designee and assist as needed. 

 15.6 Bus Driver Response 
 1.  If you become aware of a civil unrest situation, report it to dispatch immediately. Provide them 

 with information as to the type of incident and location. If you have any indications that anyone 
 that is involved has a weapon, be sure to advise the dispatcher. If you are in a position to do so, 
 quickly visually scan the crowd for weapons. Do not remain in the area to do this however. Your 
 safety and the safety of the students on your bus is more important than obtaining this 
 information. 

 2.  Drive away from the area if possible. If you must alter your route to avoid danger, advise the 
 dispatcher of your intended route. 

 3.  Try to maintain your composure and try to keep students calm. Speak in clear but calm tones. 
 4.  If your bus is in close proximity to the incident, make sure that all windows on the bus are 

 closed. 
 5.  If your bus is trapped in a crowd, do not attempt to argue with participants involved in the 

 incident. Make sure that the dispatcher knows your exact location and situation. Order students 
 to duck low in their seats to protect them from flying glass should objects be thrown at the bus. If 
 necessary and appropriate move to a position where you are less exposed. If you do this, remain 
 alert for the opportunity to drive the bus out of the area. 

 6.  If any students try to yell out of a window or in any other way become involved in the incident, 
 advise them to stop immediately. 

 7.  Do not  drop students off near the incident scene or  allow students to get off of the bus. Notify 
 your supervisor that you are not dropping them off at that stop and follow your supervisor’s 
 instructions. 

 8.  Contact the district administrator and follow the media protocol. 

 15.7 Route Supervisor Response 
 1.  Make sure that law enforcement officers have been properly notified of the situation. 
 2.  Advise all drivers to keep the radio clear except for emergency traffic. 
 3.  Determine the affected area and begin routing buses out of the affected area. 
 4.  Coordinate with school administrators and law enforcement officials where students who are 

 normally dropped off in the affected area should be taken and how they will be reunited with an 
 authorized family member. 

 5.  Contact the district administrator and follow the media protocol. 
 6.  Brief your supervisor as appropriate. 

 School Safety Plan 
 Section 15 –  Civil Unrest  97 



 15.8 Lead Staff Member Response (after hours) 
 1.  Determine the location of the persons who are disruptive and the quickly asses the degree of their 

 unruly behavior. Determine if a Lock Down is appropriate to keep the situation from escalating 
 to other parts of the facility. Announce a Secure or Lock Down if a Lock Down is desired. 

 2.  Call 911 or emergency services, and request a law enforcement response. Provide dispatch 
 personnel with all available information regarding the location, descriptions and actions of 
 participants. If you have any indication that participants have weapons, be sure to convey this 
 information to dispatch personnel. It can be dangerous for administrators and/or staff to approach 
 unruly groups. 

 3.  Apply ALICE protocols. If possible, seek a position of safety by positioning a physical barrier 
 between yourself and the individual(s). Consider potential escape routes for yourself and staff in 
 the event the individual(s) become combative. 

 4.  Call the principal and district administrator and request that the Crisis Response Team be 
 notified. Provide a brief description of the situation. 

 5.  If you are in a position to observe the participants, visually scan them for any signs that they may 
 have a weapon. If you notice bulges in clothing that could indicate a weapon or see part of a 
 weapon protruding from their clothing (such as a knife with a clip in a pocket or the butt of a 
 handgun in the waistband), notify law enforcement immediately. 

 6.  Be prepared to implement family reunification procedures in the event the situation makes this 
 action appropriate. 

 7.  Be prepared to implement the “shelter in place protocol”, if the use of pepper spray, tear gas or 
 other agents by law enforcement officers and/or protesters makes this action necessary 

 8.  The district administrator will implement the media protocol. 
 9.  Coordinate with law enforcement officials upon their arrival. 
 10.  Brief staff, visitors, and students on the outcome of the situation as soon as it is resolved. 

 School Safety Plan 
 Section 15 –  Civil Unrest  98 



 (Leave this page blank) 

 School Safety Plan 
 Section 16 –  Kidnapping/Missing Child  99 



 Section 16 - Kidnapping/Missing Child 

 Definition 
 A kidnapping or missing child situation is on in which indications are such that a student who should be 
 at the facility has run away from home, is lost or has been abducted. 

 Alert Signal 
 None, unless a precautionary Lock Down is deemed to be appropriate by the Principal or his or her 
 designee. In the event a Lock Down is deemed to be appropriate, Lock Down shall be announced over 
 the intercom system. If there is any indication that an abduction may be about to occur, a Lock Down 
 should be implemented. Staff should be notified by runners or over two-way radios and requested to 
 search their area(s) of responsibility. 

 16.1 Principal Response 
 1.  Obtain as much information regarding the student’s description, including clothing and the 

 circumstances of the disappearance. 
 2.  If the missing person(s) are not located during the initial search by staff members or if there is 

 any indication that foul play or a dangerous situation is involved, call 911 or emergency services, 
 and notify law enforcement officials immediately. 

 3.  If there is any indication that an abduction has occurred or is about to take place, announce a 
 Lock Down as appropriate to the situation. 

 4.  Contact the District Office. 
 5.  Coordinate with law enforcement officials regarding parental/guardian notification. 
 6.  Request that law enforcement officials ask parents/guardians to search the residence where the 

 students(s) live. 
 7.  Siblings of the missing students(s) should be closely monitored at all times. If siblings are 

 known to be in another location (such as a local school), the administrator of that facility 
 should be notified to carefully monitor them. 

 8.  Provide information for staff as appropriate. 
 9.  Assist law enforcement officers with the investigation. 

 16(.2/.5) Staff Response  (includes: office, teachers,  support staff, custodial, kitchen personnel, 
 etc.) 

 1.  If a Lock Down  is announced, follow appropriate Lock  Down procedures. 
 2.  Each staff member should take attendance and notify the office of any missing child(ren). 
 3.  Staff not responsible for a classroom are to report to the office for and assignment to assist in 

 searching for the missing child(ren). 
 4.  Any potential hiding place should be searched, including crawl spaces, rest rooms, storage 

 closets, cabinets, and storage containers.  Missing children have frequently been found hiding in 
 these types of areas. 

 5.  Staff members should advise the principal or office personnel of the results of the search as soon 
 as their search is completed. 

 School Safety Plan 
 Section 16 –  Kidnapping/Missing Child  100 



 16.6 Bus Driver Response 
 1.  Immediately report any information that comes to your attention that may indicate that a child 

 has run away, is missing or has been abducted. 
 2.  If you witness an apparent abduction, call dispatch immediately and request that law 

 enforcement be notified. Note and provide any available information on the kidnapper’s physical 
 and clothing description, vehicle description and tag number if they are in a car, and direction of 
 travel. Also provide the description of the victim(s). 

 3.  If you are notified that a child who rides your bus is missing, make sure they are not among the 
 passengers if the bus is loaded. Conduct a physical search of the bus for the child whether it is 
 loaded or not. 

 4.  If a Lock Down is announced, follow appropriate Lock Down procedures. 
 5.  Contact the district administrator and follow the media protocol. 

 16.7 Route Supervisor Response 
 1.  Ensure that law enforcement is notified of any instance where there are any indications that a 

 child has run away, is missing or has been abducted. 
 2.  If a child is reported as missing after they disembarked from a school bus at a bus stop, or at a school, 

 request that law enforcement officers or parents search the students(s) residence. Missing children have 
 frequently been found hiding in closets, attics and other areas at home. 

 3.  Siblings of the missing students(s) should be closely monitored at all times. If siblings are known 
 to be on another bus, the driver should be instructed to turn that child over to a parent, guardian 
 or the police as appropriate to the situation rather than be dropped off. If the bus is en route to the 
 child’s school in the morning or to a school activity or event, the driver should be met by a 
 school official who can properly supervise the child until it is determined that they are not in any 
 danger of abduction. 

 4.  If a Lock Down  is announced, follow appropriate Lock  Down procedures. 
 5.  Provide information for staff as appropriate. 
 6.  Assist law enforcement officers with the investigation. 
 7.  Contact the district administrator who will implement the media protocol. 
 8.  Brief your supervisor as appropriate. 

 16.8 Lead Staff Member Response (after hours) 
 1.  Obtain as much information regarding the student’s description, including clothing and the 

 circumstances of the disappearance. 
 2.  If the missing person(s) are not located during the initial search by staff members or if there is 

 any indication that foul play or a dangerous situation is involved, call 911 or emergency services, 
 and notify law enforcement officials immediately. 

 3.  If there is any indication that an abduction has occurred or is about to take place, announce a 
 Lock Down as appropriate to the situation. 

 4.  Contact the district administrator and principal. 
 5.  Coordinate with law enforcement officials regarding parental/guardian notification. 
 6.  Request that law enforcement officials ask parents/guardians to search the residence where the 

 students(s) live. Missing children have frequently been found hiding in closets, attics, basements, 
 crawl spaces, and in other areas at home. 

 School Safety Plan 
 Section 16 –  Kidnapping/Missing Child  101 



 7.  Siblings of the missing students(s) should be closely monitored at all times. If siblings are known 
 to be in another location (such as another special event or at home, the Lead Staff Member at that 
 event and/or parents should be notified to carefully monitor them. 

 8.  Provide information for staff as appropriate. 
 9.  Assist law enforcement officers with the investigation. 

 School Safety Plan 
 Section 16 –  Kidnapping/Missing Child  102 



 Section 17 - Weapons Use 

 Definition 
 Weapons use is defined as the unauthorized discharge of a firearm or other use of a weapon to assault, 
 threaten, or injure another person on or in close proximity to school property. 

 Alert Signal 
 Lock Down or  Relocation Evacuation  as deemed appropriate 

 17.1 Principal/District Administrator Response 
 1.  Make a rapid assessment of the situation and determine whether a Lock Down or 

 Relocation Evacuation /family reunification is the safest probable course of action. Notify staff 
 of the Lock Down or evacuation.  Do not  attempt to  verify that a weapons assault has taken place 
 prior to making this decision, even a brief delay could result in avoidable injuries or loss of life. 

 2.  Follow appropriate procedures for Lock Down or Relocation Evacuation. 
 3.  Apply ALICE protocols. If possible, seek a position of safety by positioning a physical barrier 

 between yourself and the individual(s). Consider potential escape routes for yourself and staff in 
 the event the individual(s) become combative. 

 4.  Call 911 or emergency services, and request law enforcement response. If you have any 
 indication of injury, also request emergency medical personnel. Provide dispatch personnel with 
 all available relevant information such as description of perpetrator(s), type(s) of weapons 
 involved, location of injured victims, location or direction of travel of suspect(s), suspect 
 vehicle(s) etc. 

 5.  As safely as possible, see that staff carry out appropriate procedures for Lock Down 
 or Relocation Evacuation. 

 6.  Determine within the first five to ten minutes if the family reunification protocol should be 
 implemented. If the decision is made to do so, implement the family reunification protocol. 

 7.  Request that responding law enforcement officers establish perimeters around the school. 
 8.  The district administrator will implement the media protocol. 

 17(.2/.5) Staff Response  (includes: office, teachers.  custodial, kitchen personnel) 
 1.  Follow Lock Down or Relocation Evacuation procedures as directed. If you witness a weapons 

 use incident, follow the most suitable procedure (Lock Down or evacuation from the area) and 
 notify the principal or his or her designee as rapidly as is safely possible. 

 2.  Apply ALICE protocols. If possible, seek a position of safety by positioning a physical barrier 
 between yourself and the individual(s). Consider potential escape routes for yourself and staff in 
 the event the individual(s) become combative. 

 3.  When it is safe to do so, attempt to obtain the names and locations of any violators, witnesses 
 and victims from students under your care. As soon as it is practical to do so, forward this 
 information to the principal or his or her designee or responding public safety officials. 

 4.  If possible, secure any victims to protect them from further harm. 
 5.  DO NOT  attempt to confront or disarm anyone who is  in possession of any weapon as you may 

 risk serious bodily harm and further escalation of the situation. It is normally preferable to move 
 students under your care away from armed individuals unless you feel that it will escalate the 
 situation or place them in greater danger. If no other alternatives exist, institute age appropriate 
 ALICE tactics. 

 School Safety Plan 
 Section 17 –  Weapons Use  103 



 6.  If the weapon(s) have been dropped or discarded, secure the area where it is located,  DO NOT 
 touch the weapon. Cover it with a waste basket or box if possible.  Notify the principal or his or 
 her designee or responding public safety personnel. 

 7.  Remember that a weapons use scene is a crime scene. No attempt should be made to clean up blood or 
 other evidence without the approval of the senior law enforcement official. 

 8.  Remember that there may be hazards from blood or other bodily fluids at the scene so follow 
 Bloodborne pathogens training protocols. 

 School Safety Plan 
 Section 17 –  Weapons Use  104 



 17.6 Bus Driver Response 
 1.  If you are unloading students in the morning and have other stops, continue your route, avoiding 

 the immediate area of the affected school(s). If your next stop is a school located in close 
 proximity to the affected school(s), seek guidance from a route supervisor. If you are picking up 
 students in the afternoon, drive to a location that is at least one thousand feet from any affected 
 school(s) and park in a safe area. Seek guidance from a route supervisor to see if you should wait 
 to make the pickup at the affected school(s) once normal activities have resumed or continue 
 your route. 

 2.  If you are advised of a Lock Down by a student, staff member or public safety official and have 
 not been notified by the transportation department, depart from the area and immediately advise 
 your route supervisor or the dispatcher of the information you have received. If students are on 
 your bus who would normally disembark, have them remain on the bus until you confirm that it 
 is safe to drop them off at the school. 

 17.7 Route Supervisor Response 
 1.  If notified that a Lock Down is in affect at a school, notify all bus drivers that would normally be 

 dropping off or picking up students at the school and direct them as to what to do next. 
 2.  For Lock Downs instruct drivers to restrict radio transmissions to those that are critical if you 

 think it is appropriate based on the information you have. 
 3.  If it appears that a Lock Down may remain in place for an extended time, consult with district 

 principal or his or her designee to determine if drivers who are designated to pick up at the 
 school should continue their routes and/or if students who are still on the bus should be taken to a 
 secure location until the threat subsides at the affected school(s). 

 4.  Keep drivers updated on the situation as appropriate. 
 5.  Brief your supervisor as appropriate for the situation. 

 17.6a Bus Driver Response  – (Weapons on Bus) 
 1.  Immediately contact dispatch and advise them of your location twice and briefly describe the 

 situation. 
 2.  If the use of the weapon occurs on the bus, pull the bus to a safe location and park. Quickly 

 assess the situation and determine whether it is best to instruct students to evacuate the bus or 
 remain in place then communicate your instructions in a calm and clear tone of voice. 

 3.  If the person(s) who used or discharged the weapon do not flee the scene and you know who they 
 are, it may be best to instruct the other students to leave the bus. If the perpetrators(s) remain on 
 the bus, instruct them to place the weapon(s) on the floor and move away from the weapon(s). 
 Protecting yourself and other students from the violator(s) is more important than their 
 apprehension by authorities. Remember that many student weapons violators have multiple 
 weapons and that other students involved in the situation may also be armed. 

 4.  In most situations it will increase danger to you and the students on the bus for a driver to try to 
 physically disarm an individual. This should normally only be attempted if the use of a weapon 
 appears eminent and there is no opportunity for you and students to move away from the armed 
 person(s). If so, follow age appropriate ALICE tactics. 

 5.  If and when the scene is reasonably secure, render first aid to the victim(s) within your level of 
 ability to do so. 

 6.  If possible, secure any victims to protect them from further harm. 

 School Safety Plan 
 Section 17 –  Weapons Use  105 



 7.  Use precautions relating to the transmission of bloodborne pathogens. Avoid contact with blood 
 or other bodily fluids. Instruct students to move away from and avoid contact with blood or other 
 bodily fluids. 

 School Safety Plan 
 Section 17 –  Weapons Use  106 



 8.  When it is safe to do so, attempt to obtain the names and locations of any violators, witnesses 
 and victims from students under your care. As soon as it is practical to do so, forward this 
 information to your supervisor or responding public safety officials. Do not attempt to question 
 students about the incident any more than you have to do so to determine the current level of 
 danger. 

 9.  If the weapon(s) have been dropped or discarded, secure the area where it is located, but it is 
 normally best not to attempt to handle it yourself. Notify your supervisor and responding public 
 safety personnel of the weapons location upon their arrival. 

 10.  Remember that a weapons use scene is a crime scene. No attempt should be made to clean up blood or 
 other evidence without the approval of the senior law enforcement official. 

 11.  Contact the district administrator and follow the media protocol. 
 12.  Follow the mental health pre-recovery protocol. 

 17.7a Route Supervisor Response  – (Weapons on Bus) 
 1.  Make sure that law enforcement and if appropriate emergency services personnel have been 

 notified. 
 2.  Advise all drivers to keep the radio clear unless they have emergency traffic. 
 3.  If a driver reports a weapons use incident,  do not  attempt to verify that a weapons use incident 

 has taken place prior to following these action steps, even a brief delay could result in avoidable 
 injuries or loss of life. 

 4.  Proceed to the incident scene but  do not  approach  the bus until law enforcement officers advise 
 that it is safe to do so. 

 5.  Do not question or allow other school employees to question students or other witnesses until 
 law enforcement officers authorize it. 

 6.  Implement the pre-recovery mental health protocol. 
 7.  Contact the district administrator to implement the media protocol. 
 8.  Make arrangements for another bus to transport students that are not involved once law 

 enforcement approves. 
 9.  Brief your supervisor as appropriate. 

 17.8 Lead Staff Member Response (after hours) 
 1.  Make a rapid assessment of the situation and determine whether a Lock Down or an emergency 

 evacuation is the safest possible course of action. Notify staff, visitors and students of the Lock 
 Down or evacuation.  Do not  attempt to verify that  a weapons assault has taken place prior to 
 making this decision, even a brief delay could result in avoidable injuries or loss of life. 

 2.  Call 911 or emergency services, and request a law enforcement response. If you have any 
 indication of injury, also request emergency medical personnel. Provide dispatch personnel with 
 all available relevant information such as description of perpetrator(s), type(s) of weapons 
 involved, location of injured victims, location or direction of travel of suspect(s), suspect 
 vehicle(s) etc. 

 3.  Apply ALICE protocols. If possible, seek a position of safety by positioning a physical barrier 
 between yourself and the individual(s). Consider potential escape routes for yourself and staff in 
 the event the individual(s) become combative. 

 4.  If possible, secure any victims to protect them from further harm. 
 5.  Call the principal and district administrator and request that the Crisis Response Team respond 

 and provide support. 

 School Safety Plan 
 Section 17 –  Weapons Use  107 



 6.  It is normally best not to attempt to confront or disarm anyone who is in possession of any 
 weapon as you may risk serious bodily harm and further escalation of the situation. It is normally 
 preferable to move those under your care away from armed individuals unless you feel that it 
 will escalate the situation or place them in greater danger. If necessary, implement age 
 appropriate ALICE tactics. 

 7.  If the weapon(s) have been dropped or discarded, secure the area where it is located, but it is 
 normally best not to attempt to handle it yourself. Notify the principal or responding public 
 safety personnel. If possible, cover the weapon with a waste basket, box, etc. 

 8.  Remember that a weapons use scene is a crime scene. No attempt should be made to clean up 
 blood or other evidence without the approval of the senior law enforcement official. 

 9.  Remember that there may be hazards from blood or other bodily fluids at the scene so follow 
 Bloodborne pathogens protocols. 

 10.  When it is safe to do so, attempt to obtain the names and locations of any violators, witnesses 
 and victims from students and visitors under your care. As soon as it is practical to do so, 
 forward this information to responding public safety officials. 

 11.  Determine within the first five to ten minutes if the family reunification protocol should be 
 implemented. If the decision is made to do so, call the principal and district administrator and 
 request that the Crisis Response Team be notified to implement the family reunification protocol. 
 If the decision is made not to do so, request that law enforcement establish perimeters around the 
 school. 

 12.  The district administrator will implement the media protocol. 

 School Safety Plan 
 Section 17 –  Weapons Use  108 



 Section 18 - Hostage Situation 
 Definition 
 A hostage situation is one in which one or more individuals uses a weapon, the threat of a weapon, or 
 the threat of violence to hold or move persons against their will. 

 Alert Signal 
 Announce over the intercom a  Lock Down or  Relocation  Evacuation  . Notify in person if  it is safe to do 
 so. 

 18.1 Principal/District Administrator Response 
 If you  are not among  those taken hostage: 

 1.  Determine whether a Lock Down or Relocation Evacuation /family reunification is best for the 
 situation. If the hostage situation is contained in one room or office, it may be possible to 
 evacuate students and staff from other areas. Implement whichever option appears to be the best 
 option based on available information. 

 2.  Call 911 and report the situation. Provide as much information as possible. 
 3.  Follow appropriate procedures for Lock Down or Relocation Evacuation. 
 4.  Ensure that the guidelines for staff are followed to the best of your ability and offer to assist 

 responding public safety personnel. 
 5.  The district administrator should use extreme caution in any interaction with the media while 

 hostages are being held. Consult with law enforcement officials prior to making any statements. 
 Remember that media representatives sometimes report what they overhear at a scene. 
 Improperly released information reported on television or radio can escalate the situation if 
 monitored by hostage-taker(s). 

 6.  Evaluate the practicality of implementing the family reunification protocol. 

 18(.2/.5) Staff Response  (includes: office, teachers,  support staff, custodial, kitchen personnel, 
 etc.) 
 If you  are not among  those taken hostage: 

 1.  Implement Lock Down or emergency evacuation/family reunification emergency evacuation as 
 appropriate. 

 2.  If you have a safe means to do so, notify the principal and/or call 911. 
 3.  Provide as much information as possible. 
 4.  Try to keep students calm and quiet. 
 5.  Follow directions given by the principal/designee and responding public safety officials. 
 6.  If you are instructed to follow Lock Down procedures, be prepared to evacuate when instructed 

 to do so by public safety officials.  Do not open your  door for any other reason  .  (The on scene 
 officer(s) will identify themselves by passing his/her photo ID badge under the door - your door 
 will then be unlocked according to standard policies and procedures.) 

 If you  are among  those taken hostage: 
 1.  Do not  attempt to negotiate with a hostage-taker. 
 2.  Do not  make suggestions to a hostage-taker. You may  be blamed for resulting problems. 
 3.  It is generally not advisable to attempt to disarm a hostage-taker or to try to escape. 
 4.  Try to remain calm and keep the students under your care as calm and quiet as possible. Ask 

 permission from the hostage-taker(s) prior to taking any action. 
 5.  Try not to make any unexpected or sudden movements. 

 School Safety Plan 
 Section 18 –  Hostage Situation  109 



 6.  Follow instructions given by responding public safety officials. 
 7.  Do not  point out law enforcement officers if you become  aware of their presence. 
 8.  If a law enforcement rescue attempt is made, listen to what officers instruct you to do and do it 

 immediately. 

 18.6 Bus Driver Response 
 If you  are not among  those taken hostage: 

 1.  If you have a safe means to do so, notify the dispatcher of the exact location of the incident twice 
 and request law enforcement assistance. Provide the best description you can of hostage taker(s) and 
 indicate what types of weapons are involved. 

 2.  Move any students under your supervision to a safe location if it appears safe to do so and 
 moving them will not expose them to further danger. 

 3.  Try to keep students calm and quiet. 
 4.  Follow directions given by responding public safety officials and your supervisor. 
 5.  If you have to remain under cover near the incident scene, be prepared to evacuate when 

 instructed to do so by public safety officials. 

 18.7 Route Supervisor Response 
 If you  are not among  those taken hostage: 

 1.  Ensure that emergency response officials have been properly notified. 
 2.  Instruct all drivers to refrain from any non-emergency traffic. 
 3.  Contact the district administrator to implement the media protocol and use extreme caution in 

 any interaction with the media while hostages are being held. Consult with law enforcement 
 officials prior to making any statements. Remember that media representatives sometimes report 
 what they overhear at a scene. Improperly released information reported on television or radio 
 can escalate the situation if monitored by hostage-taker(s). 

 4.  Evaluate the practicality of implementing the family reunification protocol. 

 If you  are among  those taken hostage: 
 1.  Do not  attempt to negotiate with a hostage-taker. 
 2.  Do not  make suggestions to a hostage-taker. You may  be blamed for resulting problems. 
 3.  It is generally not advisable to attempt to disarm a hostage-taker or to try to escape. 
 4.  Try to remain calm and keep the students under your care as calm and quiet as possible. Ask 

 permission from the hostage-taker(s) prior to taking any action. 
 5.  Try not to make any unexpected or sudden movements. 
 6.  Follow instructions given by responding public safety officials. 
 7.  Do not  point out law enforcement officers if you become  aware of their presence. 
 8.  If a law enforcement rescue attempt is made, listen to what officers instruct you to do and do it 

 immediately. 
 9.  Remember, most people who are taken hostage survive and most injuries and deaths in hostage 

 situations occur within the first minutes of the situation. The longer the situation lasts, the greater 
 the odds that you will survive. 

 18.8 Lead Staff Member Response (after hours) 
 If you  are not among  those taken hostage: 

 1.  Implement Lock Down or non-fire evacuation as appropriate. 
 2.  If you have a safe means to do so, notify the principal and/or call 911. 

 School Safety Plan 
 Section 18 –  Hostage Situation  110 



 3.  Provide as much information as possible. 
 4.  Try to keep everyone calm and quiet. 
 5.  Follow directions given by the principal or designee and responding public safety officials. 

 6.  If you are instructed to follow Lock Down procedures, be prepared to evacuate when instructed to do 
 so by public safety officials.  Do not open your door  for any other reason  .  (The on scene officer(s) 
 will identify themselves by passing his/her photo ID badge under the door - your door will then be 
 unlocked according to standard policies and procedures.) 

 If you  are among  those taken hostage: 
 1.  Do not  attempt to negotiate with a hostage – taker. 
 2.  Do not  make suggestions to a hostage – taker. You  may be blamed for any resulting problems. 
 3.  It is generally not advisable to attempt to disarm a hostage – taker or to try to escape. 
 4.  Try to remain calm and keep staff, visitors and students under your care as calm and quiet as 

 possible. Ask permission from the hostage – taker(s) prior to taking any action. 
 5.  Try not to make any unexpected or sudden movements. 
 6.  Follow instructions given by responding public safety officials. 
 7.  Do not  point out law enforcement officers if you become  aware of their presence. 
 8.  If a law enforcement rescue attempt is made, listen to what officers instruct you to do and do it 

 immediately. 
 9.  Remember, most people who are taken hostage survive and most injuries and deaths in hostage 

 situations occur within the first minutes of the situation. The longer the situation lasts, the greater 
 are the odds that you will survive. 

 School Safety Plan 
 Section 18 –  Hostage Situation  111 



 (Leave this page blank) 

 School Safety Plan 
 Section 18 –  Hostage Situation  112 



 Section 18a -Tracking Sheet(s) 

 18a.1 Mental Health/Pre-Recovery Incident Tracking Sheet 
 Use official command post time. Please use ink. 

 Location of incident: ______________________________________________________ 

 Type of incident:  Mental Health/Pre-Recovery  __________________________________ 

 Sheet initiated by: ___________________________________________Date: ________________ 

 1  st  Shift 
 Relieved by: _______________________________________________Time: ________________ 

 2  nd  Shift 
 Relieved by: _______________________________________________Time: ________________ 

 3  rd  Shift 
 Relieved by: _______________________________________________Time: ________________ 

 ACTION  ORGANIZATION  STATUS  NOTES  REPORTED BY 
 Notify mental health crisis 
 team 
 Remain calm and 
 maintain student safety 
 Observe children’s 
 emotional state 
 Refer children who 
 exhibit extreme anxiety, 
 fear or anger 
 Provide teachers and 
 parents with information 
 about what to say and do 
 for children in school and 
 at home 

 Time and date log closed out: _______________________________________________ 

 Name of person closing log: ________________________________________________ 

 Incident Tracking Sheet received by: ___________________________Date received: ______________ 

 Witnessed by: _____________________________________________Date: _______________ 

 School Safety Plan 
 Section 18 –  Hostage Situation  113 



 (Leave this page blank) 

 School Safety Plan 
 Section 19 –  Report of Weapons on Property  114 



 Section 19 - Report of Weapon on Property 

 Definition 
 A weapons report protocol is based on any information or report that any person(s) on the property is in 
 possession of a firearm, knife or other weapon. This protocol is for use in situations where no assault 
 with a weapon has yet occurred and no immediate threat to use the weapon is reported. 

 Alert Signal 
 Announce a  Lock Down if the principal deems it appropriate  to contain students in secure areas (if, for 
 example, a report is received that a person has a firearm outside of the building). 

 19.1 Principal Response 
 1.  Obtain information about the situation. 
 2.  Determine if a Lock Down should be implemented to prevent the violator from gaining access to 

 potential victims. 
 3.  Notify law enforcement. Upon arrival of law enforcement personnel, assist them in locating the 

 person(s) who are reported to be armed. Consider the best method to approach the suspected 
 violator(s) to avoid escalating the situation. Do not attempt to recover weapons from violators or 
 search people for weapons without police assistance. An exception to this might be appropriate 
 when a preschool age child who is too young to comprehend the danger of a weapon that he or 
 she is handling. In these situations, it may be advisable to tell the students to put the item down 
 and move away from it rather than to wait for law enforcement. 

 4.  If a weapon is recovered, consider the possibility that additional weapons may be present on the 
 violator, or his or her belongings or concealed elsewhere on school property. If no weapon is 
 recovered, consider the possibility that the weapon(s) might have been concealed on school 
 property (in a locker, book bag, in a vehicle or concealed in a public area such as a bathroom 
 ceiling or behind a vending machine). Also consider the possibility that the weapon may have 
 been passed to another individual. 

 5.  Contact the District Office. 
 6.  Brief staff on the situation. 
 7.  When a firearm is recovered, consider the need for a multidisciplinary threat assessment utilizing 

 law enforcement and mental health professionals. 
 8.  When a firearm is recovered, consider the benefits of parental notification via a letter from the 

 principal or district administrator to be sent home with students, preferably on the day of the 
 incident. 

 19(.2/.5) Staff Response  (includes: office, teachers,  support staff, custodial, & kitchen 
 personnel, etc.) 

 1.  Staff should immediately report to the principal any situation in which a person is believed to be 
 in possession of a weapon on school property. Notification should be made in a discreet manner 
 if possible. 

 2.  The principal will contact District Office. 
 3.  Staff members should not attempt to confront a person who is believed to be armed and should 

 not attempt to search people for weapons. 
 4.  If a weapon is inadvertently located on the premises, staff members should move all students 

 away from the weapon and should not attempt to pick up or handle the weapon. If possible, 
 cover the weapon with a waste basket, box, etc. 

 School Safety Plan 
 Section 19 –  Report of Weapons on Property  115 



 5.  Staff should remember that when an individual has one weapon, he or she may have additional 
 weapons. In addition, persons associated with the weapons violator may also be armed. 

 School Safety Plan 
 Section 19 –  Report of Weapons on Property  116 



 19.8 Lead Staff Member and Support Personnel Action Steps 
 1.  Obtain information about the situation. 
 2.  Determine if a Lock Down should be implemented to prevent the violator from gaining access to 

 potential victims. 
 3.  Notify law enforcement. Upon arrival of law enforcement personnel, assist them in locating the 

 person(s) who are reported to be armed. Consider the best method to approach the suspected 
 violator(s) to avoid escalating the situation. Do not attempt to recover weapons from violators or 
 search people for weapons without police assistance. An exception to this might be appropriate 
 in a situation with a preschool age child who is too young to comprehend the danger of a weapon 
 that he or she is handling. In these situations, it may be advisable to tell the students to put the 
 item down and move away from it rather than to wait for law enforcement. 

 4.  If a weapon is recovered, consider the possibility that additional weapons may be present on the 
 violator, in his or her belongings or concealed elsewhere on school property. If no weapon is 
 recovered, consider the possibility that the weapon(s) might have been concealed on school 
 property (in a locker, book bag, in a vehicle, or concealed in a public area such as a bathroom 
 ceiling or behind a vending machine. 

 5.  Brief staff on the situation. 
 6.  Call the principal and district administrator and request that the Crisis Response Team be notified 

 of the incident. 

 School Safety Plan 
 Section 19 –  Report of Weapons on Property  117 



 Section 19a - Report of Weapon on the Bus 

 Definition 
 A report of a weapon on the bus is any information or report that any person(s) on the bus is in 
 possession of a firearm, knife or other weapon. This protocol is for use in situations  where no assault 
 with a weapon has yet occurred and no immediate threat to use the weapon is reported  . 

 Alert/distress signal: 
 If a driver has any indication that there is someone on the bus who is in possession of a weapon, but they 
 are not threatening to use the weapon, the driver should communicate by radio or portable phone to the 
 dispatcher the following phrase  “  my bus engine is  running hot but I can’t see it on my temperature 
 gauge, I am going to need assistance”.  This will also  allow you to communicate your location and 
 coordinate where you will meet responding law enforcement officers. 

 19a.6 Bus Driver Response 
 1.  Drivers should immediately report to the principal any situation where a person is believed to 

 possess a weapon on the bus. Notification should be made using the code phrase  “My bus 
 engine is running hot but I can’t see it on my temperature gauge, I am going to need 
 assistance.”  Upon hearing this transmission, all other  drivers should cease all non-emergency 
 transmissions. 

 2.  Drivers should not attempt to confront a person who is believed to be armed and should not 
 attempt to search people for weapons. 

 3.  If a weapon is inadvertently located on the bus, the driver should move all students away from 
 the weapon and should not attempt to pick up or handle the weapon if it is a firearm. 

 4.  Drivers should remember that when an individual has one weapon, he or she may have additional 
 weapons. 

 5.  Coordinate with the dispatcher when and where the bus will meet with police. 
 6.  When close to the meeting point, tell students on the bus that you have a mechanical precaution 

 and that you have requested that the fire department to meet the bus as a precaution. Tell them 
 that the bus is not on fire. 

 7.  Follow the instructions of responding law enforcement officers. 

 19a.7 Route Supervisor Response 
 1.  Ensure that law enforcement officers are dispatched to meet the bus. 
 2.  If appropriate, proceed to the meeting location, but do not approach the bus until officers have 

 secured the area. 
 3.  If a weapon is recovered, consider the possibility that additional weapons may be present on the 

 violator, in his or her belongings or concealed elsewhere on the bus. If no weapon is recovered, 
 consider the possibility that the weapon(s) might have been concealed on school property (in a 
 locker, book bag, in a vehicle or concealed in a public area such as a bathroom ceiling or behind 
 a vending machine or passed to another student. 

 4.  Contact the district administrator and brief your supervisor as appropriate. 

 School Safety  Plan 
 Section 19a –  Report of Weapons on Bus  118 



 (Leave this page blank) 

 School Safety Plan 
 Section 20 –  Arrest of Criminal Indictment of Staff  Member  119 



 Section 20 - Arrest or Criminal Indictment of Staff Member 

 Definition 
 A staff member or volunteer is taken into custody by law enforcement officials for a criminal offense or 
 indicted by a grand jury for a criminal offense. 

 Alert Signal 
 None 

 20.1 District Administrator Response 
 1.  Attempt to obtain information relating to the arrest to determine if the situation could have an 

 impact on the individual’s fitness to serve with the organization. Utilize only official and 
 legitimate sources of information which may include: 

 ▪  Law enforcement agency records 

 ▪  Jail booking records 

 ▪  Court records 
 2.  Compare the alleged actions of the staff member or volunteer with school policies on employee 

 conduct before taking action. 
 3.  If a determination is made that the individual should be separated from the organization, consider 

 whether it may be appropriate to inform him or her in verbally and in writing that he or she is not 
 allowed to enter school property. Also, be sure to attempt to recover keys to school facilities 
 from the individual. 

 4.  Media representatives may ask for interviews regarding the situation. If you decide that it is 
 appropriate to speak to reporters, carefully consider any statements that are made. Comment only 
 on factual aspects of the situation and avoid making statements that could result in a civil action. 
 Refer questions pertaining to criminal and investigative processes to the appropriate criminal 
 justice agencies. 

 5.  Regardless of the outcome, carefully document your actions. 
 6.  In some cases, a carefully worded letter to parents and/or a carefully planned meeting with 

 parents may be needed to address concerns (such as cases involving child molestation). Consult 
 with the district administrator’s office, public information staff, and school district legal counsel 
 as to what topics can and should be discussed. 

 20(.2/.5) Staff Response  (includes: office, teachers,  support staff, custodial, kitchen, and bus 
 personnel, etc.) 

 1.  Follow directions of the principal. 
 2.  The district administrator will initiate media protocol. 

 20.6 Bus Driver Response 
 Follow directions of your supervisor or the transportation director regarding the release of information. 
 Do not  release any information or make any statements  without prior approval as statements could result 
 in personal civil liability for you. 

 School Safety Plan 
 Section 20 –  Arrest of Criminal Indictment of Staff  Member  120 



 20.7 Route Supervisor Response 
 1.  If the employee is a member of the transportation department, coordinate with your supervisor 

 and the human resources department and attempt to obtain information relating to the arrest to 
 determine if the situation could have an impact on the individual’s fitness to serve with the 
 organization. Utilize only official and legitimate sources of information which may include: 

 ▪  Law enforcement agency records 

 ▪  Jail booking records 

 ▪  Court records 
 2.  Compare the alleged actions of the staff member or volunteer with school policies on employee 

 conduct before taking action. 
 3.  Alert the District Office. 
 4.  If a determination is made that the individual should be separated from the organization, consider 

 whether it may be appropriate to inform him or her verbally and in writing that he or she is not 
 allowed to enter school property. Also, be sure to attempt to recover keys to school facilities and 
 or buses from the individual. 

 5.  Media representatives may ask for interviews regarding the situation. If you decide that it is 
 appropriate to speak to reporters, follow the media protocol and carefully consider any 
 statements that are made. Comment only on factual aspects of the situation and avoid making 
 statements that could result in a civil action. Refer questions pertaining to criminal and 
 investigative processes to the appropriate criminal justice agencies. 

 6.  Regardless of the outcome, carefully document your actions. 
 7.  In some cases, a carefully planned meeting with parents may be needed to address concerns 

 (such as cases involving child molestation). Consult with the district administrator’s office, 
 public information staff and school district legal counsel prior to scheduling this type of meeting 

 20.8 Lead Staff Member Response (after hours) 
 1.  If the arrest occurs at the event, attempt to obtain basic information relating to the arrest to 

 determine if the situation could have an impact on the individual’s fitness to serve with the 
 organization. Utilize only official and legitimate sources of information. 

 2.  Media representatives may ask for interviews regarding the situation. Refer them to the District 
 Office. 

 3.  Carefully document your actions and the information you obtain. 

 School Safety Plan 
 Section 20 –  Arrest of Criminal Indictment of Staff  Member  121 



 Section 21 - Sexual Assault 

 Definition 
 A sexual assault is any crime of a sexual nature. 

 21.1 Principal Response 
 1.  Call 911 or emergency services. 
 2.  Attempt to  dissuade  the victim from washing, cleaning  up or use of the restroom if possible. 
 3.  Attempt to provide the victim with privacy. 
 4.  Secure the crime scene. 
 5.  Instruct staff not to use the victim’s name on two-way radios and not to release the victim’s 

 identity to anyone other than law enforcement officials. 
 6.  Remember that sexual assaults are very serious crimes. Do not attempt to conduct an 

 investigation, question victims, witnesses or suspects and do not disturb any potential physical 
 evidence. 

 7.  Keep reported victim(s), suspect(s) and witnesses separated. 
 8.  Assist public safety officials as requested. 
 9.  Contact the district administrator to implement media protocol. 
 10.  Close facility, if needed. 

 21(.2/.5)  Staff Response  (includes: office, teachers,  support staff, custodial, kitchen personnel, 
 etc.) 
 Notify principal and principal will contact District Office. 

 1.  Attempt to  dissuade  the victim from washing, cleaning  up or use of the rest room, if possible. 
 2.  Attempt to provide the victim with as much privacy as possible without leaving them alone. 
 3.  Secure the crime scene. 
 4.  Do not use the victim’s name on two-way radios or release the victim’s identity to anyone other 

 than the principal or law enforcement officials. 
 5.  Remember that sexual assaults are very serious crimes. Do not attempt to conduct an 

 investigation, question victims, witnesses or suspects and do not disturb any potential physical 
 evidence. 

 6.  Assist public safety officials as requested. 

 21.6 Bus Driver Response 
 1.  Whether the assault occurred on the bus or before boarding, notify the dispatcher and meet 

 responding law enforcement officers at an agreed upon location 
 2.  Have the victim(s) take a seat near you. 
 3.  Attempt to dissuade the victim from cleaning up if possible. 
 4.  Secure the crime scene. 
 5.  Do not  use the victim’s name on two-way radios or  release the victim’s identity to anyone other 

 than school system or law enforcement officials. 
 6.  Remember that sexual assaults are very serious crimes. Do not attempt to conduct an 

 investigation, question victims, witnesses or suspects and do not disturb any potential physical 
 evidence. 

 7.  Assist public safety officials as requested. 

 School Safety Plan 
 Section 21 –  Sexual Assault  122 



 8.  Contact the district administrator and follow the media protocol. 

 School Safety Plan 
 Section 21 –  Sexual Assault  123 



 21.7 Route Supervisor Response 
 1.  Ensure that law enforcement officers have been dispatched to the bus. 
 2.  Do not  attempt to question students regarding the  incident until authorized to do so by law 

 enforcement officers. 
 3.  Assist public safety officials as requested. 
 4.  If police need to process a crime scene on the bus, arrange for an alternate bus to transport 

 students. 
 5.  Contact the district administrator to implement the media protocol. 
 6.  Brief your supervisor as appropriate. 

 21.8 Lead Staff Member Response (after hours) 
 1.  Call 911 or emergency services. 
 2.  Attempt to dissuade the victim from washing, cleaning up or use of the restroom if possible. 
 3.  Attempt to provide the victim with privacy. 
 4.  Secure the crime scene. 
 5.  Instruct staff not to use the victim’s name on walkie-talkies and not to release the victim’s 

 identity to anyone other than law enforcement officials. 
 6.  Remember that sexual assaults are very serious crimes. Do not attempt to conduct an 

 investigation, question victims, witnesses or suspects and do not disturb any potential physical 
 evidence. 

 7.  Assist public safety officials as requested. 
 8.  Contact the district administrator to implement media protocol. 
 9.  Cancel the event and close facility, if needed. 

 School Safety Plan 
 Section 21 –  Sexual Assault  124 



 Section 22 - Bomb Threats/Suspicious Packages 

 Definition 
 A bomb threat/suspicious package situation is one that involves the threat of an explosive device that has 
 been placed in, around, or near a facility, or the detection of a suspicious package that could contain an 
 explosive device. 

 Alert Signal 
 Announcement over the public address system  “All staff  initiate a Relocation Evacuation in effect at this 
 time, evacuate to the  Manawa Rural Fire Department/City  Hall  . Please sweep/quickly check all 
 routes and the site for any suspicious items out of the ordinary.” 

 Or; “All staff initiates a sweep/quick check your area for any suspicious items out of the ordinary. Please 
 report your status upon completion of the sweep.” 

 22.1 Principal Response 
 Upon receipt of a bomb threat, the principal should call 911 and request that fire, law enforcement and 
 emergency management personnel respond. If a threat has been received by phone, provide the 
 completed bomb threat checklist (see Appendix A) to the first law enforcement officer to arrive on the 
 scene. Make sure that call tracing procedures have been implemented.  Consult with responding public 
 safety officials and quickly determine whether it is best under the circumstances to sweep, evacuate and 
 search or to sweep in place. Available information should be evaluated to weigh the potential risks of 
 explosive devices inside the building, explosives devices outside the building (including the possibility 
 of a vehicle bomb), explosives devices placed in or near evacuation routes or sites or other hazards such 
 as persons with firearms who plan to shoot at evacuees. If multiple bomb threats are received over time, 
 be sure to rotate evacuation routes and sites to make it more difficult for someone to pattern your 
 evacuation responses and target evacuees with explosives, firearms or chemical agents. Contact District 
 Office. 

 If the sweep and evacuate option is selected: 
 1.  Notify staff to sweep and evacuate make public address announcement: “All staff initiate a– 

 emergency evacuation in effect at this time, evacuate to the  Manawa Rural Fire 
 Department/City Hall  .  Please sweep all routes and  the site.”  If multiple threats are received 
 over a relatively short time period, be sure to rotate evacuation routes and sites. 

 2.  Have the evacuation route and site swept for suspicious persons, objects (which could contain an 
 explosive device) or other safety hazards prior to the evacuation if appropriate. 

 3.  Have designated staff or public safety officials direct students safely across any streets that must 
 be crossed by evacuees. 

 4.  Remind staff members and students not to utilize cellular or digital phones or portable radios 
 unless a life-threatening emergency exists. 

 5.  Request that uniformed personnel escort staff and students to the evacuation site and remain 
 with them until and unless they are instructed to return to the building. 

 6.  Leave the facility and take the emergency evacuation kit and make responding public safety 
 officials aware of the contents of the kit. 

 7.  Check with staff to see that all evacuees are accounted for. Immediately notify responding 
 public safety officials if any persons are not accounted for. 

 School Safety Plan 
 Section 22 –  Bomb Threats/Suspicious Packages  125 



 8.  Assist responding public safety officials with the second sweep of the facility. 
 9.  Consult with public safety officials before authorizing evacuees to return to the facility. 
 10.  You may determine that it is appropriate to close the facility for the remainder of the day. If so, 

 begin notification of parents and guardians and implement your emergency release procedures. 

 School Safety Plan 
 Section 22 –  Bomb Threats/Suspicious Packages  126 



 If the sweep and remain in place option is selected: 
 1.  Make intercom announcement: “All staff initiate a sweep in place, please report your status upon 

 completion of the sweep.” 
 2.  Escort public safety officials through the building to verify that all areas have been swept by 

 staff. Make sure that all areas inside and around the facility have been swept. 
 3.  Assist public safety officials in conducting the second sweep of the facility. 
 4.  If any suspicious packages are noted by staff or public safety officials, make sure that all staff 

 and students are moved away from the item and that it is not disturbed in any way. 
 5.  Consult with public safety officials to see if the facility should be evacuated, if the decision is 

 made to do so, implement the Non-Fire evacuation plan. 

 22(.2/.5)  Staff Response  (includes: office, teachers,  support staff, custodial, kitchen personnel, 
 etc.) 
 Sweep and evacuate procedures: 

 1.  If the sweep and evacuate option is announced, staff should quickly scan their area of 
 responsibility for any packages or items that could contain an explosive device (objects that they 
 do not recognize as normally being present). 

 2.  If any suspicious items are noted, they should not be disturbed and the staff member should 
 notify the principal or designee upon evacuation from the area. 

 3.  The staff member should then follow the non-fire evacuation protocol. 
 4.  DO NOT  use any cellular or digital telephones or portable  radios during these situations unless a 

 life-threatening emergency exists. Explain to the students that the use of such devices can pose a 
 safety hazard. 

 5.  DO NOT  allow students to return to their lockers. 

 Sweep and remain in place procedures: 
 1.  Staff members should scan their area of responsibility for any packages or items that could 

 contain an explosive device (objects that they do not recognize as normally being present). 
 2.  Take a roll to account for all persons in your area of responsibility in case evacuation is ordered 

 at a later time. 
 3.  If any suspicious items are noted, they should not be disturbed. The staff member should then 

 direct all people in the area to follow them to the principal’s office and inform the principal or 
 designee of his or her observations. 

 4.  Follow the principal’s instructions. 

 22.6 Bus Driver Response 
 Sweep and evacuate procedures  : 

 1.  If the sweep and evacuate option is announced, drivers should park in a safe place, instruct 
 students to evacuate the bus and to take all of their belongings with them. Drivers should check 
 the bus by looking for any packages or items that could contain an explosive device (objects that 
 they do not recognize as normally being present). 

 2.  If any suspicious items are noted, they should not be disturbed and the staff member should 
 notify the dispatcher if possible. 

 3.  The staff member should then follow the Non-Fire Evacuation protocol. Have students bring 
 their book bags and other hand carry articles with them. 

 4.  Refrain from using cellular or digital telephones or portable radios during these situations unless 
 a life-threatening emergency exists. In some extremely rare and specific instances, radio 

 School Safety Plan 
 Section 22 –  Bomb Threats/Suspicious Packages  127 



 frequency energy can trigger an explosive device to detonate. Explain to students that any 
 electronic communication devices that are observed in use will be seized. Explain to the students 
 that the use of such devices can pose a safety hazard. 

 Sweep and remain in place procedures: 
 1.  Pull over and park in a safe location. Conduct a thorough visual inspection of the interior and 

 exterior of the bus looking for any items that are out of place. Do not touch, handle, or in any 
 way move a suspicious package while sweeping the bus. Ask students if they see any items on 
 the bus that do not belong to anyone. If no such items are noted, use a cellular or digital phone to 
 report your findings to the dispatcher and resume your route. 

 2.  If any suspicious items are noted, they should not be disturbed. The staff member should then 
 direct all people in the area to follow them to the school office. The staff member should proceed 
 with evacuees to the school office area and inform the principal or designee of his or her 
 observations. 

 3.  Follow the principal’s instructions. 

 22.7 Route Supervisor Response 
 Upon receipt of a bomb threat for a particular bus, determine the parked location of the bus and ensure 
 that emergency services have been notified. If the threat does not indicate which bus is reported to have 
 an explosives device on it, consult with the transportation director and emergency response personnel on 
 the best course of action – whether to have all buses evacuate and search or to have all drivers search in 
 place. Make sure that call tracing procedures have been implemented. Available information should be 
 evaluated to weigh the potential risks of explosive devices on one or more buses and the possibility of 
 other hazards created by evacuating buses. If multiple bomb threats are received over time, be sure to 
 rotate responses to make it difficult for someone to pattern your responses and target evacuees with 
 explosives, firearms or chemical agents. 

 If the sweep and evacuate option is selected: 
 1.  Notify drivers to sweep and evacuate with the following phrase “Driver(s) of bus(es) number(s) 

 ______ initiate a Relocation Evacuation in effect at this time, evacuate to the nearest suitable 
 site, notify dispatch of your location and the results of your sweep.” 

 2.  Maintain a list of all drivers indicating their evacuation location and the results of their sweep. 
 Immediately notify responding public safety officials if any buses are not accounted for. 

 3.  Assist responding public safety officials with the second sweep of the facility. 
 4.  Consult with public safety officials before authorizing evacuees to return to their bus(es). 

 If the sweep and remain in place option is selected: 
 1.  Notify affected driver(s) to initiate sweep in place procedures and to report the results upon 

 completion of the sweep.” 
 2.  If any suspicious packages are noted by drivers or public safety officials, make sure that the 

 driver and students evacuate at least 1,000 feet away from the bus or the safest possible distance 
 up to 1,000 feet and that the suspicious package is not disturbed in any way. 

 3.  Ensure that emergency response agencies are notified and proceed to the location of the affected 
 bus to assist them and the driver. 

 4.  Brief your supervisor as appropriate. 

 School Safety Plan 
 Section 22 –  Bomb Threats/Suspicious Packages  128 



 22.8 Lead Staff Member Response (after hours) 
 Upon receipt of a bomb threat, the Lead Staff Member should call 911 and request that fire, law 
 enforcement and emergency management personnel respond. If a threat has been received by phone, 
 provide the completed bomb threat checklist to the first law enforcement officer to arrive on the scene. 
 Make sure that call tracing procedures have been implemented. Consult with responding public safety 
 officials and quickly determine whether it is best under the circumstances to sweep, evacuate and search 
 or to sweep in place. Available information should be evaluated to weigh the potential risks of explosive 
 devices inside the building, explosives devices outside the building (including the possibility of a 
 vehicle bomb), explosives devices placed in or near evacuation routes or sites or other hazards such as 
 persons with firearms who plan to shoot at evacuees. If multiple bomb threats are received over time, be 
 sure to rotate evacuation routes and sites to make it more difficult for someone to pattern your 
 evacuation responses and target evacuees with explosives, firearms or chemical agents. Always be sure 
 to evacuate to at least 1000 feet in the case of a bomb threat  if it is safe to do so.  Exceptions are 
 situations where it would be dangerous to pass an obstacle that is less than 1000 feet from the school, 
 such as an interstate or highway. 

 If the sweep and evacuate option is selected: 
 1.  Notify staff to sweep and evacuate make public address announcement: “We have received a 

 bomb threat and have decided to evacuate the facility as a precaution. Please proceed calmly to 
 the evacuation site located at _______________. We will announce at that site if the function is 
 going to be cancelled or resumed after the site has been swept for suspicious packages and 
 items.” “All staff initiate a Relocation Evacuation in effect at this time, evacuate to site 
 __________________located at ____________________. Please sweep all routes and the site.” 

 2.  If you have adequate staff or law enforcement personnel on hand, have the evacuation route and 
 site swept for suspicious persons, objects (which could contain an explosive device) or other 
 safety hazards prior to the evacuation if appropriate. 

 3.  Have designated staff or public safety officials direct staff, visitors, and students safely across 
 any streets that must be crossed by evacuees. 

 4.  Remind staff members, visitors, and students not to utilize cellular or digital phones or portable 
 radios while evacuating unless a life-threatening emergency exists. 

 5.  Request that uniformed personnel escort staff and students to the evacuation site and remain with 
 them until and unless they are instructed to return to the building. 

 6.  Leave the facility and take the emergency evacuation kit and make responding public safety 
 officials aware of the contents of the kit. 

 7.  Check with staff to see that evacuees are accounted for. Immediately notify responding public 
 safety officials if any persons are not accounted for. 

 8.  Assist responding public safety officials with the sweep of the facility. 
 9.  Contact the district administrator and principal. 
 10.  Consult with public safety officials before authorizing evacuees to return to the facility. 
 11.  You may determine that it is appropriate to cancel the event for the remainder of the day. If so, 

 begin notification of parents and guardians and implement your emergency release procedures. 

 School Safety Plan 
 Section 22 –  Bomb Threats/Suspicious Packages  129 



 If the sweep and remain in place option is selected: 
 1.  Make intercom announcement: “We have received a bomb threat for this location. We have 

 decided to continue the event while the facility is being swept for suspicious packages and items 
 after consultation with public safety officials. As there is always the possibility of a caller 
 placing a device outside of a building, we feel that this is the most appropriate action for us to 
 take based on the information we have. If you feel uncomfortable, please feel free to leave at this 
 time.” “All staff initiate a sweep in place, please report your status to ________________ at 
 ______________ upon completion of the sweep.” 

 2.  Assist public safety officials in conducting the second sweep of the facility. Make sure that all 
 areas of the facility have been swept. 

 3.  If any suspicious packages are noted by staff or public safety officials, make sure that all staff 
 and students are moved away from the item and that it is not disturbed in any way. Consult with 
 public safety officials to see if the facility should be evacuated, if the decision is made to do so, 
 implement the Non-Fire evacuation plan. 

 4.  Call the principal and district administrator and request that the Crisis Response Team be notified 
 of the situation and your course of action. Provide a brief description of the situation. 

 School Safety Plan 
 Section 22 –  Bomb Threats/Suspicious Packages  130 



 (Leave this page blank) 

 School Safety Plan 
 Section 22 –  Bomb Threats/Suspicious Packages  131 



 Section 22a - Bomb Threat Checklist 

 When a bomb threat is received by telephone, fill out this form as soon as possible, if not during the 
 phone call. One common practice is to keep a copy of this checklist near phones that accept incoming 
 calls at the school and district offices. After a bomb threat is made, the receiving phone should be left off 
 the hook to preserve traceability of the call. 

 Call taken by: _____________________ Time: _______ Date: _______ 

 Caller Information: 

 Caller ID: _____ - ______- _______ 

 Any identifying information on the caller: 

 Name: _____________________________  Nickname: ___________________________________ 

 Address: ________________________________________________ 

 MALE  FEMALE  YOUNG  ADULT  SENIOR CITIZEN 

 Circle any of the following characteristics that applied to the caller’s voice: 

 Loud  Slurred  Soft  Lispy  High  Vulgar  Low  Nasal 

 Fast  Raspy  Slow  Laughing  Garbled  Reading  Stutter 
 y 

 Deliberate 

 Was there an accent? (elaborate if possible) 

 What was the manner speech of the caller? 

 Soft-spoken  Well-spoken  Rational  Irrational  Polite 

 Was the caller emotional? If so, please elaborate: 

 Describe any background noise you heard: 

 Bomb Information 

 Bomb Location: 

 Time bomb will detonate: 

 Additional Information: 
 School Safety Plan 

 Section 22 –  Bomb Threats/Suspicious Packages  132 



 (Leave this page blank) 

 School Safety Plan 
 Section 23 –  Injury or Illness  133 



 Section 23 - Injury or Illness 

 Alert Signal 
 None 

 23.1 Principal Response 
 1.  Call 911 or emergency services, if needed. Report exact location and nature of injured and 

 facility’s address: ________________________________________. 
 2.  Assign a staff member to meet first responders as they arrive. 
 3.  Implement Lock Down Protocol, if needed. 
 4.  Implement Evacuation Protocol, if needed. 
 5.  If Lock Down or evacuation are not appropriate, clear the area of all people who do not have a 

 specific purpose for remaining in the area of the injured or ill. 
 6.  Apply appropriate First Aid, AED, and bloodborne pathogens protocols as needed. 
 7.  Assign a staff member to accompany the injured or ill individual(s) if transport to the hospital is 

 necessary. 
 8.  Notify family members of the injured or ill. 
 9.  If a crime may have been committed, contact local law enforcement. Do not disturb any potential 

 evidence. Identify witnesses and keep them separated. Ask witnesses not to discuss the incident 
 until law enforcement personnel arrive. Do not allow anyone to clean up the area as it is a crime 
 scene. Disturbing a crime scene is a criminal offense. 

 10.  Notify District Office if the illness or injury required a 911 response. 
 11.  Notify other staff members as needed. 
 12.  Complete an Accident Report form if the incident was an accident. 
 13.  If the incident is determined to involve a crime, obtain a copy of the police report and include it 

 in your records. 
 14.  Develop and maintain written documentation of the incident. 

 23(.2/.5) Staff Response  (includes: office, teachers,  support staff, custodial, kitchen personnel, 
 etc.) 

 1.  Notify main office of injury or illness and the exact location of the injured or ill individual(s) or 
 persons affected. Do not use names of injured or ill individuals over two-way radios. 

 2.  Call 911 or emergency services if needed. 
 3.  Do not move injured or ill unless the scene is unsafe. 
 4.  Apply appropriate First Aid, AED, and bloodborne pathogens protocols as needed. 
 5.  Comfort and reassure injured or ill person. 
 6.  Secure the scene if a crime may have been committed. Do not disturb any evidence. 
 7.  Notify District office if illness or injury required a 911 response. 

 23.6 Bus Driver Response 
 1.  Notify main office of injury or illness and the exact location of the bus. In life threatening 

 situations, give your bus location twice. Do not use names of victim(s) on the radio. 
 2.  Do not move the sick or injured unless the scene is unsafe. 
 3.  Take precautions for Bloodborne pathogens. Avoid contact with bodily fluids. Direct students to 

 move away from any bodily fluids. 
 4.  Provide first aid, if needed and only according to your level of training. 
 5.  Comfort and reassure the injured or ill person. 

 School Safety Plan 
 Section 23 –  Injury or Illness  134 



 6.  Secure the scene if a crime may have been committed. Do not disturb any evidence. 

 School Safety Plan 
 Section 23 –  Injury or Illness  135 



 23.7 Route Supervisor Response 
 1.  Ensure that the appropriate emergency medical responders and, if needed, law enforcement 

 officers have been requested. 
 2.  Proceed to the scene. 
 3.  Assign a staff member to accompany the victim(s) if transport to the hospital is necessary. 
 4.  Notify family members of the injured or ill person(s). 
 5.  If a crime may have been committed, contact local law enforcement. Do not disturb any potential 

 evidence. Identify witnesses and keep them separated. Ask witnesses not to discuss the incident 
 until law enforcement personnel arrive. 

 6.  Brief your supervisor and the district administrator as appropriate to the situation. 
 7.  Complete an Accident Report form if the incident was an accident. 
 8.  If the incident is determined to involve a crime, obtain a copy of the police report and include it 

 in your records. 
 9.  Develop and maintain written documentation of the incident. 

 Bus Accident – Definition (A traffic accident involving a school bus.) 

 23.6a Bus Driver Response  (Bus Accident) 
 1.  Quickly assess the situation and contact dispatch. Advise them of your exact location and repeat 

 the location. Advise them of any injuries or specific hazards created by the accident. 
 2.  Render first aid to injured students if you are qualified to do so. 
 3.  If the accident does not involve injuries and there is no danger posed by doing so, have students 

 remain in their seats. Create a diagram listing which students were on the bus and where they 
 were seated at the time of the accident. 

 4.  If there are any injuries, as soon as possible after tending the injured, create a list of all students 
 on the bus at the time of the accident and indicate any students who are injured. If any students 
 are transported from the scene, record who they are and where they are being taken. 

 5.  Contact the District Office and follow the media protocol. 
 6.  Follow the pre-recovery mental health protocol. 
 7.  Do not discuss the incident with any private investigators or attorneys without first being cleared 

 to do so by your supervisor. If you are approached at a later time by a person who is not in 
 uniform and claims to be investigating the accident, clarify their position. In some cases, private 
 investigators have presented themselves as police investigators to obtain interviews. If in doubt, 
 ask the individual if they are a certified law enforcement officer and request identification. You 
 are under no obligation to discuss the accident with a private investigator or attorney. 

 23.7a Route Supervisor Response  (Bus Accident) 
 1.  Ensure that the appropriate public safety personnel have been dispatched to assist the affected bus. 
 2.  If it is appropriate for the situation based on the information you have available, advise all other 

 drivers to keep the radio clear except for emergency transmissions until public safety responders 
 are on the scene. 

 3.  Proceed to the accident scene. 
 4.  Ensure that action steps 3 through 7 under Driver Response have been implemented. 
 5.  Record pertinent information such as the names of responding officers, time of the accident etc. 
 6.  If appropriate, photograph the scene, 
 7.  Provide assistance to the driver, students, other passengers, and public safety officials as needed. 
 8.  Request an alternate bus if needed. 

 School Safety Plan 
 Section 23 –  Injury or Illness  136 



 9.  Contact the district administrator and brief your supervisor. 

 23.8 Lead Staff Member Response (after hours) 
 1.  Call 911 or emergency services, if needed. Report exact location and nature of injured and 

 facility’s address. (______  insert facility address  here  ____________) 
 2.  Assign a staff member to meet first responders as they arrive. 
 3.  If a qualified staff member is available, ask them to provide first aid as appropriate. 
 4.  Implement Lock Down Protocol, if needed. 
 5.  Implement Evacuation Protocol, if needed. 
 6.  If Lock Down or evacuation are not appropriate, clear the area of all people who do not have a 

 specific purpose for remaining in the area of the injured or ill person(s). 
 7.  If a family member is not available or if it is appropriate to have a staff member to accompany 

 them, assign a staff member to accompany the injured or ill person(s) if transport to the hospital 
 is necessary. 

 8.  Notify family members of the injured or ill person(s). 
 9.  If a crime may have been committed, contact local law enforcement. Do not disturb any potential 

 evidence. Identify witnesses and keep them separated. Ask witnesses not to discuss the incident 
 until law enforcement personnel arrive. 

 10.  Call the principal and district administrator and request that the Crisis Response Team be 
 notified. Provide a brief description of the incident. 

 11.  Complete an accident report form if the incident was an accident. 
 12.  If the incident is determined to involve a crime, obtain a copy of the police report and include it 

 in your records. 
 13.  Develop and maintain written documentation of the incident. 

 School Safety Plan 
 Section 23 –  Injury or Illness  137 



 (Leave this page blank) 

 School Safety Plan 
 Section 24 –  Death  138 



 Section 24 - Death 

 Definition 
 Loss of life of one or more human beings due to an accident, natural disaster, natural causes, suicide, or 
 homicide. Cause of death should not be assumed and must be determined through investigation by 
 appropriate officials. 

 Alert Signal 
 Lock Down or evacuation announcement as appropriate  . 

 24.1 Principal/District Administrator Response 
 1.  Determine if a Lock Down or evacuation is needed. If deemed appropriate, use the public 

 address system (PA) to direct staff to Lock Down or evacuate. 
 2.  Call 911 or emergency services. If safe to do so, designate a staff member to meet first 

 responders and guide them to the incident location. 
 3.  Initiate Illness or Injury Protocol, if any other persons are injured or ill. 
 4.  Assist staff in keeping the incident scene secure. Do not allow anyone to disturb possible 

 evidence. Identify witnesses, keep them separated and ask them not to discuss the incident until 
 law enforcement officers arrive. These instructions are valid for accidents, apparent suicides and 
 homicides. 

 5.  Take precautions against any contact with bodily fluids and follow all Bloodborne pathogen 
 protocols. 

 6.  Initiate Family Reunification Protocol, if needed. 
 7.  The district administrator will initiate media protocol, if needed. 
 8.  After being cleared to do so by law enforcement and mental health professionals, remove 

 personal items of the deceased from desks, lockers, etc. 
 9.  Stop any automatic mailings from being inadvertently mailed to the family. 

 24(.2/.5) Staff Response  (includes: office, teachers,  support staff, custodial, kitchen personnel, 
 etc.) 

 1.  Call 911 or emergency services. 
 2.  Notify the principal. 
 3.  Initiate Illness or Injury Protocol, if any other persons are injured or ill. 
 4.  Follow principal’s instructions for Lock Down or evacuation. 
 5.  Keep the incident scene secure. Do not allow anyone to disturb possible evidence. Identify witnesses, 

 keep them separated and ask them not to discuss the incident until law enforcement officers arrive. 
 These instructions are valid for accidents, apparent suicides and homicides. All deaths will be treated 
 by law enforcement as a homicide until a formal investigation is completed. 

 6.  Take precautions against any contact with bodily fluids and follow all Bloodborne pathogen 
 training protocols. 

 7.  The district administrator will initiate media protocol, if needed. 

 24.6 Bus Driver Response 
 1.  Park your bus in a safe location. Notify dispatch and your supervisor. Provide your exact location 

 twice. 
 2.  Initiate Illness or Injury Protocol, if any other persons are injured or ill. 
 3.  Evacuate the bus and take roll. 

 School Safety Plan 
 Section 24 –  Death  139 



 4.  Keep the incident scene secure. Do not allow anyone to disturb possible evidence Identify 
 witnesses, keep them separated and ask them not to discuss the incident until law enforcement 
 officers arrive. These instructions are valid for accidents, apparent suicides and homicides. 

 5.  Take precautions against any contact with bodily fluids and follow all Bloodborne pathogen 
 training protocols. 

 24.7 Route Supervisor Response 
 1.  Ensure that dispatch has called 911 or emergency services. 
 2.  Proceed to the incident site. 
 3.  Initiate Illness or Injury Protocol, if any other persons are injured or ill. 
 4.  Assist staff in keeping the incident scene secure Do not allow anyone to disturb possible 

 evidence. Identify witnesses, keep them separated and ask them not to discuss the incident until 
 law enforcement officers arrive. These instructions are valid for accidents, apparent suicides and 
 homicides. 

 5.  Take precautions against any contact with bodily fluids and follow all Bloodborne pathogen 
 training protocols. 

 6.  Make arrangement for an alternate bus to transport students. 
 7.  Contact the district administrator who will initiate media protocol, if needed. 
 8.  After being cleared to do so by law enforcement and mental health professionals, remove 

 personal items of the deceased from the bus. 
 9.  If a student is involved, ensure that the principal of the affected school is promptly notified. 
 10.  Brief your supervisor as appropriate. 

 24.8 Lead Staff Member Response (after hours) 
 1.  Determine if a Lock Down or evacuation is needed. If deemed appropriate, use the public 

 address system (PA) to direct staff to Lock Down or evacuate. 
 2.  Call 911 or emergency services. If safe to do so, designate a staff member to meet first 

 responders and guide them to the incident location. 
 3.  Initiate Illness or Injury Protocol, if any other persons are injured or ill. 
 4.  Call the principal and district administrator and request that the Crisis Response Team be notified 

 and that they respond. Provide a brief description of the incident. 
 5.  Assist staff in keeping the incident scene secure. Do not allow anyone to disturb possible 

 evidence. Identify witnesses, keep them separated and ask them not to discuss the incident until 
 law enforcement officers arrive. These instructions are valid for accidents, apparent suicides and 
 homicides. 

 6.  Take precautions against any contact with bodily fluids and follow all Bloodborne pathogen 
 training protocols. 

 7.  Initiate Family Reunification Protocol, if needed. 
 8.  The district administrator will initiate media protocol, if needed. 
 9.  After being cleared to do so by law enforcement and mental health professionals, remove 

 personal items of the deceased from desks, lockers, etc. 
 10.  Stop any automatic mailings from being inadvertently mailed to the family. 

 School Safety Plan 
 Section 24 –  Death  140 



 Section 25 - Suspected Biological Emergency 

 Definition 
 A suspected biological emergency occurs when a suspected or possible biological emergency or 
 outbreak, having withstood clinical review, is reported to the school administrator by a credible source 
 or detected by the public health system and reported to school officials. 

 Alert Signal 
 Staff briefing and personal notification by CRT Staff members. 

 25.1 Principal/District Administrator Response 
 1.  Contact local law enforcement and request that public health officials be notified. 
 2.  If appropriate, notify Emergency Management and request that the county haz-mat 

 team be dispatched. 
 3.  Obtain instructions and decontamination information from public health/haz-mat officials. 
 4.  Contact local hospitals to report situation, if appropriate. 
 5.  Brief staff as quickly as it is safe to do so. You may do so in several ways depending on your 

 situation. Staff may be notified in person, via intercom, by phone, over two-way radios, or by 
 e-mail. 

 6.  Contact parents and notify them of the situation, as appropriate and in accordance with HIPPA 
 legislation. 

 7.  The district administrator will initiate media protocol, if needed. 

 25(.2/.5)  Staff Response  (includes: office, teachers,  support staff, custodial, kitchen personnel, 
 etc.) 

 1.  Follow instructions of public health officials and principal. 
 2.  Decontaminate as appropriate (specific procedures provided by public health). 
 3.  Assist in hospital transportation procedures, if necessary. 
 4.  Assist in epidemiological (public health) investigation, as necessary. 
 5.  Assist medical officials in treating staff and students as required. 
 6.  Follow media protocol. 

 25.6 Bus Driver Response 
 Take directions from your supervisor. They will advise you of the directions provided by public health 
 officials. Keep in mind that biological incidents typically do not occur rapidly as with most other types 
 of crises. 

 25.7 Route Supervisor Response 
 1.  Public health personnel will normally instruct the principal or the person in charge to take the 

 action deemed most appropriate. Ensure that all drivers that you supervise are advised and kept 
 informed of actions they need to take as accurately as possible and in a timely manner. 

 2.  Brief your supervisor as appropriate. 

 School Safety Plan 
 Section 25 –  Suspected Biological Emergency  141 



 (Leave this page blank) 

 School Safety Plan 
 Section 25a –  Anthrax Threat/Suspicious Package/substance  Exposure  142 



 Section 25a - Anthrax Threat/Suspicious Package/Substance 
 Exposure 

 Definition 
 Anthrax (Bacillus anthracis) is a zoonotic disease of herbivores. On rare occasions, humans can contract 
 the disease. In recent years, actual incidents of anthrax spores being mailed to target people and 
 organizations have occurred along with numerous incidents of anthrax threats involving mailed 
 envelopes and packages containing harmless powder. 

 25a.1 Principal/District Administrator Response 
 1.  Call 911 and report the situation. Provide details about the suspected exposure and the number of 

 exposed people. 
 2.  The district administrator will contact bus garage and have all buses rerouted. 
 3.  Move all people away from the area of exposure. 
 4.  Implement the Lock Down or evacuation protocol as appropriate. 
 5.  The District Administrator will notify AES at  (920)  968-5882  to shut off air if the principals or 

 D.A. are not able to do it via the remote VPN. Pay particular attention to hood ventilation 
 systems in the production kitchens and technology education labs and shut off the fans in the 
 gym. 

 6.  Responding public safety officials will conduct decontamination and investigation efforts 
 according to their training and procedures. 

 7.  If public safety initiates evacuation, implement the family reunification protocol 
 for  all students who have not been exposed. 

 8.  Public health should make each student and parent aware of the symptoms of anthrax infection. 
 It is imperative that they be notified to immediately contact a medical doctor or public health 
 official if any of the symptoms are noticed within seven days of the incident. 

 25a(.2/.5) Staff Response  (includes: office, teachers,  support staff, custodial, kitchen personnel, 
 etc.) 
 If you  have been exposed  to the suspected substance: 

 1.  Attempt to remain calm. Remember that anthrax exposure is treatable and public safety and 
 medical officials have plenty of time to react to suspected anthrax exposure cases. 

 2.  Do not continue to handle any item(s) that may contain anthrax spores or evidence. 
 3.  Leave the room where the exposure occurred and isolate yourself from other people. Walk 

 calmly and think of an isolated area that you can move to. If possible, close and lock the doors to 
 the room of exposure. Notify the principal or another staff member, or call 911 and request 
 assistance. 

 4.  Be sure to report the situation accurately and provide information on the number of people 
 exposed. 

 5.  Follow directions of responding public safety personnel. 

 If you  have not been exposed  to the suspected substance: 
 1.  Implement the evacuate or Lock Down protocol as appropriate. 
 2.  Await instructions from the principal or responding public safety officials. 

 School Safety Plan 
 Section 25a –  Anthrax Threat/Suspicious Package/substance  Exposure  143 



 25a.6 Bus Driver Response 
 If you have been exposed to the suspected substance: 

 1.  Attempt to remain calm. Remember that anthrax exposure is treatable and public safety and 
 medical officials have plenty of time to react to suspected anthrax exposure cases. 

 2.  Do not continue to handle any item(s) that may contain anthrax spores or evidence. 
 3.  Evacuate all students from the bus and avoid any physical contact between those who may have 

 been contaminated and other persons. Walk calmly and Notify dispatch of your situation and 
 exact location. 

 4.  Be sure to report the situation accurately and provide information on the number of people 
 exposed. 

 5.  Follow directions of responding public safety personnel. 

 If you have not been exposed to the suspected substance: 
 1.  Evacuate the bus and notify dispatch of your situation and exact location, twice. 
 2.  Await instructions from your supervisor and responding public safety officials. 

 25a.7 Route Supervisor Response 
 1.  Ensure that dispatch has properly notified emergency services and proceed to the incident 

 location. Upon arrival, do not approach the driver, bus or students until and unless public safety 
 officials advise you that it is safe to do so. Provide details about the suspected exposure and the 
 number of exposed people to public safety officials. 

 2.  Ensure that all people have been moved away from the area of exposure. 
 3.  Responding public safety officials will conduct decontamination and investigation efforts 

 according to their training and procedures. 
 4.  If public safety initiates an evacuation, staff should begin notification of parents/guardians to 

 pick up students that have not been exposed at an appropriate site as determined after 
 consultation with public safety officials. 

 5.  Public health should make each student and parent aware of the symptoms of anthrax infection. 
 It is imperative that they be notified to immediately contact a medical doctor or public health 
 official if any of the symptoms are noticed within seven days of the incident. 

 25a.8 Lead Staff Member Response (after hours) 
 If you have not been exposed: 

 1.  Call 911 and report the situation. Provide details about the suspected exposure and the number of 
 exposed people. 

 2.  Move all people away from the area of exposure. 
 3.  Implement the evacuate or Lock Down protocol as appropriate. 
 4.  The District Administrator will notify AES at  (920)  968-5882  to shut off air if the principals or 

 D.A. are not able to do it via the remote VPN. Pay particular attention to hood ventilation 
 systems in the production kitchens and technology education labs and shut off the fans in the 
 gym. 

 5.  Responding public safety officials will conduct decontamination and investigation efforts 
 according to their training and procedures. 

 6.  If public safety initiates an evacuation, staff should begin notification of parents/guardians to 
 pick up students that have not been exposed at a designated area away from the school. 

 7.  Public health should make each staff member, visitor, student and parent/guardian of each 
 student aware of the symptoms of anthrax infection. It is imperative that they be notified to 

 School Safety Plan 
 Section 25a –  Anthrax Threat/Suspicious Package/substance  Exposure  144 



 immediately contact a medical doctor or public health official if any of the symptoms are noticed 
 within seven days of the incident. 

 School Safety Plan 
 Section 25a –  Anthrax Threat/Suspicious Package/substance  Exposure  145 



 Section 25b - Chemical/Hazardous Materials Release Incidents 

 Definition 
 During use, processing or transporting of chemical and other hazardous materials, accidents may occur 
 that will expose people to the dangers of contaminants. In this situation, the chances of injury and death 
 are decreased when people know what to do and how to protect themselves. In other instances, 
 individuals or groups may cause the intentional release of chemicals or other hazardous materials. 

 Alert Signal 
 Warning of hazardous materials is usually received from response agencies or noted on the scene by 
 indicators. These agencies include the fire department, law enforcement agencies, and/or the local 
 Emergency Management Agency. In a rare situation, the incident may occur close to or on facility 
 property, and the facility must relay the warning to appropriate agencies). 

 1.  Facility Signal / Indoor Warning: Intercom, loudspeaker, bullhorn, or “runners.” 
 2.  Athletic Fields and Play Areas / Outdoor Warning: Same as above. 

 25b.1 Principal Response 
 1.  Emergency response personnel will normally instruct the principal or the person in charge to 

 take the action deemed most appropriate. 
 2.  In case of imminent danger, in which emergency response personnel have not yet arrived, the 

 principal or his/her designee must decide the most appropriate action. 

 ▪  Evacuate. 

 ▪  Assemble all personnel indoors and conduct shelter-in-place activities. 
 3.  Follow-up action will be determined by emergency response personnel in coordination with 

 facility officials and may include, but it is not limited to: 

 ▪  Activating the Emergency Management Team to facilitate evacuation to a safe family 
 relocation site. 

 ▪  Determining the relocation site. 

 ▪  Dispatching buses or other vehicles to move members and staff to the relocation site. 

 ▪  Releasing information to parents/public. 
 4.  If evacuating, do not return members and staff to the facility after evacuation until the fire 

 department, local emergency management agency or other official agency declares the area safe. 
 5.  Initiate late opening and/or closing of the facility, as necessary. 
 6.  If students and/or staff members have been exposed to dangerous liquids, gases or other 

 substances, public safety officials may institute mass decontamination measures. These measures 
 may include dry decontamination which involves all affected individuals removing their clothing 
 and personal items (privacy kits may be on hand from emergency responders) or wet 
 decontamination which involves portable showering or hosing systems. Work with public safety 
 officials to assist them in rapidly decontaminating affected individuals. 

 School Safety Plan 
 Section 25b –  Chemical/Hazards Materials Release Incidents  146 



 25b(.2/.5)  Staff Response  (includes: office, teachers, support staff, custodial, kitchen personnel, 
 etc.) 

 1.  Call or take directions from your local emergency management officials immediately. Listen to 
 emergency alert broadcasts on all available media, and follow the instructions given. 

 2.  If instructed to do so, evacuate students and staff to a safe location at right angles to and upwind 
 of the agent. 

 3.  In the event that it is dangerous to evacuate the facility and the facility property, including 
 athletic areas outside, conduct shelter-in-place protocol. 

 25b.6 Bus Driver Response 
 1.  Call or take directions from your supervisor. 
 2.  If you have a portable radio, listen to emergency alert broadcasts on all available media, and 

 follow their instructions. 
 3.  If they instruct you to evacuate, move students to a safe location at right angles to and upwind of 

 the agent/incident location. Notify dispatch of your exact location and status, twice. 
 4.  Be prepared to render first aid, if necessary. 

 25a.7 Route Supervisor Response 
 1.  Ensure that dispatch has notified all drivers of the incident type and location. 
 2.  Provide supervision and support for drivers who are in the affected area. 
 3.  Maintain a log of all bus locations and their status. 
 4.  Coordinate with public safety officials to determine instructions for drivers. 
 5.  Make preparations to assist affected schools in emergency evacuations if requested. 

 a.  Activating the Emergency Management Team to facilitate evacuation to a safe family 
 relocation site. 

 b.  Determining the relocation site. 
 c.  Dispatching buses or other vehicles to move members and staff to the relocation site. 

 6.  If evacuating, do not return members and staff to the facility after evacuation until the fire 
 department, local emergency management agency or other official agency declares the area safe. 

 7.  If students and/or drivers have been exposed to dangerous liquids, gases or other substances, 
 public safety officials may institute mass decontamination measures. These measures may 
 include dry decontamination, which involves all affected individuals removing their clothing and 
 personal items (privacy kits may be on hand from emergency responders) or wet 
 decontamination, which involves portable showering or hosing systems. Work with public safety 
 officials to assist them in rapidly decontaminating affected individuals. 

 25a.8 Lead Staff Member Response (after hours) 
 1.  Call or take directions from your local emergency management officials immediately. Listen to 

 emergency alert broadcasts on all available media, and follow their instructions. 
 2.  If they instruct you to evacuate, or depending upon the situation, evacuate members and staff to a 

 safe location at right angles to and upwind of the agent. 
 3.  Emergency response personnel will normally instruct the lead staff member to take the action 

 deemed most appropriate. 
 4.  In case of imminent danger in which emergency response personnel have not yet arrived, the 

 lead staff member must decide the most appropriate action. 
 a.  Evacuate. 

 School Safety Plan 
 Section 25b –  Chemical/Hazards Materials Release Incidents  147 



 b.  Assemble all personnel indoors and conduct shelter-in-place activities. 
 5.  Follow-up action will be determined by emergency response personnel in coordination with the 

 district administrator and principal and may include, but it is not limited to: 
 a.  Activating the Emergency Management Team to facilitate evacuation to a safe family 

 relocation site. 
 b.  Determining the relocation site. 
 c.  Dispatching buses or other vehicles to move members and staff to the relocation site. 
 d.  Releasing information to parents/public. 

 6.  If evacuating, do not return members and staff to the facility after evacuation until the fire 
 department, local emergency management agency or other official agency declares the area safe. 

 7.  If students and/or staff members have been exposed to dangerous liquids, gases or other 
 substances, public safety officials may institute mass decontamination measures. These measures 
 may include dry decontamination which involves all affected individuals removing their clothing 
 and personal items (privacy kits may be on hand from emergency responders) or wet 
 decontamination which involves portable showering or hosing systems. Work with public safety 
 officials to assist them in rapidly decontaminating affected individuals. 

 School Safety Plan 
 Section 25b –  Chemical/Hazards Materials Release Incidents  148 



 (Leave this page blank) 

 School Safety Plan 
 Section 25c –  Food Contamination  149 



 Section 25c - Food Contamination Incident 

 Definition 
 A food contamination incident is a situation in which multiple students and/or staff members 
 become ill due to the consumption of contaminated food or beverage. Contamination of food or 
 beverage could involve accidental contamination or intentional contamination. Intentional contamination 
 could involve biological organisms, toxins, chemicals, or radiological contaminants. 

 Signal 
 Verbal notification of staff. 

 25c.1 Principal Response 
 1.  As soon as you become aware of a potential contamination situation, call 911 and request 

 emergency medical personnel. 
 2.  Contact the District Office. 
 3.  If qualified staff are available, direct them to begin first aid as appropriate to their level of 

 training. 
 4.  Take immediate action to prevent others from consuming food or beverages until the actual 

 source of the contamination can be determined. 
 5.  Begin assessing the available information to try to determine the cause of the contamination. 
 6.  Any contamination incident could be an intentional criminal act or an accidental situation. In 

 either case, a thorough investigation will need to be conducted. Ensure that food, beverages, 
 eating and drinking utensils and serving dispensers are not discarded or washed until it is 
 determined that they cannot be used as evidence. 

 7.  Work with responding public safety officials to determine how the contamination occurred. 

 25c(.2/.5) Staff Response  (includes: office, teachers,  support staff, custodial, kitchen personnel, 
 etc.) 

 1.  Staff members may be the first to realize that a contamination incident has occurred. 
 in this situation, notify the principal or designee immediately. 

 2.  Take immediate action to prevent others from consuming food or beverages until the 
 actual source of contamination can be determined. 

 3.  Follow the directions of the principal or designee. 

 25c.8 Lead Staff Member Response 
 1.  As soon as you become aware of a potential contamination situation, call 911 and request 

 emergency medical personnel. 
 2.  If qualified staff are available, direct them to begin first aid as appropriate to their level of 

 training. 
 3.  Take immediate action to prevent others from consuming food or beverages until the actual 

 source of the contamination can be determined. 
 4.  Call the principal and district administrator and request that the Crisis Response Team be 

 activated and that they respond to the scene. Provide a brief description of the situation and your 
 course of action. 

 5.  Begin assessing the available information to try to determine the cause of the contamination. 
 6.  Any contamination incident could be an intentional criminal act or an accidental situation. In 

 either case, a thorough investigation will need to be conducted. Ensure that food, beverages, 
 School Safety Plan 

 Section 25c –  Food Contamination  150 



 eating and drinking utensils and serving dispensers are not discarded or washed until it is 
 determined that they cannot be used as evidence. 

 7.  Work with responding public safety officials to determine how the contamination occurred. 

 School Safety Plan 
 Section 25c –  Food Contamination  151 



 (Leave this page blank) 

 School Safety Plan 
 Section 26 –  Utility Failure  152 



 Section 26 - Utility Failure 

 Definition 
 A utility failure is the interruption in the supply of electricity, telephone service, natural gas, sewage, or 
 water services to the facility. 

 Alert Signal 
 A plain language announcement over the public address system (PA) or personal notification as 
 appropriate. 

 26.1 District Administrator Response 
 1.  Contact the local service provider (see emergency contact section). 
 2.  Notify staff. 
 3.  Determine if it is safe to conduct normal activities, and notify staff of the appropriate course of 

 action. 
 4.  If appropriate, implement the Evacuation Protocol. 
 5.  If appropriate, implement the Family Reunification Protocol. 
 6.  In the event of a gas leak, order a Relocation Evacuation 

 26(.2/.5) Staff Response  (includes: office, teachers,  support staff, custodial, kitchen personnel, 
 etc.) 

 1.  Notify the Principal of the utility failure. 
 2.  Consult with the principal as to the safety of continuing normal activities 

 as appropriate. 

 26.8 Lead Staff Member Response (after hours) 
 1.  Contact the local service provider (see emergency contact section). 
 2.  Notify staff, visitors and students. 
 3.  Determine if it is safe to conduct normal activities, and notify staff of the appropriate course of 

 action. 
 4.  If appropriate, implement the Evacuation Protocol. 
 5.  If appropriate, implement the Family Reunification Protocol. 
 6.  If water or sewage pipes have broken or are leaking, take steps to reduce water damage and to 

 prevent contamination. 
 7.  In the event of a gas leak, order an evacuation and open windows. Do not allow anyone to use 

 matches, lighters, candles or any other open flame. Select an evacuation site at least 1,000 feet 
 from the facility unless instructed to move farther by public safety officials. Shut off other 
 utilities. Call 911 or emergency services and ask them to dispatch at least one emergency 
 responder to the evacuation site to assist you in evaluating it for safety. 

 8.  In the event of a power outage, assist food service staff in securing refrigerated food storage units 
 if power cannot be promptly restored. Determine that food is safe for consumption before it is 
 used if the power remains off for an extended period of time. 

 9.  Call the principal and district administrator and advise them to notify the Crisis Response Team 
 of the situation. Provide a brief description of the incident. 

 School Safety Plan 
 Section 26 –  Utility Failure  153 



 (Leave this page blank) 

 School Safety Plan 
 Section 27 –  Tactical Site Survey  154 



 Section 27 - Tactical Site Survey 

 Introduction and  Disclaimer 
 The information provided in this document is designed to provide a detailed overview of the Tactical 
 Site Survey process and its requirements in an educational setting.  While the authors and Safe Havens 
 International wish this template to be as complete as possible, it is not guaranteed to be complete and 
 without flaw.  Methods of implementing procedures, policies, and recommendations outlined herein are 
 obviously beyond the control of the authors and Safe Havens International, and are at most suggestions 
 for improving the safety of your school environment.  Therefore, the authors of this document and Safe 
 Havens International assume no liability for the application of any concepts or suggestions contained 
 herein. 

 Guidance for Use 
 The following checklists are meant to serve as a guide for a Tactical Site Survey (walk-through) of a 
 school and a tool for identifying hazards.  While not all hazards can be realistically removed from the 
 school environment, this template can help you identify as many potential hazards as possible.  You can 
 then prioritize each hazard and mitigate those hazards accordingly.  Some will be impossible to fix 
 (structural and design aspects of the school) without a complete remodeling, and others (Is graffiti 
 removed expeditiously?) are much more feasible.  The goal is to reduce the number of hazards to as few 
 as possible, and mitigate those hazards so as to reduce injuries and damage to property that may result 
 from them.  As with all other Safe Havens Templates, this guide should be customized to fit your school 
 setting, and any actions taken as a result of this guide should be first evaluated for practicality in your 
 situation.  When applicable, local agencies (police, emergency management, etc.) should be consulted as 
 well.  The goal of this template is to allow you to utilize your local resources and give you the ability to 
 conduct effective annual tactical site surveys yourself, without hiring expensive consultants year after 
 year. 

 (pages  132 – 153 “Tactical Site Survey Forms” - are a separate document) 

 School Safety Plan 
 Section 27 –  Tactical Site Survey  155 



 (Leave this page blank) 

 School Safety Plan 
 Section 27 –  Tactical Site Survey  156 







 School Safety/Violence Drill Wri�en Evalua�on 

 On  October  10,  2023,  Manawa  Elementary  School  conducted  an  ac�ve  shooter  evacua�on  drill. 
 Teachers  and  students  were  no�fied  in  advance,  with  extra  considera�on  for  our  special  needs 
 students.  Before  the  drill,  our  staff  took  �me  with  students  to  safety  procedures  within  the 
 classroom.  The  principal  met  with  each  class  to  talk  through  ques�ons  and  concerns  with  special 
 a�en�on  paid  to  classes  with  a  new  teacher  or  students  who  are  new  to  our  school.  This 
 included  details  on  the  loca�on  of  the  outside  safety  spot  and  the  difference  between  an  ac�ve 
 shooter  (dangerous  person)  evacua�on  and  a  fire  evacua�on.  The  drill  was  ini�ated  over  staff 
 walkie-talkies  at  2:00  p.m.  as  “  There  is  a  dangerous  person  in  the  building  away  from  your 
 classroom.  Get  to  safety.  ”  At  the  �me  of  the  drill,  the  students  were  in  class.  The  drill  ended  22 
 minutes later at 2:22 p.m. 

 Our  elementary  school  implements  the  Standard  Response  Protocol  during  all  drills.  Our 
 students  are  trained  to  get  out  of  the  building  as  quickly  and  quietly  as  possible  and  to  meet 
 their  teacher  at  the  designated  safe  spot.  Our  teachers  are  trained  to  ensure  all  students  leave 
 the  room,  turn  their  lights  out,  lock  and  close  their  classroom  door,  and  take  count  of  students  at 
 the safe spot. 

 A�er  the  drill  concluded  each  classroom  debriefed  the  drill.  They  discussed  the  purpose  of  the 
 drill, the observed outcomes, and any addi�onal issues that came up for that specific classroom. 

 There were 176 students and 37 adults present for the drill. 

 Successful highlights: 
 Students quickly and quietly went to the safe spot outside and followed the procedure. 

 Focus areas for the next drill: 
 Manawa  Elementary  School  feels  very  confident  in  the  staff  and  students’  ability  to  quickly  and 
 quietly  evaluate  the  building  in  the  event  there  is  an  ac�ve  shooter  in  the  building.  For  the  next 
 drill,  I  would  like  to  have  someone  designated  to  check  to  make  sure  all  lights  are  off,  doors  are 
 locked  and  closed.  I  will  also  be  inves�ga�ng  whether  or  not  our  present  designated  safe  spot  is 
 the safest place. 



 Cer�fica�ons: 
 Our School Board discussed this safety drill on December 19, 2023 at our Monthly Board of 
 Educa�on Mee�ng. 

 Our school cer�fies that this drill was conducted on October 10, 2023, and this wri�en 
 evalua�on was discussed and reviewed at our December Board Mee�ng. 

 Principal Signature:  _________________________ 

 Superintendent Signature: ______________________ 

 School Board President Signature: ____________________ 



 School Safety/Violence Drill Wri�en Evalua�on 

 On  October  24,  2023  Manawa  Middle/Li�le  Wolf  High  School  conducted  an  ac�ve  shooter 
 lockdown  drill.  Teachers  and  students  were  no�fied  in  advance,  with  extra  considera�on  for  our 
 special  needs  students.  Before  the  drill  our  staff  took  �me  with  students  to  review  safety 
 procedures  within  the  classroom.  This  included  details  on  how  to  barricade  the  door  ,  or 
 evacuate  if  this  were  needed  in  a  real  event.  The  drill  was  ini�ated  over  our  public  address 
 system  at  10:20  a.m.  as,  “A�en�on  this  is  only  a  drill.  A�en�on.  This  is  only  a  drill.  ALICE,  ALICE, 
 ALICE,  there  is  an  ac�ve  threat  outside  of  your  classroom.”  At  the  �me  of  the  drill,  the  students 
 were in class. The drill  ended 19 minutes later at 10:39 a.m. 

 Our  high  school  implements  the  ALICE  protocol  during  ALICE/Ac�ve  Shooter-threat  drills.  Our 
 students  are  trained  to  select  the  best  op�on  for  their  situa�on.  In  this  situa�on  students 
 prac�ced  barricading  and  discussed  quick  evacua�on,  including  how  to  break  windows  and 
 mee�ng  rally  points  outside  of  the  building.  Our  teachers  are  trained  to  select  the  best  op�on 
 for  survival  in  each  ALICE  incident  and  direct  students  to  make  quick  decisions  of  evacua�ng, 
 barricading,  and  or  countering.  During  the  drill  all  doors  were  checked  and  the  majority  found  to 
 be locked. 

 A�er  the  drill  concluded,  each  classroom  debriefed  the  drill.  They  discussed  the  purpose  of  the 
 drill, the observed outcomes and any addi�onal issues that came up for that specific classroom. 

 There were 320 students and 46 adults present for the drill. 

 Successful highlights: 
 This  ALICE/ACTIVE  shooter  drill  was  a  success  because  students  used  their  ini�al  training  to 
 barricade  and  to  discuss  the  best  way  to  evacuate.  They  iden�fied  the  rally  points  and  the  best 
 choice  to  increase  survival.  All  teachers,  even  subs�tutes  in  the  building  were  prepared.  Various 
 types  of  communica�on  including  the  PA,  radios,  and  cell  phones  were  used  to  reach  areas  in 
 which our PA system does not work. 

 Focus areas for the next drill: 
 Manawa  Middle/Li�le  Wolf  High  School  feels  very  confident  in  the  staff’s  ability  to  apply  ALICE 
 training  to  make  the  best  choice  for  survival.  Over  90%  of  teachers  had  their  rooms  locked,  when 
 the  principal  moved  around  the  building  to  check  doors.  For  the  next  drill,  it  would  be  important 
 to  discuss  students  in  the  hallway  or  the  bathroom  during  the  alert  as  well  as  move  to  what  the 
 choice of evacua�on would include as far as ac�on steps and rally points. 



 Cer�fica�ons: 
 Our School Board discussed this safety drill on December 19, 2023 at our Monthly Board of 
 Educa�on Mee�ng. 

 Our school cer�fies that this drill was conducted on October 24, 2023, and this wri�en 
 evalua�on was discussed and reviewed at our December Board Mee�ng. 

 Principal Signature:  _________________________ 

 Superintendent Signature: ______________________ 

 School Board President Signature: ____________________ 























School District of Manawa
Students Choosing to Excel, Realizing Their Strengths

Board Meeting Date: ___12/19/2023__

Agenda Item: __18__

Subject: __Annual Literacy Report__

Presenter(s): _ Ryan Peterson__

I. Overall Content/Purpose:

The purpose of this memo is to provide information to the BOE regarding the Annual Literacy Report

for the 2022-23 school year.

II. Board Motion Needed:

Administrative Recommendation for approval.

Full BOE vote requested

III. Point of Emphasis / Key Communication(s):

A. Included in this memo is a copy of the School District of Manawa Literacy Report.

B. Please note that the report was given to the Full Board of Education during the Regular Board Meeting on July 24, 2023.

C. PO 2131.01 states:
The Board shall approve a program of reading goals for students for grades four (4) year old Kindergarten to 12.
The Board supports the following reading goals:

1. Emphasize the individual’s ability to read and write and put the following skills of communication, innovative
thinking, problem solving and language to work in shaping the course of a student’s future.

2. Provide a well-coordinated developmental reading program for students at all grade levels.
3. Devote adequate time and effort to instruction in reading as one(1) of the basic skills areas.
4. Use a variety of learning materials and teaching techniques to accommodate individual student ability,

achievement and interests.
5. Provide remedial reading services for students in grades K - 4 who meet the criteria outlined in State law, and

for other students who may need such services.
6. Involve parents/guardians in home-school cooperative efforts to help each student reach his/her reading

potential.
7. Access the reading needs and manually evaluate both program quality and individual student progress for

reading programs in grades K to 12.
The Reading Specialist shall annually prepare a report evaluating the reading curriculum of the School District and



forward the report to the District Administrator who shall present the report to the Board.

D. Wi Stat. 118.015 (3)(4) Reading instruction; early literacy curricula and instructional materials
WI State Statute states:

1. Duties of Reading Specialist. The reading specialist shall:
a) Implement a reading curriculum in grades Kindergarten to 12.
b) Act as a resource person to classroom teachers to implement the reading curriculum.
c) Work with administrators to support and implement the reading curriculum.
d) Conduct an annual evaluation of the reading curriculum.
e) Coordinate the reading curriculum with other reading programs and other support services within the

school district.
2. School Board Duties. The board shall:

a) Develop a program of reading goals for the district for grades kindergarten to 12.
b) Make an assessment of existing reading needs in grades kindergarten to 12 in the district based on the

reading goals established under par. (a).
c) Make an annual evaluation of the reading curriculum of the school district.
d) If the school board maintains an Internet site for the school district, include a link to the guidebook

related to dyslexia and related conditions that is published on the departments Internet site

IV. Contact for More Information:

Name: __Michelle Johnson / Ryan Peterson__



THE 
ANNUAL (2023) 
LITERACY REPORT

y o u r  l o g o

g



A
n

n
u

a
l 

 R
ep

o
rt

S C H O O L  Y E A R  : 2022-2023

M i s s i o n  S t a t e m e n t :
S t u d e n t s  c h o o s i n g  t o  e x c e l ,  r e a l i z i n g  t h e i r  s t r e n g t h s .

Reading Instructional  
Goals  and Assessment  
Distr ict  Pol icy

Manawa 
Elementary

Manawa 
Middle/Litt le  
Wolf  High

01 .

02 .

03 .

P a g e  1

P a g e s  9 - 1 6

TA B L E  O F  C O N T E N T S

2022-2023 Literacy  Goals

P a g e s  2 - 8

2022-2023 Literacy  Components

2022-2023 Literacy  Data

2022-2023 Literacy  Data Analysis

2023-2024 Literacy  Goals

2022-2023 Literacy  Goals

2022-2023 Literacy  Components

2022-2023 Literacy  Data

2022-2023 Literacy  Data Analysis

2023-2024 Literacy  Goals



 A
n

n
u

a
l 

R
ep

o
rt

R e a d i n g  
I n s t r u c t i o n a l  G o a l s  
a n d  A s s e s s m e n t  

Overview:
To  p ro m o t e  s t u d e n t 's  r e a d i n g  s k i l l s ,  t h e  B o a r d  r e q u i r e s  t h e  D i s t r i c t  
A d m i n i s t r a t o r  t o  e m p l o y  a  c e r t i f i e d  r e a d i n g  s p e c i a l i s t  w h o  w i l l  b e  r e s p o n s i b l e  
t o  d eve l o p  a n d  c o o r d i n a t e  a  c o m p re h e n s i v e  r e a d i n g  c u r r i c u l u m  f o r  s t u d e n t s  
i n  g r a d e s  k i n d e rg a r t e n  t o  1 2 .  T h e  D i s t r i c t  A d m i n i s t r a t o r  m a y  f u l f i l l  t h i s  
o b l i g a t i o n  b y  c o n t r a c t i n g  w i t h  a n o t h e r  d i s t r i c t  o r  w i t h  t h e  C o o p e r a t i v e  
E d u c a t i o n a l  S e r v i c e  A g e n c y  f o r  t h e  s e r v i c e s  o f  a  c e r t i f i e d  r e a d i n g  s p e c i a l i s t .

The Board supports  the  fo l lowing reading goals :
A .  E m p h a s i z e  t h e  i n d i v i d u a l ' s  a b i l i t y  t o  r e a d  a n d  w r i t e  t h r o u g h  t h e  f o l l o w i n g  
s k i l l s  o f  c o m m u n i c a t i o n ,  i n n o v a t i v e  t h i n k i n g ,  p r o b l e m  s o l v i n g  a n d  l a n g u a g e  
t o  w o r k  i n  s h a p i n g  t h e  c o u r s e  o f  a  s t u d e n t ' s  f u t u r e .

B .  P r o v i d e  a  w e l l - c o o r d i n a t e d  d e v e l o p m e n t a l  r e a d i n g  p r o g r a m  f o r  s t u d e n t s  a t  
a l l  g r a d e  l e v e l s .

C . D e v o t e  a d e q u a t e  t i m e  a n d  e f f o r t  t o  i n s t r u c t i o n  i n  r e a d i n g  a s  o n e  ( 1 )  o f  t h e  
b a s i c  s k i l l s  a r e a s .

D .  U s e  a  v a r i e t y  o f  l e a r n i n g  m a t e r i a l s  a n d  t e a c h i n g  t e c h n i q u e s  t o  
a c c o m m o d a t e  i n d i v i d u a l  s t u d e n t  a b i l i t y ,  a c h i e v e m e n t  a n d  i n t e r e s t s .

E .  P r o v i d e  r e m e d i a l  r e a d i n g  s e r v i c e s  f o r  s t u d e n t s  i n  g r a d e s  K - 4  w h o  m e e t  t h e  
c r i t e r i a  o u t l i n e d  i n  S t a t e  l a w ,  a n d  f o r  o t h e r  s t u d e n t s  w h o  m a y  n e e d  s u c h  
s e r v i c e s .

F .  I n v o l v e  p a r e n t s / g u a r d i a n s  i n  h o m e - s c h o o l  c o o p e r a t i v e  e f f o r t s  t o  h e l p  e a c h  
s t u d e n t  r e a c h  h i s / h e r  r e a d i n g  p o t e n t i a l .

G .  A c c e s s  t h e  r e a d i n g  n e e d s  a n d  a n n u a l l y  e v a l u a t e  b o t h  p r o g r a m  q u a l i t y  a n d  
i n d i v i d u a l  s t u d e n t  p r o g r e s s  f o r  r e a d i n g  p r o g r a m s  i n  g r a d e s  k  t o  1 2 .

50%
By 2023-2024, grades K-12, 50% School 
District of Manawa students will score 
proficient or higher in literacy on 
universal/state assessments such as iReady, 
FORWARD Reading, Pre ACT-Reading, ACT Plus 
Reading. The reach goal is for 75% students to 
score at grade level and beyond.

Key Performance Indicator :

P a g e  1



 A
n

n
u

a
l 

R
ep

o
rt

M a n a w a  
E l e m e n t a r y

2022-2023 Literacy  Goals : Act ion Steps Taken:

Progressive Mini-Lesson
Development

Student-Centered 
Instructional 

Coaching (Gr. PK-5)

Text Dependent 
Analysis Writing

Strategic Small Group 
Intervention 

Reading/Writing

Grade Level Data 
Analysis

Aligned Standards
Formative/Summative

Implementation of Really Great Reading Phonics with 
instructional coaching in grades PK-2. Professional 
Development provided through Really Great Reading as 
well as instructional coach.

Implementation of Special Assignment teacher in 
addition to assigned grade level teachers provided 
strategically aligned intervention following data review. 
Progress monitoring reviewed regularly through BCT 
and Wednesday pcollaborative teaching time.

Professional Learning Collaborative teams met monthly  
to identify and align literacy skills, assessments, and 
practices. Teams reviewed data, intervention practices, 
and resources utilized to best meet the needs of all 
students.

ELA curriculum mapping for literacy grades PK-
5 identified essential reading, writing, and 
speaking skills. Through the implementation of 
Interactive Read Aloud, Really Great Reading, 
and the introduction to Fountas and Pinnell mini 
lessons, teams organized and determined 
learning targets, intended outcomes, resources, 
and formative/summative assessments 
throughout this process.

P a g e  2

The mini-lesson is a period of direct and explicit 
instruction. Through strategic instructional coaching, 
peer observation, and administrative feedback, the 
expectations are that the lesson is focused, linked to the 
Interactive Read Aloud, and the literacy skill/strategy is 
clearly modeled through various types of texts.

Early Literacy

Through regular analysis of various data, student-
centered instructional coaching will build and foster 
student literacy success through collaboration and 
partnership with building staff. Coaching cycles and 
resources will be developed based on the highest 
student need with regular feedback and embedded 
professional development.

To build student identification of high frequency words 
and decoding skills:

  Create criteria for individualized student  book bins 
to include leveled decoding book titles, and high 
frequency word study flash cards.
Target decoding and high frequency words through 
small group/guided reading and Literacy Footprint 
leveled texts resources.
Extend additional/targeted early literacy screeners to 
all students in 4K along with current assessments.



 A
n

n
u

a
l 

R
ep

o
rt

M a n a w a  
E l e m e n t a r y

2022-2023 Literacy  Curr iculum Component  Overview:

Reading

Interactive Read Aloud:(Fountas and Pinnell Resource)PK-5
This practice is the foundation for literacy instruction, and it is designed to nurture students' ability to construct 
meaning in an interactive, talk-rich context. Throughout this daily practices, students' literacy skills are boosted 
through strategically designed questions to support students thinking about, beyond, and within the text. Each 
collection is organized around a centralized theme supporting student skills in synthesizing ideas, concepts, 
literacy behaviors across multiple texts through various genres.

Mini-Lesson (I D0): The utilization of mentor/anchor texts throughout various genres are provided by a hybrid of 
resources best aligning to rigorous standards. Texts and designed mini-lessons provided by Fountas and Pinnell 
Reading Mini Lessons as well as Lucy Calkins Units of Study in reading combined to provide a robust collection to 
best model and meet student needs.During this portion of reading, the instructional design of "I Do" provides 
instructional minutes of explicit modeling of literacy skills with complex text.

Strategic Small Group Work (We Do): During this time, students are provided the additional or extended 
support needed through individualized goal setting, aligned skill practice through reading strategy and guided 
reading groups. The leveled- reading collection of text sets were provided for K-2 through the resource Literacy 
Footprints, and approved for next year, Literacy Footprints will expand through grades 3-5. Additionally, Reading 
Strategies by Jennifer Sarravallo provides mini-lessons to select from based on the student need.

Independent Reading (You Do)- During this time, students are provided curriculum time to practices and 
implement modeled skills at their own levels with partners or independently. One-on-one conferencing and check-
ins with the teacher provide informative and observational assessment. Students build their love of reading, 
stamina, and self-comprehension skills during this time.

Writing

Mini-Lesson (I Do): Student and author exemplar writing from various genres are explicitly modeled. Additionally, 
teachers share their writing, their thought/writing process, editing and revisions throughout each step of the writing 
process. Anchor charts are created to ground students in their learning and provide a visual as instructional reminders. 
Resources utilized are Lucy Calkins Units of Study for Writing, and other shared teacher resources provided.

Strategic Small Group Work (We Do): During this time, students are provided the additional or extended support 
needed through individualized goal setting, aligned skill practice through reading strategy and guided writing in small 
groups. Based on classroom and universal assessment data, this time may consist of additional modeling, extended 
thinking, or guided practice based on the student need. Writing bootcamps, grades 3-5, worked with small groups to 
develop text-dependent writing and test prep.

Independent Writing(I Do)- Students demonstrate their writing skills through various forms of writing such as 
narratives, research, poetry, biographies, and writing about reading. The final published written project is reviewed as 
a summative assessment.

Foundational Literacy 
Skills and Phonics

Really Great Reading Foundational and Phonic Skills:
Based on the universal assessment data of the Early Literacy Screener (K-1), one of the highest needs were 
foundational skills, phonics, and decoding skills needed to read fluently as well as to build comprehension. In 
addition to letter awareness and sounds, the Science of Reading research is embedded within Really Great 
Reading resource is utilized in grades PK-2. 

Spelling and Vocabulary: In grades 3-6, academic vocabulary, spelling, word patterns, prefixes, suffixes and Greek 
and Latin root derivatives are taught through Word Journeys.

Speaking and Listening

Speaking and listening skills are embedded and practiced throughout all content areas. Students develop 
follow-up questions, careful listening, supporting ideas with text evidence, and opinion development through 
partners, small and whole group classroom structures. Questions/response stems, self reflective rubrics, and 
collaborative problem solving are all vital components modeled and practiced throughout every day. 
Students are given opportunities to share their work, interpretations, insights, and questions.

P a g e  3



 A
n

n
u

a
l 

R
ep

o
rt

M a n a w a  
E l e m e n t a r y

2022-2023 Literacy  Data  :

FORWARD

Early Literacy Screener

*Note: The 2022-2023 Forward state results have not been released.  When released, the 
administrative team as well as building-level teams will interpret data and set action steps as 
needed.

P a g e  4



 A
n

n
u

a
l 

R
ep

o
rt

M a n a w a  
E l e m e n t a r y

2022-2023 Literacy  Data  :

iReady Literacy

P a g e  5



 A
n

n
u

a
l 

R
ep

o
rt

M a n a w a  
E l e m e n t a r y

2021-2022 Literacy  Data  :

Intervention 
Overview

*Fall/Spring 2022-2023 Grades K-5

Spring (2023)

Not Enough Progress (40%) Progress (60%)

P a g e  6



 A
n

n
u

a
l 

R
ep

o
rt

M a n a w a  
E l e m e n t a r y

2022-2023 Literacy  Data  :

Data Analysis

The data from our statewide assessment (The Forward) from the 2021-2022 year demonstrates a slight decrease in 
students scoring below basic in ELA.  Dropping trends of those scoring at or above grade level brought an urgent 
awareness of the need to greatly improve rigorous and relevant instruction at the universal level. An extensive 
action step is to engage staff in a data dig prior to the beginning of the 2022-2023 school year to identify 
strengths and areas of improvement. From various sources of data, building wide goals with associated action 
steps will be developed and a plan of action set in place. Through research of resources, Wonders and Into 
Reading were selected to pilot for grades 3-6 as a comprehensive curriculum to build vocabulary, writing, 
grammar, and comprehension skills aligned with the Science of Reading research and shifting away from Lucy 
Calkins.

Early Literacy Screener:
The results of the Early Literacy Screener indicate that our earliest learners have shown an increase in students 
practicing grade level decoding skills and phonemic awareness.  Overall, students with  strong with phonemic 
awareness successfully increased mastery of skills at the early levels.

iReady
Review of current data collected from our iReady literacy benchmark assessments, presented that our students 
struggled the most with comprehending informational text and vocabulary; however, students scoring at grade 
level and beyond moved from 14% to 47% from Fall (2022) to Spring (2023). Targeted skills to increase both 
comprehension of informational and vocabulary text include (but are not limited to):

Informational/nonfiction comprehension:

Vocabulary:

Determine the main idea of a text; recount the key details and explain how they support the main idea
Describe the relationship between a series of historical events, scientific ideas or concepts, or steps in 
technical procedures in a text, using language that pertains to time,sequence, and cause/effect.
Use text features to  locate information (headings, subheadings) and learn additional information (glossary, 
captions)

Learn new words in the context of a story, practice using them, and explain their meanings through discussion, 
illustration, and acting.
Sort words into categories based on their meaning to build an understanding of how words are related to each 
other.
 

P a g e  7



 A
n

n
u

a
l 

R
ep

o
rt

M a n a w a  
E l e m e n t a r y

2023-2024 Literacy  Goals/Action Steps :

Early Literacy/
Foundational Skills

Through creative scheduling, time and capacity focusing 
on early literacy skills will be increased for the 2023-
2024 school year. Further usage of Really Great 
Reading decoding practice and lessons paired with UFLI 
(University of Florida Literacy Institute) strategic lessons 
in grades PK-3 will continue to build our foundations.

Student-Centered 
Instructional Coaching 

(Gr. PK-5)

Through regular analysis of various data, student-
centered instructional coaching will build and foster 
student literacy success through collaboration and 
partnership with building staff. Coaching cycles and 
resources will be developed based on the highest 
student need with regular feedback and embedded 
professional development.

Text Dependent 
Analysis Writing

Text-dependent analysis is an integrated process where 
reading and writing are not separate skills, but work 
together. Higher level thinking skills such as thinking, 
examining, explaining, gathering evidence, elaborating 
and inferencing. Continued mini workshops/test prep 
with small groups will expand text-dependent writing as 
well as develop key ideas/detail development.

Strategic Small Group 
Intervention 

Reading/Writing
Continued implementation of Special Assignment 
teacher in addition to assigned grade level teachers 
provided strategically aligned intervention following 
data review. Progress monitoring reviewed regularly 
through BCT and Wednesday collaborative teaching 
time.

Grade Level Data 
Analysis

Professional Learning Collaborative teams as well as 
BCT teams meet on a regular basis to identify and align 
literacy skills, assessments, and practices. Teams 
reviewed data, intervention practices, and resources 
utilized to best meet the needs of all students.

Aligned Standards
Formative/Summative

ELA curriculum mapping for literacy grades PK-5 
identified essential reading, writing, and speaking skills. 
Through the implementation of Interactive Read Aloud, 
Really Great Reading and UFLI foundational skills, teams 
organized and determined learning targets, intended 
outcomes, resources, and formative/summative 
assessments throughout this process.

P a g e  8

Shifting Instructional 
Design/ Science of 

Reading

In addition to incorporating and expanding UFLI/Really 
Great Reading in grades PK-2, grades (3-5) will be 
piloting Wonders as well as Into Reading to improve 
writing, vocabulary, grammar, and literacy 
comprehension.



 A
n

n
u

a
l 

R
ep

o
rt

M a n a w a  M i d d l e  
S c h o o l / LW H

2022-2023 Literacy  Goals  and Action Steps:

Professional Learning
Collaboration

As a continued goal from 2021-2022, the School 
District of Manawa will continue to foster and expand 
collaborative work completed in their teams under new 
administration and with the literacy instructional coach. 
Regular data and assessment/behavioral analysis 
protocols will be modeled and implemented monthly.

Student-Centered 
Instructional Coaching 

(Gr. 6-12)

Through regular analysis of various data, student-
centered instructional coaching will build and foster 
student literacy success through collaboration and 
partnership with building staff. Coaching cycles and 
resources will be developed based on the highest 
student need with regular feedback and embedded 
professional development.

Text Dependent 
Analysis Writing

Text-dependent analysis is an integrated process where 
reading and writing are not separate skills, but work 
together. Higher level thinking skills such as thinking, 
examining, explaining, gathering evidence, elaborating 
and infering.

Strategic Small Group 
Intervention 

For the 2022-2023 school year, replacing the previous 
RtI system, a literacy resource course will be 
developed. Students identified will each have 
individualized goals, self monitoring as well as regular 
progress monitoring, intervention review through grade 
level and building wide BCT teams.

Disciplinary/Content 
Literacy

Continued focus on literacy commitments and writing 
focus across all content areas based on data and 
student needs. Teams may continue their work on the 
previous year's commitment, or create a new one for 
the 2022-2023 school year. These goals will be 
supported through the partnership and collaborative 
efforts of the literacy coach.

Aligned Standards
Curriculum Mapping

ELA curriculum mapping for literacy grades 6-8 will be 
completed by the end of the summer. The review of data 
as well as the mapping process has identified the need 
to revamp the current curriculum resources and 
practices. StudySync has been selected as a pilot for 7th 
grade. If successful and after BOE approval, the goal is 
to implement grade 6-8. Additionally, grades 9-12 ELA 
maps are being reviewed and revised.

P a g e  9



 A
n

n
u

a
l 

R
ep

o
rt

M a n a w a  M i d d l e  
S c h o o l / LW H

2022-2023 Literacy  Curr iculum Component  Overview:

Comprehensive
Literacy (Gr. 6-8)

At the middle level (grades 6-8), a comprehensive literacy curriculum is offered daily for 50 minutes 
where reading and writing instruction is intertwined. StudySync provides both online engagement as 
well as paper version practice on comprehensive skills such as expanding vocabulary, interacting with 
text through close reading routines, annotation, developing deeper inferencing skills, and synthesizing 
across various genres and texts.

Secondary English
Credits (Grades 9-12)

English courses offered at the secondary level are year-long courses, one credit each. The DPI requires the 
completion of four credits for graduation as is offered by the School District of Manawa. English classes are 
offered 50 minutes each day. The following courses are offered and provided by two English teachers at the high 
school level:

English 9: Students read, analyze, and discuss a wide variety of literature and nonfiction. Informative, creative, 
persuasive, and research writing be expected and the writing process utilized. Vocabulary, speaking, and 
grammar/editing skills are practices throughout the semester. Some material will coincide with 9th grade 
American History curriculum.

American Literature: This one credit course is designed to meet the needs of those students who will not be 
taking AP English coursework. Students will read, analyze, and discuss short stories, essays, poems, and a play 
from American Literature anthology, as well as at least two additional novels. Author information, historical 
connections, literary terms, and vocabulary will also be discussed in context. Writing tasks include a theme-based 
essay, documented author essay, and a detailed character sketch. Individual and group projects and ACT test 
preparation/practice will also occur throughout the year. 

World Literature: This one credit course is for all sophomores. Students will engage in reading of works from a 
variety of places and perspectives to understand how universal themes span culture and time periods. Informative, 
persuasive, analytical, and research writing will be expected and the writing process will be practiced throughout 
the semester. Some material will coincide with 10th grade World History curriculum.

English 12: This is a one credit course available to all seniors. Students will explore fiction and informational 
text revolving around the theme of finding oneself in preparation for life beyond high school. In addition to 
literature and textual study, students will be writing personal narratives suitable for submission with college 
applications, compare and contrast essays, a career-based research paper, and a literary analysis.

AP English Literature and Composition: This is a one credit class available to all seniors but geared toward 
students intending to attend post-secondary school. Students will explore fiction and informational text revolving 
around the theme of finding oneself in preparation for life beyond high school.

College Prep:This course is designed to engage students in close reading and critical analysis of challenging 
literature from American and British writers of the 16th to the 21st century. Because critical writing about literature 
is the main focus of the APⓇ exam, students will construct, write, and revise multiple drafts of expository, 
analytical, and argumentative essays to help prepare for this requirement.

CAPP English/Writing 101: Focuses on rhetorical analysis of nonfiction texts and the development and revision 
of well-reasoned, evidence-centered analytic and argumentative writing. While writing represents a significant 
component of this course, another important skill is the ability to read well.

Literacy Resource Course: (.5 Elective Credit by Referral) This course is designed to frontload vocabulary, goal 
set, target skill deficiencies, and support students identified through the literacy team and pre-determined criteria
to best build student mastery of literacy skills. (Offered grades 6-10)

P a g e  1 0



 A
n

n
u

a
l 

R
ep

o
rt

M a n a w a  M i d d l e  
S c h o o l / LW H

2022-2023 Literacy  Curr iculum Component  Overview:

Content/Disciplinary 
Literacy

P a g e  1 1

Literacy Pillars and Content PLC Team Commitments:
English- All literacy pillars. Will share their expertise, ideas, rubrics, and student exemplars to support disciplinary 
teams.

Art/Music: Incorporate writing and vocabulary (specific to our specialities) into our programs such as 
performance/art critiques and reflections.

Math: Throughout the 2022- 2023 school year the math department will focus on vocabulary use within the math 
curriculum by including mastery of three new vocab words per unit.

P.E:  Incorporate writing through the utilization of the Grammar Absolutes provided by the ELA team through our 
monthly character trait of the month (first day of the Month) self reflection applied to real lief journal entry via 
Google Classroom.

Science: The 2022-23 science team will focus on the interpretation of graphs, charts, and formulas.

Social Studies Team: Throughout the 2022-23 School Year, the Social Studies Department will focus on the 
literacy component of listening by being able to contradict or support other’s claims in combination with their own 
opinion.

Kohler/CTE:Students will coherently communicate their thoughts, observations, and analysis of in-process and 
completed projects through writing. 

Literacy Resource 
Course

This .5 course is designed to meet the needs of students through explicit, targeted instruction based on literacy 
skills needed to be successful across all content areas. Instruction is provided by DPI licensed English educators 
to best support student need. Student literacy teams review various forms of data from attendance, FORWARD 
state assessments, inclass formative/summative assessment achievement, and iReady to select students invited to 
participate in this course. The maximum course enrollment is minimized from eight to ten students to provide 
personalized instruction, extended processing time, and one-on-one guidance to maximize student learning. 
Students are progress monitored with aligned set goals and individualized learning pathways. The successful 
completion of this course is determined by pass/fail expectations such as engagement, attendance, participation 
on individualized set goals.



 A
n

n
u

a
l 

R
ep

o
rt

M a n a w a  M i d d l e /
LW H

2022-2023 Literacy  Data  :

Intervention 
Overview

*Fall/Spring 2022-2023 Grades 6-10

Spring (2023)

Not Enough Progress (29.17%) Progress (70.83%)

P a g e  1 2



 A
n

n
u

a
l 

R
ep

o
rt

M a n a w a  M i d d l e  
S c h o o l / LW H

2022-2023 Literacy  Data:

FORWARD

School Year

P
er

ce
n

ta
ge

Manawa Middle/Little Wolf Grades
 6-10

Advanced Proficient Basic Below Basic

2017-2018 2018-2019 2020-2021 2021-2022
0

20

40

NOTE: The 2022-2023 FORWARD scores have not yet been released.

P a g e  1 3



 A
n

n
u

a
l 

R
ep

o
rt

M a n a w a  M i d d l e  
S c h o o l / LW H

2022-2023 Literacy  Data:

iReady

P a g e  1 4

Manawa Middle/Little Wolf 
Grades 6-10



 A
n

n
u

a
l 

R
ep

o
rt

M a n a w a  M i d d l e  
S c h o o l / LW H

2022-2023 Literacy  Data:

PreACT

29.3%9th and 10th  students are 
predicted to score at least a 20 
or above in ELA when taking 
their ACT assessment their 
junior year.

ACT

School Year

P
er

ce
n

ta
ge

ACT

Advanced Proficient Basic Below Basic

2017-2
018

2018-2
019

2020-2
021

2021-2
022

2022-2
023

0

25

P a g e  1 5



 A
n

n
u

a
l 

R
ep

o
rt

M a n a w a  M i d d l e  
S c h o o l / LW H

2023-2024 Literacy  Goals  and Action Steps:

Data Analysis

The data from our statewide assessment (The Forward) from the 2021-2022 year shows a slight decrease in 
students scoring below basic in ELA. Similarly to what was observed in grades 3-5, dropping trends of those 
scoring at or above grade level brought an awareness of the need to greatly improve rigorous and relevant 
instruction at the universal level. Since the 2016-2017 school year, students scoring proficient in ELA has dropped 
from 45.2% to 34.1% (2020-2021). The need is urgent in reviewing and revamping ELA instruction at the 
secondary level propelling the adoption of StudySync for the 2022-2023 school year. An extensive action step is 
to engage staff in a data dig prior to the beginning of the 2023-2024 school year to identify strengths and areas 
of improvement. Also, an additional English teacher was hired at second semester to decrease teacher to student 
ratio, and fully implement best practices and the close reading routine introduced in StudySync. Professional 
development focused on text-dependent writing and text synthesis. From various sources of data, building wide 
goals with associated action steps will be developed and a plan of action set in place. When digging deeper into 
specific skills assessed in the Forward, text dependent analysis writing skills are an area of need.

When reviewing the ACT literacy components, the scores indicated a decrease in students scoring below basic, 
and have increased in scoring basic through the 2022--2023 school year. With the shift of the focused Gifted and 
Talented Coordinator with supported training and professional development, the goal is to increase students 
scoring at grade level and in advanced while taking the ACT.

Review of current data collected from our iReady literacy scores at the secondary level, presented that our students 
struggled the most with the comprehension of complex literary and nonfiction texts. Additionally, both content 
specific and academic vocabulary is another area of need for our secondary learners.

Informational/nonfiction comprehension:

Literacy comprehension:

Vocabulary:

Evaluate arguments by distinguishing and questioning their claims and supporting evidence by learning to 
write them.
Using signal words, analyze different types of text structures and their relation to author's purpose and central 
idea.
Learn to summarize informational texts by condensing information into categories and finding supporting 
ideas/details

Analyze theme and its development in a text and understand the universality of themes across texts and in real 
life.
Make inferences while reading texts and evaluate the accuracy of those inferences by examing supporting 
textual detals.

Explore the suffixes (logy, ic, ive, ative, itive, ance, and ence by examining how each suffix changes the 
meaning of different base words.
Learn new vocabulary using examples, synonyms and antonyms, and by connecting to other words and 
concepts.
Compare the meanings of conceptually related words to distinguish differences in word meanings.
Review creating a working definition of a word, revising it, and verifying it through context or a dictionary.
Use different strategies to determine word meanings.
 

P a g e  1 6



 A
n

n
u

a
l 

R
ep

o
rt

M a n a w a  M i d d l e  
S c h o o l / LW H

2023-2024 Literacy  Goals  and Action Steps:

Professional Learning
Collaboration

As a continued goal from 2022-2023, the School District 
of Manawa will continue to foster and expand 
collaborative work completed in their teams under new 
administration and with the literacy instructional coach. 
Regular data and assessment/behavioral analysis 
protocols will be modeled and implemented monthly.

Student-Centered 
Instructional Coaching 

(Gr. 6-12)

Through regular analysis of various data, student-
centered instructional coaching will build and foster 
student literacy success through collaboration and 
partnership with building staff. Coaching cycles and 
resources will be developed based on the highest 
student need with regular feedback and embedded 
professional development.

Text Dependent 
Analysis Writing

Continued development of text-dependent analysis is an 
integrated process where reading and writing are not 
separate skills, but work together. Higher level thinking 
skills such as thinking, examining, explaining, gathering 
evidence, elaborating and infering.

Strategic Small Group 
Intervention 

For the 2023-2024 school year, the literacy resource 
course will continue to be further developed. Students 
identified will each have individualized goals, self 
monitoring as well as regular progress monitoring, 
intervention review through grade level and building 
wide BCT teams. Additionally, the Bridge to Success 
intervention will provide an additional tiered level of 
support during homeroom as well as optional after-
school tutoring.

Disciplinary/Content 
Literacy

Continued focus on literacy commitments and writing 
focus across all content areas based on data and 
student needs. Teams may continue their work on the 
previous year's commitment, or create a new one for 
the 2023-2024 school year. These goals will be 
supported through the partnership and collaborative 
efforts of the literacy coach and principal. Professional 
development will be offered through CESA 6.

Aligned Standards
Curriculum Mapping

ELA curriculum mapping for literacy grades 6-12 was 
completed in the 2022-2023 summer. The review of 
data as well as the mapping process has identified the 
need to revamp the current curriculum resources and 
practices. StudySync was fully implemented. The 
development of grading practices as well as summative 
and formative assessments are the next action steps for 
the 2023-2024 academic year.

P a g e  1 7



M i c h e l l e  J o h n s o n ,  

P K - 1 2  L i t e r a c y  S p e c i a l i s t ,  L i t t l e  W o l f / M a n a w a  M i d d l e  P r i n c i p a l

S c h o o l  D i s t r i c t  o f  M a n a w a

m j o h n s o n @ m a n a s c h o o l s . o r g


	00 2023-12-19 Board Meeting Agenda
	02e  PO 1260 Incapacity of the District Administrator
	03 Curriculum Committee Minutes 2023-12-06
	04 Finance Committee Meeting Minutes 2023-12-13
	05 Policy and HR Committee Meeting Minutes 2023-12-06
	06 Buildings and Grounds Committee Minutes 2023-12-13
	08a Special Board of Education Meeting Minutes 2023-12-06
	09a  November 2023 Cash Receipt Report
	09b  November 23 invoice report
	09c  Monthly Financial Rev & Exp Summary Report
	10 Personnel Chart
	11a  PO 0164 Meetings
	11b  PO 0164.1 Regular Meetings
	11c  PO 0164.2 Special Meetings
	11d  PO 0165.1 Notice of Meetings
	11e  PO 0165.2 Change of Regular Meetings
	11f  PO 8913 Section 504_ADA Prohibition Against Disability Discriminiation in Employment
	11g  PO 1623_3623_4623 Section 504_ADA Prohibition Against Disability Discrimination in Employment
	11h  PO 3120.07 Employment of Casual Resource Personnel
	11i  PO 8700 Nursing Mothers
	11j  PO 3430.05_4430.05 Nursing Mothers
	11k  PO 2451 Program or Curriculum Modifications
	11l  PO 5250 Program or Curriculum Modification
	11m  PO 5505 Academic Honesty
	11n  PO 7540.08 Artificial Intelligence_AI
	11o  PO 5350 Suicide Prevention, Intervention, and Postvention
	12a  PO 0113 Boundaries
	12b  PO 0142.1 Electoral Process
	12c  PO 0143.1 Public Expression of Board Members
	12d  PO 0144.3 Conflict of Interest
	12f  PO 2340 District-Sponsored Trips
	12g  PO 2521 Selection of Instructional Materials and Equipment
	12h  PO 3121 Criminal History Record Check and Employee Self-Reporting Requirements
	12i  PO 3139 Staff Discipline
	12j  PO 3430.01 Family & Medical Leave of Absence _ FMLA
	12k  PO 5113 Open Enrollment Program
	12l  PO 5200 Attendance
	12m  PO 5215 Missing and Absent Children
	12n  PO 5517 Student Anti-Harrassment
	12o  PO 5530 Student Use or Possession of Intoxicants, Drugs, or Paraphernalia
	12p  PO 6151 Returned _ Outstanding-Stale Checks
	12q  PO 6236 Community Services Fund _ Fund 80
	12r  PO 6610 Nondistrict-Supported Student Activity Accounts
	12s  PO 7250.01 Memorials for Staff and Students
	12t  PO 7440.01 Video Surveillance and Electronic Monitoring
	12u  PO 7440.02 Smart Monitoring Equirpment
	12v  PO 8121 Personal Background Check - Contracted Services
	12w  PO 8146 Notification of Educational Options
	12x  PO 8310 Public Records
	12y  PO 8407 School Resource Officer Program
	12z  PO 8420 School Safety
	12za  PO 8500 Food Services
	12zb  PO 8531 Free and Reduced-Price Meals
	12zc  PO 9210 Parent Organizations
	12zd  PO 9211 District-Support Organizations
	13a  Memo - Free Lunch for Daily Substitute Staff
	14a  Memo_Course_Additions_Deletions_Revisions
	16a  Memo - Annual School Safety Report
	16b  SDM School Safety Plan - December 2023
	16c  Wisconsin School District Safety Drill LOG  -  MES
	16c  Wisconsin School District Safety Drill LOG - MMS LWHS
	16d  MES School Safety Violence Drill Written Report 12_2023
	16d  MMS_LWHS School Safety Violence Drill Written Report 12_2023
	17a  WASB Draft Resolutions 12_23
	18a  Literacy Report - Memo
	18b  Literacy Annual Report 2023

